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What are the requirements for license renewal?
Licenses Expire CE Hours Required Mandatory Courses

Community Association Managers’ 
licenses expire September 30th of even 
numbered years.

20

(All can be completed through home-study)
4 hours of Legal Updates

How do I complete this course and receive my certificate of completion? 
On-Line Submission: Go to CAMS.EliteCME.com and follow the prompts.You will be able to print your certificate immediately 
upon completion of the course.

Fax or E-mail Submission: Fax to (386) 673-3563, be sure to include your credit card information. All completions will be 
processed within 2 business days of receipt and certificates e-mailed to the e-mail address provided*.

Mail Submission: Use the envelope provided or mail to Elite, PO Box 37, Ormond Beach, FL 32175. All completions will be 
processed and certificates issued within 10 business days from the date it is mailed*.

*Please note - providing a valid e-mail address is the quickest and most efficient way to receive your certificates when submitting via fax, 
e-mail or mail.

Submissions without a valid e-mail address will be mailed to the address provided at registration.

How much will it cost?
Course Title CE Hours Price

2015 Legal Update (Meets 1/2 of Legal Update Requirement) 2 $25.00
2016 Legal Update (Meets 1/2 of Legal Update Requirement) 2 $25.00
Guide to Flood Preparedness and Recovery (Meets Human Resources Requirement) 4 $35.00
National Flood and Insurance Guide (Meets Operation of Physical Property Requirement) 4 $35.00
Protecting Florida’s Water (Meets Elective Requirement) 4 $35.00
Reserve Study Basics: CAM Financial Management (Meets Insurance/Financial 
Management Requirement) 4 $35.00

 GREAT VALUE  SAVE $86  18-hour Course (excludes 2015 Legal Update) 18 $79.00
 BEST VALUE  SAVE $91  Entire 20-hour Course 20 $99.00

Are you a Florida board approved provider?
Yes, Elite is approved by the Regulatory Council of Community Association Managers. Provider number 0001553.  

Are my credit hours reported to the Florida board?
Yes, your course will be processed the same day we receive it and electronically reported to the Department of Business and 
Professional Regulation within one business day.

Is my information secure?
Yes! Our website is secured by Thawte, we use SSL encryption, and we never share your information with third-parties. 

What if I still have questions? What are your business hours?
No problem, we have several options for you to choose from! Online at CAMS.EliteCME.com you will see our robust FAQ section 
that answers many of your questions, simply click FAQ in the upper right hand corner, Email us at office@elitecme.com or call us toll 
free at 1-888-857-6920, Monday - Friday 9:00 am - 6:00 pm, EST.

Important information for licensees:
Always check your state’s board website to determine the number of hours required for renewal, and the amount that may be 
completed through home-study. Also, make sure that you notify the board of any changes of address. It is important that your most 
current address is on file.

Division of Professions
Regulatory Council of Community Association Managers
1940 North Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0783

Phone: (850) 487-1395 | Website: http://www.myfloridalicense.com/dbpr/pro/cam/index.html

Frequently Asked Questions
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Chapter 1: 2015 Legal Update 

2 CE Hours

By: Valerie Wohl

Learning objectives

 � Describe changes to Florida State law in 2014 that affect the role 
of community association managers.

 � List the main bodies of law associated with community association 
management in Florida.

 � Explain the difference between the Florida Statutes (Laws) and the 
Florida Administrative Code (Rules).

 � List three sections of the Florida Administrative Code (FAC) that 
apply to community association management.

 � List four sources for regulations governing community association 
management, excluding the Florida Statutes and Florida 
Administrative Code.

 � List changes in community association operations and 
responsibilities related to each of the following Florida Statutes: 

 ○ Chapter 2014-7 (SB 934): Florida Statutes.
 ○ Chapter 2014-34 (HB 489): Subsurface Rights.
 ○ Chapter 2014-71 (SB 356): Regulation of Public Lodging 

Establishments and Public Food Service Establishments.
 ○ Chapter 2014-74 (SB 440): Condominiums.
 ○ Chapter 2014-80 (SB 542): Flood Insurance.
 ○ Chapter 2014-86 (SB 708): Insurance Claims.
 ○ Chapter 2014-104 (SB 1672): Property Insurance.
 ○ Chapter 2014-133 (HB 807): Residential Properties.
 ○ Chapter 2014-140 (HB 1089): Citizens Property Insurance 

Corporation.
 ○ Chapter 2014-146 (HB 7037): Residential Communities.
 ○ Chapter 2014-147 (HB 7051): Department of Agriculture and 

Consumer Services.

Introduction

The course introduces provisions of laws and rules created or revised 
during the 2014 Florida legislative session. Regulations governing 
community association managers and management (CAMs) are 
directly addressed in the following:

 ●  Chapter 468, Part VIII, of the Florida Statutes (FS), “Community 
Association Management,” (Sections 468.431-468.438). 

 ●  Chapter 61E14 (formerly 61-20) Florida Administrative Code 
(FAC), “ Regulation of Community Association Managers.” 

The Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile 
Homes is also authorized to apply and enforce the following laws and 
rules governing community association managers:

 ● Chapter 718 FS: The Condominium Act. 
 ● Chapter 719 FS: The Cooperative Act.
 ● Chapter 720 FS: Homeowners’ Associations.
 ● Chapter 723 FS: The Florida Mobile Home Act, Chapter 723. 
 ● Chapter 617 FS: The Florida Not-For-Profit Corporations Act. 
 ● Chapter 607 FS: The Florida Corporations Act. 
 ● Chapters 61B-15 through 25, 45 and 50 FAC, Condominiums. 
 ● Chapters 61B-75 through 79 FAC, Cooperatives. 
 ● Chapters 61B-81 and 82 FAC, Homeowners’ Associations. 

These state laws and rules are part of a comprehensive network of 
regulations governing community association management that 
includes: 

 ● Federal Laws such as the Fair Housing Act, Internal Revenue 
Codes, the American Disabilities Act, the Virginia Graeme Baker 
Pool and Spa Safety Act(P&SS Act), the FCC OTARD Rule (Over 

the Air Reception Devices - Satellite Dishes), and the Fair Debt 
Collection Practices Act. 

 ● State laws that do not apply specifically to community associations 
but still require compliance. Examples include regulations 
associated with ecological issues (mandating community 
organization developments minimize damage to coastal regions, 
for example), or ensuring public safety, such as elevator 
inspections at regular intervals. 

 ● Local ordinances that apply to building codes, animal control, 
water rationing, etc.

 ● Case law. 
 ● Standards set by accountants, engineers, architects, home 

inspectors, real estate brokers, and other professionals.
 ● Community Association documents including:

 ○ Articles of Incorporation filed with the Secretary of State. 
 ○ The recorded map or ‘plat’ defining each owner’s title to 

property, and the association’s title to common areas.
 ○ CCRs (Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions), or any 

publicly recorded deed restrictions. 
 ○ The bylaws, which provide rules for management and 

administration. 
 ○ Any additional resolutions adopted by the association. 

It is not unusual to encounter inconsistencies or disagreement 
among governing documents, with covenant and bylaw 
requirements, or state and federal law, for example, in conflict 
with one another. Certain situations will require interpretation 
of competing regulations, and, in some cases, professional 
assistance to ensure compliance with the law.

CAM regulation and continuing education

Community association management (CAM) firms must be licensed, 
and each community association manager within the firm must be 

licensed. Licensed community association managers are regulated by 
two main agencies:
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1. Chapter 455 FS, “Business and Professional Regulation,” 
establishes the enforcement authority of the Department of 
Business and Professional Regulation (The Department, or 
DBPR), responsible for regulating  community association 
managers working for the following types of residential units: 

 ○ Mobile home parks.
 ○ Planned unit developments. 
 ○ Homeowners associations. 
 ○ Cooperatives.
 ○ Timeshares.
 ○ Condominiums.
 ○ Other residential units, which are part of a residential 

development scheme and are authorized to impose a fee that 
may become a lien on the parcel.

2. The Regulatory Council of Community Association Managers: a 
group of seven members, including five community association 
managers (one of employed by a timeshare) and two consumer 
members.  The Council oversees duties relate to licensure 
examination, continuing education requirements, continuing 
education providers, fees and professional practice standards 
related to the profession.  It also interprets rules, as necessary, to 
implement the law. 

CAM licensees successfully completing this course fulfill the 
yearly two-hour legal update seminar continuing education 
requirement specified in 61E14-4.001 (Continuing Education 
Renewal Requirements) of the Florida Administrative Code, which 
applies to all licensed community association managers. Rules for 
the profession are posted at: http://www.myfloridalicense.com/
dbpr/pro/cam/index.html.

Chapter organization

 ● Changes to the Florida Statutes (Laws) associated with 
Community Association Management are presented in Part I: 
Florida Statutes:  The laws are presented in ascending numerical 
order, and each section includes a section title, which provides 
the Statute’s identification number (2013-etc), followed by the 
Senate or House Bill Number (SB for Senate Bill; HB for House 
Bill) on which the law is based, the name associated with it, and 
a brief summary of the new law.  In some cases, excerpts of the 
revised law are presented to highlight additions or changes to the 
text, identified as follows: Words crossed out are deletions; words 
underlined are additions. 

 ● Chapters 61B and 61E14 are presented in Part II: Florida 
Administrative Code, with each section title providing the Rule’s 
identification number (61E14-etc), followed by its name/subject.  

The full current text of all laws and rules discussed in this chapter can 
be found at the following Florida State web sites:

 ○ Florida Senate Home Page: www.flsenate.gov   
 ○ Florida House of Representatives  Home Page:  www.

myfloridahouse.com
 ○ Florida Legislature “Online Sunshine” web site:  www.leg.

state.fl.us

PArT I: FLorIdA STATUTES
The Florida Statutes (found at http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/) are 
a permanent collection of State laws organized by subject area into 
a code made up of titles, chapters, parts, and sections. The FS are 
revised each year by new laws that create, amend, or repeal specific 
sections of the law. Legislative changes to the FS, effective up to and 
including January 1, 2015, are treated as current for publication of the 
2014 Statutes. This means that some laws in the 2014 Session were 
effective as late as January 1, 2015. 

It is not possible for the course to review all the 2014 amendments 
relevant to community association managers, so it will focus on some 
of the most significant, found in:

 ● Chapter 2014-7 (SB 934): Florida Statutes.
 ● Chapter 2014-34 (HB 489): Subsurface Rights.
 ● Chapter 2014-71 (SB 356): Regulation of Public Lodging 

Establishments and Public Food Service Establishments.

 ● Chapter 2014-74 (SB 440): Condominiums.
 ● Chapter 2014-133 (HB 807): Residential Properties.
 ● Chapter 2014-146 (HB 7037): Residential Communities.
 ● Chapter 2014-147 (HB 7051): Department of Agriculture and 

Consumer Services.

Additionally, a number of laws regarding insurance coverage have 
important implications for community associations, such as insurance 
provisions related to flood and wind damage and participation in the 
Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.  These include:

 ● Chapter 2014-80 (SB 542): Flood Insurance.                   
 ● Chapter 2014-86 (SB 708): Insurance Claims.
 ● Chapter 2014-104 (SB 1672): Property Insurance.
 ● Chapter 2014-140 (HB 1089): Citizens Property Insurance 

Corporation.

Chapter 2014-7 (SB 934): Florida statutes

This law provides greater clarification, consistency, and accuracy in 
the Florida Statutes, by: 

 ● Amending dozens of statutes (see full list and specific changes at 
http://laws.flrules.org/2014/17).

 ● Reenacting 323.002 and 718.301 FS.
 ● Reenacting and amending 1009.22 FS.
 ● Repealing 408.914, 408.915, 408.916, and 420.151 FS.
 ● Deleting provisions that: 

 ○ Expired.

 ○ Had their effect. 
 ○ Served their purpose. 
 ○ Were superseded or related to a repealed law.

 ● Replacing incorrect cross-references and citations. 
 ● Correcting any grammatical, typographical, or similar errors.
 ● Removing inconsistencies and repetition. 
 ● Clarifying statute content to facilitate correct interpretation.
 ● Confirming that any legislative provisions accidentally omitted 

from the publication in the process of revision will be restored.

Chapter 2014-34 (SB 489): Subsurface rights

This law creates 689.29 FS, addressing the subject of subsurface rights.  It 
establishes important definitions and responsibilities for sellers regarding 

disclosure if subsurface rights or right of entry are severed, retained by the 
seller, or will be severed or retained by the seller in the future. 
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The law defines:
 ● “Subsurface rights” as the rights to all minerals, mineral fuels, and 

other resources, including but not limited to, oil, gas, coal, oil shale, 
uranium, metals, and phosphate (whether or not it is mixed with any 
other substance), found or located beneath the surface of the earth. 

 ● “Seller” as a seller of real property that, at the time of sale, is 
zoned for residential use and is located where a new dwelling is 
under construction, will be constructed in the future, or has been 
constructed since the last transfer of property. 

disclosure summary requirements

 ● The law requires sellers of residential property to provide prospective 
purchasers with a disclosure summary at or before the execution of 
the contract for sale if any of the subsurface rights or right of entry are 
severed or retained by the seller or will be in the future.

 ●  If the disclosure summary is not included in the contract for 
sale, the contract must refer to and incorporate by reference the 
disclosure summary and must include, in prominent language, 
a statement that the potential purchaser should not execute the 
contract until he or she has read the disclosure summary. 

 ● The law establishes the following requirements for the disclosure 
summary:   It must be conspicuous, in boldface type, and in a form 
similar to the following:

SUBSURFACE RIGHTS
DISCLOSURE SUMMARY

SUBSURFACE RIGHTS HAVE BEEN OR WILL BE SEVERED 
FROM THE TITLE TO REAL PROPERTY BY CONVEYANCE 
(DEED) OF THE SUBSURFACE RIGHTS FROM THE SELLER OR 
AN AFFILIATED OR RELATED ENTITY OR BY RESERVATION 
OF THE SUBSURFACE RIGHTS BY THE SELLER OR AN 
AFFILIATED OR RELATED ENTITY. WHEN SUBSURFACE 
RIGHTS ARE SEVERED FROM THE PROPERTY, THE OWNER 
OF THOSE RIGHTS MAY HAVE THE PERPETUAL RIGHT 
TO DRILL, MINE, EXPLORE, OR REMOVE ANY OF THE 
SUBSURFACE RESOURCES ON OR FROM THE PROPERTY 
EITHER DIRECTLY FROM THE SURFACE OF THE PROPERTY 
OR FROM A NEARBY LOCATION. SUBSURFACE RIGHTS MAY 
HAVE A MONETARY VALUE.

Chapter 2014-74 (SB 440):  Condominiums

This law: 
 ● Establishes that certain provisions of the Florida Condominium 

Act apply only to residential condominiums, and no longer to 
non-residential condominiums, such as vacation, timeshare, or 
commercial condominium associations. 

 ● Exempts nonresidential condominiums from mandatory non-
binding arbitration of disputes by the Division of Florida 
Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes within the 
Department of Business and Professional Regulation (alternative 
dispute resolution), unless specifically provided for in the 
declaration of the condominium association.

 ● Extends (from the end of 2019 to January 1, 2020) the final date 
a residential condominium association can apply for a building 
permit to install a required sprinkler system. 

 ● Clarifies that a residential condominium association that has not 
complied with the fire sprinkler system requirement by December 
31, 2016, and has not already voted to retrofit a system, must 
submit a building permit to the local government to system 
installation, and demonstrate that the association will be in 
compliance with the law by December 31, 2019.

 ● Extends the bulk buyer provisions in s. 718.505 FS, from July 1, 
2015 to July 1, 2016. 

The legislation amends several parts of Section 718.112, regarding 
bylaw requirements for residential condominiums, their associations, 
and boards. The following requirements apply to residential 
condominiums, but not to vacation, timeshare, or commercial 
condominium associations:

 ● The prohibition against voting by general proxy. 
 ● Time limits for associations to respond to a unit owner’s written 

inquiries.

 ● Technical hurricane shutter and hurricane protection provisions, 
including:

 ○ Requirements that condominium boards adopt shutter 
specifications for each building within each condominium 
operated by the association.

 ○ Requirements that condominium boards approve a unit 
owner’s installation of hurricane protections that conform to 
the specifications adopted by the board.

 ● Board member terms, including:
 ○ Expiration of terms of office and eligibility of candidates for 

the board. 
 ○ Election and certification of board members.
 ○ Elections in associations of 10 or fewer units.
 ○ Legal and financial eligibility requirements for board members.
 ○ The requirement that the board elections take place via written 

ballot or voting machine. 
 ○ The requirement that new directors be certified within 90 days 

after being elected or appointed to the board.
 ○ The use of staggered terms for members of the board.
 ○ Prohibition of individuals not eligible to serve on the board 

of a condominium association, including co-owners of a 
unit, those who have been suspended, are delinquent in the 
payment of a monetary obligation to the association, and those 
convicted of a felony.

The law also:
 ● Authorizes developers to modify the plot plan with respect to unit 

or building types.
 ● Limits how a developer can modify the plot plan for phase 

condominiums.
 ● Requires that certain information related to the development of 

a phase condominium be described in the original declaration of 
condominium or approved by an amendment.

Chapter 2014-80 (SB 542): Flood insurance 

The law establishes new provisions related to flood insurance and 
insurers, prohibiting:

 ● Citizens Property Insurance Corporation from providing flood insurance.

 ● The Florida Hurricane Catastrophe Fund from reimbursing losses 
caused by flooding.
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This law creates s. 627.715 FS, providing for authorized insurers to offer 
personal lines residential flood insurance policies in the state. The law does 
not apply to commercial or commercial residential policies. Authorized 
insurers may sell four different types of flood insurance products: 

 ● Standard coverage, which covers only losses from the peril of 
flood as defined in the law, which is the definition used by the 
National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP). The policy must be the 
same as coverage offered from the NFIP regarding the definition of 
flood, coverage, deductibles, and loss adjustment.

 ● Preferred coverage, which includes the same coverage as standard 
flood insurance and also must cover flood losses caused by water 
intrusion from outside the structure that are not otherwise covered 
under the definition of flood in the law.

 ● Customized coverage, which is coverage that is broader than 
standard flood coverage.

 ● Supplemental coverage, which supplements an NFIP flood policy 
or a standard or preferred policy from a private market insurer. 
Supplemental coverage may provide coverage for jewelry, art, 
deductibles, and additional living expenses. It does not include 
excess flood coverage over other flood policies. 

An insurer may establish flood rates through the standard process, or, 
alternatively, rates filed before October 1, 2019, may be established 
through a rate filing with the Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR). 
Insurers who write flood coverage must notify the OIR at least 30 
days before doing so in this state and file a plan of operation, financial 
projections, and any such revisions with the OIR.  

The law:
 ● Allows projected flood losses for personal residential property 

insurance to be a rating factor. Flood losses may be estimated 
using a model or straight average of models found reliable by the 
Florida Commission on Hurricane Loss Projection Methodology. 

 ● Requires prominent notice on the policy declarations or face page 
of deductibles of any limitations on flood coverage or policy 
limits. Insurance agents who receive flood insurance applications 
must obtain a signed acknowledgement from the applicant, stating 
that the full risk rate for flood insurance may apply to the property 
if flood insurance is later obtained under the NFIP. 

 ● Allows surplus lines agents to export flood insurance without 
making a diligent effort to seek coverage from three or more 
authorized insurers.

The OIR Commissioner may provide a certification required by federal 
law or rule as a condition of qualifying for private flood insurance or 
disaster assistance. The certification is not subject to review under 
Chapter. 120 FS  The flood rate is exempt from review by the OIR 
before implementation of the rate (“file and use” review) and shortly 
after (“use and file” review).  While these filings are not required 
to provide information necessary to assessing the company and the 
reasonableness of the rate, the OIR may examine a rate filing at its 
discretion. To ensure the office is able to obtain this information 
when needed, insurers must maintain actuarial data related to flood 
coverage for two years after the effective date of the rate change. Upon 
examination, the OIR will use actuarial techniques and the standards 
of the rating law to determine if the rate was appropriate. 

Chapter 2014-86 (HB 708): Insurance claims 

Among the most significant changes brought by this law is the creation 
of a “Homeowner Claims Bill of Rights” (Section 8, 627.7142 FS) for 
personal line residential policies. Residential property insurers must 
provide the Homeowner Claims Bill of Rights to policyholders within 
14 days of receiving any claim-related communication.  The Bill 
informs consumers of their rights to:

 ● Receive acknowledgment of a claim within 14 days. 
 ● Receive confirmation that a claim is covered in full or in part.
 ● Be informed within 30 days after submitting a proof of loss form if 

a claim is denied or under investigation. 

The law:
 ● Prohibits insurers in the State from denying claims on residential 

policies or canceling an insurance policy or contract on the 
basis of credit information available in the public record or 
misrepresentation in the application if the policy has been in effect 
for more than 90 days. 

 ● Amends provisions relating to mediators and neutral evaluators 
to address the problem of bias in decisions about insurance 
reimbursement.  Insurance contracts often contain an appraisal 
provision that allows parties who agree that there is a covered 
loss to use an umpire to determine the amount of the loss. In cases 
where impartiality is suspected, the law provides grounds for parties 
to challenge an umpire’s neutrality in estimating the amount of a 
property loss, and disqualify him or her for specified conflicts of 
interest, such as a prior relationship with one of the parties. 

 ● Informs consumers of services and advice offered by the 
Department of Financial Services (DFS) about property insurance.

 ● Gives the DFS increased authority to implement the same types 
of disciplinary actions against evaluators that currently exist for 
insurance agents.  

The complete text of Section 8, Chapter 627.7142 FS, which 
establishes a Homeowner Claims Bill of Rights and obligates insurers 
to abide by its requirements, states:

Section 8. Effective October 1, 2014, section 627.7142 FS, is created 
to read:

INSURANCE RATES AND CONTRACTS  

627.7142 Homeowner Claims Bill of Rights.
An insurer issuing a personal lines residential property insurance 
policy in this state must provide a Homeowner Claims Bill of Rights to 
a policyholder within 14 days after receiving an initial communication 
with respect to a claim, unless the claim follows an event that is the 
subject of a declaration of a state of emergency by the Governor. The 
purpose of the bill of rights is to summarize, in simple, nontechnical 
terms, existing Florida law regarding the rights of a personal lines 
residential property insurance policyholder who files a claim of 
loss. The Homeowner Claims Bill of Rights is specific to the claims 
process and does not represent all of a policyholder’s rights under 
Florida law regarding the insurance policy. The Homeowner Claims 
Bill of Rights does not create a civil cause of action by any individual 
policyholder or class of policyholders against an insurer or insurers. 
The failure of an insurer to properly deliver the Homeowner Claims 
Bill of Rights is subject to administrative enforcement by the office, 
but is not admissible as evidence in a civil action against an insurer. 
The Homeowner Claims Bill of Rights does not enlarge, modify, or 
contravene statutory requirements, including, but not limited to, ss. 
626.854, 626.9541, 627.70131, 627.7015, and 627.7074, and does not 
prohibit an insurer from exercising its right to repair damaged property 
in compliance with the terms of an applicable policy or ss.627.7011(5)
(e) and 627.702(7). The Homeowner Claims Bill of Rights must state:

HOMEOWNER CLAIMS BILL OF RIGHTS

This Bill of Rights is specific to the claims process and does not 
represent all of your rights under Florida law regarding your policy. 
There are also exceptions to the stated timelines when conditions are 
beyond your insurance company’s control. This document does not 
create a civil cause of action by an individual policyholder, or a class 
of policyholders, against an insurer or insurers and does not prohibit 
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an insurer from exercising its right to repair damaged property in 
compliance with the terms of an applicable policy.

YOU HAVE THE RIGHT TO:
1. Receive from your insurance company an acknowledgment of your 

reported claim within 14 days after the time you communicated the 
claim.

2. Upon written request, receive from your insurance company 
within 30 days after you have submitted a complete proof-of-loss 
statement to your insurance company, confirmation that your claim 
is covered in full, partially covered, or denied, or receive a written 
statement that your claim is being investigated.

3. Within 90 days, subject to any dual interest noted in the policy, 
receive full settlement payment for your claim or payment of the 
undisputed portion of your claim, or your insurance company’s 
denial of your claim.

4. Free mediation of your disputed claim by the Florida Department 
of Financial Services Division of Consumer Services, under most 
circumstances and subject to certain restrictions.

5. Neutral evaluation of your disputed claim, if your claim is for 
damage caused by a sinkhole and is covered by your policy.

6. Contact the Florida Department of Financial Services Division 
of Consumer Services’ toll-free helpline for assistance with any 
insurance claim or questions pertaining to the handling of your 
claim. You can reach the Helpline by phone at 1-877-MY-FL-CFO 
(1-877-693-5236) or you can seek assistance online at the Florida 

Department of Financial Services Division of Consumer Services’ 
website at http://www.myfloridacfo.com/division/consumers/#.
VMHCEC6PuWs. 

YOU ARE ADVISED TO:
1. Contact your insurance company before entering into any contract 

for repairs to confirm any managed repair policy provisions or 
optional preferred vendors.

2. Make and document emergency repairs that are necessary to 
prevent further damage. Keep the damaged property, if feasible, 
keep all receipts, and take photographs of damage before and after 
any repairs.

3. Carefully read any contract that requires you to pay out-of-pocket 
expenses or a fee that is based on a percentage of the insurance 
proceeds that you will receive for repairing or replacing your property.

4. Confirm that the contractor you choose is licensed to do business 
in Florida. You can verify a contractor’s license and check to see if 
there are any complaints against him or her by calling the Florida 
Departmentof Business and Professional Regulation. You should 
also ask the contractor for references from previous work.

5. Require all contractors to provide proof of insurance before 
beginning repairs.

6. Take precautions if the damage requires you to leave your home, 
including securing your property and turning off your gas, water, 
and electricity, and contacting your insurance company and 
provide a phone number where you can be reached.

Chapter 2014-104 (SB 1672): Property insurance

This law provides additional grounds for refusing, suspending, or 
revoking a license or the appointment of an insurance agent, adjuster, 
customer representative, or managing general agent based on the 
acceptance of payment for certain referrals, including:

 ● Prohibits an insurance agency, agent, customer representative, or 
employee from accepting compensation for referring an owner to 
the inspector or inspection company. 

 ● Prohibits a mitigation inspector from accepting referral fees or 
compensation related to a mitigation inspection or any property 
inspection used to calculate property insurance premiums. 

 ● Prohibits a public adjuster or public adjuster apprentice, or 
any person acting on behalf of an adjuster or apprentice, from 
choosing the individuals or entities that will perform repair work 
in a property insurance claim; or accepting power of attorney that 
allows them to select the persons or companies that will perform 
repairs on an adjusted property.

 ● Prohibits a contractor, or a person acting on behalf of a contractor, 
to pay, waive, or rebate all or part of an insurance deductible 
applicable to payment to the contractor for repairs to property 
covered by a property insurance policy, and establishes violations 
of the law as a third degree felony. 

Commercial residential multiperil policies 
The law requires Citizens to stop writing new commercial residential 
multi-peril policies in the “coastal account” areas. Instead, Citizens 
is authorized to offer separate wind-only policies, and commercial 
residential policies excluding wind. Citizens may continue to offer/
renew commercial residential multi-peril policy coverage only for 

buildings in the coastal account areas that were insured by Citizens on 
June 30, 2014, delaying for one year a ban on Citizens coverage for 
new construction within coastal areas.

Windstorm mitigation inspection form
The law allows insurers and Citizens to use a quality assurance program 
related to the windstorm mitigation inspection form, and clarifies that 
an insurer is not required to independently verify a form if the inspector 
or inspection company has a quality assurance program approved by 
the insurer. Additionally, the law prohibits Citizens from re-inspecting 
insured properties for a period of five years if the initial windstorm 
mitigation inspection form was verified by a quality assurance program 
approved by Citizens prior to acceptance of the form. 

The law also:
 ● Allows procurement protests within Citizens to be resolved by the 

Department of Administrative Hearings at Citizens’ expense. 
 ● Allows surplus lines companies (out-of-state companies with rates 

unregulated by Florida) to participate in the Citizens clearinghouse 
program that shops policies in the private market. 

 ● Revises Citizens’ annual reporting requirements, including: 
 ○ Repealing an annual report requirement for aggregate net 

probable maximum losses.
 ○ Requiring Citizens report, on an annual basis, to report certain 

financial estimates, such as claims paying capacity, for the 
following 12 month period to the Legislature and Financial 
Services Commission. 

 ○ Changing the date for submitting the annual loss-ratio report 
for residential coverage.

Chapter 2014-133 (HB 807):  residential properties 

The law relates to the operation and regulation of community 
associations, with provisions specific to condominium associations, 
cooperative associations, homeowners’ associations, and timeshare 
projects. It amends provisions relating to homeowner’s associations for 
consistency with the existing law for condominium associations.

In regard to condominium, cooperative, and homeowners’ associations, 
the law:

 ● Provides that unit owners may consent in writing to the disclosure 
of contact information to which other owners are prohibited from 
having access. This section also clarifies that owners can consent 
to the publication of other contact information in a social directory.

 ● Requires outgoing board or committee members to relinquish all 
official records and property of the association in their possession 
or control to the incoming board within five days after the election. 
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An outgoing board or committee member who violates this 
requirement is personally subject to a civil penalty by the Division 
of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes. This 
new language mimics an existing statute requiring recalled board 
members to turn over records in their possession. 

 ● Allows board or committee members to participate in meetings by 
telephone, video conferencing, or other live communication methods, 
and count toward a quorum or vote as if present at the meeting site. 
The board is still prohibited from voting by e-mail, however.

 ● Provides guidelines allowing disclosure of certain contact 
information upon written notification.

 ● Postpones the end of the bulk buyer law from July 1, 2015 to July 
1, 2016, extending the time period to be classified as a bulk buyer 
or bulk assignee one more year.

The law defines the term “previous owner” establishing that a 
condominium or cooperative association that acquires title through 
foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure is not considered a 
previous owner for joint and several liability purposes, mirroring 
provisions established for homeowners associations in 2013.  The 
law limits the present unit owner’s liability for unpaid assessments 
and costs associated with the collection process to the amounts that 
accrued before the association acquired title to the delinquent property. 

Timeshare projects and public lodging establishments
The law amends a number of provisions relating to timeshare projects, 
including:

 ● Defining the term “timeshare project” to mean any timeshare 
property as defined in 721 FS, which is located in this state and is 
also a transient public lodging establishment.

 ● Renaming “timeshare plan” “timeshare project” in most sections.
 ● Distinguishing “timeshares” from “vacation rentals,” and “public 

lodging establishments,” with different licensing classifications.

A condominium association that does not own any units classified 
as timeshare projects is not required to apply for or receive a public 
lodging establishment license. 

Public lodging units that are classified as timeshare projects are not 
subject to the requirement of at least biannual inspections by the 
Division of Hotels and Restaurants of the Department of Business and 
Professional Regulation (DBPR or department). 

The law clarifies that timeshare projects:
 ● Are not subject to annual inspection requirements.
 ● Within separate buildings or at separate locations that are managed 

by a single licensed agent can be combined into one licensing 
application.

 ● Are exempt from public lodging establishment requirements for 
maintaining public bathroom facilities, such as providing soap, 
clean towels, or other approved hand-drying devices in the main 
public bathroom, or clean pillowcases and linens to guests.

Condominium associations
The law authorizes the condominium associations to enter an abandoned 
unit for purposes of inspecting the unit and adjoining common elements, 
making specific repairs, and maintaining the unit; and permits the 
association to charge the unit owner for expenses incurred by the 
association.  Provisions in the association’s declaration or bylaws dictate 
the specific insurance responsibility of the association or unit owners for 
reconstruction, repair, or replacement in the absence of damage by an 
insurable event.

The association may:
 ● Make repairs to the unit or to the common elements serving the 

unit, as needed.
 ● Repair the unit if mold or deterioration is present.
 ● Turn on power for the unit or otherwise maintain, preserve, or 

protect the unit and adjoining common elements.

The law provides criteria for determining when a unit can be 
considered abandoned, and requires that the owner be given notice.  
Sellers of new dwellings are required to use a provided form to notify 
prospective buyers in writing of the seller’s intent to retain subsurface 
rights prior to entering into any sales contract. 
The law provides condominium associations that fail to receive 
approval on a plan of optional termination may not be record the 
termination, propose, or attempt to terminate the condominium for 180 
days after the date the failed plan was first given to all unit owners. 
Approval requires 80 percent of the voting interesting and 80 percent 
of the original principal amount of outstanding recorded mortgage 
liens of timeshare estates in the condominium, unless the declaration 
provides for a lower voting percentage. 

Cooperative associations
The law amends provisions relating to cooperative associations for 
consistency with provisions relating to condominium associations. 
Provisions are revised regarding outgoing board members, financial 
reporting requirements, waiving or reducing financial reporting 
requirements, eligibility and removal requirements of board members, 
and providing emergency powers to the association. 

For cooperative associations, the law:
 ● Revises the financial reporting requirements by increasing from 

60 days to 90 days the time to prepare a financial statement, or to 
contract with a third party to prepare the financial statement.

 ● Specifies the type of financial reporting required based on the 
association’s total annual revenue amounts.

 ● Limits the financial reporting requirement, for associations 
of fewer than 50 units, regardless of the association’s annual 
revenues, to the preparation of a report of cash receipts and 
expenditures, unless otherwise required by the declaration or other 
recorded governing documents.

 ● Provides that persons who have been suspended or removed by 
the division or who are delinquent in the payment of any monetary 
obligation to the association are not eligible for board membership 
and may not be listed on the ballot.

 ● Provides for the removal from office of a director or officer charged 
by information or indictment with a felony theft or embezzlement 
offense involving the association’s funds or property.

For cooperative and homeowners’ associations
The law incorporates the same emergency powers provisions in the 
Condominium Act into the Cooperative and Homeowners’ Association 
Acts, authorizing boards to respond to the declaration of a state of 
emergency, including the authority to implement a disaster plan, mitigate 
damages, and borrow money with the approval of the membership.

For homeowner’s associations
The law:

 ● Requires that meetings of the board of directors of a homeowners’ 
association and meetings of the association’s membership must be 
held at locations that are accessible to a physically disabled person 
entitled to attend the meeting if he or she requests it.

 ● Provides that the association does not have to provide members 
with copies of an amendment to the governing documents after it is 
approved by the membership if a copy of the proposed amendment 
was provided to members before the vote and was not altered. 

 ● Allows the association to provide notice of adopted amendments by 
e-mail if the recipient has given permission for electronic notification. 

 ● Clarifies the notice requirements for the preservation of association 
covenants and restrictions under the Marketable Record Title 
Act (MRTA), by establishing a homeowners association or its 
representative is not required to provide additional notice in 
published form regarding MRTA preservation.

 ● Repeals the Community Association Living Study Council.
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Chapter 2014-140 (HB 1089): Citizens Property Insurance Corporation 

The law is intended to provide affordable property insurance,  as long 
as required, through Citizens Property Insurance Corporation (the 
corporation), formerly known as the Residential Property and Casualty 
Joint Underwriting Association.  The corporation, which is a government 
entity, not a private insurance company, will provide insurance for 
residential and commercial property applicants who qualify, but are 
unable, in good faith, to obtain insurance through the voluntary market. 

The rationale for this law is explained in Section1. Paragraph (a) 
of subsection (6) Citizens Property Insurance Corporation, Section 
627.351 FS, Insurance risk apportionment plans, amended to read:

“The public purpose of this subsection is to ensure that there is an 
orderly market for property insurance for residents and businesses of 
this state...” because, “the legislature [found] that private insurers are 
unwilling or unable to provide affordable property insurance coverage 
in this state to the extent sought and needed.” The law states that, “The 
absence of affordable property insurance threatens the public health, 
safety, and welfare and likewise threatens the economic health of the 
state…[making] it necessary to provide affordable property insurance,” 
to applicants who are unable to do so through the voluntary market. 

The law states that the corporation will work to increase the 
availability of affordable property insurance in this state, providing 
service to policyholders, applicants, and agents of the same quality 
generally provided in the voluntary market. To ensure the corporation 
has the maximum financial resources to pay claims following a 

catastrophe, it will remain a part of state government, with any income 
and interest associated with debt obligations it issues exempt from 
federal income taxation.

The law states that the corporation must comply with regulations 
established by the Financial Services Commission, with its operations 
subject to continuous review and approval by the commission. 

For the purposes of this section, residential coverage includes both 
personal lines residential coverage, which consists of the type of coverage 
provided by homeowners’, mobile home owner’s, dwelling, tenants’, 
condominium unit owners’, and similar policies; and commercial lines 
residential coverage, which consists of the type of coverage provided by 
condominium associations, apartment buildings, and similar entities. 

The law: 
 ● Postpones for one year (ending July 1, 2015) the date after which 

certain structures (new construction or substantial improvements 
of existing structures seaward of the coastal construction control 
line or within the Coastal Barrier Resources System)  are no longer 
eligible for coverage by the corporation. 

 ● Creates point 6., which states: With respect to wind-only coverage 
for commercial lines residential condominiums, effective July 1, 
2014, a condominium shall be deemed ineligible for coverage if 50 
percent or more of the units are rented more than eight times in a 
calendar year for a rental agreement period of less than 30 days.

Chapter 2014-146 (HB 7037):  residential communities

This law expands the scope of CAM responsibilities and establishes 
new obligations for condominiums, cooperatives, and homeowners 
regarding liens and conditions for indemnification.

Expanded duties and responsibilities for CAMS
The law amends sections of Chapter 468 Part VIII (CAMS), including 
a new definition of “community association management,” providing 
additional powers and duties to community association managers and 
community association management firm. The revised definition states:

468.431  Definitions.
 (2)“Community association management” means any of the following 
practices requiring substantial specialized knowledge, judgment, and 
managerial skill when done for remuneration and when the association 
or associations served contain more than 10 units or have an annual 
budget or budgets in excess of $100,000: controlling or disbursing 
funds of a community association, preparing budgets or other financial 
documents for a community association, assisting in the noticing or 
conduct of community association meetings, determining the number 
of days required for statutory notices, determining amounts due to 
the association, collecting amounts due to the association before the 
filing of a civil action, calculating the votes required for a quorum or 
to approve a proposition or amendment, completing forms related to 
the management of a community association that have been created 
by statute or by a state agency, drafting meeting notices and agendas, 
calculating and preparing certificates of assessment and estoppel 
certificates, responding to requests for certificates of assessment and 
estoppel certificates, negotiating monetary or performance terms of 
a contract subject to approval by an association, drafting drafting 
prearbitration demands, coordinating or performing maintenance for 
real or personal property and other related routine services involved 
in the operation of a community association, and complying with the 
association’s governing documents and the requirements of law as 
necessary to perform such practices and coordinating maintenance for 
the residential development and other day-to-day services involved 
with the operation of a community association.  A person who 
performs clerical or ministerial functions under the direct supervision 

and control of a licensed manager or who is charged only with 
performing the maintenance of a community association and who 
does not assist in any of the management services described in this 
subsection is not required to be licensed under this part.

The law expands the services that may be performed by community 
association managers on behalf of condominiums, cooperatives, and 
homeowners’ associations, including the authority to:

 ● Determine the number of days required for statutory notices.
 ● Determine the amounts due the association.
 ● Collect amounts due to the association before filing a civil action.
 ● Calculate the votes required for a quorum or to approve a 

proposition or amendment.
 ● Complete forms related to the management of a community 

association that have been created by statute or by a state agency.
 ● Draft meeting notices and agendas.
 ● Calculate and prepare certificates of assessment and estoppel 

certificates.
 ● Respond to requests for certificates of assessment and estoppel 

certificates.
 ● Negotiate monetary or performance terms of a contract subject to 

approval by an association.
 ● Draft pre-arbitration demands.
 ● Coordinate or perform maintenance for real or personal property 

and other routine services involved in the operation of a 
community association.

 ● Comply with the association’s governing documents and the 
requirements of law as necessary to perform such practices.

 ● Act as an agent on behalf of a community association as principal 
within the scope of authority authorized by a written contract or 
under Chapter 468. 

 ● Discharge duties performed on behalf of the association loyally, 
skillfully, diligently; honestly, fairly, in good faith, with care and full 
disclosure to the community association; and accounting for all funds. 
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Indemnification
The law creates section 468. 4334, providing conditions for 
indemnification by the association, and specifying actions that cannot 
be indemnified:

Section 2. Section 468.4334, Florida Statutes, states:
468.4334 Professional practice standards; liability.
(1) A community association manager or a community 
association management firm is deemed to act as agent on behalf 
of a community association as principal within the scope of 
authority authorized by a written contract or under this chapter. 
A community association manager and a community association 
management firm shall discharge duties performed on behalf of 
the association as authorized by this chapter loyally, skillfully, and 
diligently; dealing honestly and fairly; in good faith; with care and 
full disclosure to the community association; accounting for all 
funds; and not charging unreasonable or excessive fees.

(2)(a)   A contract between a community association and a 
community association manager or a contract between a 
community association and a community association management 
firm may provide that the community association indemnifies 
and holds harmless the community association manager and the 
community association management firm for ordinary negligence 
resulting from the manager or management firm’s act or omission 
that is the result of an instruction or direction of the community 
association. This paragraph does not preclude any other negotiated 
indemnity or hold harmless provision.

(b) Indemnification under paragraph (a) may not cover any act 
or omission that violates a criminal law; derives an improper 
personal benefit, either directly or indirectly; is grossly negligent; 
or is reckless, is in bad faith, is with malicious purpose, or is in a 
manner exhibiting wanton and willful disregard of human rights, 
safety, or property.

Liens
The law revises the requirements for a claim of lien by cooperative 
associations to conform with the claim of lien requirements for 
condominium associations by establishing that a claim of lien of a 
cooperative association is not effective one year after the claim is 
recorded unless an action to enforce the lien is begun within that time. 
This one-year period can be extended by an automatic stay, resulting 
from a parcel owner or other interested party filing a bankruptcy 
petition. During this time, the association may not file a foreclosure.  

The law provides several forms relating to liens and assessments for 
condominium, cooperative, and homeowners’ associations, including 
“notice of intent to file a claim of lien” form, “notice of contest of lien” 
form, and a “release of lien” form for condominium, cooperative, and 
homeowners’ associations. It also provides a “delinquent assessment” 
form for condominium and homeowners’ associations, and a “notice 
of contest of lien” form for cooperative associations. To view 
revisions and the required format for Release of Lien and Delinquent 
Assessment notifications, see:  http://laws.flrules.org/2014/146.

Chapter 2014-147 (HB 7051):  department of agriculture and consumer services

This law makes changes to the following regulatory programs 
and activities under the jurisdiction of the Florida Department of 
Agriculture and Consumer Services:

 ● Expands the Board of Professional Surveying and Mapping’s 
rulemaking authority by requiring it to adopt rules establishing 
“standards of practice” for surveyors and mappers. 

 ● Eliminates the requirement that a private investigative, private 
security, or recovery service applicant obtain a letter from a 
fingerprinting technician or physician when a legible set of 
fingerprints cannot be obtained after two attempts.

 ● Revises recertification training requirements for Class “G” 
firearms licensees.

 ● Permits a Class “G” licensee to carry a .40 caliber handgun or a 
.45 caliber automatic colt pistol (ACP) handgun while on duty.

 ● Permits a Class “D” private security guard holding a Class “G” 
license to carry a concealed weapon while in plain clothes under 
certain circumstances.

 ● Permits the Division of Licensing within the department to access 
sealed criminal histories for applicants of a concealed weapon 
license to determine eligibility.

 ● Standardizes regulations and procedures by which a consumer can 
pursue a claim against the bond or other security of a health studio, 
telemarketer, pawnbroker, or seller of travel.

 ● Prohibits a person soliciting contributions on behalf of a charity 
from calling donors who have previously communicated to them 
that they do not wish to receive any more calls.

 ● Prohibits a telemarketer from accepting novelty payments, such as 
remotely created checks or payment orders, cash-to-cash money 
transfers, and cash reload mechanisms.

 ● Provides that antifreeze and brake fluid registrations expire one 
year from the date of issuance.

 ● Clarifies inconsistent language regarding administrative fines for 
noncompliant petroleum products.

 ● Requires the department to adopt quality standards and labeling 
requirements for motor oils.

For Fiscal Year 2014-15, the law appropriates $35,745 in nonrecurring 
funds from the department’s Division of Licensing Trust Fund to the 
Florida Department of Law Enforcement for costs associated with 
providing access to sealed criminal history records.

PArT II: FLorIdA AdMInISTrATIvE CodE (FAC)
FAC Rules Related to CAMs 
The Florida Administrative Code contains many sections of rules 

applicable to community association management.  There were 
relatively few revisions to the FAC during the 2014 legislative session. 

Chapter 61B - division of Florida condominiums, timeshares, and mobile homes

Chapter 61 FAC contains professions licensed under the Department 
of Business and Professional Regulation. Chapter 61B has information 
for CAMS regarding accounting, contracts, arbitration, and mediation 
for condominiums, cooperatives, homeowners’ associations, mobile 
homes, and timeshares. Chapters 61B-15 through 61B-25, 61B-45, and 
61B-50 FAC provide guidelines for many topics addressed in Chapter 

718 FS, Condominiums, with 61B-21 through 61B-23 FAC the most 
relevant sections for unit owner-controlled condominiums.   
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The following table shows how Chapter 61B is organized: 

Chapter No. Chapter Title

61B-1 GENERAL INFORMATION
61B-3 FEES AND COSTS
61B-5 PROCEDURE FOR REGISTRATION
61B-6 ENCUMBRANCES AND IMPROVEMENTS
61B-7 CONTRACTS, AGREEMENTS FOR DEED AND PUBLIC OFFERING STATEMENT
61B-8 OFFERING STATEMENT
61B-9 ADVERTISING
61B-13 EXEMPTIONS
61B-15 FORMS AND DEFINITIONS
61B-16 FEES
61B-17 FILINGS
61B-18 DOCUMENTS
61B-19 COMPLAINTS
61B-20 DEVELOPER OBLIGATIONS AND RESOLUTION GUIDELINES FOR CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPERS
61B-21 CONDOMINIUM RESOLUTION GUIDELINES FOR UNIT OWNER-CONTROLLED ASSOCIATIONS
61B-22 FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING REQUIREMENTS; BUDGETS, RESERVES, AND GUARANTEES
61B-23 THE ASSOCIATION
61B-24 CREATION OF CONDOMINIUM BY CONVERSION
61B-25 VOLUNTEER AND PAID MEDIATION RULES
61B-29 MOBILE HOME RULES DEFINITIONS
61B-30 MOBILE HOME ADVERTISING PROSPECTUS RULE
61B-31 MOBILE HOME PROSPECTUS AND RENTAL AGREEMENT RULE
61B-32 MOBILE HOME MEDIATION RULES
61B-34 MOBILE HOME MEDIATION RULES OF PROCEDURE
61B-35 MOBILE HOME MINOR VIOLATIONS
61B-37 TIME-SHARE PLANS
61B-38 TIME-SHARE SOLICITORS
61B-39 FILING REQUIREMENTS FOR PUBLIC OFFERING STATEMENTS

61B-40 TIMESHARE ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS SCOPE; BOOKS AND FINANCIAL 
RECORDS; BUDGETS; GUARANTEES; RESERVES; FINANCIAL REPORTING

61B-41 TIMESHARE PENALTIES
61B-45 THE MANDATORY NON-BINDING ARBITRATION RULES OF PROCEDURE
61B-50 THE RULES OF PROCEDURE GOVERNING RECALL ARBITRATION
61B-55 COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION MANAGEMENT
61B-60 YACHT AND SHIP BROKERS
61B-75 COOPERATIVES

61B-76 ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL REPORTING REQUIREMENTS; BUDGETS, GUARANTEES, AND RESERVES; 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REPORTS

61B-77 RESOLUTION GUIDELINES FOR COOPERATIVE DEVELOPERS

61B-78 ASSOCIATION FEE AND MAILING ADDRESS; COOPERATIVE RESOLUTION GUIDELINES FOR UNIT OWNER-
CONTROLLED ASSOCIATIONS

61B-79 FILINGS

61B-80 THE ARBITRATION RULES OF PROCEDURE GOVERNING RECALL AND ELECTION DISPUTES IN 
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATIONS

61B-81 SUBSTANTIVE RULES FOR RECALLS IN HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATIONS
61B-82 THE RULES OF MEDIATION PROCEDURE IN HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATIONS
61B-83 CERTIFICATION OF COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION MEDIATORS AND ARBITRATORS
61B-85 HOMEOWNER ASSOCIATIONS

Changes to 61B FAC— division of Florida condominiums, timeshares and mobile homes

Identical changes were made to Rule 61B-50.1265, Non-Final Orders 
(in 61B-50 FAC, Rules Of Procedure Governing Recall Arbitration) 
relating to condominiums, timeshares, and mobile homes, and Rule 
61B-80.1165, Non-Final Orders (in 61B-80 FAC, Arbitration Rules 

Of Procedure Governing Recall And Election Disputes) regarding 
Homeowners’ Associations. They state: 

(1) The presiding arbitrator before whom a case is pending may issue 
any orders necessary to effectuate discovery, to prevent delay, and to 

Page 9  CAMS.EliteCME.com



promote the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of all aspects 
of the case.

(2) When a case is placed in abeyance or abated by a non-final order, 
no filing fee is necessary to reopen the case or otherwise proceed with 
the matter.

Both Rules became effective September 22, 2014. 

Rule 61B-15.0012, Forms (in Chapter 61B-15 FAC, Forms and 
Definitions), was repealed, effective February 2, 2014.  The rule was 
no longer necessary as all the forms listed in it were incorporated into 
Chapter 61B-17 FAC. 

Chapter 61E-14

No revisions were made to Chapter 61E-14 FAC, Regulation of 
Community Association Managers (formerly Chapter 61-20 FAC), 
during the 2014 legislative session, but a number of important 
revisions took place in 2013.  Community association managers should 
review the Chapter to ensure they are familiar and compliant with 
recent changes.  

The table below shows how Chapter 61E-14 is organized, followed by 
Chapter 61E FAC, in full.  A current version of the FAC can be found 
at: https://www.flrules.org/gateway/Division.asp?DivID=835.  

Chapter 61E Regulation of Community Association Managers
61E14-1 LICENSURE
61E14-2 PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
61E14-3 FEES AND ASSESSMENTS
61E14-4 CONTINUING EDUCATION
61E14-5 DISCIPLINARY GUIDELINES

61E14-1.001 Prelicensure education requirements.
1. All community association manager applicants must satisfactorily 

complete a minimum of 18 in-person classroom hours of 
instruction of 50 minutes each within 12 months prior to the date 
of examination. No applicant shall be allowed to take the licensure 
examination unless the applicant provides documentation of 
completion of the requisite prelicensure education. Each contact 
hour shall consist of at least 50 minutes of classroom instruction.

2. The 18 hours of prelicensure education shall be comprised of 
courses in the following areas:
a. State and federal laws relating to the operation of all types of 

community associations, governing documents, and state laws 
relating to corporations and nonprofit corporations – 20%;

b. Procedure for noticing and conducting community association 
meetings – 25%;

c. Preparation of Community Association Budgets and 
Community Association Finances – 25%;

d. Insurance matters relating to Community Associations – 12%; and
e. Management and maintenance – 18%.

3. Applicants who can document to the Council that they suffer from 
a disability or hardship shall be permitted to complete prelicensure 
education by either correspondence or on-line courses. Such 
documentation must be received and approved by the Council 
prior to enrolling and completing any correspondence or on-line 
prelicensure courses.
a. The following shall constitute acceptable “hardships” as used 

in this rule:
1. The applicant’s residence is more than 70 miles from the 

nearest physical location where prelicensure education is 
taught.

2. Providers are not offering any in-person prelicensure 
education courses within the twelve months preceding the 
next available examination.

b. “Disability” as used in this rule shall mean a physical or 
mental impairment that substantially limits one or more of the 
major life activities of the applicant which would preclude the 
applicant from attending in-person prelicensure courses.

61E14-1.002 Examination for manager’s license 
1. An examination candidate must achieve a scaled score of 75 or 

higher in order to achieve a passing grade on the examination.
2. The examination for a community association manager’s license 

as approved by the Council must test the applicant’s knowledge 
of the subjects in subsection 61E14-1.001(2) FAC, with the 
corresponding approximate percentages of questions to the 
examination as a whole.

61E14-1.003 Reexamination 
If an examination candidate fails to achieve a passing grade on the 
examination, the candidate may re-apply in writing for reexamination 
with the (appropriate fees) fees provided in Rule 61E14-3.001 FAC 
An examination candidate may only apply for reexamination within 
one year from the date of certification of the original application for a 
community association manager’s license by the Department.

61E14-1.004 Examination review
1. The Council hereby adopts by reference Rule 61-11.017 FAC, as 

its rule governing examination review.
2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 61-11.017 FAC, 

examination reviews may also be conducted at other times and 
places as established by the Department. For purposes of this rule, 
a representative of the Department conducting the examination 
review shall also include a representative of the contract vendor 
for the examination.

61E14-2.001 Standards of professional conduct 
Licensees shall adhere to the following provisions, standards of 
professional conduct, and such provisions and standards shall be 
deemed automatically incorporated, as duties of all licensees, into any 
written or oral agreement for the rendition of community association 
management services, the violation of which shall constitute gross 
misconduct or gross negligence:

1. Definitions. As used in this rule, the following definitions apply:
a. The word “control” means the authority to direct or prevent 

the actions of another person or entity pursuant to law, 
contract, subcontract or employment relationship, but shall 
specifically exclude a licensee’s relationship with a community 
association, its board of directors, any committee thereof or 
any member of any board or committee.

b. “Licensee” means a person licensed pursuant to Sections 
468.432(1) and (2) FS.

c. The word “funds” as used in this rule includes money and 
negotiable instruments including checks, notes and securities.

2. Honesty. During the performance of management services, a 
licensee shall not knowingly make an untrue statement of a 
material fact or knowingly fail to state a material fact.

3. Professional Competence. A licensee shall undertake to perform 
only those community association management services which he or 
it can reasonably expect to complete with professional competence.

4. Due Professional Care.
a. A licensee shall exercise due professional care in the 

performance of community association management services.
b. A licensee shall not knowingly fail to comply with the 

requirements of the documents by which the association is 
created or operated so long as such documents comply with 
the requirements of law.

5. Control of Others. A licensee shall not permit others under his or the 
management firm’s control to commit on his or the firm’s behalf, 
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acts or omissions which, if made by either licensee, would place that 
licensee in violation of Chapter 455, 468, Part VIII FS, or Chapter 
61-20 FAC or other applicable statutes or rules. A licensee shall be 
deemed responsible by the department for the actions of all persons 
who perform community association management related functions 
under his or its supervision or control.

6. Records.
a. A licensee shall not withhold possession of any original books, 

records, accounts, funds, or other property of a community 
association when requested by the community association to 
deliver the same to the association upon reasonable notice. 
Reasonable notice shall extend no later than 10 business 
days after termination of any management or employment 
agreement and receipt of a written request from the 
association. The manager may retain those records necessary 
for up to 20 days to complete an ending financial statement or 
report. Failure of the association to provide access or retention 
of accounting records to prepare the statement or report shall 
relieve the manager of any further responsibility or liability 
for preparation of the statement or report. The provisions of 
this rule apply regardless of any contractual or other dispute 
between the licensee and the community association. It shall 
be considered gross misconduct, as provided by Section 
468.436(2) FS, for a licensee to violate the provisions of this 
subsection.

b. A licensee shall not deny access to association records, for the 
purpose of inspecting or photocopying the same, to a person 
entitled to such by law, to the extent and under the procedures 
set forth in the applicable law.

c. A licensee shall not create false records or alter records of a 
community association or of the licensee except in such cases 
where an alteration is permitted by law (e.g., the correction of 
minutes per direction given at a meeting at which the minutes 
are submitted for approval).

d. A licensee shall not, to the extent charged with the 
responsibility of maintaining records, fail to maintain his 

or its records, and the records of any applicable community 
association, in accordance with the laws and documents 
requiring or governing the records.

7. Financial Matters. A licensee shall use funds received by him or it on 
the account of any community association or its members only for the 
specific purpose or purposes for which the funds were remitted.

8. Other Licenses.
a. A licensee shall not commit acts of gross negligence or gross 

misconduct in the pursuit of community association management 
or any other profession for which a state or federal license is 
required or permitted. It shall be presumed that gross negligence 
or gross misconduct has been committed where a licensee’s other 
professional license has been suspended or revoked for reasons 
other than non-payment of fees or noncompliance with applicable 
continuing education requirements.

b. A licensee shall not perform, agree to perform or hold himself 
or itself out as being qualified to perform any services which, 
under the laws of the State of Florida or of the United States, 
are to be performed only by a person or entity holding the 
requisite license for same, unless the licensee also holds such 
license or registration; provided, however, that no violation 
hereof shall be deemed to have occurred unless and until the 
authority administering the license or registration in question 
makes a final determination that the licensee or registrant has 
failed to obtain a license or registration in violation of the law 
requiring same.

c. A licensee shall reveal all other licenses or registrations held 
by him or it under the laws of the State of Florida or the 
United States, if, as a result of such license or registration, a 
licensee receives any payment for services or goods from the 
community association or its board.

d. Violation of any provision of Section 455.227(1) FS, or of 
any part of this rule shall subject the licensee to disciplinary 
measures as set out in Section 468.436 FS.

Chapter 61E14-3: Fees and assessments

61E14-3.001 Fees
 The following fees are adopted by the Council:
1. Application fee for a Community Association Manager’s License   

($50.00).
2. Fingerprint processing fee ($47.00).
3. Examination fee: When the examination is not conducted by a 

professional testing service pursuant to Section 455.2171 FS, 
$100.00 payable to the Department. When the examination is 
conducted by a professional testing service pursuant to Section 
455.2171 FS, $73.00 payable to the Department plus $27.00 
payable to the testing service.

4. Re-examination fee: When the examination is not conducted by 
a professional testing service pursuant to Section 455.2171 FS, 
$100.00 payable to the Department. When the examination is 
conducted by a professional testing service pursuant to Section 
455.2171 FS, $73.00 payable to the Department $27.00 payable to 
the testing service.

5. Examination review fee  ($50.00).
6. Initial license fee  ($100.00).
7. Renewal fees.

a. The biennial renewal fee for a licensee renewing as active   
($100.00).

b. (b) The biennial renewal fee for a licensee renewing as 
inactive  ($100.00).

8. Delinquent license fee. A delinquent status licensee shall pay 
a delinquent license fee when the licensee applies for active or 
inactive status  ($50.00).

9. Unlicensed activity fee for initial licensure and license renewal 
($5.00).

10. Reactivation fee for reactivating an inactive license ($25.00).
11. Change of status processing fee. A licensee shall pay a change of 

status processing fee to change the licensee’s status at any time 
other than the beginning of a licensure period  ($15.00).

12. Duplicate license fee in event of loss or destruction ($25.00).
13. Application fee for continuing education providers ($250.00).
14. The renewal fee for continuing education providers ($250.00).
15. Application fee for prelicensure education providers ($250.00).
16. The renewal fee for prelicensure education providers ($250.00).

61E14-3.002 Special assessment
1. Each Community Association Manager licensee licensed on or 

before January 1, 2002, whether active or inactive, shall pay a 
special assessment fee of $200.00 to the Department. Payment of 
the fee must be received by the Department no later than 5:00 p.m. 
on September 30, 2002.

2. The special assessment fee applies to all licensees including those 
whose licenses have been suspended and/or placed on probation 
by the Department.

3. Failure to pay the special assessment fee as required above shall 
constitute grounds for disciplinary action. Licensees who fail to 
pay the special assessment fee as required above shall be charged 
with violating Section 468.436(1)(b)2. FS.
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Chapter 61E14-4: Continuing education

61E14-4.001  Continuing Education Renewal Requirements.
1. All community association manager licensees must satisfactorily 

complete a minimum of 20 hours of continuing education. 
Each hour shall consist of 50 minutes of student involvement 
in approved classroom, correspondence, interactive, distance 
education or internet courses which courses shall include the 
required hours at an approved update seminar. No license shall be 
renewed unless the licensee has completed the required continuing 
education during the preceding licensing period. 

2. Only continuing education courses approved by the Council shall 
be valid for purposes of licensee renewal.

3. The 20 hours of continuing education shall be comprised of 
courses approved pursuant to Rule 61E14-4.003 FAC, in the 
following areas:
a. 4 hours of legal update seminars. Licensees shall satisfactorily 

complete a 2-hour legal update seminar during each year of 
the biennial renewal period. The legal update seminars shall 
consist of instruction regarding changes to Chapters 455, 468, 
Part VIII, 617, 718, 719, and 721 FS, and other legislation, 
case law, and regulations impacting community association 
management. Licensees shall not be awarded continuing 
education credit for completing the same legal update seminar 
more than once even if the seminars were taken during 
different years. 

b. 4 hours of instruction on insurance and financial management 
topics relating to community association management.

c. 4 hours of instruction on the operation of the community 
association’s physical property.

d. 4 hours of instruction on human resources topics relating to 
community association management. Human resources topics 
include, but are not limited to, disaster preparedness, employee 
relations, and communications skills for effectively dealing 
with residents and vendors.

e. 4 hours of additional instruction in any area described in 
paragraph (3)(b), (c) or (d) of this rule or in any course or 
courses directly related to the management or administration 
of community associations.

4. No licensee will receive credit, for purposes of meeting the 
continuing education requirement, for completing the same 
continuing education course more than once during a biennial 
renewal period.

5. Course instructors may receive continuing education credit hours 
in the amount of hours approved by the Council for licensees only 
once every renewal period for each approved course taught by the 
instructor.

6. Anyone licensed for more than 24 months at renewal time will 
be required to have complied with the CE requirements set forth 
in subsection (1), above, prior to renewal. More than 24 months, 
means 24 months plus 1 day. Licensees licensed for 24 months 
or less at renewal time are exempt from compliance with the CE 
requirements set forth in subsection (1), above, until the end of the 
next renewal cycle.

7. A licensee shall retain, and make available to the Department 
and its representatives upon request, continuing education course 
certificates of completion that comply with paragraph 61-6.015(4)
(a) FAC, for three years following course completion.

8. All licensees shall comply with all applicable provisions of 
subsections 61-6.015(2) and (3) FAC.

61E14-4.002 Continuing education provider approval 
1. A continuing education provider is a person or entity approved 

pursuant to this rule to conduct continuing education courses for 
community association managers.

2. Entities or individuals who wish to become approved providers 
of continuing professional education shall make application to 

the Council, on Forms DBPR 0020-1 – Master Organization 
Application (Eff. 05/10), DBPR 0060-1 – General Explanatory 
Description (Eff. 05/10), and DBPR CAM-4302 – Continuing 
Education Provider and Course Approval Application (Rev. 
05/10), all of which are hereby incorporated by reference into 
this rule. These forms are available as a single application packet 
with instructions, a copy of which may be obtained from the 
Department’s website at https://www.myfloridalicense.com/
intentions2.asp?SID=&page=intentions2.asp.

3. Each provider application shall contain the following information, 
and shall be accompanied by the following documentation and 
other information as required by the Council:
a. The name, address, telephone number, fax number, and e-mail 

address of a contact person who will fulfill the reporting 
and documentation requirements for provider approval. The 
provider shall notify the Council of any change of contact 
person within ten (10) days of the actual change.

b. The identity and qualifications of all instructors who will 
be presenting courses during the period of providership. 
These qualifications at a minimum shall include instructional 
experience and:
1. A bachelor’s degree and 2 years experience in the subject 

matter being taught; or
2. An associate’s degree and 4 years experience in the subject 

matter being taught; or
3. Six years experience in the subject matter being taught.  
4. Should additional instructors be added during the period 

of providership, the provider shall notify the Council in 
writing of the new instructor’s qualifications at least 30 
days prior to actually conducting the course.

c. The appropriate continuing education provider application fee 
pursuant to subsection 61E14-3.001(13) FAC.

4. Continuing education provider status shall be valid from the date 
of approval until May 31 of every odd numbered year. Providers 
may renew their provider status within 90 days of May 31 of the 
odd numbered year. Those seeking renewal of provider status 
must reapply in a format acceptable to the Council and submit the 
appropriate renewal fee pursuant to subsection 61E14-3.001(14) 
FAC. Providers who fail to renew their provider status on a timely 
basis in accordance with this rule shall not offer or advertise a 
course as an approved course for continuing education. Renewal of 
provider status shall be for a two year period until May 31 of the 
next odd numbered year.

5. Once approved, providers shall comply with the following 
requirements:
a. When advertising approved courses, providers shall disclose 

the course approval number and the number of contact hours 
assigned by the Council and the course subject area. Providers 
shall not advertise courses as approved courses until they are 
actually approved by the Council. 

b. Providers shall maintain a system of recordkeeping which 
provides for storage of approved course offerings information.

c. Records of individual courses shall be maintained by the 
provider for 6 years and shall be available for inspection by the 
Council and the Department or the Department’s designee.

d. An attendance record shall be maintained by the provider for 6 
years and shall be available for inspection by the Council and 
the Department or the Department’s designee. Providers must 
electronically provide to the Department a list of attendees 
taking a course within five (5) business days of the completion 
of the course. For home study courses, the provider must 
electronically supply the list of those individuals successfully 
completing the course by the 5th of the month following the 
calendar month in which the provider received documentation 
and was able to determine the successful completion of the 
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course by the individual. The list and a certificate of attendance 
provided to the participant shall include the provider’s name, 
the name and license number of the attendee, the date the 
course was completed and course approval number and the 
total number of hours successfully completed in each type of 
continuing education credit granted as described in subsection 
61E14-4.001(3) FAC. If the instructor is receiving credit as set 
forth in subsection 61E14-4.001(5) FAC, the instructor shall 
be listed as an attendee with the same information required 
above. Providers shall maintain security of attendance records 
and certificates.

e. All information or documentation, including electronic 
course rosters, submitted to the Council or the Department 
shall be submitted in a format acceptable to the Council and 
the Department. Failure to comply with the time and form 
requirements will result in disciplinary action taken against the 
provider. No provider may reapply for continuing education 
provider status until at least two (2) years have elapsed since 
the entry of the final order against the provider.

f. Providers shall assure that sales presentations shall not 
be conducted during, immediately before or after the 
administration of any courses approved pursuant to this rule.

6. A continuing education provider initially approved during the last 
90 days prior to May 31 of an odd numbered year, shall not be 
required to reapply as a condition for renewing provider status.

7. The Council shall deny continuing education provider status to any 
applicant who submits false, misleading or deceptive information 
or documentation to the Council.

8. The Council retains the right and authority to audit courses offered 
by any provider approved pursuant to this rule.

9. The Council shall rescind the provider status or reject individual 
courses offered by a provider if the provider disseminates any 
false or misleading information in connection with the continuing 
education course, or if the provider or its instructor(s) failed to 
conform to and abide by the rules of the Council or the Department 
or are in violation of any of the provisions of Chapter 468, Part 
VIII or 455 FS.

10. The Council shall utilize expert groups or individuals as 
appropriate in implementing these rules.

61E14-4.003 Continuing education course approval 
1. Continuing education courses shall be valid for purposes of the 

continuing education requirement only if such courses have been 
approved by the Council. The Council shall approve a course as a 
continuing education course for the purpose of this rule when the 
following requirements are met:
a. Application for course approval shall be received by the 

Council prior to the date the course is offered, on Forms 
DBPR 0020-1 – Master Organization Application (Eff. 05/10), 
DBPR 0060-1 – General Explanatory Description (Eff. 05/10), 
and DBPR CAM-4302 – Continuing Education Provider and 
Course Approval Application (Rev. 05/10). These forms are 
available as a single application packet with instructions, 
a copy of which may be obtained from the Department’s 
website at https://www.myfloridalicense.com/intentions2.
asp?SID=&page=intentions2.asp.

b. A course outline is submitted to the Council, along with the 
application, which describes the course’s content and subject 
matter. A course outline shall address the following:
1. Learner Objectives. Objectives shall describe expected 

learner outcomes, how learner outcomes will be evaluated, 
and describe how the objectives will be obtained. 
The objectives shall describe the content, teaching 
methodology and plan for evaluation.

2. Subject Matter. The content shall be specifically designed 
to meet the objectives and the stated level and learning 
needs of community association managers. Specifically, it 

shall address one or more of the subject areas outlined in 
subsection 61E14-4.001(3) FAC.

3. Materials and Methods. It shall be demonstrated to the 
Council that:
a. Learning experiences and teaching methods are 

appropriate to achieve the objectives.
b. Time allotted for each activity shall be sufficient for 

the learner to meet the objectives.
c. Principles of adult education are utilized in 

determining teaching strategies and learning activities.
d. Currency and accuracy of subject matter will be 

documented by references or bibliography.
4. Evaluation. Participants are given an opportunity to 

evaluate learning experiences, instructional methods, 
facilities and resources used for the course.

c. A list of all instructors for the course, which shall include 
names, addresses, e-mail addresses and telephone numbers, 
shall accompany the course approval application.

d. The course approval application must be accompanied 
by an approved provider number or the applicant must 
simultaneously apply for continuing education provider status 
pursuant to Rule 61E14-4.002 FAC. 

2. The course provider shall submit to the Council a sample 
continuing education course certificate of completion that complies 
with paragraph 61E14-4.002(5)(d) FAC., that is given to each 
course participant if the participant completes the course. In 
addition to the information required by paragraph 61E14-4.002(5)
(d) FAC., the certificate shall be provided to the course participant 
at the completion of the course. The certificate of completion shall 
contain, on its face, the following statement in capital letters in at 
least 12 point type:

IF YOU HAVE ANY CONCERNS THAT THE COURSE YOU 
HAVE JUST COMPLETED DID NOT MEET THE LEARNING 
OBJECTIVES SET OUT IN THE COURSE MATERIALS, DID 
NOT COVER THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE COURSE, OR 
WAS A SALES PRESENTATION; PLEASE CONTACT THE 
COUNCIL’S OFFICE IN WRITING AT:

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL 
REGULATION
REGULATORY COUNCIL OF COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION 
MANAGERS
1940 NORTH MONROE STREET, TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 
32399-1040

3. Course approvals are valid for 24 months from the date of issuance. 
Providers must reapply for course approval within 90 days from the 
expiration of the 24 month period. Written application and course 
approval shall be in the same form as set forth in paragraph (1)(a) 
above. The Council shall be notified of any substantive changes 
made to approved courses during this period. Course approval shall 
be rescinded by the Council if such notification is not made or the 
changes fail to otherwise conform to this rule. Course approvals 
shall be automatically rescinded if the provider approval expires or 
is rescinded by disciplinary action or otherwise.

4. Continuing education courses approved prior to the effective date 
of this rule remain valid for the purposes of fulfilling the continuing 
education requirement until the course approval expires.

61E14-4.004  Reactivation continuing education 
1. As a condition for reactivating an inactive or delinquent license, an 

inactive status licensee shall be required to satisfactorily complete 
ten (10) classroom hours of continuing education instruction of 50 
minutes each for each year or any portion of a year the license was 
inactive. Two (2) hours shall consist of the legal update seminar 
for the year in which the licensee is reactivating. The remaining 
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hours of reactivation continuing education may be in any of the 
areas described in Rule 61E14-4.001 FAC., as appropriate.

2. Notwithstanding subsection (1) of this rule, no inactive status 
licensee shall be required to satisfactorily complete more than 
twenty (20) classroom hours of continuing education, at least 
50% of which must have been completed within the year prior 
to application for reactivation, in order to reactivate a license. 
An inactive licensee must take the two most recent legal update 
courses prior to reactivation.

61E14-4.005  Prelicensure education provider approval 
1. A prelicensure education provider is a person or entity approved 

pursuant to this rule to conduct prelicensure education courses for 
community association managers.

2. Entities or individuals who wish to become approved providers 
of prelicensure education shall make application on Forms DBPR 
0020-1 – Master Organization Application (Eff. 05/10) and 
DBPR CAM-4306 – Prelicensure Provider Application (Rev. 
05/10). Forms DBPR 0020-1 and DBPR CAM-4306 are hereby 
incorporated by reference into this rule. These forms are available 
as a single application packet with instructions, a copy of which 
may be obtained from the Department’s website at https://www.
myfloridalicense.com/intentions2.asp?SID=&page=intentions2.asp.

3. Each provider application shall contain the following information, 
and shall be accompanied by the following documentation and 
other information as required.
a. The name, address, telephone number, fax number, and e-mail 

address of a contact person who will fulfill the reporting 
and documentation requirements for provider approval. The 
provider shall notify the Council of any change of contact 
person within ten (10) days of the actual change.

b. The identity and qualifications of all instructors who will 
be presenting courses during the period of providership. 
These qualifications at a minimum shall include instructional 
experience; and
1. A bachelor’s degree and 2 years experience in the subject 

matter being taught; or
2. An associate’s degree and 4 years experience in the subject 

matter being taught; or
3. Six years experience in the subject matter being taught.

Should additional instructors be added during the period 
of providership, the provider shall notify the Council in 
writing of the new instructor’s qualifications at least thirty 
(30) days prior to actually conducting the course.

c. The appropriate prelicensure education provider application 
fee pursuant to subsection 61E14-3.001(15) FAC.

d. A course outline which describes the course’s content and 
subject matter. A course outline shall address the following:
1. Learner Objectives. Objectives shall describe expected 

learner outcomes, how learner outcomes will be evaluated, 
and describe how the objectives will be obtained. 
The objectives shall describe the content, teaching 
methodology and plan for evaluation.

2. Subject Matter. The content shall be specifically designed 
to meet the objectives and the stated level and learning 
needs of community association managers. Specifically, it 
shall address one or more of the subject areas outlined in 
subsection 61E14-1.001(2) FAC.

3. Materials and Methods. It shall be demonstrated to the 
Council that:
a. Learning experiences and teaching methods are 

appropriate to achieve the objectives.
b. Time allotted for each activity shall be sufficient for 

the learner to meet the objectives.
c. Principles of adult education are utilized in 

determining teaching strategies and learning activities.

d. Currency and accuracy of subject matter will be 
documented by references or bibliography.

4. Evaluation. Participants are given an opportunity to 
evaluate learning experiences, instructional methods, 
facilities and resources used for the course.

4. Prelicensure education provider status shall be valid from the date 
of approval until May 31 of every even numbered year. Those 
seeking renewal of provider status must reapply on Forms DBPR 
0020-1 and DBPR CAM 4306, referenced in subsection (2) above, 
to the Council and submit the appropriate renewal fee pursuant 
to subsection 61E14-3.001(16) FAC. Providers who fail to renew 
their provider status on a timely basis in accordance with this rule 
shall not offer or advertise a course as an approved course for 
prelicensure education.

5. Once approved, providers shall comply with the following 
requirements:
a. When advertising courses, providers shall disclose the number 

of hours assigned by the Council and the course subject area. 
Providers shall not advertise courses until they are actually 
approved by the Council.

b. Providers shall maintain a system of record keeping which 
provides for storage of course offerings information.

c. Records of individual courses shall be maintained by the 
provider for 4 years and shall be available for inspection by the 
Council.

d. Providers shall furnish each participant with an individual 
certificate of attendance and completion of the course. A roster 
of participants shall be maintained by the provider for 4 years 
and shall be available for inspection by the Council. Providers 
shall maintain security of attendance records and certificates.

e. The course provider shall submit to the Council a sample 
certificate of course completion that the course instructor shall 
provide each coursycate shall include the course participant’s 
name, the title of the course, prelicensure education category, 
date completed and number of hours. The certificate shall be 
provided to the course participant at the completion of the 
course. The certificate of course completion shall contain, on 
its face, the following statement in capital letters in at least 12 
point type:

IF YOU HAVE ANY CONCERNS THAT THE COURSE 
YOU HAVE JUST COMPLETED DID NOT MEET THE 
LEARNING OBJECTIVES SET OUT IN THE COURSE 
MATERIALS, DID NOT COVER THE SUBJECT MATTER 
OF THE COURSE, OR WAS A SALES PRESENTATION; 
PLEASE CONTACT THE COUNCIL’S OFFICE IN WRITING 
AT: DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL 
REGULATION, REGULATORY COUNCIL OF 
COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION MANAGERS, 1940 NORTH 
MONROE STREET, TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1040.

f. All information or documentation submitted to the Council or 
the Department shall be submitted in a format acceptable to 
the Council and the Department.

g. Providers shall assure that sales presentations shall not be 
conducted, immediately before or after the administration of 
any courses pursuant to this rule.

6. A prelicensure education provider initially approved during the last 
90 days prior to May 31 of an even numbered year, shall not be 
required to reapply as a condition for renewing provider status.

7. The Council shall deny prelicensure education provider status 
to any applicant who submits false, misleading or deceptive 
information or documentation to the Council.

8. The Council shall rescind the provider status if the provider 
disseminates any false or misleading information in connection 
with the prelicensure education course, or if the provider or its 
instructor(s) failed to conform to and abide by the rules of the 
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Council or are in violation of any of the provisions of Chapter 468, 
Part VIII or 455 FS.

61E14-5.005  Disciplinary guidelines
Rule 61E14-5.001, Citations, and Rule 61E14-5.002, Mediation, were 
under development during the 2014 legislative session. The proposed 
rules establish categories of disciplinary violations for which licensed 
CAMs and community association management firms may receive a 
notice of non-compliance or citation, and specifies which violations 
can be sent to mediation rather than the traditional disciplinary 
process, respectively. Rule 61E14-5.003, Notices of Non-Compliance, 
created in 2013, establishes disciplinary guidelines for violations 
by licensed CAMS and community association management firms, 
including notice of non-compliance or citation. 

61E14-5.003 Notice of non-compliance.
In accordance with Section 455.225(3) FS., when a complaint is 
received, the agency may provide a licensee with a notice of non-
compliance for an initial offense of a minor violation. Failure of a 

licensee to take action in correcting the violation within 15 days after 
notice may result in the institution of regular disciplinary proceedings. 
“Minor violations” as used in Section 455.225(3) FS, are defined as 
follows:

1. Violations of paragraph 61E14-2.001(6)(a) FAC: Withholding 
possession of any original books, records, accounts, funds, 
or other property of a community association when requested 
by the community association to deliver the same to the 
association upon reasonable notice.

2. Violations of paragraph 61E14-2.001(6)(b) FAC: Failing 
to provide access to association records, for the purpose of 
inspecting or photocopying the same, to a person entitled to 
such by the law.

2015 LegaL Update 
Final examination questions

Select the best answer for each question and mark your answers 
online at CAMS.EliteCME.com.

1. It is very unusual to encounter inconsistencies or disagreement 
among governing documents. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

2. A disclosure summary is not necessary at or before the execution 
of the contract for sale if any of the subsurface rights or right of 
entry are severed or retained by the seller or will be in the future 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

3. Residential property insurers must provide the Homeowner Claims 
Bill of Rights to policyholders within 30 days of receiving any 
claim-related communication.  

 ¨ True  ¨ False

4. Chapter 2014-104 Property Insurance, requires Citizens to re-inspect 
insured properties within a period of five years if the initial windstorm 
mitigation inspection form was verified by a quality assurance 
program approved by Citizens prior to acceptance of the form.  

 ¨ True  ¨ False

5. Chapter 2014-133, Residential Properties, establishes that a 
condominium or cooperative association that acquires title through 
foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure is not considered a 
“previous owner” for joint and several liability purposes. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

CAMFL02LUE15
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Chapter 2: 2016 Legal Update

2 CE Hours

By: Valerie Wohl

Learning objectives
 ● Describe changes to Florida state law in 2015 that affect the role of 

community association managers.
 ● List the main bodies of law associated with community association 

management in Florida.
 ● Explain the difference between the Florida statutes (FS)(laws) and 

the Florida Administrative (FAC) Code (rules).
 ● List three sections of the Florida Administrative Code (FAC) that 

applies to community association management.
 ● List four sources for regulations governing community association 

management, excluding the FS and FAC.
 ● Summarize legislative changes affecting community association 

management that passed in 2015 related to these Chapters of the 
FSs:

 ○ Chapter 2015-26 (HB 766): Privacy.
 ○ Chapter 2015-69 (SB 1094): Peril of Flood.
 ○ Chapter 2015-80 (HB 361): Taxation.
 ○ Chapter 2015-89 (HB 303): Transient Occupancy.
 ○ Chapter 2015-90 (HB 307): Mobile Homes.
 ○ Chapter 2015-94 (HB 715): Eligibility for Coverage by 

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation.
 ○ Chapter 2015-95 (HB 775): Foreclosures.
 ○ Chapter 2015-96 (HB 779): Landlord/Tenant. 
 ○ Chapter 2015-97 (HB 791): Community Associations.

 ○ Chapter 2015-131 (HB 791): Service Animals.
 ○ Chapter 2015-135 (HB 165): Property and Casualty Insurance.
 ○ Chapter 2015-144 (HB 453): Timeshares.
 ○ Chapter 2015-165 (HB 87): Construction Defects. 
 ○ Chapter 2015-175 (HB 643): Condo Termination.

 ● List tasks that constitute the unlicensed practice of law when 
performed by a CAM.

 ● Summarize legislative changes affecting community association 
management that passed in 2015 related to these sections of the 
FAC:

 ○ 61b-19 Complaints. 
 ○ 61b-23 Association. 
 ○ 61b-30 Mobile Home Advertising Prospectus Rule. 
 ○ 61b-45 Mandatory Non-Binding Arbitration Rules Of 

Procedure. 
 ○ 61b-75 Cooperatives. 
 ○ 61b-76 Accounting and Financial Reporting Requirements. 
 ○ 61b-77 Resolution Guidelines for Cooperative Developers. 
 ○ 61b-78 Association Fee and Mailing Address; Cooperative 

Resolution Guidelines. 
 ○ 61e14-4 Continuing Education. 
 ○ 61e14-5 Disciplinary Guidelines.

Introduction
The course introduces provisions of laws and rules created or revised 
during the 2015 Florida legislative session. The Division of Florida 
Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes is authorized to 
apply and enforce laws and rules governing community association 
managers. Regulations governing CAM are addressed in many 
chapters of the FS and FAC. This information is primarily found in the 
following areas:

FS:
 ● Chapter 468, Part VIII FS: Community Association Management. 
 ● Chapter 718 FS: The Condominium Act.
 ● Chapter 719 FS: The Cooperative Act.
 ● Chapter 720 FS: Homeowners’ Associations.
 ● Chapter 723 FS: The Florida Mobile Home Act. 
 ● Chapter 617 FS: The Florida Not-For-Profit Corporations Act. 
 ● Chapter 607 FS: The Florida Corporations Act. 

FAC:
 ● Chapter 61B FAC: Division of Florida Condominiums, 

Timeshares, and Mobile Homes.
 ● Chapter 61E14 (formerly 61-20) FAC: Regulation of Community 

Association Managers. 

State laws and rules are only a part of a comprehensive network of 
regulations governing community association management. Policy is 
also guided by: 

 ● Federal Laws such as the Fair Housing Act, Internal Revenue 
Codes, the American Disabilities Act, the Virginia Graeme Baker 

Pool and Spa Safety Act(P&SS Act), the FCC OTARD Rule (Over 
the Air Reception Devices - Satellite Dishes), and the Fair Debt 
Collection Practices Act. 

 ● State laws that do not apply specifically to community associations 
but still require compliance. Examples include regulations 
associated with ecological issues (e.g., mandating community 
organization developments minimize damage to coastal regions), 
or ensuring public safety, such as elevator inspections at regular 
intervals. 

 ● Local ordinances that apply to building codes, animal control, 
water rationing, etc.

 ● Case law. 
 ● Standards set by accountants, engineers, architects, home 

inspectors, real estate brokers, and other professionals.
 ● Community Association documents including:

 ○ Articles of incorporation filed with the secretary of state. 
 ○ The recorded map or “plat” defining each owner’s title to 

property, and the association’s title to common areas. 
 ○ Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (CCRs), or any 

publicly recorded deed restrictions. 
 ○ The bylaws, which provide rules for management and 

administration. 
 ○ Any additional resolutions adopted by the association. 
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Court decisions
This year, a confirmation of CAM professional conduct standards came 
from a legal ruling reaffirming a decision made in 1996 stating the 
activities of CAMs that constitute the unlicensed practice of law. In the 
recent case, the court clarified the decision and specified prohibited tasks. 

CAMs are permitted to perform these tasks:
 ● Preparation of a certificate of assessments due once the delinquent 

account is turned over to the attorney for the association. 
 ● Preparation of a certificate of assessments due once foreclosure 

against the unit has commences. 
 ● Preparation of a certificate of assessments due once the member 

disputes in writing to the association the amount alleged as owed.
 ● Drafting pre-arbitration demand letters required by Section 

718.1255 of FS; and

CAMs are not permitted to perform these tasks. They constitute the 
unlicensed practice of law:

 ● Drafting of amendments to the declaration of covenants or 
condominium, bylaws, and articles of incorporation, when such 
documentation is to be voted on by the members.

 ● Drafting certificates of amendment that are recorded in the official 
records.

 ● Preparation of construction lien documents; preparation, review, 
drafting and/or substantial involvement in the preparation/
execution of contracts, including construction contracts, 
management contracts, cable television contracts, and the like. 

 ● Any activity that requires statutory or case law analysis to reach a 
legal conclusion.

It is not unusual to encounter inconsistencies or disagreement among 
governing documents, covenant and bylaw requirements, or state 
and federal law; they may be in conflict with one another. Certain 
situations will require interpretation of competing regulations, and, in 
some cases, professional assistance to ensure compliance with the law.

CAM regulation and continuing education
Community association management (CAM) firms must be licensed, 
and each community association manager within the firm must be 
licensed. Licensed community association managers are regulated by 
two main agencies:

 ● Chapter 455 FS, “Business and Professional Regulation,” 
establishes the enforcement authority of the Department of 
Business and Professional Regulation (The Department, or 
DBPR), responsible for regulating  community association 
managers working for the following types of residential units: 

 ○ Mobile home parks.
 ○ Planned unit developments. 
 ○ Homeowners associations. 
 ○ Cooperatives.
 ○ Timeshares.
 ○ Condominiums. 

 ○ Other residential units, which are part of a residential 
development scheme and are authorized to impose a fee that 
may become a lien on the parcel.

 ● The Regulatory Council of Community Association Managers: a 
group of seven members, including five community association 
managers (one of employed by a timeshare) and two consumer 
members. The council oversees duties relate to licensure 
examination, continuing education requirements, continuing 
education providers, fees and professional practice standards 
related to the profession. It also interprets rules, as necessary, to 
implement the law. 

CAM licensees successfully completing fulfill two of the four required 
credits of legal update continuing education specified in 61E14-4.001 
FAC: Continuing Education Renewal Requirements, which applies to all 
licensed community association managers. Rules for the profession are 
posted at: http://www.myfloridalicense.com/dbpr/pro/cam/index.html.

Chapter organization
 ● Changes to the FS associated with community association 

management are presented in Part I: Florida Statutes: The laws are 
presented in ascending numerical order; each section includes a 
title, which provides the statute’s identification number, beginning 
with the year it was passed (2015-etc), followed by the Senate or 
House Bill Number (SB for Senate Bill; HB for House Bill) on 
which the law is based, the name associated with it, and a brief 
summary of the new law. In some cases, sections of the revised 
law are shown with changes identified as follows: Words crossed 
out are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

 ● Chapters 61B and 61E14 are presented in Part II: Florida 
Administrative Code, with each section title providing the rule’s 
identification number (61E14-etc), followed by its name/subject.  

The full current text of all laws and rules discussed in this chapter can 
be found at the following Florida state websites:

 ● Florida Senate Home Page: www.flsenate.gov   
 ● Florida House of Representatives Home Page:  
www.myfloridahouse.com

 ● Florida Legislature “Online Sunshine” website:  
www.leg.state.fl.us

PArT I: FLorIdA STATUTES
The FS are found at http://www.leg.state.fl.us/statutes/ and are a 
permanent collection of state laws organized by subject area. Laws 
are divided into titles, chapters, parts, and sections. The FS are revised 
each year by new laws that create, amend, or repeal specific sections 
of the law. Legislative changes to the FS, effective up to and including 
January 1, 2016, are treated as current for publication of the 2015 
statutes. This means that some laws in the 2015 session were effective 
as late as January 1, 2016. 

It is not possible to review all the 2015 amendments that have some 
relevance to community association management, so the course 
will focus on those laws CAM will most need to know for the 
daily management of condominiums, cooperatives, homeowners’ 
associations, and mobile homes.
 

 ● Chapter 2015-26 (HB 766): Privacy.
 ● Chapter 2015-69 (SB 1094): Peril of flood.
 ● Chapter 2015-80 (HB 361): Taxation.
 ● Chapter 2015-89 (HB 303): Transient occupancy.
 ● Chapter 2015-90 (HB 307): Mobile homes.
 ● Chapter 2015-94 (HB 715): Eligibility for coverage by citizens 

Property Insurance Corporation.
 ● Chapter 2015-95 (HB 775): Foreclosures.
 ● Chapter 2015-96 (HB 779): Landlord/tenant.
 ● Chapter 2015-97 (HB 791): Community associations.
 ● Chapter 2015-131 (HB 791): Service animals.
 ● Chapter 2015-135 (HB 165): Property and casualty insurance.
 ● Chapter 2015-144 (HB 453): Timeshares.
 ● Chapter 2015-165 (HB 87): Construction defects.
 ● Chapter 2015-175 (HB 643): Condo termination.
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Each law is discussed below. Where space allows, they are reprinted 
in full, with changes indicated in the text. Laws too long to include are 

summarized. It is strongly recommended that the reader refer to the 
complete text and recent changes, using the links provided. 

Chapter 2015-26 (HB 766): Privacy 
The law prohibits a person, state agency, or political subdivision 
from using a drone to record an image of privately owned property or 
people on private property with the intent to conduct surveillance on 
the individual or property without written consent.  Exceptions include 
certain law enforcement activities and actions carried out by property 
appraisers, utilities, aerial mappers, cargo delivery systems, and any 

other person or entity engaged in a business licensed by the state, 
subject to certain conditions. The law authorizes an aggrieved party 
to initiate a civil action and obtain damages for a violation of the law. 
The law prohibits use of any evidence collected in this manner to be 
used in a court of law. 

Chapter 2015-26
An act relating to surveillance by a drone; amending s. 934.50, F.S.; 
defining terms; prohibiting a person, a state agency, or a political 
subdivision from using a drone to capture an image of privately 
owned real property or of the owner, tenant, occupant, invitee, or 
licensee of such property with the intent to conduct surveillance 
without his or her written consent if a reasonable expectation of 
privacy exists; specifying when a reasonable expectation of privacy 
may be presumed; authorizing the use of a drone by a person or entity 
engaged in a business or profession licensed by the state in certain 
circumstances; authorizing the use of a drone by an employee or 
contractor of a property appraiser for the purpose of assessing property 
for ad valorem taxation; authorizing the use of a drone by or on behalf 
of certain utilities for specified purposes; authorizing the use of a 
drone for aerial mapping under certain circumstances; authorizing 
the use of a drone for delivering cargo under certain circumstances; 
authorizing the use of a drone to capture certain images under certain 
circumstances; providing that an owner, tenant, occupant, invitee, or 
licensee may initiate a civil action for compensatory damages and may 
seek injunctive relief against a person, a state agency, or a political 
subdivision that violates the act; providing for construction; providing 
for the recovery of attorney fees and punitive damages; specifying 
that remedies provided by the act are cumulative to other remedies; 
providing an effective date.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

Section 1. Section 934.50, Florida Statutes, is amended to read:

934.50 Searches and seizure using a drone.

(1) Short title – This act may be cited as the “Freedom from 
Unwarranted Surveillance Act.”

(2) Definitions – As used in this act, the term: 
(a) “Drone” means a powered, aerial vehicle that:

1. Does not carry a human operator;
2. Uses aerodynamic forces to provide vehicle lift;
3. Can fly autonomously or be piloted remotely;
4. Can be expendable or recoverable; and
5. Can carry a lethal or nonlethal payload.

(b) “Image” means a record of thermal, infrared, ultraviolet, 
visible light, or other electromagnetic waves; sound waves; odors; 
or other physical phenomena which captures conditions existing 
on or about real property or an individual located on that property.
(c) “Imaging device” means a mechanical, digital, or electronic 
viewing device; still camera; camcorder; motion picture camera; or 
any other instrument, equipment, or format capable of recording, 
storing, or transmitting an image.
(d)(b) “Law enforcement agency” means a lawfully established 
state or local public agency that is responsible for the prevention 
and detection of crime, local government code enforcement, and 
the enforcement of penal, traffic, regulatory, game, or controlled 
substance laws.
(e) “Surveillance” means:

1. With respect to an owner, tenant, occupant, invitee, or 
licensee of privately owned real property, the observation of 
such persons with sufficient visual clarity to be able to obtain 

information about their identity, habits, conduct, movements, 
or whereabouts; or
2. With respect to privately owned real property, the 
observation of such property’s physical improvements 
with sufficient visual clarity to be able to determine unique 
identifying features or its occupancy by one or more persons.

(3) Prohibited use of drones –
(a) A law enforcement agency may not use a drone to gather 
evidence or other information.
(b) A person, a state agency, or a political subdivision as defined 
in s. 11.45 may not use a drone equipped with an imaging device 
to record an image of privately owned real property or of the 
owner, tenant, occupant, invitee, or licensee of such property with 
the intent to conduct surveillance on the individual or property 
captured in the image in violation of such person’s reasonable 
expectation of privacy without his or her written consent. For 
purposes of this section, a person is presumed to have a reasonable 
expectation of privacy on his or her privately owned real property 
if he or she is not observable by persons located at ground level in 
a place where they have a legal right to be, regardless of whether 
he or she is observable from the air with the use of a drone.

(4) Exceptions – This section act does not prohibit the use of a drone:
(a) To counter a high risk of a terrorist attack by a specific 
individual or organization if the United States Secretary of 
Homeland Security determines that credible intelligence indicates 
that there is such a risk.
 (b) If the law enforcement agency first obtains a search warrant 
signed by a judge authorizing the use of a drone.
(c) If the law enforcement agency possesses reasonable suspicion 
that, under particular circumstances, swift action is needed to 
prevent imminent danger to life or serious damage to property, 
to forestall the imminent escape of a suspect or the destruction 
of evidence, or to achieve purposes including, but not limited to, 
facilitating the search for a missing person.
(d) By a person or an entity engaged in a business or profession 
licensed by the state, or by an agent, employee, or contractor 
thereof, if the drone is used only to perform reasonable tasks 
within the scope of practice or activities permitted under such 
person’s or entity’s license. However, this exception does not apply 
to a profession in which the licensee’s authorized scope of practice 
includes obtaining information about the identity, habits, conduct, 
movements, whereabouts, affiliations, associations, transactions, 
reputation, or character of any society, person, or group of persons.
(e) By an employee or a contractor of a property appraiser who 
uses a drone solely for the purpose of assessing property for ad 
valorem taxation. 
(f) To capture images by or for an electric, water, or natural gas 
utility: 
1. For operations and maintenance of utility facilities, including 
facilities used in the generation, transmission, or distribution of 
electricity, gas, or water, for the purpose of maintaining utility 
system reliability and integrity;
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2. For inspecting utility facilities, including pipelines, to determine 
construction, repair, maintenance, or replacement needs before, during, 
and after construction of such facilities;
3. For assessing vegetation growth for the purpose of maintaining 
clearances on utility rights-of-way; 
4. For utility routing, siting, and permitting for the purpose of 
constructing utility facilities or providing utility service; or
5. For conducting environmental monitoring, as provided by federal, 
state, or local law, rule, or permit.
(g) For aerial mapping, if the person or entity using a drone for 
this purpose is operating in compliance with Federal Aviation 
Administration regulations.
(h) To deliver cargo, if the person or entity using a drone for 
this purpose is operating in compliance with Federal Aviation 
Administration regulations.
(i) To capture images necessary for the safe operation or navigation 
of a drone that is being used for a purpose allowed under federal or 
Florida law.

(5) Remedies for violation.–
(a) An aggrieved party may initiate a civil action against a law 
enforcement agency to obtain all appropriate relief in order to 
prevent or remedy a violation of this section act.

(b) The owner, tenant, occupant, invitee, or licensee of privately 
owned real property may initiate a civil action for compensatory 
damages for violations of this section and may seek injunctive 
relief to prevent future violations of this section against a person, 
state agency, or political subdivision that violates paragraph (3)(b). 
In such action, the prevailing party is entitled to recover reasonable 
attorney fees from the non-prevailing party based on the actual 
and reasonable time expended by his or her attorney billed at an 
appropriate hourly rate and, in cases in which the
payment of such a fee is contingent on the outcome, without a 
multiplier, unless the action is tried to verdict, in which case a 
multiplier of up to twice the actual value of the time expended may 
be awarded in the discretion of the trial court.
(c) Punitive damages for a violation of paragraph (3)(b) may 
be sought against a person subject to other requirements and 
limitations of law, including, but not limited to, part II of chapter 
768 and case law.
(d) The remedies provided for a violation of paragraph (3)(b) are 
cumulative to other existing remedies.

(6) Prohibition on use of evidence.–Evidence obtained or collected 
in violation of this act is not admissible as evidence in a criminal 
prosecution in any court of law in this state.

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2015.

Chapter 2015-69 (SB 1094): Peril of flood
The law revises other provisions related to flood insurance:

It allows insurers to issue flood insurance policies, contracts, or 
endorsements on a flexible flood insurance basis. Flexible flood 
insurance coverage is defined as coverage for the peril of flood that 
may include water intrusion coverage and differs from standard or 
preferred coverage by including one or more of the following:

 ● An agreed upon amount of coverage between the insurer and 
policyholder.

 ● A deductible as authorized in s. 627.701, FS.
 ● Adjustment in accordance with s. 627.7011(3), FS, or adjusted 

only on the basis of the actual cash value of the property.
 ● Limitation of coverage to only the principal building, as defined in 

the policy.
 ● Provisions including or excluding coverage for additional living 

expenses.
 ● Provisions excluding coverage for personal property or contents.

It deletes the prohibition against supplemental flood insurance 
including excess flood coverage over other flood insurance. The 
law requires the insurer to provide an appropriate credit or discount 
to an insured whose rate is determined to be excessive or unfairly 
discriminatory by the Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR).

The law allows an insurer to request from the OIR a certification 
that acknowledges that the insurer provides a policy, contract, or 
endorsement for the flood insurance that provides coverage equaling 
or exceeding the flood coverage offered by the NFIP. A certified 
policy must be in compliance with 42 U.S.C. s. 1042a(b), which 
requires federally regulated lending institutions to accept private flood 
insurance that insures the building and personal property securing the 
loan for the term of the loan in an amount not less than the outstanding 
principal balance of the loan or the limit of NFIP flood insurance 
coverage, whichever is less. 

An insurer or its agent may reference or include such certification in 
advertising and communications with an agent, a lending institution, 
an insured, and a potential insured. The authorized insurer may also 
include a statement that notifies an insured of the certification on 
the declarations page or other policy documentation related to flood 

coverage. Knowingly misrepresenting that a flood insurance policy is 
certified is an unfair or deceptive act.

The law requires local governments, when drafting their 
comprehensive coastal management plans, to include development 
and redevelopment principles, strategies, and engineering solutions 
that reduce the flood risk in coastal areas. Such plans must encourage 
the use of best practices development and redevelopment principles, 
strategies, and engineering solutions that will result in the removal of 
coastal real property from flood zone designations established by the 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 

Plans should also identify site development techniques and best 
practices that may reduce losses due to flooding and claims made 
under flood insurance policies issued in this state. The plan must be 
consistent with, or more stringent than, the flood-resistant construction 
requirements in the Florida Building Code and applicable flood plain 
management regulations set forth in 44 C.F.R. part 60. The plan must 
require any construction activities seaward of the coastal construction 
control lines established pursuant to s. 161.053, FS, be consistent 
with chapter 161. Plans must also encourage local governments to 
participate in the NFIP Community Rating System administered 
by FEMA to achieve flood insurance premium discounts for their 
residents.

The law requires surveyors and mappers to submit elevation 
certificates to the Division of Emergency Management. The law 
defines an elevation certificate as the certificate used to demonstrate 
the elevation of property, which has been developed by FEMA under 
federal floodplain management regulation or which is completed 
by a surveyor and mapper. Beginning January 1, 2017, a surveyor 
and mapper completing an elevation certificate must, within 30 days 
of completion, submit a copy of the certificate to the Division of 
Emergency Management.

For the complete text and changes, refer to http://laws.flrules.org/2015/69.
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Chapter 2015-80 (HB 361): Taxation
The law exempts certain property from taxation (as well as the 
leasehold interests of and improvements affixed to land) if the 
leasehold interest and improvements are used to provide housing 
to members of the military, according to the Military Housing 
Privatization Initiative of 1996. The actual housing units and directly-
related facilities, such as housing maintenance facilities, housing 

management offices, parks and recreational facilities are exempted. 
The law’s provisions apply retroactively to the date January 1, 2007. 
The law does not apply to public lodging establishments and does not 
affect existing agreements for municipalities or counties to provide 
municipal services.  

Chapter 2015-80
An act relating to military housing ad valorem tax exemptions; 
amending s.196.199, F.S.; providing that certain leasehold interests 
and improvements to land owned by the United States, a branch of 
the United States Armed Forces, or any agency or quasi-governmental 
agency of the United States are exempt from ad valorem taxation under 
specified circumstances; providing that such leasehold interests and 
improvements are entitled to an exemption from ad valorem taxation 
without an application being filed for the exemption or the property 
appraiser approving the exemption; providing non-applicability with 
respect to transient public lodging establishments and certain existing 
agreements for municipal services by municipalities and counties; 
providing retroactive applicability; providing an effective date.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

Section 1. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 196.199, Florida 
Statutes, is amended to read:
196.199 Government property exemption.–

(1) Property owned and used by the following governmental units 
shall be exempt from taxation under the following conditions:

(a)1. All property of the United States is shall be exempt 
from ad valorem taxation, except such property as is subject 
to tax by this state or any political subdivision thereof or any 
municipality under any law of the United States.

(2). Notwithstanding any other provision of law, for purposes of 
the exemption from ad valorem taxation provided in subparagraph 

1., property of the United States includes any leasehold interest of 
and improvements affixed to land owned by the United States, any 
branch of the United States Armed Forces, or any agency or quasi-
governmental agency of the United States if the leasehold interest 
and improvements are acquired or constructed and used pursuant 
to the federal Military Housing Privatization Initiative of 1996, 
10 U.S.C. ss. 2871 et seq. As used in this subparagraph, the term 
“improvements” includes actual housing units and any facilities 
that are directly related to such housing units, including any 
housing maintenance facilities, housing rental and management 
offices, parks and community centers, and recreational facilities. 
Any leasehold interest and improvements described in this 
subparagraph, regardless of whether title is held by the United 
States, shall be construed as being owned by the United States, 
the applicable branch of the United States Armed Forces, or the 
applicable agency or quasi-governmental agency of the United 
States and are exempt from ad valorem taxation without the 
necessity of an application for exemption being filed or approved 
by the property appraiser. This subparagraph does not apply to 
a transient public lodging establishment as defined in s. 509.013 
and does not affect any existing agreement to provide municipal 
services by a municipality or county.

Section 2. This act applies retroactively to January 1, 2007.

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2015.

Chapter 2015-89 (HB 305): Transient occupancy
The law removes “transient occupancy” from the landlord-tenant 
regulation under chapter 83, permitting the removal of an unwanted 
occupant of a residence by law enforcement officials and the 
conditions under which removal may occur. A transient occupant 
is defined as a person unlawfully residing in a residential property 
who does not leave when the person with rightful legal interest in the 
property asks him to do so.   

A law enforcement officer can present the individual with an affidavit 
stating that the person asked to leave is a transient occupant who is 
unlawfully detaining the residence. Upon receipt of the affidavit, the 
law enforcement officer may direct the transient occupant to leave. If 
the person does not leave, the law enforcement officer may charge the 
transient occupant with criminal trespassing. The law authorizes the 
use of an unlawful detainer action to remove a transient occupant and 
a cause of action for wrongful removal by a person who is wrongfully 
removed from a property.

Chapter 2015-89
An act relating to unlawful detention by a transient occupant; creating 
s.82.045, F.S.; defining the term “transient occupant”; providing factors 
that establish a transient occupancy; providing for removal of a transient 
occupant by a law enforcement officer; providing a cause of action for 
wrongful removal; limiting actions for wrongful removal; providing a civil 
action for removal of a transient occupant; providing an effective date.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

Section 1. Section 82.045, Florida Statutes, is created to read:
82.045 Remedy for unlawful detention by a transient occupant of 
residential property.

(1) As used in this section, the term “transient occupant” means a 
person whose residency in a dwelling intended for residential use 
has occurred for a brief length of time, is not pursuant to a lease, 
and whose occupancy was intended as transient in nature.

(a) Factors that establish that a person is a transient occupant 
include, but are not limited to:

1. The person does not have an ownership interest, financial 
interest, or leasehold interest in the property entitling him or 
her to occupancy of the property.
2. The person does not have any property utility subscriptions.
3. The person does not use the property address as an address 
of record with any governmental agency, including, but not 
limited to, the Department of Highway Safety and Motor 
Vehicles or the supervisor of elections.
4. The person does not receive mail at the property.
5. The person pays minimal or no rent for his or her stay at the 
property.
6. The person does not have a designated space of his or her 
own, such as a room, at the property.
7. The person has minimal, if any, personal belongings at the 
property.
8. The person has an apparent permanent residence elsewhere.

(b) Minor contributions made for the purchase of 
household goods, or minor contributions towards other 
household expenses, do not establish residency.
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(2) A transient occupant unlawfully detains a residential property 
if the transient occupant remains in occupancy of the residential 
property after the party entitled to possession of the property has 
directed the transient occupant to leave.
(3) Any law enforcement officer may, upon receipt of a sworn 
affidavit of the party entitled to possession that a person who is 
a transient occupant is unlawfully detaining residential property, 
direct a transient occupant to surrender possession of residential 
property. The sworn affidavit must set forth the facts, including the 
applicable factors listed in paragraph (1)(a), which establish that a 
transient occupant is unlawfully detaining residential property.

(a) A person who fails to comply with the direction of the law 
enforcement officer to surrender possession or occupancy 
violates s. 810.08. In any prosecution of a violation of s. 
810.08 related to this section, whether the defendant was 
properly classified as a transient occupant is not an element of 
the offense, the state is not required to prove that the defendant 
was in fact a transient occupant, and the defendant’s status as a 
permanent resident is not an affirmative defense.

(b) A person wrongfully removed pursuant to this subsection 
has a cause of action for wrongful removal against the person 
who requested the removal, and may recover injunctive 
relief and compensatory damages. However, a wrongfully 
removed person does not have a cause of action against the 
law enforcement officer or the agency employing the law 
enforcement officer absent a showing of bad faith by the law 
enforcement officer.

(4) A party entitled to possession of a dwelling has a cause of action 
for unlawful detainer against a transient occupant pursuant to s. 
82.04. The party entitled to possession is not required to notify the 
transient occupant before filing the action. If the court finds that 
the defendant is not a transient occupant but is instead a tenant of 
residential property governed by part II of chapter 83, the court 
may not dismiss the action without first allowing the plaintiff to 
give the transient occupant the notice required by that part and to 
thereafter amend the complaint to pursue eviction under that part.

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2015.

Chapter 2015-90 (HB 307): Mobile homes
The law relates to the Florida Mobile Home Act, which regulates 
residential tenancies in which a mobile home is placed on a rented 
or leased lot in a mobile home park with 10 or more lots. The law 
made comprehensive changes to the Act, including changes to 
continuing education requirements and home owners’ obligations and 
responsibilities. The Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, 
and Mobile Homes is responsible for administering the act and 
providing training and educational programs for mobile home owners’ 
associations, including:

 ● Mobile home owners must comply with all building permit and 
construction requirements. 

 ● A mobile home owner is responsible for fines imposed for 
violating any local codes.

 ● A mobile home owner’s right to a 90-day notice of a rental 
increase or change in services may not be waived.

 ● A homeowners’ committee must make a written request for a 
meeting with the park owner to discuss a proposed rental increase 
or change in services or rules.

 ● Lifetime leases and automatically renewable leases are assumable 
by the homeowner’s spouse; however, this right of assumption 
may only be exercised once during the term of the lease.

 ● A member of the board of directors of the Florida Mobile Home 
Relocation Corporation must be removed immediately upon 

written request for removal from the association that originally 
nominated that member.

 ● A homeowners’ association’s bylaws are deemed to provide 
specific provisions in the law related to the conduct of meetings, 
electronic communication, voting requirements, use of proxies, 
amending the articles of incorporation and bylaws, duties of 
officers and directors, filling vacancies on the board, and recall of 
directors.

 ● The division must adopt rules to provide binding arbitration or 
recall election disputes.

 ● Board members must either certify that they have read the 
association’s organizing documents, rules, and regulations and 
that they will faithfully discharge their fiduciary responsibility, or 
complete the division’s educational program within one year of 
taking office.

 ● The homeowners’ association is required to retain and make 
available certain official records to the members of the association, 
but may not disclose specified information.

To see the complete text of the revised law with changes, refer to 
http://laws.flrules.org/2015/90.

Chapter 2015-94 (HB 715): Eligibility for coverage by citizens property insurance corporation 
This law amended provisions prohibiting certain improvements to 
major structures from insurance coverage eligibility under Citizens 
Property Insurance. Instead the law prohibits Citizens Property 
Insurance Corporation from issuing coverage to a major structure 
as defined in s. 161.54(6)(a), FS, that is located within the Coastal 
Construction Control Line (CCCL) or Coastal Barrier Resources System 
(CBRS) if the permit to build or to increase the total square footage of 
the structure by more than 25% was applied for after July 1, 2015.

The amended section is shown below. To see the complete text and 
changes, refer to http://laws.flrules.org/2015/94.

Section 1. Paragraph (a) of subsection (6) of section 627.351, Florida 
Statutes, is amended to read:

627.351 Insurance risk apportionment plans.
(6) Citizens property insurance corporation. 

5.b. Any major structure, as defined in s. 161.54(6)(a), that is 
newly constructed, or rebuilt, repaired, restored, or remodeled 
to increase the total square footage of finished area by more 
than 25 percent, pursuant to for which a permit is applied for 
on or after July 1, 2015, for new construction or substantial 
improvement as defined in s. 161.54(12) is not eligible for 
coverage by the corporation if the structure is seaward of the 
coastal construction control line established pursuant to s. 
161.053 or is within the Coastal Barrier Resources System as 
designated by 16 U.S.C. ss. 3501-3510.

Chapter 2015-95 (HB 775): Foreclosures
This law authorizes a court to appoint an ad litem, which is an 
attorney, administrator, or guardian, to represent the interests of a party 
who has been served in a legal action, but has not responded or is not 
otherwise represented. This measure is meant to address the slowing 

or stalling of foreclosure cases due to lack of representation of one or 
more parties. 

The ad litem is entitled to reasonable fees and costs, to be paid by 
the party requesting the appointment of the ad litem, unless the court 
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orders otherwise. The court may not require the ad litem to post bond. 
State funds may not be used to pay for ad litem services unless state 
funds would have been expended for ad litem services before the 
effective date of the law. 

If the ad litem discovers that the interest for which he or she serves is 
already represented, the ad litem must petition the court for discharge 

from that interest. If the ad litem discovers that the person he or she 
serves is deceased and there is no representative, the ad litem must:

 ● Reasonably attempt to locate spouses, heirs, devisees, or 
beneficiaries of the decedent;

 ● Report contact information for all persons located, and
 ● Petition for discharge as to any interest of the person located.

Chapter 2015-95
An act relating to the appointment of an ad litem; creating s. 49.31, 
F.S.; defining the term “ad litem”; authorizing a court to appoint an ad 
litem for certain parties upon whom service of process by publication 
is made; prohibiting a court from appointing an ad litem to represent 
an interest for which a personal representative, guardian of property, 
or trustee is serving; requiring an ad litem, upon discovery that the 
party it represents is already represented by a personal representative, 
guardian of property, or trustee, or is deceased, to take certain actions; 
prohibiting a court from requiring an ad litem to post a bond or 
designate a resident agent; requiring a court to discharge an ad litem 
when the final judgment is entered or as otherwise ordered by the 
court; providing that an ad litem is entitled to an award of a reasonable 
fee for services and costs; providing for assessment; prohibiting 
the use of state funds except in certain circumstances; prohibiting 
declaring certain proceedings ineffective solely due to a lack of 
statutory authority to appoint an ad litem; providing construction; 
providing an effective date.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

Section 1. Section 49.31, Florida Statutes, is created to read:
49.31 Appointment of ad litem.–

(1) As used in this section, the term “ad litem” means an attorney, 
administrator, or guardian ad litem.
(2) The court may appoint an ad litem for any party, whether 
known or unknown, upon whom service of process by publication 
under this chapter has been properly made and who has failed to 
file or serve any paper in the action within the time required by 
law. A court may not appoint an ad litem to represent an interest 
for which a personal representative, guardian of property, or 
trustee is serving.

(a) If the court has appointed an ad litem and the ad litem 
discovers that a personal representative, guardian of property, 

or trustee is serving who represents the interest for which the 
ad litem was appointed, the ad litem must promptly report that 
finding to the court and must file a petition for discharge as to 
any interest for which the personal representative, guardian of 
property, or trustee is serving.
(b) If the court has appointed an ad litem to represent an interest 
and the ad litem discovers that the person whose interest 
he or she represents is deceased and there is no personal 
representative, guardian of property, or trustee to represent 
the decedent’s interest, the ad litem must make a reasonable 
attempt to locate any spouse, heir, devisee, or beneficiary of 
the decedent, must report to the court the name and address of 
all such persons whom the ad litem locates, and must petition 
for discharge as to any interest of the person located.

(3) The court may not require an ad litem to post a bond or 
designate a resident agent in order to serve as an ad litem.
(4) The court shall discharge the ad litem when the final judgment 
is entered or as otherwise ordered by the court.
(5) The ad litem is entitled to an award of a reasonable fee for 
services rendered and costs, which shall be assessed against the 
party requesting the appointment of the ad litem, or as otherwise 
ordered by the court. State funds may not be used to pay fees for 
services rendered by the ad litem unless state funds would have 
been expended for such services in the same circumstance before 
July 1, 2015.
(6) In all cases adjudicated in which the court appointed an ad 
litem, a proceeding may not be declared ineffective solely due to 
lack of statutory authority to appoint an ad litem.
(7) This section does not abrogate a court’s common law authority 
to appoint an ad litem.

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2015.

Chapter 2015-96 (HB 779): Landlord/tenant 
This law addresses situations in which a tenant continues to occupy a 
residence after a new owner has acquired title to the property from a 
foreclosure sale. The law authorizes the purchaser to provide a notice 
to the tenant that terminates the rental agreement upon delivery of the 
notice, and terminates the occupancy of the tenant 30 days after the 
notice is delivered. There are a number of exemptions spelled out in 
the law. 

During the 30-day period, the new owner may collect rent but may 
not engage in practices that are prohibited in landlord and tenant 
relationships, such as terminating utilities or preventing the tenant 
from having access to the property. If the tenant fails to vacate the 
property within the 30-day period, the owner may petition the court 
for a writ of possession. A writ of possession entitles the owner to 
possession of the property 24 hours after notice is conspicuously 
posted on the premises.

Chapter 2015-96
An act relating to rental agreements; creating s. 83.561, F.S.; providing 
that a purchaser taking title to a tenant-occupied residential property 
following a foreclosure sale takes title to the property, subject to the 
rights of the tenant; specifying the rights of the tenant; authorizing a 
tenant to remain in possession of the property for 30 days following 
receipt of written notice; prescribing the form for a 30-day notice 
of termination; establishing requirements for delivery of the notice; 
authorizing a purchaser to apply for a writ of possession if a tenant 
refuses to vacate the property; providing exceptions; providing for 
construction; providing an effective date.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 

Section 1. Section 83.561, Florida Statutes, is created to read:
83.561 Termination of rental agreement upon foreclosure.

(1) If a tenant is occupying residential premises that are the 
subject of a foreclosure sale, upon issuance of a certificate of title 
following the sale, the purchaser named in the certificate of title 
takes title to the residential premises subject to the rights of the 
tenant under this section.

(a) The tenant may remain in possession of the premises for 30 
days following the date of the purchaser’s delivery of a written 
30-day notice of termination.
(b) The tenant is entitled to the protections of s. 83.67.
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(c) The 30-day notice of termination must be in substantially 
the following form:

NOTICE TO TENANT OF TERMINATION
You are hereby notified that your rental agreement is 
terminated on the date of delivery of this notice, that your 
occupancy is terminated 30 days following the date of the 
delivery of this notice, and that I demand possession
of the premises on…(date)… If you do not vacate the 
premises by that date, I will ask the court for an order 
allowing me to remove you and your belongings from 
the premises. You are obligated to pay rent during the 30-
day period for any amount that might accrue during that 
period. Your rent must be delivered to…(landlord’s name 
and address)…

(d) The 30-day notice of termination shall be delivered in the 
same manner as provided in s. 83.56(4).

(2) The purchaser at the foreclosure sale may apply to the court for 
a writ of possession based upon a sworn affidavit that the 30-day 
notice of termination was delivered to the tenant and the tenant 
has failed to vacate the premises at the conclusion of the 30-day 

period. If the court awards a writ of possession, the writ must be 
served on the tenant. The writ of possession shall be governed by 
s. 83.62.
(3) This section does not apply if:

(a) The tenant is the mortgagor in the subject foreclosure or 
is the child, spouse, or parent of the mortgagor in the subject 
foreclosure.
(b) The tenant’s rental agreement is not the result of an arm’s 
length transaction.
(c) The tenant’s rental agreement allows the tenant to pay 
rent that is substantially less than the fair market rent for the 
premises, unless the rent is reduced or subsidized due to a 
federal, state, or local subsidy.

(4) A purchaser at a foreclosure sale of a residential premises 
occupied by a tenant does not assume the obligations of a landlord, 
except as provided in paragraph (1)(b), unless or until the purchaser 
assumes an existing rental agreement with the tenant that has not 
ended or enters into a new rental agreement with the tenant.

Section 2. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law.

Chapter 2015-97 (HB 791): Community associations 
This law amends many provisions likely to affect condominium, 
cooperative, and homeowners’ associations, with different directives 
depending on the type of community association.   

For condominium, cooperative, and homeowners’ associations, the law:
 ● Permits community associations to use a copy, facsimile (Fax), 

or other reliable reproduction of the original proxy for any 
purpose the original proxy can serve, but only if it is a complete 
reproduction of the entire proxy. 

 ● Creates a mechanism for Internet-based online voting in 
condominium, cooperative, and homeowners’ associations.

 ● Permits associations to file a lien on unpaid administrative late fees.
 ● Clarifies that it is the board of the association that levies any 

fines and that the role of the impartial committee is limited to 
determining whether to confirm or reject the fine or suspension 
levied by the board.

For condominium associations, the law provides:
 ● Where damage to condominium property is not the result of an 

insurable event, the maintenance provisions of the declaration or 
bylaws determine whether the association or the unit owners are 
responsible for the repair or replacement.

 ● Before turnover of control, the developer’s vote to reduce or waive 
the funding of reserves is based on the developers voting interests 
allocated to its units.

 ● The condominium association may file a lien on unpaid 
administrative late fees.

 ● Extending the date before which condominium parcels must be 
purchased to qualify as a bulk assignee or bulk buyer from July 1, 
2016 to July 1, 2018.

For cooperative associations, the law provides:
 ● Neither the authorized designee of the cooperative association or 

persons residing in the home of the board’s designee may sit on the 

committee charged with determining whether to confirm or reject 
the fine or suspension levied by the board.

For homeowners’ associations, the law provides:
 ● The board may not levy a fine exceeding $100, unless otherwise 

provided in the association’s governing documents.
 ● Members that fail to pay a fine may be suspended from the board 

of directors or barred from running for a seat on the board.
 ● Chapter 720, FS, may be cited as the “Homeowners’ Association Act.”
 ● The association’s failure to timely provide notice of the recording 

of the amendment does not affect the validity or enforceability of 
the amendment.

 ● Designees of the board and persons who reside with the designee 
of the board are prohibited from sitting on the committee charged 
with reviewing fines and penalties against members of the 
association.

For condominium and cooperative associations, the law provides:
 ● The priority provisions for applying a homeowner’s payments 

to a monetary obligation in ss. 718.116(3) and 719.108, (3), FS, 
respectively, apply notwithstanding any negotiated instrument 
resolving a dispute on the debt or any purported accord and 
satisfaction.

For condominium and homeowners’ associations, the law provides:
 ● When voting rights are suspended, the total number of voting 

interests of the association must be reduced by the number of 
suspended voting interests when calculating the total percentage or 
number required to take or approve any action.

 ● The suspended voting interests may not be used for any purpose.

CAMs are strongly encouraged to review the complete text and 
changes at http://laws.flrules.org/2015/97.

Chapter 2015-131 (HB 791): Service animals
This law modifies Section 413.08, FS, to make it consistent with 
the Federal and Florida Fair Housing statutes and Americans with 
Disabilities Act, which require public accommodations and timeshares 
to allow service animals accompanying individuals with disabilities. The 
law requires a business to modify its policies to accommodate the use of 
a service animal by an individual with a disability. Although a business 
may not ask about the nature of an individual’s disability, it may ask if 
the service animal is required because of a disability and what tasks the 
service animal is trained to perform. 

In addition to the criminal penalties in current law, the law requires a 
business unlawfully denying or interfering with an individual’s right to 
use or train a service animal to perform 30 hours of community service 
with an organization that serves individuals with disabilities. The 
legislation also specifies the conditions where a service animal may be 
removed or excluded, and provides penalties for misrepresentation of a 
pet as a service animal.
A service animal must be on a leash or harness unless it would 
interfere with the service animal’s ability to perform the tasks it is 
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trained to do, and it must be under the handler’s control. If an animal is 
not under the handler’s control, is not housebroken, or poses a threat, 
the business may request its removal. The law creates a second-degree 
misdemeanor for a person who knowingly and willfully misrepresents 
that he or she is qualified to use a service animal or is a trainer of 
service animals. In addition to the criminal penalty, an individual in 

violation of this provision must also perform 30 hours of community 
service with an organization that serves individuals with disabilities.

This law also establishes that a timeshare considered a transient public 
lodging establishment pursuant to Section 509.013, FS, is included in 
the definition of a “public accommodation.”

Chapter 2015-131
An act relating to service animals; amending s. 413.08, F.S.; providing 
and revising definitions; requiring a public accommodation to permit 
use of a service animal by an individual with a disability under certain 
circumstances; providing conditions for a public accommodation to 
exclude or remove a service animal; revising penalties for certain 
persons or entities who interfere with use of a service animal in 
specified circumstances; providing a penalty for knowing and willful 
misrepresentation with respect to use or training of a service animal; 
providing an effective date.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

Section 1. Section 413.08, Florida Statutes, is amended to read:
413.08 Rights and responsibilities of an individual with a 
disability; use of a service animal; prohibited discrimination in 
public employment, public accommodations, and or housing 
accommodations; penalties.
(1) As used in this section and s. 413.081, the term:

(a) “Housing accommodation” means any real property or 
portion thereof which is used or occupied, or intended, arranged, 
or designed to be used or occupied, as the home, residence, or 
sleeping place of one or more persons,
but does not include any single-family residence, the occupants of 
which rent, lease, or furnish for compensation not more than one 
room therein.
(b) “Individual with a disability” means a person who has a 
physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or 
more major life activities of the individual is deaf, hard of hearing, 
blind, visually impaired, or otherwise physically disabled. As used 
in this paragraph, the term:

1. “Major life activity” means a function such as caring for 
one’s self, performing manual tasks, walking, seeing, hearing, 
speaking, breathing, learning, and working “Hard of hearing” 
means an individual who has suffered a permanent hearing 
impairment that is severe enough to necessitate the use of 
amplification devices to discriminate speech sounds in verbal 
communication.
2. “Physical or mental impairment” means:

a. A physiological disorder or condition, disfigurement, or 
anatomical loss that affects one or more bodily functions.
b. A mental or psychological disorder that meets one of 
the diagnostic categories specified in the most recent 
edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of 
Mental Disorders published by the American Psychiatric 
Association, such as an intellectual or developmental 
disability, organic brain syndrome, traumatic brain injury, 
posttraumatic stress disorder, or an emotional or mental 
illness “Physically disabled” means any person who has a 
physical impairment that substantially limits one or more 
major life activities.
(c) “Public accommodation” means a common carrier, 
airplane, motor vehicle, railroad train, motor bus, 
streetcar, boat, or other public conveyance or mode of 
transportation; hotel; a timeshare that is a transient public 
lodging establishment as defined in s. 509.013; lodging 
place; place of public accommodation, amusement, or 
resort; and other places to which the general public is 
invited, subject only to the conditions and limitations 
established by law and applicable alike to all persons. 

The term does not include air carriers covered by the Air 
Carrier Access Act of 1986, 49 U.S.C. s. 41705, and by 
regulations adopted by the United States Department of 
Transportation to implement such act.
(d) “Service animal” means an animal that is trained to do 
work or perform tasks for an individual with a disability, 
including a physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or 
other mental disability. The work done or tasks performed 
must be directly related to the individual’s disability and 
may include, but are not limited to, guiding an individual 
a person who is visually impaired or blind, alerting an 
individual a person who is deaf or hard of hearing, pulling 
a wheelchair, assisting with mobility or balance, alerting 
and protecting an individual a person who is having a 
seizure, retrieving objects, alerting an individual to the 
presence of allergens, providing physical support and 
assistance with balance and stability to an individual 
with a mobility disability, helping an individual with a 
psychiatric or neurological disability by preventing or 
interrupting impulsive or destructive behaviors, reminding 
an individual with mental illness to take prescribed 
medications, calming an individual with posttraumatic 
stress disorder during an anxiety attack, or doing other 
specific work or performing other special tasks. A service 
animal is not a pet. For purposes of subsections (2), (3), 
and (4), the term “service animal” is limited to a dog or 
miniature horse. The crime deterrent effect of an animal’s 
presence and the provision of emotional support, well-
being, comfort, or companionship do not constitute work 
or tasks for purposes of this definition.

(2) An individual with a disability is entitled to full and equal 
accommodations, advantages, facilities, and privileges in all public 
accommodations. A public accommodation must modify its policies, 
practices, and procedures to permit use of a service animal by an 
individual with a disability. This section does not require any person, 
firm, business, or corporation, or any agent thereof, to modify or 
provide any vehicle, premises, facility, or service to a higher degree of 
accommodation than is required for a person not so disabled.
(3) An individual with a disability has the right to be accompanied by 
a service animal in all areas of a public accommodation that the public 
or customers are normally permitted to occupy.

(a) The service animal must be under the control of its handler 
and must have a harness, leash, or other tether, unless either the 
handler is unable because of a disability to use a harness, leash, or 
other tether, or the use of a harness, leash, or other tether would 
interfere with the service animal’s safe, effective performance of 
work or tasks, in which case the service animal must be otherwise 
under the handler’s control by means of voice control, signals, or 
other effective means.
(b)(a) Documentation that the service animal is trained is not a 
precondition for providing service to an individual accompanied 
by a service animal. A public accommodation may not ask about 
the nature or extent of an individual’s disability. To determine 
the difference between a service animal and a pet, a public 
accommodation may ask if an animal is a service animal required 
because of a disability and what work or what tasks the animal 
has been trained to perform in order to determine the difference 
between a service animal and a pet.
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(c)(b) A public accommodation may not impose a deposit or 
surcharge on an individual with a disability as a precondition to 
permitting a service animal to accompany the individual with a 
disability, even if a deposit is routinely required for pets.
(d)(c) An individual with a disability is liable for damage caused 
by a service animal if it is the regular policy and practice of the 
public accommodation to charge nondisabled persons for damages 
caused by their pets.
(e)(d) The care or supervision of a service animal is the 
responsibility of the individual owner. A public accommodation 
is not required to provide care or food or a special location for the 
service animal or assistance with removing animal excrement.
(f)(e) A public accommodation may exclude or remove any animal 
from the premises, including a service animal, if the animal is 
out of control and the animal’s handler does not take effective 
action to control it, the animal is not housebroken, or the animal’s 
behavior poses a direct threat to the health and safety of others. 
Allergies and fear of animals are not valid reasons for denying 
access or refusing service to an individual with a service animal. 
If a service animal is excluded or removed for being a direct 
threat to others, the public accommodation must provide the 
individual with a disability the option of continuing access to the 
public accommodation without having the service animal on the 
premises.

(4) Any person, firm, or corporation, or the agent of any person, 
firm, or corporation, who denies or interferes with admittance to, or 
enjoyment of, a public accommodation or, with regard to a public 
accommodation, otherwise interferes with the rights of an individual 
with a disability or the trainer of a service animal while engaged in 
the training of such an animal pursuant to subsection (8), commits 
a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 
775.082 or s. 775.083 and must perform 30 hours of community 
service for an organization that serves individuals with disabilities, or 
for another entity or organization at the discretion of the court, to be 
completed in not more than 6 months.
(5) It is the policy of this state that an individual with a disability be 
employed in the service of the state or political subdivisions of the 
state, in the public schools, and in all other employment supported 
in whole or in part by public funds, and an employer may not refuse 
employment to such a person on the basis of the disability alone, 
unless it is shown that the particular disability prevents the satisfactory 
performance of the work involved.

(6) An individual with a disability is entitled to rent, lease, or purchase, 
as other members of the general public, any housing accommodations 
offered for rent, lease, or other compensation in this state, subject to 
the conditionsand limitations established by law and applicable alike 
to all persons.

(a) This section does not require any person renting, leasing, or 
otherwise providing real property for compensation to modify her 
or his property in any way or provide a higher degree of care for an 
individual with a disability than for a person who is not disabled.
(b) An individual with a disability who has a service animal or 
who obtains a service animal is entitled to full and equal access 
to all housing accommodations provided for in this section, and 
such a person may not be required to pay extra compensation for 
such the service animal. However, such a person is liable for any 
damage done to the premises or to another person on the premises 
by the such an animal. A housing accommodation may request 
proof of compliance with vaccination requirements.
(c) This subsection does not limit the rights or remedies of a 
housing accommodation or an individual with a disability that are 
granted by federal law or another law of this state with regard to 
other assistance animals.

(7) An employer covered under subsection (5) who discriminates 
against an individual with a disability in employment, unless it 
is shown that the particular disability prevents the satisfactory 
performance of the work involved, or any person, firm, or corporation, 
or the agent of any person, firm, or corporation, providing housing 
accommodations as provided in subsection (6) who discriminates 
against an individual with a disability, commits a misdemeanor of the 
second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083.
(8) Any trainer of a service animal, while engaged in the training 
of such an animal, has the same rights and privileges with respect 
to access to public facilities and the same liability for damage as is 
provided for those persons described in subsection (3) accompanied by 
service animals.
(9) A person who knowingly and willfully misrepresents herself 
or himself, through conduct or verbal or written notice, as using a 
service animal and being qualified to use a service animal or as a 
trainer of a service animal commits a misdemeanor of the second 
degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083 and must 
perform 30 hours of community service for an organization that serves 
individuals with disabilities, or for another entity or organization at the 
discretion of the court, to be completed in not more than 6 months.

Chapter 2015-144 (HB 453): Timeshares
This law relates to the Florida Vacation Plan and Timesharing Act, 
which establishes requirements for the creation, sale, exchange, 
promotion, and operation of timeshare plans, including requirements 
for full and fair disclosure to purchasers. It affects timeshares, 
public offering statements, release of certain escrow funds, 
written advertising materials, real estate licensure requirements, 
fee requirements, multisite timeshare plans, and issues related to 
component site accommodations or facilities. The law:

 ● Provides that an ownership interest in a condominium or 
cooperative unit or a beneficial interest in a timeshare trust is 
required for such interests to qualify as timeshare estates.

 ● Revises the definitions for nonspecific and specific multisite 
timeshare plans to provide that the plans may include interests 
other than timeshare licenses or personal property timeshare 
interests.

 ● Revises the required disclosures for public offering statements in 
multisite timeshare plans and provides that the developer has the 
burden of proof with regard to compliance with those provisions.

 ● Revises the requirements for amendments to timeshare instruments 
in regards to component sites.

 ● Expands the limitation on liability for developers who, in good 
faith attempt to and substantially comply with, all the provisions 
of the act.

 ● Requires the disclosure of lease terms in timeshare trusts.
 ● Repeals the requirement for judicial approval of transactions 

involving timeshare trust property.
 ● Creates a procedure for the extension or termination of timeshare 

plans.
 ● Creates a procedure for the transfer of the reservation system and 

owner data when a managing entity is discharged.
 ● Requires all multisite timeshare plans to disclose the term of 

each component site plan and prominently disclose the term of 
component sites which are shorter than the term of the plan.

 ● Excludes component site common expenses and ad valorem 
expenses from the cap on annual increases in common expense 
assessments.

 ● Allows for substitute and replacement accommodations that are 
better than the existing accommodations.

 ● Revises the notice requirements on substitute accommodations.
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Chapter 2015-165 (HB 87): Construction defects 
This law revised Section 718.203 of the Condominium Act, Section 
719.203 of the Cooperative Act, and Chapter 558, FS, which deals 
with construction defects. It was designed to provide individuals an 
option to resolve conflicts relating to construction defects without 
having to turn immediately to a lawsuit. It extends the opportunity 
to resolve claims without legal process to insurers of a contractor, 
subcontractor, supplier, or design professional and asserts settlement 
negotiations should be confidential. 

The law:
 ● Revises the definition of “completion of a building or 

improvement” to include a temporary certificate of occupancy.
 ● Amends requirements for filing a notice of claim. The notice 

must describe the claim in reasonable detail and must sufficiently 
identify the location of the defect to enable the responding party 

to locate the defect without undue burden. It does not require 
destructive or other testing.

 ● Provides that a written response to a claim must include one or 
more offers or statements that the respondent disputes the claim, or 
that the respondent will remedy the claim, compromise and settle 
the claim by means of a combination of repairs and monetary 
payments, or await a determination by an insurer.

 ● States that providing a copy of a notice of claim to a person’s 
insurer does not constitute a claim for insurance purposes unless 
the insurance policy specifies otherwise.

 ● Provides requirements for the exchange of documents by the 
parties and provides that a party may assert any claim of privilege 
recognized under Florida law respecting any of the disclosure 
obligations mandated by chapter 558, FS.

Chapter 2015-165
An act relating to construction defect claims; amending s. 558.001, 
F.S.; revising legislative intent; amending s. 558.002, F.S.; revising 
the definition of the term “completion of a building or improvement”; 
amending s. 558.004, F.S.; providing additional requirements for 
a notice of claim; revising requirements for a response; revising 
provisions relating to production of certain records; amending ss. 
718.203 and 719.203, F.S.; conforming provisions to changes made by 
the act; providing an effective date.

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida:

Section 1. Section 558.001, Florida Statutes, is amended to read:
558.001 Legislative findings and declaration.–

The Legislature finds that it is beneficial to have an alternative method 
to resolve construction disputes that would reduce the need for litigation 
as well as protect the rights of property owners. An effective alternative 
dispute resolution mechanism in certain construction defect matters 
should involve the claimant filing a notice of claim with the contractor, 
subcontractor, supplier, or design professional that the claimant 
asserts is responsible for the defect, and should provide the contractor, 
subcontractor, supplier, or design professional, and the insurer of 
the contractor, subcontractor, supplier, or design professional, with 
an opportunity to resolve the claim through confidential settlement 
negotiations without resort to further legal process.

Section 2. Subsection (4) of section 558.002, Florida Statutes, is 
amended to read:

 558.002 Definitions.–As used in this chapter, the term:
(4) “Completion of a building or improvement” means issuance 
of a certificate of occupancy, whether temporary or otherwise, 
that allows for occupancy or use of for the entire building or 
improvement, or an the equivalent authorization to occupy or 
use the improvement, issued by the governmental body having 
jurisdiction. and, In jurisdictions where no certificate of occupancy 
or the equivalent authorization is issued, the term means 
substantial completion of construction, finishing, and equipping 
of the building or improvement according to the plans and 
specifications.

Section 3. Subsections (1), (4), (13), and (15) of section 558.004, 
Florida Statutes, are amended to read:
558.004 Notice and opportunity to repair.–
(1)(a) In actions brought alleging a construction defect, the claimant 
shall, at least 60 days before filing any action, or at least 120 days 
before filing an action involving an association representing more 
than 20 parcels, serve written notice of claim on the contractor, 
subcontractor, supplier, or design professional, as applicable, which 
notice shall refer to this chapter. If the construction defect claim arises 
from work performed under a contract, the written notice of claim 
must be served on the person with whom the claimant contracted.

(b) The notice of claim must describe the claim in reasonable 
detail sufficient to determine the general nature of each alleged 
construction defect and, if known, a description of the damage 
or loss resulting from the defect, if known. Based upon at least a 
visual inspection by the claimant or its agents, the notice of claim 
must identify the location of each alleged construction defect 
sufficiently to enable the responding parties to locate the alleged 
defect without undue burden. The claimant has no obligation to 
perform destructive or other testing for purposes of this notice.
(c) The claimant shall endeavor to serve the notice of claim within 
15 days after discovery of an alleged defect, but the failure to 
serve notice of claim within 15 days does not bar the filing of an 
action, subject to s. 558.003. This subsection does not preclude a 
claimant from filing an action sooner than 60 days, or 120 days as 
applicable, after service of written notice as expressly provided in 
subsection (6), subsection (7), or subsection (8).

(4) Within 15 days after service of a copy of the notice of claim 
pursuant to subsection (3), or within 30 days after service of the copy 
of the notice of claim involving an association representing more 
than 20 parcels, the contractor, subcontractor, supplier, or design 
professional must serve a written response to the person who served 
a copy of the notice of claim. The written response must shall include 
a report, if any, of the scope of any inspection of the property and, 
the findings and results of the inspection. The written response must 
include one or more of the offers or statements specified in paragraphs
(5)(a)-(e), as chosen by the responding contractor, subcontractor, 
supplier, or design professional, with all of the information required 
for that offer or statement, a statement of whether the contractor, 
subcontractor, supplier, or design professional is willing to make repairs 
to the property or whether such claim is disputed, a description of any 
repairs they are willing to make to remedy the alleged construction 
defect, and a timetable for the completion of such repairs. This response 
may also be served on the initial claimant by the contractor.

(13) This section does not relieve the person who is served a notice 
of claim under subsection (1) from complying with all contractual 
provisions of any liability insurance policy as a condition precedent to 
coverage for any claim under this section. However, notwithstanding 
the foregoing or any contractual provision, the providing of a copy of 
such notice to the person’s insurer, if applicable, shall not constitute 
a claim for insurance purposes unless the terms of the policy specify 
otherwise. Nothing in this section shall be construed to impair 
technical notice provisions or requirements of the liability policy or 
alter, amend, or change existing Florida law relating to rights between 
insureds and insurers except as otherwise specifically provided herein.

(15) Upon request, the claimant and any person served with notice 
pursuant to subsection (1) shall exchange, within 30 days after 
service of a written request, which request must cite this subsection 
and include an offer to pay the reasonable costs of reproduction, 
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any design plans, specifications, and as-built plans; any documents 
detailing the design drawings or specifications; photographs and, 
videos of the alleged construction defect identified in the notice of 
claim;, and expert reports that describe any defect upon which the 
claim is made; subcontracts; and purchase orders for the work that 
is claimed defective or any part of such materials; and maintenance 
records and other documents related to the discovery, investigation, 
causation, and extent of the alleged defect identified in the notice of 
claim and any resulting damages. A party may assert any claim of 
privilege recognized under the laws of this state with respect to any 
of the disclosure obligations specified in this chapter. In the event of 
subsequent litigation, any party who failed to provide the requested 
materials shall be subject to such sanctions as the court may impose 
for a discovery violation. Expert reports exchanged between the parties 
may not be used in any subsequent litigation for any purpose, unless 
the expert, or a person affiliated with the expert, testifies as a witness 
or the report is used or relied upon by an expert who testifies on behalf 
of the party for whom the report was prepared.

Section 4. Subsection (3) of section 718.203, Florida Statutes, is 
amended to read:

718.203 Warranties.–
(3) “Completion of a building or improvement” means issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy, whether temporary or otherwise, that allows 
for occupancy or use of for the entire building or improvement, or an 
the equivalent authorization issued by the governmental body having 
jurisdiction., and In jurisdictions where no certificate of occupancy 
or equivalent authorization is issued, the term it means substantial 
completion of construction, finishing, and equipping of the building or 
improvement according to the plans and specifications.

Section 5. Subsection (3) of section 719.203, Florida Statutes, is 
amended to read:
719.203 Warranties.–
(3) “Completion of a building or improvement” means issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy, whether temporary or otherwise, that allows 
for occupancy or use of for the entire building or improvement, or an 
the equivalent authorization issued by the governmental body having 
jurisdiction., and In jurisdictions where no certificate of occupancy 
or equivalent authorization is issued, the term it means substantial 
completion of construction, finishing, and equipping of the building or 
improvement according to the plans and specifications.

Chapter 2015-175 (HB 643): Condominium termination
Concern about Florida’s condominium termination process under 
section 718.117 FS, prompted passage of this law, which provides 
more protections for homeowners in this process. The law addresses 
the problem of investors purchasing units in bulk and terminating the 
condominium form of ownership for conversion to rental property 
after paying market value to remaining unit owners. In some cases, 
this resulted in unit owners owing more on their mortgage than 
the current market value of their units. The law also clarifies the 
methodology for determining market value of condominium units and 
requires first mortgages to be fully satisfied prior to termination of the 
condominium. 

This law imposes new restrictions on the termination of condominiums 
created by the conversion of existing improvements under part VI 
of the Condominium Act and revises requirements for the optional 
termination of condominiums. Previously, the law permitted a 
condominium to be terminated at any time if a plan of termination was 
approved by 80 percent of the condominium’s total voting interests, 
and no more than 10 percent of the total voting interests rejected the 
termination. 

This law provides that, if 10 percent or more of the voting interests of 
a condominium reject a plan of termination, another termination may 
not be considered for 18 months. The law prohibits condominiums that 
have been created pursuant to the condominium conversion procedures 
in Part VI of Chapter 718, FS, from undertaking an optional plan of 
termination until 5 years after the conversion. If members of the board 
are elected by the bulk owner, other unit owners may elect at least one-
third of the board before approval of any plan of termination.

The laws establishes the following conditions and limitations for the 
termination of a condominium if, at the time the plan of termination is 
recorded, at least 80% of the total voting interests are owned by a bulk 
owner, or a bulk owner with an entity considered an insider under s. 
726.102, FS:

 ● Upon timely request, unit owners must be allowed to retain 
possession of units and lease their former units for 12 months after 
the effective date of the termination if the units are offered to the 
public.

 ● Any unit owner whose unit was granted homestead exemption 
must be paid a relocation payment equal to 1% of the termination 
proceeds allocated to the unit.

 ● Unit owners other than the bulk owner must be paid at least 100% 
of the fair market value of their units as determined by one or more 
independent appraisers.

 ● The fair market value for a unit of an owner who was an original 
purchaser from the developer and who dissented or objected to 
the plan of termination must be at least the original purchase price 
paid for the unit.

 ● The plan of termination must provide the manner by which each 
first mortgage on a unit will be satisfied in full at the time the plan 
is implemented.

Before a plan of termination can be presented to the unit owners for 
consideration the following disclosures must be made in a sworn 
statement:

 ● The identity of any person owning or controlling 50% or more 
of the condominium units or if owned by an artificial entity, 
the person who owns or controls it and the person who owns or 
controls 20% of the entity that constitutes the bulk owner.

 ● The units acquired by the bulk owner, the date of acquisition and 
the price of each unit.

 ● The relationship of any board member to the bulk owner.

The law provides:
 ● For termination of common elements, withdrawal of the plan, 

correction of errors, and valuation of the common elements in the 
plan of termination.

 ● Provides timeframes for objections to the plan of termination, 
including plans approved at a meeting and plans approved by a 
written consent or joinder.

 ● Permits unit owners to contest a plan of termination by petitioning 
the Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile 
Homes for mandatory nonbinding arbitration. It repeals the 
unit owners’ right to contest the plan of termination in a court 
by initiating a summary procedure pursuant to s. 51.011, FS. 
Unit owners may contest the fairness and reasonableness of 
the apportionment of the proceeds from the sale, that the first 
mortgages of unit owners will not be fully satisfied, or that the 
required vote was not obtained.

To see the complete text and changes, which is strongly recommended, 
refer to http://laws.flrules.org/2015/175.
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PArT II: FLorIdA AdMInISTrATIvE CodE (FAC)
The sections of the FAC related to community association 
management were significantly revised during the 2015 legislative 
session. Law most directly related to CAMs are located in Chapter 61 
FAC (professions licensed under the Florida Department of Business 

and Professional Regulation), in Chapter 61B: Division of Florida 
Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes, and Chapter 61E: 
Regulation of Community Association Managers. Many of these 
comprehensive changes became effective in 2015.

Chapter 61B: division of Florida condominiums, timeshares, and mobile homes
Chapter 61B has information for CAMs regarding accounting, 
contracts, arbitration, and mediation for condominiums, cooperatives, 
homeowners’ associations, mobile homes, and timeshares. Chapters 
61B-15 through 61B-25, 61B-45, and 61B-50 FAC provide guidelines 

for many topics addressed in Chapter 718 FS, Condominiums, with 
61B-21 through 61B-23 FAC the most relevant sections for unit
owner-controlled condominiums.   

The following table illustrates section changes and effective dates for Chapter 61B. Revisions are indicated in the shaded cells.

Chapter No. Chapter Title
61B-1 General information.
61B-3 Fees and costs.
61B-5 Procedure for registration.
61B-6 Encumbrances and improvements.
61B-7 Contracts, agreements for deed and public offering statement.
61B-8 Offering statement.
61B-9 Advertising.
61B-13 Exemptions.
61B-15 Forms and definitions.
61B-16 Fees.
61B-17 Filings.
61B-18 Documents.
61B-19 Complaints.

61B-19.001 Provider filing and curriculum for educational and training programs, effective: 02/15/2015.
61B-20 Developer obligations and resolution guidelines for condominium developers.
61B-21 Condominium resolution guidelines for unit owner-controlled associations.
61B-22 Financial and accounting requirements; budgets, reserves, and guarantees.
61B-23 The association.

61B-23.002 Operation of the association, effective: 09/01/2015.
61B-24 Creation of condominium by conversion.
61B-25 Volunteer and paid mediation rules.
61B-29 Mobile home rules definitions.
61B-30 Mobile home advertising prospectus rule.

61B-30.001 Fees, filings, and advertising, effective: 09/01/2015.
61B-31 Mobile home prospectus and rental agreement rule.
61B-32 Mobile home mediation rules.
61B-34 Mobile home mediation rules of procedure.
61B-35 Mobile home minor violations.
61B-37 Time-share plans.
61B-38 Time-share solicitors.
61B-40 Timeshare accounting and financial reporting requirements scope; books and financial records; budgets; guarantees; reserves; 

financial reporting.
61B-41 Timeshare penalties.
61B-45 The mandatory non-binding arbitration rules of procedure.

61B-45.013 Matters eligible or ineligible for arbitration, effective: 02/22/2015.
61B-50 The rules of procedure governing recall arbitration.
61B-55 Community association management.
61B-60 Yacht and ship brokers.
61B-75 Cooperatives.

61B-75.0051 Provider filing and curriculum for educational training programs, effective: 02/18/2015.
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Chapter No. Chapter Title
61B-76 Accounting and financial reporting requirements; budgets, guarantees, and reserves; financial statements and reports.

61B-76.006 Financial reporting requirements, effective: 03/19/2015.
61B-77 Resolution guidelines for cooperative developers.

61B-77.001 Definitions and purpose, effective: 06/15/2015.
61B-77.002 Educational resolution, effective: 06/15/2015.
61B-77.003 Enforcement resolution and penalty guidelines, effective: 06/15/2015.

61B-78 Association fee and mailing address; cooperative resolution guidelines for unit owner-controlled associations.
61B-78.001 Association fee; mailing address; retrofitting, effective: 09/01/2015.
61B-78.002 Definitions and purpose, effective: 02/19/2015. 
61B-78.003 Educational resolution, effective: 02/19/2015.
61B-78.004 Enforcement resolution and civil penalties, effective: 02/19/2015.

61B-79 Filings.
61B-80 The arbitration rules of procedure governing recall and election disputes in homeowners associations.
61B-81 Substantive rules for recalls in homeowners associations.
61B-82 The rules of mediation procedure in homeowners associations.
61B-83 Certification of community association mediators and arbitrators.
61B-85 Homeowner associations.

Changes to 61B FAC: division of Florida condominiums, timeshares, and mobile homes    
The following sections of Chapter 61B were revised in the 2015 
legislative session.  

Chapter 61B-19 FAC - Complaints
61B-19.001 Provider Filing Curriculum for Educational and Training 
Programs.
(1) Anyone seeking to be a division approved condominium education 
provider shall file with the division the educational materials used in 
the condominium education program. The following information shall be 
included regarding the education program:

(a) A price list for the program and a copy of all materials, 
including any information that will be provided to participants.
(b) The physical locations where programs will be available, if not 
web-based.
(c) Dates when programs will be offered.

(2) All materials must be submitted to the division via e-mail to 
CTMH.BdMbrCertProviders@myfloridalicense.com, by providing 
access to web-based training programs, or in either printed form or CD 
ROM format to the following address: 

Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes
Bureau of Compliance
1940 North Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1030

(3) Programs shall cover at least four of the following topics in 
order to meet the requirements of an educational curriculum for a 
condominium education program as provided in Section 718.112(2)
(d)4.b., F.S.:

(a) Budgets and reserves.
(b) Elections.
(c) Financial reporting.
(d) Condominium operations.
(e) Records maintenance, including unit owner access to records.
(f) Dispute resolution.
(g) Bids and contracts.

(4) Programs and materials shall not contain editorial comments.
(5) Within 45 days from receipt of the materials, the division shall 
notify the provider of any deficiencies or that the materials have been 
approved. If the notice is not given within 45 days from receipt of the 
materials, materials are deemed approved.
(6) The provider shall have 45 days from the date of the division’s 
notification of deficiencies to correct such deficiencies. If the 
deficiencies are not corrected within the 45-day period, the division 
shall reject the filing.

(7) Within 20 days from receipt of the corrections to noted 
deficiencies, the division shall notify the provider of any deficiencies 
or that the materials have been approved. If the notice is not given 
within 20 days from receipt of the corrections, the materials are 
deemed approved.
(8) Approved materials may be provided to participants via web-based 
training programs, seminars, or printed media.
(9) The division will maintain a list of approved programs and 
providers on the Department of Business and Professional Regulation’s 
website at http://www.myfloridalicense.com/dbpr/lsc/condominiums/
CondoEducation.html.
(10) The division reserves the right to require changes to approved 
education and training programs.
(11) The provider will issue a certificate of completion to a board 
member who has successfully completed the approved educational 
curriculum.
Rulemaking Authority 718.501(1)(f) FS. Law Implemented 718.112(2)
(d)4.b., 718.501(1)(j) FS. History–New 12-10-09, Amended 2-15-15.

CHAPTER 61B-23 FAC - The association
61B-23.002 Operation of the association.
(1) Each association which operates more than 2 units shall pay an 
annual fee of $4 for each unit in a residential condominium operated 
by the association. If the declaration is amended during the year to 
alter the number of units or to add additional phases containing units, 
the association shall pay the annual fee on the highest number of 
declared units during the year. The fee shall be paid as follows:

(a) The division shall provide to the association an annual fee 
statement. The failure to receive the Annual Fee Statement 
shall not relieve the association of the obligation to pay the fee. 
Annual fees shall be paid online at www.MyFloridaLicense.com 
or by check or money order made payable to Division of Florida 
Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes.
(b) The initial annual fees are due for the year in which a 
declaration of condominium is recorded. Payment shall be made 
within 30 days of recordation of the declaration or amendments 
creating subsequent phases. Payment shall be submitted to 
the division along with the notice of recordation required by 
subsection 61B-17.001(4), F.A.C.
(c) Subsequent annual fees are due on or before January 1 of 
each year.

(2) The association shall, within 30 days of a change of address, notify 
the division of its new mailing address.
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(3) Each association that votes to forego retrofitting of the common 
elements, association property, or units of a residential condominium 
with a fire sprinkler system, or the common elements or units of a 
residential condominium with handrails or guardrails, shall report 
the voting results and certification information for each affected 
condominium to the division on DBPR Form CO 6000-8, Retrofitting 
report for condominiums, incorporated herein by reference and 
effective 11-30-04. If retrofitting has been undertaken by a residential 
condominium, the association shall report the per-unit cost of such 
work to the division on DBPR Form CO 6000-8. DBPR Form CO 
6000-8 must be filed with the division within 60 days of recordation 
of the retrofitting waiver certificate in the public records where the 
condominium is located or upon commencement of the retrofitting 
project. DBPR Form CO 6000-8 may be obtained by writing the 
division at 1940 North Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-
1030. The division shall prepare separate reports of information 
obtained from associations relating to the waiver of a fire sprinkler 
system and the waiver of handrails and guardrails and deliver the 
reports to the Division of State Fire Marshal of the Department of 
Financial Services no later than August 1 of each year.
(4)(a) As provided for by Sections 718.1085 and 718.112(2)(l), F.S., 
any vote to waive a retrofitting requirement shall be held at a duly 
called meeting of the membership, with members voting live and in 
person, or may be conducted without a membership meeting by written 
consents, or may be conducted by a combination of the two with 
the association counting written consents received along with votes 
cast live and in person at a duly called meeting of the membership. 
Effective October 1, 2004, retrofitting requirements related to a fire 
sprinkler system may also be waived by the use of limited proxies cast 
at a duly called meeting of the membership.

(b) The written consent form utilized by the association must 
contain a space for the authorized voter to sign and must identify 
the unit owned. Voting by written consents or written agreements 
may be utilized by an association regardless of whether the bylaws 
or the declaration specifically permit voting by written consents or 
written agreements.

(5) Unit owners shall not, except as provided by Section 718.112(2)
(b)2., F.S., vote by general proxy, but may vote by limited proxy 
substantially similar to the SAMPLE LIMITED PROXY FORM 
adopted by the division as DBPR Form CO 6000-7, incorporated 
herein by reference and effective June 23, 2009. The form may 
be obtained by writing the Division of Florida Condominiums, 
Timeshares, and Mobile Homes, Northwood Centre, 1940 
North Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1030 or 
may be downloaded at http://www.myflorida.com/dbpr/lsc/
LSCMHCondominiumForms.html.
(6) If the declaration, articles of incorporation or association bylaws 
require or authorize the use of voting certificates, the voter named 
on such certificate is the only person authorized to appoint a proxy 
even though the unit is owned by more than one person or entity or is 
owned by an entity which is not a natural person.
(7)(a) Beginning April 1, 1992, each association must prepare and 
maintain as part of its official records, a completed Frequently Asked 
Questions and Answers Sheet substantially conforming to DBPR form 
CO 6000-4, as referenced in Rule 61B-17.001, F.A.C. The association 
shall update the information provided in the answers to the Frequently 
Asked Questions and Answers Sheet and prepare a revised sheet 
every 12 months beginning from when the sheet was last revised. 
The answers to the questions may be summary in nature, in which 
case the answer shall refer to identified portions of the condominium 
documents.

(b) Other records related to the operation of the association, 
which the association shall maintain as official records pursuant 
to Section 718.111(12)(a)15., F.S., or as that subparagraph may be 
subsequently renumbered, shall include, for example:

1. Correspondence and other written communication from the 
division.

2. A copy of all insurance records.
3. Audio and video recordings made by the board or committee 
or at their direction. Except, however, recordings of board 
of directors, unit owner, or committee meetings shall be 
maintained as official records at least until the minutes of the 
meeting which was the subject of a recording are approved 
by the body authorized to approve said minutes. After said 
approval, the recording may be discarded; however, if the 
body authorized to approve said minutes elects to preserve the 
recording, it shall maintain its status as an official record under 
this provision. It is not the intent of this rule to require that 
such recordings be made but to require that if they are made 
that they be maintained at least until minutes of the meeting 
which was recorded are approved. This accommodates 
associations which record meetings only as an aid for 
preparing minutes of the meeting. Thereafter, recordings 
purposely preserved shall be official records.

(c) Those copies of the declaration, articles of incorporation, 
bylaws, and amendments to the foregoing, which the association is 
required to keep pursuant to Section 718.111(12)(c), F.S., are the 
recorded declaration, recorded articles of incorporation, recorded 
bylaws, including exhibits, and the recorded amendments to each. 
The association may charge its actual costs for preparing and 
furnishing these documents to those requesting the same.

(8) For the purposes of establishing a quorum at any association 
meeting only the voting interests present in person or by proxy shall be 
counted. The written joinder or absentee ballot of a unit owner may not 
be utilized to establish a quorum.
(9) Subject to reasonable restrictions, any unit owner has the right to 
speak at unit owner meetings, with respect to all designated agenda 
items. On or after April 1, 1992, subject to reasonable restrictions, any 
unit owner has the right to speak at board meetings and committee 
meetings with respect to all designated agenda items.
(10) Any unit owner may tape record or videotape meetings of the 
board of administration, committee meetings, or unit owner meetings, 
subject to the following restrictions:

(a) The only audio and video equipment and devices which unit 
owners are authorized to utilize at any such meeting is equipment 
which does not produce distracting sound or light emissions.
(b) If adopted in advance by the board or unit owners as a written 
rule, audio and video equipment shall be assembled and placed in 
position in advance of the commencement of the meeting.
(c) If adopted in advance by the board or unit owners as a written 
rule, anyone videotaping or recording a meeting shall not be 
permitted to move about the meeting room in order to facilitate the 
recording.
(d) If adopted in advance by the board or unit owners as a written 
rule, advance notice shall be given to the board by any unit owner 
desiring to utilize any audio or video equipment.
(e) Unit owners are entitled to tape record or videotape board meetings 
and committee meetings occurring on or after April 1, 1992.

Chapter 61b-30 FAC - Mobile home advertising prospectus rule
This amendment provides an option to pay mobile home annual fees 
online through the department’s website and to reflect statutory changes. 
61B-30.001 Fees
(1) Fees shall be paid online at www.MyFloridaLicense.com or 
by check or money order made payable to Division of Florida 
Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes.
(2) Annual fee – If the number of mobile home lots in the park changes 
during the year, the fee shall be paid for the maximum number of 
mobile home lots owned by the park owner during the year.
(3) Prospectus filing fee – Upon filing the prospectus required by 
Section 723.011, F.S., the park owner shall pay a prospectus filing fee 
for each prospectus filed as follows:

(a) If any of the mobile home lots were covered under a 
Department of Health (DOH) mobile home park permit prior to 
June 4, 1984, the fee described in Section 723.011(1)(c)2., F.S., 
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shall be based upon the number of mobile home lots required to be 
covered under a DOH permit at the time of the prospectus filing, 
unless the park owner files a prospectus for a greater number of 
mobile home lots than were covered under the permit. In that 
event, the fee shall be based upon the number of lots for which the 
prospectus is filed.
(b) For parks which obtain a permit on or after June 4, 1984, the 
filing shall be accompanied by a fee of $10 for each permitted lot 
offered for lease with the prospectus; provided that the fee shall not 
be less than $100. If the park owner wishes to file a prospectus for 
a greater number of mobile home lots than those permitted, the fee 
shall be based upon the number of mobile home lots for which the 
prospectus is filed; provided that the fee shall not be less than $100.

(4) If subsequent to the initial filing described in subsection (3) of this 
rule, additional mobile home lots become covered by the DOH permit 
which were not previously included in the prospectus filing, the fee 
shall be $10 for each additional mobile home lot.
(5) Successors or assigns of a mobile home park may be responsible 
for payment of any delinquent or due fees, penalties or fines.

61B-30.001 Fees.
(1) Fees shall be paid online at www.MyFloridaLicense.com or 
by check or money order made payable to Division of Florida 
Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes.
(2) Annual fee – If the number of mobile home lots in the park changes 
during the year, the fee shall be paid for the maximum number of 
mobile home lots owned by the park owner during the year.
(3) Prospectus filing fee – Upon filing the prospectus required by 
Section 723.011, F.S., the park owner shall pay a prospectus filing fee 
for each prospectus filed as follows:

(a) If any of the mobile home lots were covered under a 
Department of Health (DOH) mobile home park permit prior to 
June 4, 1984, the fee described in Section 723.011(1)(c)2., F.S., 
shall be based upon the number of mobile home lots required to be 
covered under a DOH permit at the time of the prospectus filing, 
unless the park owner files a prospectus for a greater number of 
mobile home lots than were covered under the permit. In that 
event, the fee shall be based upon the number of lots for which the 
prospectus is filed.
(b) For parks which obtain a permit on or after June 4, 1984, the 
filing shall be accompanied by a fee of $10 for each permitted lot 
offered for lease with the prospectus; provided that the fee shall not 
be less than $100. If the park owner wishes to file a prospectus for 
a greater number of mobile home lots than those permitted, the fee 
shall be based upon the number of mobile home lots for which the 
prospectus is filed; provided that the fee shall not be less than $100.

(4) If subsequent to the initial filing described in subsection (3) of this 
rule, additional mobile home lots become covered by the DOH permit 
which were not previously included in the prospectus filing, the fee 
shall be $10 for each additional mobile home lot.
(5) Successors or assigns of a mobile home park may be responsible 
for payment of any delinquent or due fees, penalties or fines.

Chapter 61b-45 FAC - The mandatory non-binding arbitration 
rules of procedure

61B-45.013 Matters Eligible or Ineligible for Arbitration.
(1) A “dispute” under Section 718.1255, F.S., includes a disagreement 
that involves use of a unit or the appurtenances thereto, including use 
of the common elements.
(2) No controversy shall be accepted for arbitration under these rules 
where the controversy is between or among unit owners, or between 
or among a unit owner or unit owners and tenants, except where 
the association is a party and the dispute is otherwise eligible for 
arbitration. The only disputes eligible for arbitration are those existing 
between a unit owner or owners and the association or its board of 
administration; however, pursuant to Rule 61B-45.015, F.A.C., a 
tenant shall be named as a party respondent where the subject matter 

of the dispute concerns a tenant. In addition, other unit owners having 
a particular interest in the proceeding shall be named as parties.
(3) Except as otherwise provided by Rule 61B-45.035, F.A.C., 
any party who has participated as a party in a prior arbitration, 
administrative or court hearing shall not be allowed, consistent with 
the principles of res judicata and collateral estoppel, to raise identical 
issues in a subsequent arbitration hearing.
(4) Where a controversy involves both matters eligible and ineligible 
for arbitration, the arbitrator shall determine by order whether the 
ineligible matters may properly be severed from the controversy so 
that the remaining eligible issues may be arbitrated.
(5) No petition shall be accepted for arbitration under these rules 
which involves issues which are moot, abstract, hypothetical, or 
otherwise lacking the requirements of a case or controversy; no dispute 
which is not a bona fide, actual and present dispute shall be accepted 
for arbitration.
(6) No petition shall be accepted for arbitration under these rules 
which alleges the failure by the association to enforce, or properly 
enforce, the condominium documents, unless the controversy 
otherwise constitutes a dispute as defined by Section 718.1255, F.S., 
and these rules.
(7) No petition shall be accepted for arbitration under these rules 
which alleges the failure of the association to properly repair, replace, 
or maintain the common elements, common areas, association 
property, or cooperative property unless the petition also alleges 
how the petitioner’s use of the common elements, common areas, 
association property, or cooperative property has been directly affected 
as a result of the alleged failure.
(8) No petition shall be accepted for arbitration under these rules 
unless it arises in a residential cooperative or condominium, and 
involves a residential unit or units; however, a petition will be accepted 
which arises in a nonresidential condominium, if the declaration 
provides for arbitration pursuant to Section 718.1255, F.S.

Chapter 61B-75 FAC - Cooperatives

61B-75.0051 Provider Filing and Curriculum for Educational and 
Training Programs.
(1) Anyone seeking to be a division approved cooperative education 
provider shall file with the division the educational materials used in 
the cooperative education program. The following information shall be 
included regarding the education program:

(a) A price list for the program and a copy of all materials, 
including any information that will be provided to participants.
(b) The physical locations where programs will be available, if not 
web-based.
(c) Dates when programs will be offered.

(2) All materials must be submitted to the division via e-mail to 
CTMH.BdMbrCertProviders@myfloridalicense.com, by providing 
access to web-based training programs, or in either printed form or CD 
ROM format to the following address:
Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile Homes
Bureau of Compliance
1940 North Monroe Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1030
(3) Programs shall cover at least four of the following topics in 
order to meet the requirements of an educational curriculum for a 
cooperative education program as provided in Section 719.106(1)
(d)1.b., F.S.:

(a) Budgets and reserves.
(b) Elections.
(c) Financial reporting.
(d) Condominium operations.
(e) Records maintenance, including unit owner access to records.
(f) Dispute resolution.
(g) Bids and contracts.

(4) Programs and materials shall not contain editorial comments.
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(5) Within 45 days from receipt of the materials, the division shall 
notify the provider of any deficiencies or that the materials have been 
approved. If the notice is not given within 45 days from receipt of the 
materials, the materials are deemed approved.
(6) The provider shall have 45 days from the date of the division’s 
notification of deficiencies to correct such deficiencies. If the 
deficiencies are not corrected within the 45-day period, the division 
shall reject the filing.
(7) Within 20 days from receipt of the corrections to noted 
deficiencies, the division shall notify the provider of any deficiencies 
or that the materials have been approved. If the notice is not given 
within 20 days from receipt of the corrections, the materials are 
deemed approved.
(8) Approved materials may be provided to participants via web-based 
training programs, seminars, or printed media.
(9) The division will maintain a list of approved programs and 
providers on the Department of Business and Professional Regulation’s 
website at http://www.myfloridalicense.com/dbpr/lsc/condominiums/
CondoEducation.html.
(10) The division reserves the right to require changes to approved 
education and training programs.
(11) The provider will issue a certificate of completion to a board 
member who has successfully completed the approved educational 
curriculum.

Chapter 61B-76 FAC - Accounting and financial reporting 
requirements; budgets, guarantees, and reserves; financial 
statements and reports.

61B-76.006 Financial reporting requirements.
(1) Basis of accounting. The financial statements required by 
Sections 719.104(4)(b) and 719.301(4), F.S., as well as financial 
statements voluntarily prepared in lieu of a financial report as 
provided in Section 719.104(4), F.S., shall be prepared on the 
accrual basis using fund accounting in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. Reviewed financial statements 
shall be reviewed in accordance with standards for accounting and 
review services and audited financial statements shall be audited in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Reviews and 
audits of an association’s financial statements shall be performed by 
an independent certified public accountant licensed by the Florida 
Board of Accountancy. As used in this rule the terms “generally 
accepted accounting principles,” “standards for accounting and review 
services,” and “generally accepted auditing standards” shall have the 
same meaning as set forth in Chapter 61H1-20, F.A.C.
(2) Components. The financial statements required by Sections 
719.104(4)(b) and 719.301(4)(c), F.S., shall at a minimum include the 
following components:

(a) Accountant’s or Auditor’s Report.
(b) Balance Sheet.
(c) Statement of Revenues and Expenses.
(d) Statement of Changes in Fund Balances.
(e) Statement of Cash Flows, direct method.
(f) Notes to Financial Statements.

(3) Disclosure requirements. The financial statements required by 
Sections 719.104(4)(b) and 719.301(4)(c), F.S., shall contain the 
following disclosures within the financial statements, notes, or 
supplementary information:

(a) The following reserve disclosures shall be made regardless of 
whether reserves have been waived for the fiscal period covered by 
the financial statements:

1. The beginning balance in each reserve account as of 
the beginning of the fiscal period covered by the financial 
statements.
2. The amount of assessments and other additions to each 
reserve account including authorized transfers from other 
reserve accounts.

3. The amount expended or removed from each reserve account, 
including authorized transfers to other reserve accounts.
4. The ending balance in each reserve account as of the end of 
the fiscal period covered by the financial statements.
5. The manner by which reserve items were estimated, the date 
the estimates were last made, the cooperative association’s 
policies for allocating reserve fund interest, and whether 
reserves have been waived during the period covered by the 
financial statements.
6. If the developer has established converter reserves pursuant to 
Section 719.618(1), F.S., each converter reserve account shall be 
identified and include the disclosures required by this rule.

(b) The method by which income and expenses were allocated to 
the unit owners.
(c) The specific purpose or purposes of any special assessments 
to unit owners pursuant to Section 719.108(9), F.S., and the 
amount of each special assessment and the disposition of the funds 
collected.
(d) If a guarantee pursuant to Section 719.108(8), F.S., existed 
at any time during the fiscal year, the financial statements shall 
disclose the following:

1. The period of time covered by the guarantee.
2. The amount of common expenses incurred during the 
guarantee period.
3. The amount of assessments charged to the non-developer 
unit owners during the guarantee period.
4. The amount of the developer’s payments pursuant to the 
guarantee.
5. Any financial obligation due to or from the developer 
resulting from the guarantee.

(4) Developer assessments. All financial reports and financial 
statements required by Chapter 719, F.S., shall disclose the assessment 
revenues from the developer separately from that of the non-developer 
unit owners.
(5) Financial reports required by Section 719.104(4)(a), F.S. The 
financial report required by Section 719.104(4)(a), F.S., shall meet the 
following requirements:

(a) The report shall be prepared on a cash basis;
(b) The report shall include the receipts and expenditures listed in 
Section 719.104(4)(a), F.S.; and
(c) The report shall contain the reserve disclosures required by 
Rule 61B-76.006(3)(a), F.A.C.
(d) The report shall include the special assessment disclosure 
required by paragraph 61B-76.006(3)(c), F.A.C.

(6) Minutes. The minutes of the association shall reflect the number 
of votes cast by the membership to waive the requirement for audited, 
reviewed, or compiled financial statements and the type of financial 
reporting that the association will be preparing and disseminating to 
the membership.

Chapter 61B-77 FAC - Resolution guidelines for cooperative 
developers
61B-77.001 Definitions and Purpose
(1) Definitions. For the purposes of this rule chapter, the following 
definitions shall apply:

(a) “Accepted Complaint” means a complaint received by the 
division from someone with standing to file a complaint containing 
sufficient documentation and addressing a subject within the 
jurisdiction of the division, pursuant to Section 719.501(1), F.S. 
A complaint that merely recites the statutes or is based on mere 
suspicion or speculation, without a plain statement of facts clearly 
describing what is alleged to have occurred, will not be accepted.
(b) “Affirmative or corrective action” means putting remedial 
procedures in place to ensure that the violation does not recur, 
making any injured person whole as to the harm suffered in 
relation to the violation, or taking any other appropriate measures 
to redress the harm caused.
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(c) “Alleged repeated violation” means the same or substantially 
similar recurring conduct cited in an accepted complaint received 
by the division within two years from the resolution of a previous 
complaint, the issuance of a final arbitration order or court order, 
or the entering of a final order by the division regarding that 
conduct.
(d) “Bad check” means any worthless check, draft, or order of 
payment identified under Section 68.065, F.S.

(2) Purpose. The purpose of the resolution guidelines is to implement 
the division’s responsibility to ensure compliance with the provisions 
of Chapter 719, F.S., and the division’s administrative rules. For 
those statutory or rule violations identified as minor in these rules, the 
division will first and foremost attempt to seek compliance through 
an educational resolution. For repeated statutory or rule violations, 
where the violations have not been corrected or otherwise resolved by 
the developer, or for violations identified as major in these rules, the 
division will seek statutory or rule compliance through an enforcement 
resolution. The guidelines detail the educational and enforcement 
procedures the division will use to seek statutory or rule compliance. 
The guidelines are also intended to implement the division’s statutory 
authority to give reasonable and meaningful notice to persons 
regulated by Chapter 719, F.S., and the administrative rules of the 
range of penalties that normally will be imposed, if an enforcement 
resolution is taken by the division. Finally, the rules are intended, 
pursuant to statutory mandate, to distinguish between minor and major 
violations based upon the potential harm that the violation may cause.
(3) The division shall apply these resolution guidelines against the 
developer pursuant to the division’s authority in Section 719.301(5), 
F.S. Therefore, the developer is responsible for the cost of affirmative 
or corrective action, or assessed penalties imposed under these 
guidelines, regardless of whether turnover has occurred. The developer 
shall not pass the cost of affirmative or corrective action or penalties 
on to the unit owners.
(4) These rules do not preclude the division from imposing affirmative 
or corrective action pursuant to Section 719.501(1)(d)2., F.S. Nothing 
in these rules shall limit the ability of the division to informally 
dispose of administrative actions or complaints by stipulation, 
settlement agreement, or consent order. Rules 61B-77.001, 61B-
77.002, and 61B-77.003, F.A.C., are necessary to explain the division’s 
education and enforcement policies. These rules are not intended 
to cover, or be applied to, violations of Chapter 719, F.S., or the 
administrative rules by a unit owner controlled association. Such 
violations shall be strictly governed by the provisions of Chapter 61B-
78, F.A.C.

61B-77.002 Educational Resolution.
An initial accepted complaint that is directed at a developer and 
involving a possible violation identified as minor in these guidelines 
will be resolved as follows:

If the division has reasonable cause to believe that a statutory or 
rule violation may have occurred, a Warning Letter will be sent 
to the developer. The Warning Letter will give the developer 14 
calendar days in which to address, correct, or dispute the violation. 
The Warning Letter will identify the violation, and provide a 
contact telephone number and an investigator’s name so that the 
developer may contact the division for educational assistance or 
an educational conference in obtaining compliance. However, it 
is solely the responsibility of the developer to take action, when 
applicable, to achieve statutory or rule compliance. Failure to 
respond to a Warning Letter, or take affirmative or corrective 
action as requested by the division, will result in the division 

proceeding with an enforcement resolution. The Warning Letter 
shall not be considered final agency action. The division will 
notify the complainant of the resolution of the complaint, or if 
applicable, alternative dispute resolution options.

61B-77.003 Enforcement resolution and penalty guidelines.
(1) The division will seek compliance through an enforcement 
resolution for repeated minor violations, for the failure to correct or 
address a violation or provide unit owner redress as requested by the 
division, or for a major violation. If the division issues a notice to 
show cause, it will notify the developer of its right to a hearing under 
Chapter 120, F.S. The guidelines in this rule chapter are based upon 
a single count violation of each provision listed. Multiple counts of 
the violated provision or a combination of the listed violations will 
be added together to determine an overall total penalty. Nothing in 
these rules shall limit the ability of the division to informally dispose 
of administrative actions or complaints by stipulation, settlement 
agreement, or consent order.
(2) General Provisions.

(a) Rule Not All-Inclusive. This rule chapter contains illustrative 
violations. It does not, and is not intended to, encompass all 
possible violations of statute or division rule that might be 
committed by a developer. The absence of any violation from 
this rule chapter shall in no way be construed to indicate that the 
violation does not cause substantial harm or is not subject to a 
penalty. In any instance where the violation is not listed in this rule 
chapter, the penalty will be determined by consideration of:

1. The closest analogous violation, if any, that is listed in this 
rule chapter.
2. The mitigating or aggravating factors listed in this rule chapter.

(b) Violations Included. This rule chapter applies to all statutory and 
rule violations subject to a penalty authorized by Chapter 719, F.S.
(c) Rule Establishes Norm. These guidelines do not supersede 
the division’s authority to order a developer to cease and desist 
from any unlawful practice, or order other affirmative action in 
situations where the imposition of administrative penalties is 
not adequate. For example, notwithstanding the specification 
of relatively smaller penalties for particular violations, the 
division will suspend the imposition of a penalty and impose 
other remedies where aggravating or mitigating factors warrant 
it. If an enforcement resolution is utilized, the total penalty to be 
assessed shall be calculated according to these guidelines or $500, 
whichever amount is greater.
(d) Description of Violations. Although the violations in Rule 
61B-77.003, F.A.C., include specific references to statutes and 
administrative rules, the violations are described in general 
language and are not necessarily stated in the same language that 
would be used to formally allege a violation in a specific case. 
If any statutory or rule citation in Rule 61B-77.003, F.A.C., is 
changed, then the use of the previous statutory citation will not 
invalidate this rule chapter.

(3) Aggravating and Mitigating Factors. The division will consider 
aggravating and mitigating factors, which will reduce or increase the 
penalty amounts within the specified range, in determining penalties 
for both minor and major violations listed in this rule section. No 
aggravating factors will be applied to increase a penalty for a single 
violation above the statutory maximum of $5,000. The factors shall be 
applied against each single count of the listed violation.
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No. Aggravating factors
1. Filing or causing to be filed any materially incorrect document in response to any division request or subpoena.
2. Financial loss to parties or persons affected by the violation.
3. Financial gain to parties or persons responsible for the violation.
4. The disciplinary history of the developer, including such action resulting in an enforcement resolution as detailed in Section 

719.501, F.S. or Rule 61B-77.003, F.A.C.
5. The violation caused substiantial harm to unit owners, other persons, or entities.
6. The violation occurred for a long period of time.
7. The violation was repeated within 2 years.
8. The developer impeded the division’s investigation or authority.

 
No. Mitigating factors
1. The violation or harm was related to a natural or manmade disaster(s).
2. Financial hardship to respondent.
3. The violation caused no harm to unit owners, other persons, or entities.
4. The violation occurred despite reliance on written professional or expert counsel advice.
5. The developer took affirmative or corrective action before it received the division’s written notification of the violation.
6. The developer expeditiously took affirmative or corrective action after it received the division’s written notification of the violation.
7. The developer cooperated with the division during the investigation.

(4) The provisions of this rule chapter shall not be construed so as to 
prohibit or limit any other civil or criminal prosecution that may be brought.
(5) The imposition of a penalty does not preclude the division from 
imposing additional sanctions or remedies provided under Chapter 719, F.S.
(6) In addition to the penalties established in this rule chapter, the 
division reserves the right to seek to recover any other costs, penalties, 
attorney’s fees, court costs, service fees, collection costs, and damages 
allowed by law. Additionally, the division reserves the right to seek to 
recover any costs, penalties, attorney’s fees, court costs, service fees, 
collection costs, and damages imposed by law if a developer submits a 
bad check to the division.
(7) Penalties.

(a) Minor Violations. The following violations shall be considered 
minor due to their lower potential for public harm. If an 
enforcement resolution is utilized, the division shall impose a 

civil penalty between $1 and $5 per unit for each minor violation. 
The penalty will be assessed beginning with the middle of the 
specified range and adjusted either up or down based upon any 
accepted aggravating or mitigating factors submitted with proper 
documentation. An occurrence of six or more aggravating factors 
or five or more mitigating factors will result in a penalty being 
assessed outside of the specified range. The total penalty to be 
assessed shall be calculated according to these guidelines or $500, 
whichever amount is greater. In no event shall a penalty of more 
than $5,000 be imposed for a single violation. The enumeration of 
violations is descriptive only; the full language of each statutory 
nd rule provision cited must be consulted in order to determine the 
conduct included in the violation. The following are identified as 
minor violations:

 No. Category Statute or rule cite Description of conduct/violation
 1. Assessment Section 719.108(6), F.S. Failure to provide within 15 days a certificate stating all assessments and other moneys 

owed to the association by the unit owner with respect to the cooperative parcel.
 2. Board Section 719.1035(1), F.S. Failure to maintain corporate status of the association.

 3. Board Section 719.1055(4)(b), F.S. Failure to include the full text showing underlined or strikethrough language in the 
proposed amendment to the cooperative documents.

 4. Board Section 719.106(1)(a)3., F.S. Failure to provide a timely or substantive response to a written inquiry received by 
certified mail.

 5. Board Section 719.106(1)(b)1., F.S. Action taken at unit owner meeting without quorum.
 6. Board Section 719.106(1)(c), F.S. Failure to properly notice and conduct board of administration or committee 

meetings. Notice failed to indicate assessment would be considered. Failure to 
maintain affidavit by person who gave notice of special assessment meeting. 
Failure to ratify emergency action at next meeting. Failure to adopt a rule regarding 
posting of notices. Failure to notice meeting. Action on item not on agenda. Notice 
did not include agenda. Failure to allow unit owners to speak or unreasonably 
restricting the frequency, duration, or manner of unit owner statements at meeting. 
Failure to allow unit owners to attend meeting.

 7. Board Section 719.106(1)(d), F.S. Failure to provide notice of the annual meeting not less than 14 days prior to the 
meeting. Failure to include agenda. Failure to maintain affidavit by person who 
gave notice of annual meeting. Failure to adopt a rule designating a specific place 
for posting notice of unit owner meetings.

 8. Board Section 719.106(1)(d)2., F.S. Permitting unit owner action by written agreement without express authority from 
Chapter 719, F.S., or the cooperative governing documents.
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 9. Board Section 719.106(1)(h), F.S. Failure to include the full text showing underlined or strikethrough language in the 
proposed amendment to the bylaws.

 10. Board Section 719.3026(1), F.S. Failure to obtain competitive bids on contracts that exceed five percent of the 
association’s budget.

 11. Board Section 719.106(1)(b)5., F.S. Failure to provide a speaker phone for board or committee meetings held by 
teleconference.

 12. Board Section 719.106(1)(c), F.S.
Rule 61B-75.004, F.A.C.

Failure to allow a unit owner to tape record or video tape meeings.

 13. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(e), F.S. Failure to timely notice budget meeting. Failure to timely deliver proposed budget.
 14. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(j)1., F.S.

Section 719.504(20)(c), F.S.
Failure to include applicable line items in proposed budget.

 15. Budgets Paragraph 61B-76.003(1)(b), FAC. Failure to disclose the beginning and ending dates of the period covered by the 
budget.

 16. Budgets Paragraph 61B-76.003(1)(c), F.A.C. Failure to disclose periodic assessments for each unit type in proposed budget.
 17. Development Section 719.301(2), F.S. Failure to file name and address of first non-developer board member.
 18. Development Section 719.301(4)(a)1., F.S. Failure to deliver cooperative documents and all amendments thereto upon transfer 

of association control.
 19. Development Section 719.301(4)(a)2., F.S. Failure to deliver articles of incorporation upon transfer of association control.
 20. Development Section 719.301(4)(a)3., F.S. Failure to deliver the bylaws upon transfer of association control.
 21. Development Section 719.301(4)(a)5., F.S. Failure to deliver house rules upon transfer of association control.
 22. Development Section 719.301(4)(b), F.S. Failure to deliver resignations of officers and board members upon transfer of 

association control.
 23. Development Section 719.301(4)(i), F.S. Failure to deliver copies of certificates of occupancy upon transfer of association 

control.
 24. Development Section 719.301(4)(j), F.S. Failure to deliver permits upon transfer of association control.
 25. Development Section 719.301(4)(l), F.S. Failure to deliver unit owner roster upon transfer of association control.
 26. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(8), F.A.C. Failure to provide space for name, unit number, and signature on outer envelope.
 27. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(9), F.A.C. Failure to list candidates alphabetically by surname on the ballot.
 28. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(b), F.A.C. Improper verification of outer envelopes.
 29. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)2., F.S. Failure to maintain a copy of the cooperative documents.
 30. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)5., F.S. Failure to maintain a current and complete unit owner roster.
 31. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)12., F.S. Failure to maintain or annually update the question and answer sheet. 
 32. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)13., F.S. Failure to maintain other association records related to the operation of the 

association.
 33. Records Section 719.104(8)(b), F.S. Failure to record a vote or an abstention in the minutes for each board member 

present at the board meeting.
 34. Records Subsection 61B-76.003(3), F.A.C. Failure to reflect the adoption of the budget in meeting minutes.
 35. Reporting Subparagraph 61B-76.006(3)(a)5., 

F.A.C.
Failure to disclose in the annual financial statements or turnover audit the manner 
by which reserve items were estimated and/or the date the estimates were last 
made.

 36. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(3)(b), F.A.C. Failure to disclose the method of allocating income and expenses in the annual 
financial statements or turnover audit.

 37. Reporting Subsection 61B-76.006(4), F.A.C. Failure to show developer assessments separately from other assessment revenues 
in the annual financial report (statements) or turnover audit.

(b) Major Violations. The following violations shall be considered 
major due to their increased potential for public harm. If an 
enforcement resolution is utilized, the penalty will be assessed 
beginning with the middle of the specified range and adjusted either 
up or down based upon any accepted aggravating or mitigating factors 
submitted with proper documentation. An occurrence of six or more 
aggravating factors or five or more mitigating factors will result in 
a penalty being assessed outside of the specified range. The total 
penalty to be assessed shall be calculated according to these guidelines 

or $500, whichever amount is greater. In no event shall a penalty of 
more than $5,000 be imposed for a single violation. The enumeration 
of violations is descriptive only; the full language of each statutory 
and rule provision cited must be consulted in order to determine the 
conduct included in the violation. The penalties for each violation are 
as follows:
Level 1: $10 – $18 per unit.
Level 2: $20 – $50 per unit.

Level 3: $100 – $300 for each unit offered/created; deposit or contract.
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No. Category Statute or rule cite Description of conduct/violation Penalty
level

 1. Accounting
Records

Section 719.104(2)(a)9., F.S. Insufficient or incomplete accounting records. 2

 2. Assessing Section 719.106(1)(g), F.S. Failure to assess at sufficient accounts to meet expenses. 1
 3. Assessing Section 719.106(1)(g), F.S. Collecting assessments less frequently than quarterly. 1
 4. Assessing Section 719.107(2), F.S. Failure to assess based upon the shares stated in the cooperative 

documents.
2

 5. Assessing Section 719.108(3), F.S. Failure to charge interest on past due assessments. 2
 6. Assessing Sections 719.108(1), (8), F.S. Developer or other owner improperly excused from paying assessments. 2
 7. Board Section 719.104(3), F.S. Failure to insure the association property. 2
 8. Board Section 719.104(5), F.S. Improper use fee. 1
 9. Board Section 719.104(8)(b), F.S. Use of proxies or improper use of secret ballots by board members at a 

board meeting.
1

 10. Board Section 719.105, F.S.
Section 719.109(1), F.S.

Unit owner denied access to unit or to common areas. 1

 11. Board Section 719.1055, F.S. Improperly amending the cooperative documents. 2
 12. Board Section 719.106(1)(a)1., F.S. Compensating officers or members of the board without express 

authority from the cooperative governing documents.
2

 13. Board Section 719.106(1), F.S. Allowing ineligible person to serve on board of administration. 2
 14. Board Section 719.106(1)(b)2., F.S. Improper use of general proxies. Use of non-conforming limited 

proxies.
1

 15. Board Section 719.106(1)(c), F.S. Excluding unit owners from board or committee meetings. 1
 16. Board Section 719.106(1)(d), F.S. Failure to hold annual meeting. 2
 17. Board Section 719.106(1)(f), F.S. Improper removal of board member. 1
 18. Board Section 719.106(1)(h), F.S. Improperly amending the association bylaws. 2
 19. Board Section 719.106(1)(i), F.S. Requiring transfer fees or security deposits without express authority 

from the cooperative governing documents. Requiring excessive 
transfer fees.

1

 20. Board Section 719.106(1)(k), F.S. Failure to maintain adequate fidelity bonding for all persons who 
control or disburse association funds.

2

 21. Board Subsection 61B-75.005(13), 
F.A.C.

Improperly filling a vacancy of an unexpired term on the board. 1

 22. Board Section 719.108(3), F.S. Levying late fees without express authority from the cooperative 
governing documents.

1

 23. Board Section 719.115(3), F.S. Failure to timely notify unit owners of legal action. 1
 24. Board Sections 719.303(3), (4), (5), (6), 

F.S.
Imposing fines without proper notice. Imposing excessive fines. 
Improper suspension of use rights and voting rights; failure to provide 
proper notice.

1

 25. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(e), F.S. Failure to propose/adopt budget for a given year. 2
 26. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(e)4., F.S. Developer increased assessments more than 115% without approval. 1
 27. Budgets Subparagraph 

61B-76.003(1)(e)5., F.A.C.
Failure to disclose converter reserve funding. 1

 28. Budgets Paragraphs
61B-76.003(1)(e), (f), (g), F.A.C.

Failure to include reserve schedule in the proposed budget. 1

 29. Budgets Paragraphs 61B-76.003(1)(e), 
(f), F.A.C, Subsections 61B-
76.005(1), (5), F.A.C.

Failure to include a required reserve item in proposed budget. 1

 30. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(j)2., F.S.
Subsections 61B-76.005(3), (5), 
F.A.C.

Improper calculation of reserve requirements. 1

 31. Commingle Section 719.104(7), F.S. Commingling association funds with non-association funds. 2
 32. Commingle Section 719.104(7), F.S. Association funds deposited in account not in association’s name. 1
 33. Commingle Section 719.104(7), F.S.

Subsection 61B-76.005(2), 
F.A.C.

Commingling reserve funds with operating funds. 1
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 34. Common
Expenses

Section 719.107(1), F.S. Using association funds for other than common expenses. 2

 35. Converter
Reserves

Section 719.618(1), F.S. Failure to calculate converter reserves properly. 2

 36. Converter
Reserves

Section 719.618(2), F.S. Failure to fund converter reserves in a timely manner. 2

 37. Converter
Reserves

Section 719.618(3)(b), F.S. Improper use of converter reserves. 1

 38. Converter
Reserves

Subparagraph 
61B-76.003(1)(e)5., F.A.C.

Failure to include converter reserve disclosures in the proposed budget. 1

 39. Development Section 719.202(1), F.S. Developer using an alternative assurance, in lieu of an escrow account, 
without the prior approval of the Director.

3

 40. Development Section 719.202(1), F.S. Failure to place purchase deposits in escrow. 3
 41. Development Section 719.202(6), F.S. Failure to place reservation deposits in escrow. 3
 42. Development Sections 719.301(1), (2), (4), F.S. Failure to transfer association control. 2
 43. Development Section 719.301(1)(a)4., F.S. Failure to deliver the minute books upon transfer of association control. 2
 44. Development Section 719.301(4)(c), F.S. Failure to deliver the financial records (other than the audit) within 90 

days of transfer of association control.
2

 45. Development Section 719.301(4)(d), F.S. Failure to deliver the association funds upon transfer of association 
control.

2

 46. Development Section 719.301(4)(e), F.S. Failure to deliver all tangible personal property of the association upon 
transfer of association control.

2

 47. Development Section 719.301(4)(f), F.S. Failure to deliver a copy of the plans, specifications and affidavit upon 
transfer of association control.

1

 48. Development Section 719.301(4)(g), F.S. Failure to deliver the list of contractors upon transfer of association 
control.

1

 49. Development Section 719.301(4)(h), F.S. Failure to deliver copies of insurance policies upon transfer of 
association control.

1

 50. Development Section 719.301(4)(k), F.S. Failure to deliver copies of all warranties upon transfer of association 
control.

1

 51. Development Section 719.301(4)(m), F.S. Failure to deliver copies of all leases to which the association is a party 
upon transfer of association control.

1

 52. Development Sections 719.301(4)(n), (o), F.S. Failure to deliver copies of all contracts involving the association upon 
transfer of association control.

1

 53. Development Section 719.403(1), F.S. Continuing to develop phases after expiration of phase deadline. 3
 54. Development Sections 719.403(1), (2), F.S. Improperly amending cooperative documents to provide for phased 

development.
2

 55. Development Section 719.502(2)(a), F.S.
Paragraph 61B-79.001(2)(b), 
F.A.C.

Accepting reservation deposits prior to filing reservation program with 
the division.

3

 56. Development Section 719.502(2)(a), F.S.
Paragraph 61B-79.001(2)(a), (3), 
F.A.C.

Offering sales contracts prior to filing with division. 3

 57. Development Section 719.502(3), F.S.
Subsection 61B-79.003(2), 
F.A.C.

Offering sales contracts on units within a phase prior to filing phase 
documents with the division.

3

 58. Development Section 719.502(3), F.S.
Subsection 61B-79.003(2), 
F.A.C.

Failure to file amendments to documents previously filed with the 
division.

1

 59. Development Section 719.503(1)(a), F.S.
Subsection 61B-79.004(9), 
F.A.C.

Using sales contracts without required disclosures. 3

 60. Development Section 719.503(1)(b), F.S. Failure to provide disclosure documents to purchasers. 3
 61. Development Section 719.503(1)(b), F.S. Failure to allow purchaser to rescind contract upon receipt of timely 

notice from purchaser. 
3

 62. Development Subsection 61B-79.001(3), 
F.A.C.

Closing on sales of units prior to the division’s approval of the filing. 3
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 63. Development Section 719.504(10), F.S. Failure to disclose rental program in prospectus. 1
 64. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d), F.S.

Sections 719.301(1), (2), F.S.
Subsection 61B-75.005(2), 
F.A.C.

Failure to hold election to permit participation on board by non-
developer owners. Failure to permit participation on board by non-
developer owners after 15 percent of units have been sold.

2

 65. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1., F.S.
Subsection 61B-75.005(3), 
F.A.C.

Use of nomination procedures in an election. 2

 66. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(2), 
F.A.C.

Election not held at time and place of annual meeting. 1

 67. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S.
Subsection 61B-75.005(4), 
F.A.C.

Failure to provide, or timely provide, first notice of election. 2

 68. Elections Section 719.301(2), F.S. Failure to provide, or timely provide, first notice of turnover election. 2
 69. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S.

Subsections 61B-75.005(7), (8), 
F.A.C.

Failure to provide, or timely provide, second notice of election or 
omitting ballots, envelopes, and candidate information sheets.

2

 70. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(8), 
F.A.C.

Voters allowed to rescind or change their previously cast ballots. 1

 71. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S.
Subsection 61B-75.005(7), 
F.A.C.

Association altered or edited candidate-information sheets. 2

 72. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1., F.S. Failure to use ballots or voting machines. 2
 73. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S.

Subsection 61B-75.005(5), 
F.A.C.

Ballot included candidate who did not timely submit notice of 
candidacy.

2

 74. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(6), 
F.A.C.

Failure to provide candidate a receipt for personally delivered written 
notice of candidacy.

1

 75. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(7), 
F.A.C.

Distributing candidate information sheets consisting of more than one 
side of a page.

1

 76. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(8), 
F.A.C.

Second notice of election included comments by board about 
candidates.

2

 77. Elections Paragraph 
61B-75.005(10)(a), F.A.C.

Ballots not counted by impartial committee. 1

 78. Elections Paragraph 
61B-75.005(10)(a), F.A.C.

Inner envelopes not placed in separate receptacle before being opened. 2

 79. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S.
Subsection 61B-75.005(9), 
F.A.C.

Failure to include all timely submitted names of eligible candidates on 
the ballot.

2

 80. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(9), 
F.A.C.

Ballots not uniform. Ballots identify voter. Ballots included space for 
write-in candidate.

2

 81. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(10), 
F.A.C.

Outer envelopes not checked against list of eligible voters. 1

 82. Elections Paragraphs
61B-75.005(10)(a), (b), F.A.C.

Counting ineligible ballots. 1

 83. Elections Paragraph
61B-75.005(10)(a), F.A.C.

Failure to count properly cast ballots. 1

 84. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(10), 
F.A.C.

Outer envelopes opened prior to election meeting. Outer envelopes not 
opened in presence of unit owners.

2

 85. Elections Paragraph
61B-75.005(10)(a), F.A.C.

Not counting ballots in the presence of unit owners. 2

 86. Elections Paragraph
61B-75.005(10)(b), F.A.C.

Failure to notice meeting to verify outer-envelope information. 1

 87. Elections Paragraph
61B-75.005(10)(c), F.A.C.

Failure to hold, or timely hold, runoff election. 2

 88. Elections Paragraph
61B-75.005(10)(a), F.A.C.

No blank ballots available at election meeting. 2

 89. Final Order Section 719.501(1)(d)4., F.S. Failure to comply with final order of the division. 2
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 90. Guarantee Section 719.108(8), F.S.
Subsection 61B-76.004(1), 
F.A.C.

Guarantee not properly established. 2

 91. Guarantee Section 719.108(8)(a), F.S.
Subsection 61B-76.004(3), 
F.A.C.

Improperly assessing unit owners. 2

 92. Guarantee Section 719.108(8)(a), F.S.
Subsections 61B-76.004(4), (5), 
F.A.C.

Failure to advance sufficient cash. 2

 93. Guarantee Section 719.108(8)(b), F.S.
Subsection 61B-76.004(4), 
F.A.C.

Expending capital contributions or special assessment funds during 
guarantee period.

2

 94. Guarantee Subsection 61B-76.004(2), 
F.A.C.

Guarantee period unclear/not specified, not properly extended. 2

 95. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)4., F.S. Failure to maintain minutes of meetings. 1
 96. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)6., F.S. Failure to maintain a copy of a current insurance policy. 1
 97. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)7., F.S. Failure to maintain copy of management agreement or other contract 

under which the association has obligations.
1

 98. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)8., F.S. Failure to maintain bills of sale or transfer. 1
 99. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)10., F.S. Failure to maintain election or voting materials for one year. 1
 100. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)11., F.S. Failure to maintain rental records. 1
 101. Records Section 719.104(2)(c), F.S. 

Section 719.107(1)(a), F.S.
Requiring a unit owner to pay a fee for access to association records. 1

 102. Records Section 719.104(2)(b), F.S. Failure to maintain records within Florida. 2
 103. Records Sections 719.104(2)(b), (c), F.S. Failure to provide access to records. Failure to allow scanning or 

copying of records.
1

 104. Records Section 719.104(2)(e), F.S. Failure of outgoing board or committee member to relinquish all official 
records and property of the association in his or her possession or under 
his or her control to the incoming board within 5 days after the election.

2

 105. Reporting Section 719.104(4), F.S.
Subsections 61B-76.006(6), (8), 
F.A.C.

Failure to provide, or timely provide, the annual financial report or 
statements.

2

 106. Reporting Section 719.104(4)(b), F.S.
Paragraph 61B-76.006(9)(b), 
F.A.C.

Prior to turnover of control of the association, developer was included 
in vote to waive audit requirement after the first two years of operation.

2

 107. Reporting Section 719.104(4)(c), F.S.
Subsection 61B-76.0062(1), 
F.A.C.

Failure to provide, or timely provide, turnover financial statements. 
Turnover financial statements not audited. Failure of turnover financial 
statements to cover entire period of control.

2

 108. Reporting Subsection 61B-76.006(1), 
F.A.C.

Failure to prepare annual/turnover financial statements using fund 
accounting. Failure to prepare annual/turnover financial statements on 
accrual basis.

1

 109. Reporting Section 719.104(4)(a), F.S.
Subsection 61B-76.006(1), 
F.A.C.

Failure to prepare annual/turnover financial statements in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Failure to 
have reviewed or audited annual/turnover financial statements prepared 
by a Florida licensed CPA.

2

 110. Reporting Subsection 61B-76.006(2), 
F.A.C.

Failure to include one or more components of the annual/turnover 
financial statements (incomplete).

1

 111. Reporting Subparagraphs
61B-76.006(3)(a)1.-5., F.A.C.

Failure to make significant reserve fund disclosures in the annual/
turnover financial statements.

1

 112. Reporting Subparagraph
61B-76.006(3)(a)6., F.A.C.

Failure to include converter reserve disclosures in the annual financial 
statements.

1

 113. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(5)(c), 
F.A.C.

Failure to include converter reserve disclosures in the annual financial 
report.

1

 114. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(5)(c), 
F.A.C.

Failure to include the required reserve fund disclosures in the annual 
financial report.

1

 115. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(3)(c), 
F.A.C.

Failure to include the special assessment disclosures in the annual 
financial statements.

1
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 116. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(3)(d), 
F.A.C.

Incomplete or missing guarantee disclosures in the annual financial 
statements.

1

 117. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(2)(d), 
F.A.C.

Incomplete or missing guarantee disclosures in the turnover financial 
statements.

1

 118. Reporting Subparagraph 
61B-76.006(3)(d)5., F.A.C.

Failure to properly calculate guarantor’s final obligation. 2

 119. Reporting Paragraph 
61B-76.006(5)(a), F.A.C.

Failure to prepare the annual financial report on a cash basis. 1

 120. Reporting Section 719.104(4)(c), F.S.
Paragraph 
61B-76.006(5)(b), F.A.C.

Failure to include in the annual financial report specified receipt or 
expenditure items.

1

 121. Reporting Subsection 
61B-76.006(8), F.A.C.

Providing lower level of annual financial reporting than required. 2

 122. Reporting Subsection 
61B-76.0062(2), F.A.C.

Failure to present revenues and expenses for each fiscal year and 
interim period in the turnover financial statements.

2

 123. Reporting Subsection 
61B-76.0062(2), F.A.C.

Failure to include in the turnover audit a statement of total cash 
payments made by the developer to the association.

2

 124. Reserves Section 719.106(1)(j)2., F.S.
Subsection 
61B-76.005(6), F.A.C.

Failure to fund reserves in a timely manner. Failure to fully fund 
reserves.

1

 125. Reserves Section 719.106(1)(j)2., F.S.
Subsections
61B-76.005(6), (8), F.A.C.

Failure to follow proper method to waive or reduce reserve funding. 1

 126. Reserves Section 719.106(1)(j)2., F.S.
Subsection 
61B-76.005(9), F.A.C.

Prior to turnover of control of the association, developer included in 
vote to waive/reduce reserve funding after first two years of operation.

1

 127. Reserves Section 719.106(1)(j)3., F.S.
Subsection 
61B-76.005(7), F.A.C.

Using reserve funds for other purposes without proper unit owner 
approval.

2

 128. Special 
Assessment

Section 719.108(9), F.S. Using special assessment funds for other than intended purposes. 1

 129. Special 
Assessment

Section 719.108(9), F.S. Failure to state purpose of special assessment in the special assessment 
notice.

1

Chapter 61B-78 FAC - Association fee and mailing address; 
cooperative resolution guidelines for unit owner controlled 
associations

61B-78.001 Association fee; mailing address; retrofitting.
(1) The annual fee shall be paid as follows:

(a) The division shall provide to the association an annual fee 
statement. The failure to receive the annual fee statement shall not 
relieve the association of the obligation to pay the fee. Annual fees 
shall be paid online at www.MyFloridaLicense.com or by check or 
money order made payable to Division of Florida Condominiums, 
Timeshares, and Mobile Homes.
(b) If the documents are amended during the year to alter the number 
of units, the association shall pay the annual fee on the highest 
number of units during the year.

(2) The association shall, within 30 days of a change of address, notify 
the division in writing of its new mailing address.
(3) Each association that votes to forego retrofitting of the common 
areas or units of a residential cooperative with a fire sprinkler system, 
handrails, or guardrails, shall report the voting results and certification 
information for each affected cooperative to the division on DBPR Form 
CP 6000-1, Retrofitting Report for Cooperatives, incorporated herein by 
reference and effective 11-30-04. If retrofitting has been undertaken by 
a residential cooperative, the association shall report the per-unit cost 
of such work to the division on DBPR Form CP 6000-1. DBPR Form 
CP 6000-1 must be filed with the division within 60 days of recordation 
of the retrofitting waiver certificate in the public records where the 
cooperative is located or upon commencement of the retrofitting project. 
DBPR Form CP 6000-1 may be obtained by writing the division at 1940 

North Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1030. The division 
shall prepare separate reports of information obtained from associations 
relating to the waiver of a fire sprinkler system and the waiver of 
handrails and guardrails and deliver the reports to the Division of State 
Fire Marshal of the Department of Financial Services no later than 
August 1 of each year.
(4)(a) As provided for by Section 719.1055, F.S., any vote to waive 
a retrofitting requirement shall be held at a duly called meeting of 
the membership, with members voting live and in person, or may be 
conducted without a membership meeting by written consents, or may 
be conducted by a combination of the two with the association counting 
written consents received along with votes cast live and in person at 
a duly called meeting of the membership. Effective October 1, 2004, 
retrofitting requirements related to a fire sprinkler system may also be 
waived by the use of limited proxies cast at a duly called meeting of the 
membership.

(b) The written consent form utilized by the association must contain 
a space for the authorized voter to sign and must identify the unit 
owned. Voting by written consent may be utilized by an association 
regardless of whether the cooperative documents specifically permit 
voting by written consent.

61B-78.002 Definitions and purpose.
(1) Definitions. For the purposes of this rule chapter, the following 
definitions shall apply:

(a) “Accepted complaint” means a complaint received by the 
division from someone with standing to file a complaint containing 
sufficient documentation and addressing a subject within the 
jurisdiction of the division, pursuant to Section 719.501(1), F.S. 
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A complaint that merely recites the statutes or is based on mere 
suspicion or speculation, without a plain statement of facts clearly 
describing what is alleged to have occurred, will not be accepted.
(b) “Affirmative or corrective action” means putting remedial 
procedures in place to ensure that the violation does not recur, 
making any injured person whole as to the harm suffered in 
relation to the violation, or taking any other appropriate measures 
to redress the harm caused.
(c) “Alleged repeated violation” means the same or substantially 
similar recurring conduct cited in an accepted complaint received 
by the division within two years from the resolution of a previous 
complaint, the issuance of a final arbitration order or court order, 
or the entering of a final order by the division regarding that 
conduct.
(d) “Association,” for purposes of these guidelines, shall have the 
same meaning as stated in Section 719.103(2), F.S.
(e) “Bad check” means any worthless check, draft, or order of 
payment identified under Section 68.065, F.S.

(2) Purpose. The purpose of the resolution guidelines is to implement 
the division’s responsibility to ensure compliance with the provisions 
of Chapter 719, F.S., and the division’s administrative rules. The 
division recognizes that unit owner controlled associations are 
comprised of volunteer members who, in most circumstances, are lay 
people without specialized knowledge of the complex statutory and 
administrative rule structure of Chapter 719, F.S. Based upon this 
understanding, the division, as set forth in these rules, will first and 
foremost attempt to seek statutory and rule compliance through an 
educational resolution. For repeated statutory or rule violations, where 
the violations have not been corrected or otherwise resolved by the 
association, the division will seek statutory or rule compliance through 
an enforcement resolution. The guidelines detail the educational and 
enforcement procedures the division will use to seek statutory or 
rule compliance. The guidelines are also intended to implement the 
division’s statutory authority to give reasonable and meaningful notice 
to persons regulated by Chapter 719, F.S., and the administrative 
rules of the range of penalties that normally will be imposed, if an 
enforcement resolution is taken by the division. Finally, the rules are 
intended, pursuant to statutory mandate, to distinguish between minor 
and major violations based upon the potential harm that the violation 
may cause.
(3) These resolution guidelines are promulgated pursuant to the 
division’s authority in Section 719.501(1)(d), (f), and (m), F.S. These 
rules do not preclude the division from imposing affirmative or 
corrective action pursuant to Section 719.501(1)(d)2., F.S. Nothing in 
these rules shall limit the ability of the division to informally dispose 
of administrative actions or complaints by stipulation, settlement 
agreement, or consent order. Rules 61B-78.002, 61B-78.003, and 
61B-78.004, F.A.C., are necessary to explain the division’s education 
and enforcement policies. These rules are not intended to cover, or be 
applied to, violations of Chapter 719, F.S., or the administrative rules 
by a cooperative developer as defined by Section 719.103(16), F.S. 
Such violations shall be strictly governed by the provisions of Chapter 
61B-77, F.A.C., and Section 719.301(5), F.S.

61B-78.003 Educational resolution.
(1) The educational resolution process, as detailed in these rules, is 
only applicable to unit owner controlled associations.
(2) Alleged Initial Violation. An initial accepted complaint, directed at 
an association and involving a possible violation identified as minor in 
these guidelines, will be resolved as follows:
The division will review the matter and will contact the association 
board by letter or telephone regarding the complaint. The division will 
provide educational materials or guidance to the association board 
to assist it with addressing the subject matter of the complaint and 
provide the association with the opportunity to respond. The division 
will notifiy the complainant of the educational resolution and the 
division’s complaint file will be closed.

(3) Alleged Repeated Minor Violations. A subsequent accepted 
complaint that is directed at the same association involving a possible 
violation identified as minor in these guidelines will be resolved as 
follows:
If the division has reasonable cause to believe that a statutory or rule 
violation may have occurred, a Warning Letter will be sent to the 
association. The Warning Letter will give the association 14 calendar 
days in which to address, correct, or dispute the violation. The Warning 
Letter will identify the violation, and provide a contact telephone 
number and an investigator’s name so that the association may contact 
the division for educational assistance or an educational conference in 
obtaining compliance. However, it is solely the responsibility of the 
association to take action, when applicable, to achieve statutory or rule 
compliance. Failure to respond to a Warning Letter, or take affirmative 
or corrective action as requested by the division, will result in the 
division proceeding with an enforcement resolution. The Warning 
Letter shall not be considered final agency action. The division 
will notify the complainant of the resolution of the complaint, or if 
applicable, alternative dispute resolution options.

(4) Alleged Major Violations. An initial accepted complaint that is 
directed at an association and involving a possible violation identified 
as major in these guidelines will be resolved as follows:

If the division has reasonable cause to believe that a statutory or rule 
violation may have occurred, a Warning Letter will be sent to the 
association. The Warning Letter will give the association 14 calendar 
days in which to address, correct, or dispute the violation. The Warning 
Letter will identify the violation, and provide a contact telephone 
number and an investigator’s name so that the association may contact 
the division for educational assistance or an educational conference in 
obtaining compliance. However, it is solely the responsibility of the 
association to take action, when applicable, to achieve statutory or rule 
compliance. Failure to respond to a Warning Letter, or take affirmative 
or corrective action as requested by the division, will result in the 
division proceeding with an enforcement resolution. The Warning 
Letter shall not be considered final agency action. The division 
will notify the complainant of the resolution of the complaint, or if 
applicable, alternative dispute resolution options.

61B-78.004 Enforcement resolution and penalty guidelines.
(1) The division will seek compliance through an enforcement 
resolution for repeated minor or major violations, or for the failure 
to correct or address a violation or provide unit owner redress as 
requested by the division. If the division issues a notice to show 
cause, it will notify the association of its right to a hearing under 
Chapter 120, F.S. The guidelines in this rule section are based upon 
a single count violation of each provision listed. Multiple counts of 
the violated provision or a combination of the listed violations will 
be added together to determine an overall total penalty. Nothing in 
these rules shall limit the ability of the division to informally dispose 
of administrative actions or complaints by stipulation, settlement 
agreement, or consent order.
(2) General provisions.

(a) Rule not all-inclusive. This rule section contains illustrative 
violations. It does not, and is not intended to, encompass all 
possible violations of statute or division rule that might be 
committed by an association. The absence of any violation from 
this rule section shall in no way be construed to indicate that the 
violation does not cause substantial harm or is not subject to a 
penalty. In any instance where the violation is not listed in this rule 
section, the penalty will be determined by consideration of:

1. The closest analogous violation, if any, that is listed in this 
rule section.
2. The mitigating or aggravating factors listed in this rule section.

(b) Violations included. This rule section applies to all statutory and 
rule violations subject to a penalty authorized by Chapter 719, F.S.
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(c) Rule establishes norm. These guidelines do not supersede the 
division’s authority to order an association to cease and desist 
from any unlawful practice, or order other affirmative action in 
situations where the imposition of administrative penalties is 
not adequate. For example, notwithstanding the specification 
of relatively smaller penalties for particular violations, the 
division will suspend the imposition of a penalty and impose 
other remedies where aggravating or mitigating factors warrant 
it. If an enforcement resolution is utilized, the total penalty to be 
assessed shall be calculated according to these guidelines or $100, 
whichever amount is greater.
(d) Description of violations. Although the violations in Rule 
61B-78.004, F.A.C., include specific references to statutes and 

administrative rules, the violations are described in general 
language and are not necessarily stated in the same language that 
would be used to formally allege a violation in a specific case. 
If any statutory or rule citation in Rule 61B-78.004, F.A.C., is 
changed, then the use of the previous statutory citation will not 
invalidate this rule section.

(3) Aggravating and mitigating factors. The division will consider 
aggravating and mitigating factors, which will reduce or increase the 
penalty amounts within the specified range, in determining penalties 
for both minor and major violations listed in this rule section. No 
aggravating factors will be applied to increase a penalty for a single 
violation above the statutory maximum of $5,000. The factors shall be 
applied against each single count of the listed violation.

(a) Aggravating factors:
No. Description
1. Filing or causing to be filed any materially incorrect document in response to any division request or subpoena.
2. Financial loss to parties or persons affected by the violation.
3. Financial gain to parties or persons responsible for the violation.
4. The disciplinary history of the association, including such action resulting in an enforcement resolution as detailed in Rule 61B-78.004, 

F.A.C., or Section 719.501, F.S.
5. The violation caused substantial harm to unit owners, other persons, or entities.
6. The violation occurred for a long period of time.
7. The violation was repeated within 2 years.
8. The association impeded the division’s investigation or authority.

(b) Mitigating factors:
No. Description
1. The violation or harm was related to a natural or manmade disaster(s).
2. Financial hardship to respondent.
3. The violation caused no harm to unit owners, other persons, or entities.
4. The violation occurred despite reliance on written professional or expert counsel advice.
5. The association took affirmative or corrective action before it received the division’s written notification of the violation.
6. The association expeditiously took affirmative or corrective action after it received the division’s written notification of the violation.
7. The association cooperated with the division during the investigation.

(4) The provisions of this rule section shall not be construed so as to 
prohibit or limit any other civil or criminal prosecution that may be 
brought.
(5) The imposition of a penalty does not preclude the division from 
imposing additional sanctions or remedies provided under Chapter 
719, F.S.
(6) In addition to the penalties established in this rule section, the 
division reserves the right to seek to recover any other costs, penalties, 
attorney’s fees, court costs, service fees, collection costs, and damages 
allowed by law. Additionally, the division reserves the right to seek 
to recover any costs, penalties, attorney’s fees, court costs, service 
fees, collection costs, and damages imposed by law if an association 
submits a bad check to the division.
(7) Penalties.

(a) Minor violations. The following violations shall be considered 
minor due to their lower potential for public harm. If an 

enforcement resolution is utilized, the division shall impose a 
civil penalty between $1 and $5 per unit for each minor violation. 
The penalty will be assessed beginning with the middle of the 
specified range and adjusted either up or down based upon any 
accepted aggravating or mitigating factors submitted with proper 
documentation. An occurrence of six or more aggravating factors 
or five or more mitigating factors will result in a penalty being 
assessed outside of the specified range. The total penalty to be 
assessed shall be calculated according to these guidelines or $100, 
whichever amount is greater. In no event shall a penalty of more 
than $2,500 be imposed for a single violation. The enumeration of 
violations is descriptive only; the full language of each statutory 
and rule provision cited must be consulted in order to determine 
the conduct included in the violation. The following are identified 
as minor violations:

No. Category Statute or rule cite Description of conduct/violation

1. Assessment Section 719.108(6), F.S. Failure to provide within 15 days a certificate stating all assessments 
and other moneys owed to the association by the unit owner with 
respect to the cooperative parcel.

2. Board Section 719.1055(4)(b), F.S. Failure to include the full text showing underlined or strikethrough 
language in the proposed amendment to the cooperative documents. 
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3. Board Section 719.1035(1), F.S. Failure to maintain corporate status of the association.
4. Board Section 719.106(1)(a)3., F.S. Failure to provide a timely or substantive response to a written inquiry 

received by certified mail.
5. Board Section 719.106(1)(b)1., F.S. Action taken at unit owner meeting without quorum.
6. Board Section 719.106(1)(c), F.S. Failure to properly notice and conduct board of administration or 

committee meetings. Notice failed to indicate assessment would be 
considered. Failure to maintain affidavit by person who gave notice 
of special assessment meeting. Failure to ratify emergency action at 
next meeting. Failure to adopt a rule regarding posting of notices. 
Failure to notice meeting. Action on item not on agenda. Notice did not 
include agenda. Failure to allow unit owners to speak or unreasonably 
restricting the frequency, duration, or manner of unit owner statements 
at meeting. Failure to allow unit owner to attend meeting.

7. Board Section 719.106(1)(d), F.S. Failure to provide notice of the annual meeting not less than 14 days 
prior to the meeting. Failure to include agenda. Failure to maintain 
affidavit by person who gave notice of annual meeting. Failure to adopt 
a rule designating a specific place for posting notice of unit-owner 
meetings.

8. Board Section 719.106(1)(d)2., F.S. Permitting unit owner action by written agreement without express 
authority from Chapter 719, F.S., or the cooperative governing 
documents.

9. Board Section 719.106(1)(h), F.S. Failure to include the full text showing underlined or strikethrough 
language in the proposed amendment to the bylaws.

10. Board Section 719.3026(1), F.S. Failure to obtain competitive bids on contracts that exceed five percent of the 
association’s budget.

11. Board Section 719.106(1)(b)5., F.S. Failure to provide a speaker phone for board or committee meetings held by 
teleconference.

12. Board Section 719.106(1)(c), F.S.
Rule 61B-75.004, F.A.C.

Failure to allow a unit owner to tape record or video tape meetings.

13. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(e), F.S. Failure to timely notice budget meeting. Failure to timely deliver proposed 
budget.

14. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(e)2., F.S. Failure of board to call a unit owners’ meeting to consider alternate budget.
15. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(j)1., F.S. 

Section 719.504(20)(c), F.S.
Failure to include applicable line items in proposed budget.

16. Budgets Paragraph 61B-76.003(1)(b), F.A.C. Failure to disclose the beginning and ending dates of the period covered by the 
budget.

17. Budgets Paragraph 61B-76.003(1)(c), F.A.C. Failure to disclose periodic assessments for each unit type in proposed budget.
18. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(8), F.A.C. Failure to provide space for name, unit number, and signature on outer 

envelope.
19. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(9), F.A.C. Failure to list candidates alphabetically by surname on the ballot.
20. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(b), F.A.C. Improper verification of outer envelopes.
21. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)2., F.S. Failure to maintain a copy of the cooperative documents.
22. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)5., F.S. Failure to maintain a current and complete unit owner roster.
23. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)12., F.S. Failure to maintain or annually update the question and answer sheet.
24. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)13., F.S. Failure to maintain other association records related to the operation of the 

association.
25. Records Section 719.104(8)(b), F.S. Failure to record a vote or an abstention in the minutes for each board member 

present at the board meeting.
26. Records Subsection 61B-76.003(3), F.A.C. Failure to reflect the adoption of the budget in meeting minutes.
27. Reporting Subparagraph 61B-76.006(3)(a)5., 

F.A.C.
Failure to disclose in the annual financial statements the manner by which 
reserve items were estimated and/or the date the estimates were last made.

28. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(3)(b), F.A.C. Failure to disclose the method of allocating income and expenses in the annual 
financial statements.
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(b) Major Violations. The following violations shall be considered 
major due to their increased potential for public harm. If an 
enforcement resolution is utilized, the penalty will be assessed 
beginning with the middle of the specified range and adjusted either 
up or down based upon any accepted aggravating or mitigating factors 
submitted with proper documentation. An occurrence of six or more 
aggravating factors or five or more mitigating factors will result in 
a penalty being assessed outside of the specified range. The total 
penalty to be assessed shall be calculated according to these guidelines 

or $100, whichever amount is greater. In no event shall a penalty of 
more than $5,000 be imposed for a single violation. The enumeration 
of violations is descriptive only; the full language of each statutory 
and rule provision cited must be consulted in order to determine the 
conduct included in the violation. The penalties for each violation are 
as follows:
Level 1: $6 – $10 per unit.
Level 2: $12 – $20 per unit.

No. Category Statute or Rule Cite Description of Conduct/Violation Penalty Level
1. Accounting

Records
Section 719.104(2)(a)9., F.S. Insufficient or incomplete accounting records. 2

2. Assessing Section 719.106(1)(g), F.S. Failure to assess at sufficient amounts to meet expenses. 1
3. Assessing Section 719.106(1)(g), F.S. Collecting assessments less frequently than quarterly. 1
4. Assessing Section 719.107(2), F.S. Failure to assess based upon the shares stated in the cooperative 

documents.
2

5. Assessing Section 719.108(3), F.S. Failure to charge interest on past due assessments. 2
6. Assessing Sections 719.108(1), (8), F.S. Developer or other owner improperly excused from paying 

assessments.
2

7. Board Section 719.104(3), F.S. Failure to insure the association property. 2
8. Board Section 719.104(5), F.S. Improper use fee. 1
9. Board Section 719.104(8)(b), F.S. Use of proxies or improper use of secret ballots by board 

members at a board meeting.
1

10. Board Section 719.105, F.S.

Section 719.109(1), F.S.

Unit owner denied access to unit or to common areas. 1

11. Board Section 719.1055, F.S. Improperly amending the cooperative documents. 2
12. Board Subsection 61B-75.005(13), F.A.C. Improperly filling a vacancy of an unexpired term on the board. 1
13. Board Section 719.106(1)(a)1., F.S. Compensating officers or members of the board without express 

authority from the cooperative governing documents.
2

14. Board Section 719.106(1), F.S. Allowing ineligible person to serve on board of administration. 2
15. Board Section 719.106(1)(b)2., F.S. Improper use of general proxies. Use of non-conforming limited 

proxies.
1

16. Board Section 719.106(1)(c), F.S. Excluding unit owners from board or committee meetings. 1
17. Board Section 719.106(1)(d), F.S. Failure to hold annual meeting. 2
18. Board Section 719.106(1)(f), F.S. Improper removal of board member. 1
19. Board Section 719.106(1)(h), F.S. Improperly amending the association bylaws. 2
20. Board Section 719.106(1)(i), F.S. Requiring transfer fees or security deposits without express 

authority from the cooperative governing documents. Requiring 
excessive transfer fees.

1

21. Board Section 719.106(1)(k), F.S. Failure to maintain adequate fidelity bonding for all persons who 
control or disburse association funds.

2

22. Board Section 719.108(3), F.S. Levying late fees without express authority from the cooperative 
governing documents.

1

23. Board Section 719.115(3), F.S. Failure to notify, or timely notify, unit owners of legal action. 1
24. Board Sections 719.303(3), (4), (5), (6), 

F.S.
Imposing fines without proper notice. Imposing excessive fines. 
Improper suspension of use rights and voting rights; failure to 
provide proper notice.

1

25. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(e), F.S. Failure to propose/adopt budget for a given year. 2
26. Budgets Subparagraph 61B-76.003(1)(e)5., 

F.A.C.
Failure to disclose converter reserve funding. 1

27. Budgets Paragraphs 61B-76.003(1)(e), (f), 
(g), F.A.C.

Failure to include reserve schedule in the proposed budget.  1

28. Budgets Paragraphs 61B-76.003(1)(e), (f), 
F.A.C.Subsection 61B-76.005(1), 
F.A.C.

Failure to include a required reserve item in proposed budget. 1
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29. Budgets Section 719.106(1)(j)2., F.S.  
Subsection 61B-76.005(3), F.A.C.

Improper calculation of reserve requirements. 1

30. Commingle Section 719.104(7), F.S. Commingling association funds with non-association funds. 2
31. Commingle Section 719.104(7), F.S. Association funds deposited in account not in association’s 

name.
1

32. Commingle Section 719.104(7), F.S.  
Subsection 61B-76.005(2), F.A.C.

Commingling reserve funds with operating funds. 1

33. Common

Expenses

Section 719.107(1), F.S. Using association funds for other than common expenses. 2

34. Converter 
Reserves

Section 719.618(3)(b), F.S. Improper use of converter reserves. 1

35. Converter 
Reserves

Subparagraph  
61B-76.003(1)(e)5., F.A.C.

Failure to include converter reserve disclosures in the proposed 
budget.

1

36. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d), F.S. 
Subsection 61B-75.005(2), F.A.C.

Failure to hold election. 2

37. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(2), F.A.C. Election not held at time and place of annual meeting. 1
38. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1., F.S.  

Subsection 61B-75.005(3), F.A.C.
Use of nomination procedures in an election. 2

39. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S. 
Subsection 61B-75.005(4), F.A.C.

Failure to provide, or timely provide, first notice of election. 2

40. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S. 
Subsection 61B-75.005(5), F.A.C.

Ballot included candidate who did not timely submit notice of 
candidacy.

2

41. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(6), F.A.C. Failure to provide candidate a receipt for personally delivered 
written notice of candidacy. 

1

42. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S. 
Subsections 61B-75.005(7), (8), 
F.A.C.

Failure to provide, or timely provide, second notice of election 
or omitting ballots, envelopes, and candidate information sheets.

2

43. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(7), F.A.C. Distributing candidate information sheets consisting of more 
than one page.

1

44. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(8), F.A.C. Voters allowed to rescind or change their previously cast ballots. 1
45. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(8), F.A.C. Second notice of election included comments by board about 

candidates.
2

46. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S. 
Subsection 61B-75.005(7), F.A.C.

Association altered or edited candidate information sheets. 2

47. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1., F.S. Failure to use ballots or voting machines. 2
48. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(a), 

F.A.C.
Inner envelopes not placed in separate receptacle before being 
opened.

2

49. Elections Section 719.106(1)(d)1.a., F.S. 
Subsection 61B-75.005(9), F.A.C.

Failure to include all timely submitted names of eligible candi-
dates on the ballot.

2

50. Elections Subsection 61B75.005(9), F.A.C. Ballots not uniform. Ballots identify voter. Ballots included 
space for write-in candidate.

2

51. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(10), F.A.C. Outer envelopes not checked against list of eligible voters. 1
52. Elections Paragraphs 61B-75.005(10)(a), (b), 

F.A.C.
Counting ineligible ballots. 1

53. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(a), 
F.A.C.

Failure to count properly cast ballots. 1

54. Elections Subsection 61B-75.005(10), F.A.C. Outer envelopes opened prior to election meeting. Outer enve-
lopes not opened in presence of unit owners.

2

55. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(a), 
F.A.C.

Not counting ballots in the presence of unit owners. 2

56. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(a), 
F.A.C.

Ballots not counted by impartial committee. 1

57. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(b), 
F.A.C.

Failure to notice meeting to verify outer envelope information. 1

58. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(c), 
F.A.C.

Failure to hold, or timely hold, runoff election. 2
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59. Elections Paragraph 61B-75.005(10)(a), 
F.A.C.

No blank ballots available at election meeting. 2

60. Final Order Section 719.501(1)(d)4., F.S. Failure to comply with final order of the division. 2
61. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)4., F.S. Failure to maintain minutes of meetings. 1
62. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)6., F.S. Failure to maintain a copy of a current insurance policy. 1
63. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)7., F.S. Failure to maintain copy of management agreement or other 

contract under which the association has obligations.
1

64. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)8., F.S. Failure to maintain bills of sale or transfer. 1
65. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)10., F.S. Failure to maintain election or voting materials for one year. 1
66. Records Section 719.104(2)(a)11., F.S. Failure to maintain rental records. 1
67. Records Section 719.104(2)(c), F.S.

Section 719.107(1)(a), F.S.

Requiring a unit owner to pay a fee for access to association 
records.

1

68. Records Section 719.104(2)(b), F.S. Failure to maintain records within Florida. 2
69. Records Sections 719.104(2)(b), (c), F.S. Failure to provide access to records. Failure to allow scanning or 

copying of records.
1

70. Records Section 719.104(2)(e), F.S. Failure of outgoing board or committee member to relinquish all 
official records and property of the association in his or her pos-
session or under his or her control to the incoming board within 
5 days after the election.

2

71. Reporting Section 719.104(4), F.S.Subsections 
61B-76.006(6), (8), F.A.C.

Failure to provide, or timely provide, the annual financial report 
or statements.

2

72. Reporting Subsection 61B-76.006(1), F.A.C. Failure to prepare annual financial statements using fund ac-
counting. Failure to prepare annual financial statements on 
accrual basis.

1

73. Reporting Section 719.104(4)(a), F.S. 
Subsection 61B-76.006(1), F.A.C.

Failure to prepare annual financial statements in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Failure to 
have reviewed or audited annual financial statements prepared 
by a Florida licensed CPA.

2

74. Reporting Subsection 61B-76.006(2), F.A.C. Failure to include one or more components of the annual finan-
cial statements (incomplete).

1

75. Reporting Subparagraphs  
61B-76.006(3)(a)1.-5., F.A.C.

Failure to make significant reserve fund disclosures in the annual 
financial statement.

1

76. Reporting Subparagraph  
61B-76.006(3)(a)6., F.A.C.

Failure to include converter reserve disclosures in the annual 
financial statements.

1

77. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(5)(c), F.A.C. Failure to include converter reserve disclosures in the annual 
financial report.

1

78. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(5)(c), F.A.C. Failure to include the required reserve fund disclosures in the 
annual financial report.

1

79. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(3)(c), F.A.C. Failure to include the special assessment disclosures in the an-
nual financial statements.

1

80. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(3)(d), F.A.C. Incomplete or missing guarantee disclosures in the annual finan-
cial statements.

1

81. Reporting Paragraph 61B-76.006(5)(a), F.A.C. Failure to prepare the annual financial report on a cash basis. 1
82. Reporting Section 719.104(4)(c), F.S.Paragraph 

61B-76.006(5)(b), F.A.C.
Failure to include in the annual financial report specified receipt 
or expenditure items.

1

83. Reporting Subsection 61B-76.006(8), F.A.C. Providing lower level of annual financial reporting than required. 2
84. Reserves Section 719.106(1)(j)2., F.S. Sub-

section 61B-76.005(6), F.A.C.
Failure to fund reserves in a timely manner. Failure to fully fund 
reserves.

1

85. Reserves Section 719.106(1)(j)2., F.S.Subsections 
61B-76.005(6), (8), F.A.C.

Failure to follow proper method to waive or reduce reserve funding. 1

86. Reserves Section 719.106(1)(j)3., 
F.S.Subsection 61B-76.005(7), F.A.C.

Using reserve funds for other purposes without proper unit 
owner approval.

2

87. Special 
Assessment

Section 719.108(9), F.S. Using special assessment funds for other than intended purposes. 1

88. Special 
Assessment

Section 719.108(9), F.S. Failure to state purpose of special assessment in the special a 
ssessment notice.

1
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Chapter 61E-14
The 2015 legislative session resulted in a number of significant 
changes to Chapter 61E-14 FAC, Regulation of Community 
Association Managers (formerly Chapter 61-20 FAC).   Community 
association managers should ensure they are familiar and compliant 
with new regulations regarding professional conduct, continuing 
education, and notice of non-compliance. 

The table below shows how Chapter 61E-14 is organized, followed 
by the current text for Chapter 61E FAC, as of the end of the 2015 
legislative session. New sections of Chapter 61E are indicated in  
bold. To review an up-to-date version of the FAC at any time, see 
https://www.flrules.org/gateway/Division.asp?DivID=835.  

Chapter 61E Regulation of Community Association Managers
61E14-1 Licensure

61E14-2
Professional conduct 
61e14-2.001 Standards of professional conduct 
effective: 02/04/2015

61E14-3 Fees and assessments

61E14-4

Continuing education 
61E14-4.001 Continuing education renewal requirements  
Effective: 05/18/2015
61E14-4.004 Reactivation continuing education
Effective: 05/18/2015

61E14-5
Disciplinary guidelines 
61E14-5.003 Notice of Non-Compliance 
Effective: 09/30/15

Chapter 61E14-1 FAC - Licensure
61E14-1.001 Prelicensure education requirements.
(1) All community association manager applicants mustsatisfactorily 
complete a minimum of 18 in-person classroom hours of instruction 
of 50 minutes each within 12 months prior to the date of examination. 
No applicant shall be allowed to take the licensure examination unless 
the applicant provides documentation of completion of the requisite 
prelicensure education. Each contact hour shall consist of at least 50 
minutes of classroom instruction.
(2) The 18 hours of prelicensure education shall be comprised of 
courses in the following areas:

(a) State and federal laws relating to the operation of all types of 
community associations, governing documents, and state laws 
relating to corporations and nonprofit corporations – 20%;
(b) Procedure for noticing and conducting community association 
meetings – 25%;
(c) Preparation of Community Association Budgets and 
Community Association Finances – 25%;
(d) Insurance matters relating to Community Associations – 12%; 
(e) Management and maintenance – 18%;

(3) Applicants who can document to the Council that they suffer from 
a disability or hardship shall be permitted to complete prelicensure 
education by either correspondence or on-line courses. Such 
documentation must be received and approved by the Council prior to 
enrolling and completing any correspondence or on-line prelicensure 
courses.

(a) The following shall constitute acceptable “hardships” as used 
in this rule:

1. The applicant’s residence is more than 70 miles from the 
nearest physical location where prelicensure education is 
taught.
2. Providers are not offering any in-person prelicensure 
education courses within the twelve months preceding the next 
available examination.

(b) “Disability” as used in this rule shall mean a physical or mental 
impairment that substantially limits one or more of the major life 
activities of the applicant which would preclude the applicant from 
attending in-person prelicensure courses.

61E14-1.002 Examination for manager’s license 
(1) An examination candidate must achieve a scaled score of 75 or 
higher in order to achieve a passing grade on the examination.

(2) The examination for a community association manager’s license 
as approved by the Council must test the applicant’s knowledge of the 
subjects in subsection 61E14-1.001(2) FAC, with the corresponding 
approximate percentages of questions to the examination as a whole.

61E14-1.003 Reexamination 
If an examination candidate fails to achieve a passing grade on the 
examination, the candidate may re-apply in writing for reexamination 
with the (appropriate fees) fees provided in Rule 61E14-3.001 FAC 
An examination candidate may only apply for reexamination within 
one year from the date of certification of the original application for a 
community association manager’s license by the Department.

61E14-1.004 Examination review
(1) The Council hereby adopts by reference Rule 61-11.017 FAC, as its 
rule governing examination review.
(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of Rule 61-11.017 FAC, examination 
reviews may also be conducted at other times and places as established 
by the Department. For purposes of this rule, a representative of the 
Department conducting the examination review shall also include a 
representative of the contract vendor for the examination.

Chapter 61E14-2 FAC - Professional conduct
61E14-2.001 Standards of Professional Conduct.
Licensees shall adhere to the following provisions, standards of 
professional conduct, and such provisions and standards shall be 
deemed automatically incorporated, as duties of all licensees, into 
any written or oral agreement for the rendition of community 
association management services.
(1) Definitions. As used in this rule, the following definitions apply:

(a) “Licensee” means a person licensed pursuant to Sections 
468.432(1) and (2), F.S.
(b) “Community Association Management Services” means 
performing any of the practices requiring specialized 
knowledge, judgment, and management skill as defined in 
Section 468.431(2), F.S.
(c) “Funds” as used in this rule includes money and negotiable 
instruments including checks, notes and securities.

(2) Professional standards. During the performance of community 
association management services, a licensee shall do the following:

(a) Comply with the requirements of the governing documents 
by which a community association is created or operated.
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(b) Only deposit or disburse funds received by the community 
association manager or management firm on behalf of the 
association for the specific purpose or purposes designated by 
the board of directors, community association management 
contract or the governing documents of the association.
(c) Perform all community association management services 
required by the licensee’s contract to professional standards 
and to the standards established by Section 468.4334(1), F.S. 
(d) In the event of a potential conflict of interest, provide 
full disclosure to the association and obtain authorization or 
approval.

(3) Records. During the performance of community association 
management services pursuant to a contract with a community 
association, a licensee shall not:

(a) Withhold possession of the association’s official records, in 
violation of Sections 718.111(12), 719.104(2) or 720.303(5), F.S., 
or original books, records, accounts, funds, or other property 
of a community association when requested by the association 
to deliver the same to the association upon reasonable 
notice. Reasonable notice shall extend no later than 10 business 
days after termination of any management or employment 
agreement and receipt of a written request from the 
association. The manager may retain those records necessary 

for up to 20 days to complete an ending financial statement or 
report. Failure of the association to provide access or retention 
of accounting records to prepare the statement or report shall 
relieve the manager of any further responsibility or liability 
for preparation of the statement or report. The provisions of 
this rule apply regardless of any contractual or other dispute 
between the licensee and the association.
(b) Deny or delay access to association official records to an 
owner or his or her authorized representative who is entitled to 
access within the timeframe and under the procedures set out 
in Sections 718.111(12), 719.104(2) or 720.303(5), F.S.
(c) Create false records or alter the official records of an 
association in violation of Sections 718.111(12), 719.104(2) 
or 720.303(4), F.S., or of the licensee except in such cases 
where an alteration is permitted by law (e.g., the correction of 
minutes per direction given at a meeting at which the minutes 
are submitted for approval).
(d) Fail to maintain the records for a community association 
manager or management firm or the official records of any 
applicable association, as required by Sections 718.111(12), 
719.104(2) or 720. 303(4), F.S. 

Chapter 61E14-3FAC - Fees and assessments
61E14-3.001 Fees.

The following fees are adopted by the Council: Fee amount
(1) Application fee for a Community Association Manager’s License   $50.00
(2) Fingerprint processing fee    $47.00
(3) Examination fee: When the examination is not conducted by a professional testing service pursuant to Section 
455.2171 FS, $100.00 payable to the Department. When the examination is conducted by a professional testing service 
pursuant to Section 455.2171 FS.

$73.00 payable to 
the Department plus 
$27.00 payable to 
the testing service.

(4) Re-examination fee: When the examination is not conducted by a professional testing service pursuant to Section 
455.2171 FS, $100.00 payable to the Department. When the examination is conducted by a professional testing service 
pursuant to Section 455.2171 FS.

$73.00 payable to 
the Department 
$27.00 payable to 
the testing service.

(5) Examination review fee    $50.00
(6) Initial license fee $100.00
(7) Renewal fees.

(a) The biennial renewal fee for a licensee renewing as active $100.00
(b) The biennial renewal fee for a licensee renewing as inactive $100.00

(8) Delinquent license fee. A delinquent status licensee shall pay a delinquent license fee when the licensee applies for 
active or inactive status

$50.00

(9) Unlicensed activity fee for initial licensure and license renewal $5.00
(10) Reactivation fee for reactivating an inactive license $25.00
(11) Change of status processing fee. A licensee shall pay a change of status processing fee to change the licensee’s status 
at any time other than the beginning of a licensure period.

$15.00

(12) Duplicate license fee in event of loss or destruction $25.00
(13) Application fee for continuing education providers $250.00
(14) The renewal fee for continuing education providers $250.00
(15) Application fee for prelicensure education providers $250.00
(16) The renewal fee for prelicensure education providers $250.00

61E14-3.002 Special assessment.
(1) Each Community Association Manager licensee licensed on or 
before January 1, 2002, whether active or inactive, shall pay a special 
assessment fee of $200.00 to the Department. Payment of the fee must 
be received by the Department no later than 5:00 p.m. on September 
30, 2002.

(2) The special assessment fee applies to all licensees including those 
whose licenses have been suspended and/or placed on probation by the 
Department.
(3) Failure to pay the special assessment fee as required above shall 
constitute grounds for disciplinary action. Licensees who fail to pay 
the special assessment fee as required above shall be charged with 
violating Section 468.436(1)(b)2. FS.
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Chapter 61E14-4 FAC - Continuing education.
61E14-4.001 Continuing Education Renewal Requirements.
(1) All community association manager licensees must 
satisfactorily complete a minimum of 20 hours of continuing 
education per biennial renewal cycle. Each hour shall consist 
of 50 minutes of student involvement in approved classroom, 
correspondence, interactive, distance education or internet 
courses. No license shall be renewed unless the licensee has 
completed the required continuing education.
(2) Only continuing education courses approved by the Council 
shall be valid for purposes of licensee renewal.
(3) The required 20 hours of continuing education shall be 
comprised of courses approved pursuant to Rule 61E14-4.003, 
F.A.C., in the following areas:

(a) 4 hours of legal update seminars. The legal update seminars 
shall consist of instruction regarding changes to Chapters 455, 
468, Part VIII, 617, 718, 719, 720, and 721, F.S., and other 
legislation, case law, and regulations impacting community 
association management. Licensees shall not be awarded 
continuing education credit for completing the same legal 
update seminar more than once even if the seminars were 
taken during different years. 
(b) 4 hours of instruction on insurance and financial 
management topics relating to community association 
management.
(c) 4 hours of instruction on the operation of the community 
association’s physical property.
(d)4 hours of instruction on human resources topics relating to 
community association management. Human resources topics 
include, but are not limited to, disaster preparedness, employee 
relations, and communications skills for effectively dealing 
with residents and vendors.
(e) 4 hours of additional instruction in any area described in 
paragraph (3)(b), (c) or (d) of this rule or in any course or 
courses directly related to the management or administration 
of community associations.

(4) No licensee will receive credit, for purposes of meeting the 
continuing education requirement, for completing the same 
continuing education course more than once during a biennial 
renewal cycle.
(5) Course instructors may receive continuing education credit 
hours in the amount of hours approved by the Council for 
licensees only once every biennial renewal cycle for each approved 
course taught by the instructor.
(6) Anyone licensed for more than 24 months at renewal time 
will be required to have complied with the continuing education 
requirements set forth in subsection (1), above, prior to license 
renewal. “More than 24 months” means 24 months plus 1 
day. Licensees licensed for 24 months or less at renewal time 
are exempt from compliance with the continuing education 
requirements set forth in subsection (1) above, until the end of the 
next renewal cycle.

61E14-4.002 Continuing education provider approval 
(1) A continuing education provider is a person or entity approved 
pursuant to this rule to conduct continuing education courses for 
community association managers.
(2) Entities or individuals who wish to become approved providers 
of continuing professional education shall make application to the 
Council, on Forms DBPR 0020-1 – Master Organization Application 
(Eff. 05/10), DBPR 0060-1 – General Explanatory Description (Eff. 
05/10), and DBPR CAM-4302 – Continuing Education Provider and 
Course Approval Application (Rev. 05/10), all of which are hereby 
incorporated by reference into this rule. These forms are available 
as a single application packet with instructions, a copy of which 

may be obtained from the Department’s website at https://www.
myfloridalicense.com/intentions2.asp?SID=&page=intentions2.asp.
(3) Each provider application shall contain the following information, 
and shall be accompanied by the following documentation and other 
information as required by the Council:

(a) The name, address, telephone number, fax number, and e-mail 
address of a contact person who will fulfill the reporting and 
documentation requirements for provider approval. The provider 
shall notify the Council of any change of contact person within ten 
(10) days of the actual change.
(b) The identity and qualifications of all instructors who will 
be presenting courses during the period of providership. These 
qualifications at a minimum shall include instructional experience and:

1. A bachelor’s degree and 2 years experience in the subject 
matter being taught; or
2. An associate’s degree and 4 years experience in the subject 
matter being taught; or
3. Six years experience in the subject matter being taught.

Should additional instructors be added during the period of 
providership, the provider shall notify the Council in writing of 
the new instructor’s qualifications at least 30 days prior to actually 
conducting the course.

(c) The appropriate continuing education provider application fee 
pursuant to subsection 61E14-3.001(13) FAC.

(4) Continuing education provider status shall be valid from the date 
of approval until May 31 of every odd numbered year. Providers 
may renew their provider status within 90 days of May 31 of the odd 
numbered year. Those seeking renewal of provider status must reapply 
in a format acceptable to the Council and submit the appropriate 
renewal fee pursuant to subsection 61E14-3.001(14) FAC. Providers 
who fail to renew their provider status on a timely basis in accordance 
with this rule shall not offer or advertise a course as an approved 
course for continuing education. Renewal of provider status shall be 
for a two year period until May 31 of the next odd numbered year.
(5) Once approved, providers shall comply with the following 
requirements:

(a) When advertising approved courses, providers shall disclose 
the course approval number and the number of contact hours 
assigned by the Council and the course subject area. Providers 
shall not advertise courses as approved courses until they are 
actually approved by the Council. 
(b) Providers shall maintain a system of recordkeeping which 
provides for storage of approved course offerings information.
(c) Records of individual courses shall be maintained by the 
provider for 6 years and shall be available for inspection by the 
Council and the Department or the Department’s designee.
(d) An attendance record shall be maintained by the provider for 
6 years and shall be available for inspection by the Council and 
the Department or the Department’s designee. Providers must 
electronically provide to the Department a list of attendees taking 
a course within five (5) business days of the completion of the 
course. For home study courses, the provider must electronically 
supply the list of those individuals successfully completing the 
course by the 5th of the month following the calendar month 
in which the provider received documentation and was able 
to determine the successful completion of the course by the 
individual. The list and a certificate of attendance provided to the 
participant shall include the provider’s name, the name and license 
number of the attendee, the date the course was completed and 
course approval number and the total number of hours successfully 
completed in each type of continuing education credit granted as 
described in subsection 61E14-4.001(3) FAC. If the instructor is 
receiving credit as set forth in subsection 61E14-4.001(5) FAC, the 
instructor shall be listed as an attendee with the same information 
required above. Providers shall maintain security of attendance 
records and certificates.
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(e) All information or documentation, including electronic 
course rosters, submitted to the Council or the Department 
shall be submitted in a format acceptable to the Council and 
the Department. Failure to comply with the time and form 
requirements will result in disciplinary action taken against the 
provider. No provider may reapply for continuing education 
provider status until at least two (2) years have elapsed since the 
entry of the final order against the provider.
(f) Providers shall assure that sales presentations shall not be 
conducted during, immediately before or after the administration 
of any courses approved pursuant to this rule.

(6) A continuing education provider initially approved during the 
last 90 days prior to May 31 of an odd numbered year, shall not be 
required to reapply as a condition for renewing provider status.
(7) The Council shall deny continuing education provider status to any 
applicant who submits false, misleading or deceptive information or 
documentation to the Council.
(8) The Council retains the right and authority to audit courses offered 
by any provider approved pursuant to this rule.
(9) The Council shall rescind the provider status or reject individual 
courses offered by a provider if the provider disseminates any false or 
misleading information in connection with the continuing education 
course, or if the provider or its instructor(s) failed to conform to and 
abide by the rules of the Council or the Department or are in violation 
of any of the provisions of Chapter 468, Part VIII or 455 FS.
(10) The Council shall utilize expert groups or individuals as 
appropriate in implementing these rules.

61E14-4.003 Continuing education course approval 
(1) Continuing education courses shall be valid for purposes of the 
continuing education requirement only if such courses have been 
approved by the Council. The Council shall approve a course as a 
continuing education course for the purpose of this rule when the 
following requirements are met:

(a) Application for course approval shall be received by the 
Council prior to the date the course is offered, on Forms DBPR 
0020-1 – Master Organization Application (Eff. 05/10), DBPR 
0060-1 – General Explanatory Description (Eff. 05/10), and 
DBPR CAM-4302 – Continuing Education Provider and Course 
Approval Application (Rev. 05/10). These forms are available 
as a single application packet with instructions, a copy of which 
may be obtained from the Department’s website at https://www.
myfloridalicense.com/intentions2.asp?SID=&page=intentions2.asp.
(b) A course outline is submitted to the Council, along with the 
application, which describes the course’s content and subject 
matter. A course outline shall address the following:

1. Learner objectives. Objectives shall describe expected 
learner outcomes, how learner outcomes will be evaluated, and 
describe how the objectives will be obtained. The objectives 
shall describe the content, teaching methodology and plan for 
evaluation.
2. Subject matter. The content shall be specifically designed 
to meet the objectives and the stated level and learning needs 
of community association managers. Specifically, it shall 
address one or more of the subject areas outlined in subsection 
61E14-4.001(3) FAC.
3. Materials and methods. It shall be demonstrated to the 
Council that:

a. Learning experiences and teaching methods are 
appropriate to achieve the objectives;
b. Time allotted for each activity shall be sufficient for the 
learner to meet the objectives;
c. Principles of adult education are utilized in determining 
teaching strategies and learning activities; and
d. Currency and accuracy of subject matter will be 
documented by references or bibliography.

4. Evaluation. Participants are given an opportunity to 
evaluate learning experiences, instructional methods, facilities 
and resources used for the course.

(c) A list of all instructors for the course, which shall include 
names, addresses, e-mail addresses and telephone numbers, shall 
accompany the course approval application.
(d) The course approval application must be accompanied by an 
approved provider number or the applicant must simultaneously 
apply for continuing education provider status pursuant to Rule 
61E14-4.002 FAC. 

(2) The course provider shall submit to the Council a sample 
continuing education course certificate of completion that complies 
with paragraph 61E14-4.002(5)(d) FAC., that is given to each course 
participant if the participant completes the course. In addition to the 
information required by paragraph 61E14-4.002(5)(d) FAC., the 
certificate shall be provided to the course participant at the completion 
of the course. The certificate of completion shall contain, on its face, 
the following statement in capital letters in at least 12 point type:

IF YOU HAVE ANY CONCERNS THAT THE COURSE YOU 
HAVE JUST COMPLETED DID NOT MEET THE LEARNING 
OBJECTIVES SET OUT IN THE COURSE MATERIALS, DID 
NOT COVER THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE COURSE, OR 
WAS A SALES PRESENTATION; PLEASE CONTACT THE 
COUNCIL’S OFFICE IN WRITING AT: DEPARTMENT OF 
BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONAL REGULATION
REGULATORY COUNCIL OF COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION 
MANAGERS, 1940 NORTH MONROE STREET, 
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1040

(3) Course approvals are valid for 24 months from the date of 
issuance. Providers must reapply for course approval within 90 days 
from the expiration of the 24 month period. Written application and 
course approval shall be in the same form as set forth in paragraph (1)
(a) above. The Council shall be notified of any substantive changes 
made to approved courses during this period. Course approval shall 
be rescinded by the Council if such notification is not made or the 
changes fail to otherwise conform to this rule. Course approvals 
shall be automatically rescinded if the provider approval expires or is 
rescinded by disciplinary action or otherwise.
(4) Continuing education courses approved prior to the effective date 
of this rule remain valid for the purposes of fulfilling the continuing 
education requirement until the course approval expires.

61E14-4.004 Reactivation continuing education.
(1) Inactive licenses. As a condition for reactivating an inactive 
license, a licensee must complete twenty (20) classroom hours of 
continuing education instruction, as required by Rule 61E14-4.001, 
F.A.C., all of which must have been completed within the current 
or immediately preceding licensure renewal cycles.
(2) Delinquent licenses. As a condition for reactivating a 
delinquent license, a licensee must complete twenty (20) classroom 
hours of continuing education instruction, as required by Rule 
61E14-4.001, F.A.C., all of which must have been completed during 
the licensure cycle in which the licensee becomes delinquent.
(3) All inactive or delinquent licensees applying for reactivation 
must take the legal update seminars required by paragraph 
61E14-4.001(3)(a), F.A.C., for the current and immediately 
preceding year.

61E14-4.005  Prelicensure education provider approval 
(1) A prelicensure education provider is a person or entity approved 
pursuant to this rule to conduct prelicensure education courses for 
community association managers.
(2) Entities or individuals who wish to become approved providers 
of prelicensure education shall make application on Forms DBPR 
0020-1 – Master Organization Application (Eff. 05/10) and DBPR 
CAM-4306 – Prelicensure Provider Application (Rev. 05/10). Forms 
DBPR 0020-1 and DBPR CAM-4306 are hereby incorporated 
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by reference into this rule. These forms are available as a single 
application packet with instructions, a copy of which may be obtained 
from the Department’s website at https://www.myfloridalicense.com/
intentions2.asp?SID=&page=intentions2.asp.
(3) Each provider application shall contain the following information, 
and shall be accompanied by the following documentation and other 
information as required.

(a) The name, address, telephone number, fax number, and e-mail 
address of a contact person who will fulfill the reporting and 
documentation requirements for provider approval. The provider 
shall notify the Council of any change of contact person within ten 
(10) days of the actual change.
(b) The identity and qualifications of all instructors who will 
be presenting courses during the period of providership. These 
qualifications at a minimum shall include instructional experience; and

1. A bachelor’s degree and 2 years experience in the subject 
matter being taught; or
2. An associate’s degree and 4 years experience in the subject 
matter being taught; or
3. Six years experience in the subject matter being taught.
Should additional instructors be added during the period of 
providership, the provider shall notify the Council in writing 
of the new instructor’s qualifications at least thirty (30) days 
prior to actually conducting the course.

(c) The appropriate prelicensure education provider application fee 
pursuant to subsection 61E14-3.001(15) FAC.
(d) A course outline which describes the course’s content and 
subject matter. A course outline shall address the following:

1. Learner objectives. Objectives shall describe expected 
learner outcomes, how learner outcomes will be evaluated, and 
describe how the objectives will be obtained. The objectives 
shall describe the content, teaching methodology and plan for 
evaluation.
2. Subject matter. The content shall be specifically designed to 
meet the objectives and the stated level and learning needs of 
community association managers. Specifically, it shall address 
one or more of the subject areas outlined in subsection 61E14-
1.001(2) FAC.
3. Materials and methods. It shall be demonstrated to the 
Council that:

a. Learning experiences and teaching methods are 
appropriate to achieve the objectives;
b. Time allotted for each activity shall be sufficient for the 
learner to meet the objectives;
c. Principles of adult education are utilized in determining 
teaching strategies and learning activities; and
d. Currency and accuracy of subject matter will be 
documented by references or bibliography.

4. Evaluation. Participants are given an opportunity to evaluate 
learning experiences, instructional methods, facilities and 
resources used for the course.

(4) Prelicensure education provider status shall be valid from the date 
of approval until May 31 of every even numbered year. Those seeking 
renewal of provider status must reapply on Forms DBPR 0020-1 and 
DBPR CAM 4306, referenced in subsection (2) above, to the Council 
and submit the appropriate renewal fee pursuant to subsection 61E14-
3.001(16) FAC. Providers who fail to renew their provider status on a 
timely basis in accordance with this rule shall not offer or advertise a 
course as an approved course for prelicensure education.
(5) Once approved, providers shall comply with the following 
requirements:

(a) When advertising courses, providers shall disclose the number 
of hours assigned by the Council and the course subject area. 
Providers shall not advertise courses until they are actually 
approved by the Council.
(b) Providers shall maintain a system of record keeping which 
provides for storage of course offerings information.

(c) Records of individual courses shall be maintained by the 
provider for 4 years and shall be available for inspection by the 
Council.
(d) Providers shall furnish each participant with an individual 
certificate of attendance and completion of the course. A roster of 
participants shall be maintained by the provider for 4 years and 
shall be available for inspection by the Council. Providers shall 
maintain security of attendance records and certificates.
(e) The course provider shall submit to the Council a sample 
certificate of course completion that the course instructor shall 
provide each course participant if the participant completes the 
course. Such certificate shall include the course participant’s 
name, the title of the course, prelicensure education category, 
date completed and number of hours. The certificate shall be 
provided to the course participant at the completion of the course. 
The certificate of course completion shall contain, on its face, the 
following statement in capital letters in at least 12 point type:

IF YOU HAVE ANY CONCERNS THAT THE COURSE 
YOU HAVE JUST COMPLETED DID NOT MEET THE 
LEARNING OBJECTIVES SET OUT IN THE COURSE 
MATERIALS, DID NOT COVER THE SUBJECT MATTER 
OF THE COURSE, OR WAS A SALES PRESENTATION; 
PLEASE CONTACT THE COUNCIL’S OFFICE IN 
WRITING AT: DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND 
PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, REGULATORY 
COUNCIL OF COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION MANAGERS, 
1940 NORTH MONROE STREET, TALLAHASSEE, 
FLORIDA 32399-1040.

(f) All information or documentation submitted to the Council or 
the Department shall be submitted in a format acceptable to the 
Council and the Department.
(g) Providers shall assure that sales presentations shall not be 
conducted, immediately before or after the administration of any 
courses pursuant to this rule.

(6) A prelicensure education provider initially approved during the 
last 90 days prior to May 31 of an even numbered year, shall not be 
required to reapply as a condition for renewing provider status.
(7) The Council shall deny prelicensure education provider status to 
any applicant who submits false, misleading or deceptive information 
or documentation to the Council.
(8) The Council shall rescind the provider status if the provider 
disseminates any false or misleading information in connection with 
the prelicensure education course, or if the provider or its instructor(s) 
failed to conform to and abide by the rules of the Council or are in 
violation of any of the provisions of Chapter 468, Part VIII or 455 FS.

Chapter 61E14-5.005 FAC - Disciplinary guidelines
Rule 61E14-5.003, Notice of Non-Compliance, created in 2013 and 
revised in 2015, establishes categories of disciplinary violations for 
which licensed CAMs and community association management firms 
may receive a notice of non-compliance or citation, and specifies 
which violations can be sent to mediation rather than the traditional 
disciplinary process, respectively. 

61E14-5.003 Notice of non-compliance.
In accordance with Section 455.225(3), F.S., when a complaint is 
received, the Department may provide a licensee with a notice 
of non-compliance for an initial offense of a minor violation. 
Failure of a licensee to take action in correcting the violation 
within 15 days after notice may result in the institution of regular 
disciplinary proceedings. The Council hereby designates the 
following as “minor violations” as used in Section 455.225(3), F.S., 
for which a notice of non-compliance may be provided:
(1) Violations of paragraph 61E14-2.001(3)(a), F.A.C.: 
Withholding possession of any original books, records, accounts, 
funds, or other property of a community association when 



CAMS.EliteCME.com  Page 52

requested by the community association to deliver the same to the 
association upon reasonable notice.
(2) Violations of paragraph 61E14-2.001(3)(b), F.A.C.: Denying 
or delaying access to association official records to an owner or 
his or her authorized representative who is entitled to access 
within the timeframe and under the procedures set out in Sections 
718.111(12), 719.104(2), or 720.303(5)(4), F.S.

(3) Violations of paragraph 61E14-2.001(3)(d), F.A.C.: Failure 
to maintain the records for a community association manager 
or management firm or the official records of any applicable 
association, as required by Sections 718.111(12), 719.104(2), or 
720.303(4), F.S.

2016 LEgAL UPdATE

Final examination questions
Select the best answer for each question and mark your answers 

online at CAMS.EliteCME.com.

6. CAMS are permitted to draft certificates of amendment that are 
recorded in the official records.

 ¨ True  ¨ False

7. Chapter 2015-26, related to privacy, prohibits a person, state 
agency, or political subdivision from using a drone to record an 
image of privately owned property or people on private property 
under any circumstances.

 ¨ True  ¨ False

8. Chapter 2015-95, related to foreclosures, authorizes a court 
to appoint an ad litem, which is an attorney, administrator, or 
guardian, to represent the interests of a party who has been 
served in a legal action, but has not responded or is not otherwise 
represented.  

 ¨ True  ¨ False

9. Chapter 2015-165, regarding construction defects, amends 
regulations for filing a notice of claim to enable the responding 
party to locate the defect without undue burden. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

10. Chapter 2015-175, regarding condominium termination, permits 
unit owners to contest a plan of termination by petitioning the 
Division of Florida Condominiums, Timeshares, and Mobile 
Homes for mandatory nonbinding arbitration. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

CAMFL02LUE16
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Chapter 3: guide to Flood Preparedness and recovery

4 CE Hours

By:Valerie Wohl

Learning objectives
Explain the significance of base flood elevation (BFE) for preventing 
flood damage to property.

 � List three resources for information about a property’s flood risk.
 � Describe four ways to prepare a home’s plumbing system for 

potential flooding.
 � Explain the purpose and function of an emergency plan.
 � List considerations that must be made for pets in case of a flood.
 � List potential electrical hazards present in the home after a flood.
 � Explain the risk of using gas-powered equipment in the home 

after a flood.
 � Illustrate how freezing can be used to stop further document 

damage after a flood.

 � Compare and contrast  special needs and general population shelters.
 � Describe how to properly document flood damage with video or 

photographs.
 � Explain how to prevent heat stroke and how to treat it if it occurs.
 � Explain why there is an increased danger from fires after a flood.
 � Describe the food and water needed in an emergency kit, including 

quantity, characteristics, and containers.
 � List three common biological hazards of concern after flooding. 
 � Discuss the dangers of mold and strategies to reduce 

contamination after a flood.

Introduction
Floods, big or small, can have devastating effects on community 
associations.  The association as a whole, along with individual unit 
owners, can greatly lessen flood damage by learning how to reduce 
damage and acting before flooding occurs.  Some of these efforts 
require substantial lead time. Individuals should:

 ● Establish ways to physically mitigate flood damage on association 
property, and implement those strategies in a practical and 
effective way.

 ● Find out what to do before, during, and after a flood. 
 ● Have an emergency plan; ensure everyone knows what to do and 

where to go in case of an emergency. 
 ● Have at least one emergency kit in each household so residents can 

be self-sufficient for at least seventy-two hours during a flood.

Though governments at every level work to reduce the risk of floods, 
the first line of defense always rests with the individual.  Florida 

property owners have a responsibility to understand the risks of 
flood and how to protect their homes and families. Flooding can be 
disastrous, but not all flood dangers recede with the water. Risk of 
electrical shock, water contaminated with sewage, and the growth 
of mold are some of the hazardous elements in the post-flood 
environment that require immediate attention. 

This course explains how to prepare for a flood, remain safe when one 
occurs, and stay healthy through flood cleanup and recovery. The primary 
sources for this information are the Florida Emergency Preparedness 
Guide, FloodSmart.gov, the Federal Emergency Management Agency, 
Federal Alliance for Safe Homes (FLASH®), the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA), and the Center for Disease Control (CDC).  The 
information presented here is general guide, and does not address every 
eventuality. Refer to Part IV: Resources, for more information. 

PArT I: BEForE A FLood
Long-term advanced planning
Flooding in Florida is growing more frequent and severe as the sea level 
rises.  Investing in long-term home improvements can be a cost-effective 
way of mitigating flood damage. The most important concern in flooding 
is elevation of the structure. Structural flood mitigation focuses on keeping 
the home and personal belongings above the expected water line. This 
level of elevation is commonly referred to as the base flood elevation, or 
BFE, the expected high water line for a 100-year flood event or event for 
which there is a 1 percent probability in any given year.  

The following mitigation efforts range from items that can be 
completed in minutes, to projects that require considerable advanced 
planning and a sizeable budget:  

 ● Inspect low-lying areas of the property that are exposed to flood 
waters to evaluate how water flows around the home.

 ● Ensure that all gutters and drains work properly. 
 ● Consult the local county geologist or county planning department 

to determine if a property is located in a flash-flood or landslide-
prone area.

 ● Elevate the location of the main electrical switchbox, and 
components above the BFE to reduce potential flood losses. Hire a 

licensed electrician to raise switches, sockets, circuit breakers, and 
wiring at least 12 inches above a home’s projected flood elevation.

 ● Place appliances like washers and dryers, furnaces, and heaters at 
least 12 inches above the BFE or above the lowest floor level. 

 ● Put weather protection sealant around basement windows and the 
base of ground-level doors. 

 ● Install the drainage for downspouts a sufficient distance from the 
residence to ensure that water moves away from the building. 

 ● Install a sump pump with back-up power and zero reverse flow 
valves in basement floor drains.

 ● If a sewer system doesn’t have a backflow valve, hire a licensed 
plumber to install one.

 ● Install a floating floor drain plug and have a plumber regularly 
inspect it to ensure it is functioning properly. 

 ● For drains, toilets, and other sewer connections, install backflow 
valves or plugs to prevent floodwaters from entering.

 ● Fuel tanks, such as propane tanks, may float away, tip over, or break, 
which can contaminate a basement and cause additional damage if 
swept away by flood waters. Check all tanks, and similar items that 
may float away and cause damage, and secure them in accordance 
with local building codes. 
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Prepare an emergency plan 
Every household needs an emergency plan that can be implemented when 
needed, particularly if the family members are not together when a flood 
or other emergency occurs.  Very simply, an emergency plan states:

 ● What individuals and family members will do in an emergency.
 ● What items to have on hand.
 ● What items to take during an evacuation.
 ● Where to go, if necessary.
 ● A pet plan, if necessary.

A good emergency plan is given a good deal of thought over a period 
of time. It should make provisions for different types of emergencies 
that might occur (e.g., flooding vs. wildfires), as risks vary by 
situation. A refuge in one type of disaster might be a good place to 
vacate in another.  The following steps can help begin the discussion. 
Individuals should:

 ● Consider where household members might be in an emergency, 
and what they should do.

 ● Make a list of what needs to be done ahead of time. 
 ● Store important family documents, such as birth certificates, 

passports, wills, financial documents, insurance policies, etc., in 
waterproof container(s). 

 ● Identify an appropriate out-of-town relative or friend to be the 
emergency family contact in case the family is separated during 
a flood. Make sure everyone in the family knows the emergency 
family contact’s name, address, and phone number.

 ● Write down the plan; make sure everybody has a copy and keeps it 
close at hand. 

 ● Learn about their community’s emergency plans, warning signals, 
evacuation routes, and locations of emergency shelters.

 ● Plan a flood evacuation route with the family.
 ● Inform local authorities about any special needs, i.e., elderly or 

bedridden people, or anyone with a disability.
 ● Make a pet plan, if necessary. 

Individuals with pets should:
 ● Have up-to-date licensing and immunization records for their 

pet(s) and keep them with the emergency plan.
 ● Have all pets wear a collar and identification tag at all times; make 

sure the pet’s ID tag displays the individual’s cell phone number or 
the veterinarian’s phone number. 

 ● Find out if their evacuation destination (friends home, hotel, or 
shelter) is pet-friendly.

 ● Find out their community’s plans and resources for protecting pets 
in an emergency.

 ● Contact their veterinarian, local animal shelter, or humane society 
for information about emergency pet shelters.

 ● Store the basic supplies needed for a minimum of three days for 
each pet:  They should include:

 ○ The pet’s food. 
 ○ Water and bowls.
 ○ Medications, immunization records.
 ○ Collar, leash, or harness.
 ○ Bed. 
 ○ Leash and muzzle, if necessary.
 ○ Identification and rabies tags.
 ○ One carrier per animal.
 ○ Cat litter pan, extra litter.
 ○ Treats and toys.

Prepare an emergency kit
Flooding calls for special supplies, especially if there is no access to 
power or tap water.  Stored items should keep the household self-
sufficient for at least seventy-two hours. While many people keep 
items such as flashlights, a battery-operated radio, and food and water 
in the house, they may not be readily available in an emergency.  
Supplies must be well organized and easy to find in the dark. 

The kit should be in a waterproof container and easy to carry, such as 
a small plastic storage container, or inside plastic bags in a backpack, 
duffel bag, or suitcase with wheels.  It should be stored in an easy-
to-reach, accessible place, such as a front hall closet. Everyone in the 
household should know where the emergency kit is. The emergency kit 
should NOT include candles. Candles cause more fires after a disaster 
than anything else. Instead, include flashlights or lanterns in the kit.

A basic emergency kit should include the supplies in the following list. 
Another kit should be kept in the car, in a waterproof container, with 
food, flares, booster cables, maps, tools, a first aid kit, fire extinguisher, 
sleeping bags, etc.  Items are described in more detail below. 

 ● Several clean containers for water. 
 ● A minimum three-day (and preferably longer) supply of non-

perishable food, such as canned items, energy bars, and dried 
foods (replace the food and water at appropriate intervals). 

 ● Manual can opener. 
 ● Aluminum foil.
 ● Plastic tarps.
 ● Portable battery pack for electronic devices.
 ● Crank or battery-powered flashlight and extra batteries. 
 ● Crank or battery-powered radio with headphones or earplugs and 

extra batteries. 
 ● Prescription medications, eyeglasses, contact lenses and 

solution, etc.
 ● Equipment for people with disabilities. 
 ● Baby food and/or prepared formula, diapers, and other baby supplies.
 ● Extra car and house keys. 
 ● Cash in smaller bills, such as $10 bills and change for payphones. 

 ● A copy of the emergency plan and contact information. 
 ● Sleeping bags or extra blankets.
 ● Water-purifying supplies, such as chlorine or iodine tablets or 

unscented, ordinary household chlorine bleach.
 ● Disposable cleaning cloths, such as “baby wipes” for the whole 

family to use in case bathing facilities are not available.
 ● Personal hygiene supplies, such as soap, toothpaste, toothbrushes, 

denture cleaner, sanitary napkins, toilet paper, etc. 
 ● Rubber boots, sturdy shoes, and waterproof gloves.
 ● Insect repellent and long-sleeved and long-legged clothing for 

protection from mosquito populations that breed in the pooled 
water that remains after a flood. 

 ● A first aid kit and manual.

Water
The amount of water needed varies by the individual and 
circumstance; relief organizations recommend storing at least one 
gallon per person per day, in an amount that would be adequate for at 
least three and up to seven days, depending on the emergency.  Hot 
environments and extra physical activity can double the amount of 
water required. Children, nursing mothers, those who are more active 
than average, and those who are ill are likely to have additional needs.  
Assessing how much is necessary is complicated by the fact that some 
portion of this water supply will be needed for cooking and hygiene 
purposes, instead of drinking. 

Individuals should store water in plastic containers such as large soft 
drink, juice, or milk bottles, and keep them in a cool, dry place. Include 
small bottles that can be carried easily in case of an evacuation order. 
Avoid containers that will decay or break, such as paper milk cartons or 
glass bottles, or plastic bottles that degrade with extended storage. 
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Food and food-related items
Individuals should choose foods that are healthy and non-perishable.  
Foods that do not require refrigeration before and after opening and/or 
do not require cooking are easiest to manage.  Store at least a three- to 
seven-day supply of food per person.  Include:

 ● Canned or packaged non-perishable meats and/or fish.
 ● Canned vegetables and fruits.
 ● Packaged dried fruits and nuts.
 ● Manual can openers.
 ● Disposable plates and utensils, special eating utensils, paper 

napkins, towels.
 ● Canned jellied alcohol (like Sterno) for heating food, if necessary. 
 ● Matches packed in a waterproof bag.
 ● Grills or gas-operated cookers, and use them only outdoors.

Clothing and protective gear
 ● Laundry detergent in a re-sealable container.

 ● One complete change of clothing for each person.
 ● One pair of sturdy shoes or work boots for each person.
 ● Large-brim hat to protect head and ears.
 ● Waterproof outerwear/raincoat.
 ● Pillows and sheets.
 ● Blankets or sleeping bags.
 ● Waterproof plastic sheet/tarp.

For babies
 ● Water.
 ● Diapers and wipes.
 ● Disposable bottles and nipples.
 ● Powdered formula, milk, or baby food.
 ● Medications, medicine dropper.
 ● Baby soap and shampoo.
 ● Baby’s physician or nurse phone numbers.

Important documents and contact information
Scan and save important documents and files onto portable media and 
have the information in hard copy, in a notebook, for example. Store 
all thumb drives, documents, and information notebooks in waterproof 
bags or containers.  Information should include:

 ● A list of official emergency numbers.
 ● Contact information for family and friends.
 ● Credit card, bank, and securities information.
 ● Home maintenance and personal services workers.
 ● Instructions for shutting off utilities.
 ● Animal immunization records and veterinarian information.
 ● Pictures of the home and belongings. 
 ● List of belongings with photos.
 ● Flood insurance agent and company contact information.
 ● Medical and health-related information:

 ○ Doctor’s contact numbers.
 ○ Health insurance provider information (health insurance policy 

numbers, claims numbers, contact numbers).
 ○ Blood type.
 ○ Allergies.

 ○ Medical history, list of medications, and current conditions.
 ○ Pharmaceutical and eyeglass prescriptions. 
 ○ Instructions and dispensing pharmacy phone numbers.
 ○ List of style, model, and serial numbers of medical devices 

such as pacemakers, and extra batteries for assistive devices.  
Medication
Individuals should arrange with their health care provider and 
pharmacist for emergency medication supplies. Under a federally 
declared emergency, individuals can get an extra thirty-day supply 
with no price increase—even for recently filled prescriptions. 

 ● Equipment and supplies necessary for appropriate use of 
medications: alcohol wipes, syringes, test equipment, ice or other 
coolants for medications that require storage in low temperatures.

 ● Aspirin or non-aspirin pain reliever.
 ● Anti-diarrhea medication.
 ● Antacids.
 ● Laxatives.
 ● Children’s strength medications, such as cough syrup, if necessary.

Basic first aid kit 
Many of these supplies are sold in premade medical kit that can be 
supplemented with additional materials.  It is best to have at least 
two kits–one for the home and each car belonging to a member of the 
household. Individuals should include the following:

 ● Sterile, adhesive bandages—assorted sizes.
 ● Safety pins— assorted sizes.
 ● Cleansing agent or soap.
 ● Latex gloves, 2 pairs.
 ● Sunscreen.
 ● 2-inch sterile gauze pads, 4-6.
 ● 4-inch sterile gauze pads, 4-6.
 ● Triangular bandages, 3.
 ● 2-inch sterile roller bandages, 3.

 ● 3-inch sterile roller bandages, 3.
 ● Scissors.
 ● Sewing needle.
 ● Adhesive tape.
 ● Tweezers.
 ● Moistened towelettes.
 ● Antiseptic.
 ● Rubbing alcohol.
 ● Thermometer.
 ● Tongue blades, 2.
 ● Tube of petroleum jelly or other lubricant.
 ● Medicine dropper.

Assistive devices and equipment
Individuals using assistive devices or equipment, from prescription 
eyeglasses to motorized wheelchairs, will need access to these item 
(and power sources, if necessary) or find alternatives that enable them 
to remain safe until the emergency is over. This equipment includes 
the following:

 ● Sunglasses—prescription, if needed.
 ● Spare prescription glasses, even if they are not the latest 

prescription. Spare contact lenses and cleaning solution.
 ● Spare hearing aids, even if they are not the latest prescription, and 

extra batteries.

 ● TTY (if necessary) with extra batteries.
 ● Spare parts, batteries or battery chargers for: mobility equipment, 

assistive devices and hearing aids.
 ● Find out about alternative ways to charge these items if the home 

experiences a power outage (such as charging with a connection to 
a vehicle’s cigarette lighter).

 ● Wheelchair or scooter tire repair kit.
 ● Walker, crutches, or canes.

Urinary function supplies, ostomy supplies, incontinence pads, 
personal hygiene items.
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 ● Dialysis equipment and supplies.
 ● Dressing devices.
 ● Oxygen (tanks or generator) with flow rate attached.
 ● Suction equipment.
 ● Dentures.
 ● Ice chest and ice or “keep cool” material for medications. If using 

dry ice, wear dry cotton gloves.
 ● Special pads or cushions.
 ● Battery-operated radio or music player with headphone or 

earplug—pack extra batteries.
 ● Adaptive technology recreational or reading material.
 ● At least one extra white cane for those with visual disabilities.
 ● Extra magnifiers, if appropriate.

Individuals should alert a responder or relief worker if they cannot 
wait in long lines for items like water, food, or other assistance. 
Individuals should practice how to explain clearly and briefly why they 
need this help, or write the explanation down ahead of time.  

Florida law requires that all utility companies offer a priority 
reconnection service for people with disabilities who use power-
dependent equipment. To get placed on their priority reconnection list, 
individuals should contact their utility company for more information.

Individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing should:
 ● Keep a card that indicates they are deaf or have hearing loss in 

their supply kit and with them at all times.
 ● Include any other communication information such as “I do (or do 

not) know American Sign Language,” or, “My service animal may 
legally remain with me.”

 ● Battery-operated, digital television set—emergency broadcasts may 
give information in American Sign Language or open captioning.

 ● Paper and pencils in their car and supply kit.
 ● Flashlight, whistle, or other noisemaker—kept with them at all times.

Individuals with speech-related or a communication disability 
should have:

 ● Power converter for their laptop computer. A converter allows 
laptops 12 volts or less to be operated from the accessory socket 
on the dashboard of a vehicle.

 ● Pencil and paper for a backup communication resource.
 ● Electronic communicator or artificial larynx with them at all times.
 ● Copies of a word or letter board, and preprinted key phrases 

needed in an emergency, kept in their kit, wallet, purse, etc.

People naturally want to help others in an emergency. Individuals 
should be ready to give brief, clear, and specific instructions and 
directions to others, either verbally or in writing. They should carry 
cards with prewritten instructions. Examples include:

 ● “Please do not try to straighten my knees. They are fused in a 
bent position.”

 ● “I have had a brain injury that affects my memory. Please write 
down all important instructions and information.”

 ● “I am blind/visually impaired. Please let me grasp your arm firmly.”
 ● “I am deaf. Please write things down for me or provide an ASL 

interpreter as soon as possible.”
 ● “Please bring along my:

 ○ Oxygen tank.
 ○ Wheelchair.
 ○ Gamma globulin from the freezer.
 ○ Insulin from the refrigerator (or ice chest).
 ○ Communication device from under the bed.”

Individuals with a cognitive disability should:
 ● Have their assistant help to prepare emergency plans and 

information in a way that is easy for to understand. A step-by-step 
sequence is most helpful.

 ● Keep a copy of any instructions or information they will need with 
them and in a supply kit.

 ● Carry a pencil and paper to keep track of and remember any 
new instructions.

Individuals who use self-administered medical treatments should:
 ● Bring the medicines they will need when traveling.
 ● Arrange with their health care provider and pharmacist for 

emergency medication and supplies. 

Individuals who you use telecommunications relay services should 
investigate alternative backup options, including:

 ● Dialing 711, nationwide.
 ● Captioned telephone.
 ● Internet-based relay, through a computer, text pager, PDA, etc.
 ● Video relay services, through broadband.

Individuals who use a wheelchair should make more than one exit from 
their home wheelchair accessible in case the primary exit is blocked. 
They should plan and practice how to escape from their home.

Planning for evacuation
For some emergencies, staying at home, formerly known as “shelter 
in place” is an option, but for others, evacuation is the best choice. 
Having a plan in place for either eventuality is important.  It is 
particularly important to develop an evacuation plan before a flood 
occurs to prevent potential confusion, injuries, and property damage. A 
thorough evacuation plan should list each person the plan covers and 
that person’s contact information.  It should include details regarding:

 ● What conditions activate the plan.
 ● Chain of communication.
 ● Emergency functions and who will perform them.
 ● Specific evacuation procedures, including routes and exits.
 ● Method for accounting for household members, neighbors, 

friends, pets, etc.

The plan should clearly identify where individuals will go in an 
evacuation. In most cases, an evacuation because of flooding means 
going tens of miles, not hundreds of miles, away.  Individuals should 
decide if they will stay with friends or relatives in a safe location, 
stay in a hotel or motel, or go to a county approved public shelter. If 
someone in an evacuation group needs basic medical care on a daily 
basis, it is best to investigate options beforehand. Contact FEMA for 
more information. 

Individuals should develop a list of all supplies and equipment needed 
for each person in the plan.  Assume it will be seventy-two hours or 
more before help can arrive. Individuals should:

 ● Identify any health conditions or disability-related needs of the 
group and include instructions.

 ● Decide on where they will go if an evacuation becomes necessary.  
Plan their route and include alternate options.

 ● Make copies of financial, insurance, and medical records and keep 
them with the emergency plan.

 ● Ensure children know and understand the emergency plan.
 ● Provide each person with identification and contact information to 

carry with them in an evacuation, especially children and older adults.
 ● Include service animals and family pets in the plan.

Individuals should identify a central emergency contact person for the 
group. They can choose a friend or family member who lives outside 
the area and provide contact information for everyone within their 
group. Each person should have the central contact’s phone numbers, 
email and street address. In addition, groups should determine two 
alternative emergency locations to meet at in case they are unable to 
return home. One should be near the home, and the other outside of 
the neighborhood. Everyone listed in the evacuation plan should be 
familiar with these meeting places. 
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Individuals should consider each person’s transportation needs. 
They should maintain their vehicle and refill the gas tank when it 
reaches half-full. Those who will need transportation assistance 

in an emergency should pre-register with their county emergency 
management office so the responding agency is aware of their needs. 

Maintain plan and supplies
If flooding occurs, individuals may need to implement their emergency 
plan and use items stored for that purpose.  If an individual is unable to 
locate the supply kit, or all the food set aside is now inedible, it will be 
much harder to take action.  To ensure everything will be as it should 
be when needed, individuals should:

 ● Review and practice their emergency plan every six months to one 
year, and update as needed.

 ● Conduct fire and emergency evacuation drills with everyone in 
the home.

 ● Check food supplies every six months for expiration dates. Use 
any food about to expire and replace it in the supply kit.

 ● Keep purchased bottled water in its original, sealed container. Note 
the “use by” date.

 ● Read the indicator on the fire extinguishers and follow the 
manufacturer’s recharge instructions.

 ● Test smoke and carbon monoxide alarms monthly and change the 
batteries at least once a year. Replace alarms every ten years.

 ● Read insurance policies carefully, and understand what is and 
what isn’t covered (deductibles, general and specific limits, flood 
coverage, etc.).

Warning system
Flood threats to particular areas are predicted a number of ways, 
including evaluation of rising water tables that result from heavy 
rain and meteorological observations and forecasts.  When there is 
immediate danger of flooding, the Emergency Alert System (EAS) 
provides levels of warnings to alert community members of their 
flooding risk. By planning ahead and taking sensible precautions, it is 
possible to minimize flood damage.

The first level is flood watch. This means flooding is possible. 
Community members should monitor media sources for more 
information. NOAA Weather Radio provides up-to-date information 
about flood watches and warnings. 

When a Flood Watch is issued, individuals should:
 ● Prepare to evacuate immediately, if needed.
 ● Fill their vehicle’s gas tank and make sure the emergency kit for 

the car is ready.
 ● If no vehicle is available, make arrangements with friends or 

family for transportation.
 ● Identify essential documents such as medical records, insurance 

card, along with ID cards and put them in waterproof material to 
carry during evacuation.

 ● Fill clean water containers.
 ● Identify a shelter designated for pets, if necessary.
 ● Review their emergency plans and supplies, checking to see if any 

items are missing.
 ● Tune in the radio or television for weather updates.
 ● Listen for disaster sirens and warning signals.
 ● Put livestock and family pets in a safe area. Due to food and 

sanitation requirements, emergency shelters cannot accept animals.
 ● Adjust the thermostat on refrigerators and freezers to the coolest 

possible temperature.
 ● Watch for flooding at highway dips, bridges, and low areas and 

avoid driving or walking through standing water.
 ● Follow instructions from emergency officials.

The next level, Flood Warning, means there is an imminent threat; 
flooding is occurring or will occur soon. If advised to evacuate, 
individuals should do so immediately.  

Flash Flood Warnings are a signal to move to higher ground 
immediately. Residents should prepare to evacuate before water 
levels rise and potentially cut off evacuation routes.  Warning time is 
extremely limited in cases of flash or sudden flooding. Flash floods 
can result when hurricanes and powerful tropical storms create storm 
surges and storm tides.  A storm surge is a dome of water forced 
onshore by strong winds, and a storm tide is a combination of a storm 
surge and a normal tide that causes very high water levels.  

When a Flash Flood Warning is issued for an area, residents should: 
 ● Gather the emergency supplies they previously stocked in their 

home and stay tuned to local radio or television station for updates.
 ● Have their immunization records handy or be aware of their last 

tetanus shot, in case they should receive a puncture wound, or a 
wound becomes contaminated during or after the flood.

 ● Fill bathtubs, sinks, and plastic soda bottles with clean water. Sanitize 
the sinks and tubs first by using bleach. Rinse and fill with clean water.  
Water in the bathtub can be used for washing and flushing toilets.

 ● Bring outdoor possessions, such as lawn furniture, grills, and trash 
cans inside or tie them down securely.

 ● Avoid driving through water. As little as one foot of moving water 
can sweep most vehicles away. If a vehicle stalls, individuals 
should evacuate all passengers immediately to higher ground.

 ● Avoid attempting to cross a flooding stream on foot, and avoid 
walking through any water if they have open cuts or sores.

 ● Be cautious at night while driving or walking when it’s more 
difficult to recognize flood danger.

PArT II: dUrIng A FLood
Preparing to evacuate or stay
For some emergencies, staying at home, formerly known as “shelter in 
place” is an option, but for others, evacuation is the best choice. Residents 
who are instructed not to evacuate or who cannot leave the area should: 

 ● Monitor the radio or television for weather updates.
 ● Prepare to evacuate to a shelter or to a neighbor’s home if their 

own home is damaged, or if they are instructed to do so by 
emergency personnel.

 ● Gather their family and friends already in their home, along with 
their pet and their emergency supply kit.

 ● Be sure they have clean containers for storing water. They should 
have a minimum of one gallon per person per day.

 ● Ready their week’s supply of healthy, non-perishable foods that 
they won’t need to cook and keep a non-electric, manual can 
opener on hand.

 ● Limit their telephone or cell phone use to only when absolutely 
necessary. Make sure their cell phone and TTY are fully charged 
and back-up batteries are available.

 ● If they have a generator, never operate it inside. Do not operate it 
near any open door, window, or garage door.

 ● Prepare to turn off electrical power, gas, and water supplies before 
they evacuate.
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Unless ordered to evacuate, when and if a household leaves is usually 
a matter of choice based on an assessment of their current flood risk 
(e.g., living near a coast or a river prone to flooding).  If evacuation 
is eventually required, leaving early can be helpful. Not only are 
individuals more likely to get to safe shelter before flooding becomes 
an obstacle, they are also getting ahead of road congestion, a common 
occurrence when a number of neighboring counties all receive 
evacuation orders at the same time. 

When flooding occurs, individuals should monitor a reliable news 
and weather source to find out what areas are affected, what roads are 
safe, where to go, and what to do if the local emergency team asks 
them to leave their home. At the same time, residents should prepare 
their property to mitigate flood damage, and gather items needed to 
evacuate. They should: 

 ● Identify potential home hazards and secure or protect them before 
the flood strikes. 

 ● Keep their emergency kit close at hand, in a portable container 
such as a duffel bag, backpack, or suitcase with wheels.

 ● Take precautions to safeguard or mitigate damage to electrical, 
natural gas, or propane heating equipment; turn off all utilities at 
the main power switch and close the main gas valve if evacuation 
appears necessary.

 ● Move furniture, electrical appliances, and other belongings to 
floors above ground level. 

 ● Remove toxic substances such as pesticides and insecticides from 
the flood area to prevent pollution. 

 ● Remove toilet bowls and plug basement sewer drains and toilet 
connections with a wooden stopper. 

 ● Disconnect eaves troughs if they are connected to the house sewer. 
 ● In some cases, homes may be protected with sandbags or polyethylene 

barriers. Follow instructions from local emergency officials. 
 ● Move any important documents or fragile items to upper floors.

Food safety
Individuals should:

 ● Turn refrigerator and freezer controls to the coldest settings. Only 
open the refrigerator or freezer during a power outage when necessary.

 ● Food will stay frozen for up to 48 hours if a freezer is full and tightly 
packed. Food may keep for 24 hours in a partially-filled freezer.

 ● Fill empty freezer spaces with reusable ice containers. Fill empty 
plastic containers about 90 percent full with water, loosely cap the 
containers, and place in freezer.

 ● If food in the freezer does defrost, use it within one or two 
days. Never refreeze food that has thawed completely. If 
unsure, dispose of it.

Preparing important documents for flood or evacuation
Individuals should:

 ● Keep the name, telephone number, email, and web address of their 
insurance agent and/or company in a safe place, including their 
home computer or smartphone. 

 ● Perform a detailed, annual inventory of household items, including 
valuables, and keep the inventory online and backed up to a cloud 
server if available.

 ● Take photos of particularly valuable items for pre-loss value 
verification.

 ● Keep paper and electronic copies of insurance policies in a safe 
place, including a home computer or smartphone.

 ● Keep vital records in a fireproof safe or safety deposit box, and/or 
send copies of them to a trusted relative or friend in case disaster 
strikes. Scan and store all records electronically and backup up on 
a cloud server if possible.

 ● In the event of an evacuation, notify their insurance company and 
verify what the insurance policy will cover for temporary lodging.

 ● Make documents portable and waterproof in case of evacuation 
or flooding. 

If ordered to evacuate
Residents should vacate their home when you are advised to do so by 
local emergency authorities. They will direct individuals to leave if they 
are in a low-lying area, or within the path of the rising waters. Ignoring 
a warning can jeopardize the lives of household members as well as 
any rescue workers who need to be sent in to assist the household.  
Hurricanes, severe storms, tornadoes, and wildfires can change 
direction. Individuals should continue to listen for weather updates and 
stay informed. If a flood warning is issued for an area or residents are 
directed by authorities to evacuate the area, individuals should:

 ● Secure household utilities if safety and time permit; turn off the 
home’s water and electricity at the main valve and breaker. Shut 
off the electricity only if flooding has not yet begun and the area 
around the fuse box is completely dry. 

 ● Turn off basement furnaces and propane tanks. Do not turn off 
natural gas unless local officials say to do so.

 ● Disconnect appliances to prevent electrical shock when power 
is restored.

 ● Follow the designated evacuation routes and expect heavy traffic. 
Follow the routes specified by officials. Don’t take shortcuts. They 
could lead to a blocked or dangerous area.  Bring a map of the area.

 ● Do not attempt to drive or walk across creeks or flooded roads. 
If using their car,  individuals should avoid driving through flood 
waters. Fast water can sweep a car away. However, should a car 
be caught in fast-rising waters and the car stalls, passengers should 
leave it behind. 

 ● Take along an emergency survival kit.

 ● Should time allow, leave a note informing others of when they left 
and where they went.  Residents can leave the note in their mailbox.

 ● Know where they are going and how they plan to get there before 
they leave home. 

 ● Let others know their destination and intended route.
 ● Make arrangements for pets to remain with them or trusted caretakers.
 ● Have emergency cash on hand and keep their car’s gas tank full.
 ● Pack games, books, and toys for children.

Depending on the scale of the emergency, residents may need to 
evacuate the area, but going a great distance away is not usually 
necessary for flooding evacuations. The best choice for shelter is in 
a safe and secure structure with family and friends near, but outside, 
the evacuation area.  When severe weather emergencies occur, the 
state of Florida may open public and temporary emergency shelters in 
approved schools, office buildings, or other facilities.

General population shelters are stocked with basic needs like food 
and water, and offer a temporary place to sleep during an emergency. 
A general population shelter is able to give basic first aid, but not 
medical care. Individuals will need to bring supplies such as bed linens, 
blankets, clothing, toiletries, hygiene items, and personal medications. 
Other than food and water, the resources available at general population 
shelters will vary. Individuals with medical conditions that require daily 
assistance may want to pre-register for a special needs shelter.

Special needs shelters provide daily medical assistance like routine 
nursing care, help with medication, and oxygen therapy.  During an 
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emergency, special needs shelters provide more medical care and 
supervision than a general population shelter, but do not provide the 
level of care of a hospital or emergency medical center. These shelters 
are intended to provide a safe location for basic medical aid until the 
emergency is over. People seeking shelter there will need to bring 
their medical supplies and current medications with them. Individuals 
must meet certain eligibility criteria to have access to a special needs 

shelter. Individuals can find out if they are eligible and pre-register by 
contacting their local emergency management office.

Caregivers and service animals that assist people with disabilities are 
allowed in special needs shelters. Their care is the sole responsibility 
of the owner.   Most shelters cannot accept pets because of health and 
safety concerns. Family pets are only allowed in pre-designated, pet-
friendly shelters.

Driving during flood conditions
Individuals should take care when driving during flood conditions. 
Nearly half of flood fatalities are vehicle-related. Six inches of standing 
water is enough to stall some cars, a foot of water can float a vehicle, 
and two feet of moving water is enough to sweep a car away. If the 
water level is rising around a vehicle, all passengers should abandon the 
vehicle.  Drivers should be wary of unknown road conditions. 

Individuals should never cross a flooded area:
 ● Fast water can sweep a walking person away.
 ● Do not drive through flood waters or underpasses. The water may 

be deeper than it looks and a car could get stuck or swept away by 
fast water. 

 ● Avoid crossing bridges if the water is high and flowing quickly. 

PArT III: AFTEr A FLood
After a flood, individuals should:

 ● Carry valid ID. They may be asked to show proof of residency to 
be allowed back into their neighborhood or home. 

 ● Be aware of snakes, insects, and animals driven to higher ground 
during flooding.

 ● Avoid using tap water for drinking, cooking, and washing dishes until 
it has been tested and/or confirmed safe for use by local authorities.

 ● Stay at home if they are already there. This will help keep roads 
clear for emergency responders.

 ● Find temporary housing for their family and any pets, if the 
home is inhabitable due to flood damage. For help, individuals 
can contact their local FEMA office or emergency services. 
Individuals can register their name and location to help family 
members locate one another. 

 ● Check with local authorities for more information regarding 
federal or state programs and to learn if they are eligible for 
government disaster financial assistance.

Filing a claim
If an individual’s home is damaged by flood, they should notify their 
insurance company as soon as possible. Insurance policies place a 
time limit on filing claims, so they should always report promptly. 
Individuals should also:

 ● Register the amount of damage to their home with their insurance 
agent.  He or she may request evidence of damage to the home 
and personal belongings. Substantiate the loss:  Preserve damaged 
items until an adjuster has visited the home; photograph or 
videotape the damage and prepare a home inventory along with 
copies of receipts from damaged items.

 ● Take reasonable steps to protect their property from further damage. 
 ● Save receipts for what they spend, and submit them to the 

insurance company for reimbursement.

 ● Keep records of all additional expenses incurred if the home is 
severely damaged and they need to find other accommodations 
while repairs are being made. Some insurance policies provide 
coverage for the “loss of use” of their home. Residents should 
be aware that many policies do NOT provide coverage for the 
additional living expense if a mandatory evacuation is ordered and 
there is no loss to the home.

Once an individual has notified their insurance company about their 
claim, the company is required to send the necessary claim forms by 
the end of a specified time period. The insurance company will arrange 
for an adjuster to work alongside the homeowner to handle the claim 
either through the telephone or by visiting the home, depending on the 
size of the loss. 

Before entering the home
Individuals should contact a building inspector or structural engineer 
if there is any question about the integrity of the building. They should 
not enter the home if they see:

 ● Standing water around the house.
 ● Loose power lines.
 ● Gasoline spills, natural gas, or propane leaks.
 ● Foundation, roof, or stair damage. 

Residents should try to return to their home during daylight hours so 
that they need minimal additional lighting. They should use battery-
powered flashlights and lanterns, rather than candles, gas lanterns, 
or torches. If residents smell gas or suspect a leak, they should 
turn off the main gas valve, open all windows, and leave the house 
immediately. They should then notify the gas company or the police 
or fire departments or State Fire Marshal’s office, and do not turn on 
the lights or do anything that could cause a spark. Residents should not 
return to the house until they are told it is safe to do so.

Residents should exercise caution when reentering their home. If the 
main power switch was not turned off prior to flooding, they should 
not re-enter the home until a qualified electrician has assessed if there 
is any safety risk. Residents should avoid electrical shock by wearing 

rubber boots in an area flooded with more than two inches of standing 
water. In addition, residents should consider the following:
Do not strike matches until they are certain there are no gas leaks.

 ● If there is a power outage, turn off or unplug all major appliances 
and electric devices to avoid damage from a sudden surge when 
power is restored.

 ● If the house has been closed up for several days, enter briefly 
to open doors and windows; let the house air out for at least 30 
minutes before they stay inside for any length of time.

 ● Make sure the building is structurally safe; look for buckled walls 
or floors. Watch for holes in the floor, broken glass, and other 
potentially dangerous debris.

 ● Appliances that may have been flooded pose a risk of shock or fire 
when turned on. Residents should not use any appliances, heating, 
pressure, or sewage system until electrical components have been 
thoroughly cleaned, dried, and inspected by a qualified electrician. 

 ● If the home has been flooded and has been closed up for several 
days, residents should presume it is contaminated with mold. 

 ● The home may also be contaminated with sewage or other 
contaminants.
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 ● If there is any question about the structural safety of building 
or unit, residents should wait until it is examined a qualified 
professional. They should also look for signs of holes or weakness 
in the floor, buckled walls or sagging ceilings, and broken glass or 
other potentially dangerous debris.

Residents should not move back into their homes—even if floodwaters 
have receded—until these projects are completed: 

 ● The regular water supply has been inspected and officially 
declared safe for use.

 ● Every flood-contaminated room has been thoroughly cleaned, 
disinfected, and surface-dried.

 ● All contaminated dishes and utensils have been thoroughly washed 
and disinfected (either by using boiling water or a sterilizing 
solution of one part chlorine bleach to four parts water; then 
rinsing dishes and utensils thoroughly).

 ● Adequate toilet facilities are available. 

 ● Flooded appliances, electrical outlets, switch boxes or fuse-breaker 
panels have been checked by qualified personnel.

 ● Any wood, gas, or electrical heating system has been thoroughly 
inspected by a qualified technician. Replace any parts that have 
been damaged or soaked.

 ● Any soaked furnace blower motor, switches, and controls must be 
replaced. Flooded forced-air heating ducts and return-duct pans 
should be cleaned or replaced.

 ● Any filters and insulation inside furnaces, water heaters, 
refrigerators and freezers that were wet must be replaced.  
Residents may need to consider replacing the whole appliance, 
depending on the severity of the damage. They should consult with 
a professional electrician or with the manufacturer.

 ● Any telephones that have been exposed to floodwaters have been 
replaced, as they may be a safety hazard.

 ● Contact the appropriate utility or service company to have service 
restored (i.e. electricity, gas, cable, phone, etc.) when residents are 
ready to return home.

Electrical hazards 
Electrical power and natural gas or propane tanks should be shut off 
to avoid fire, electrocution, or explosions. All electrical equipment and 
appliances must be completely dry before returning them to service. It 
is advisable to have a certified electrician check these items if there is 
any question. If there is standing water in the home and it is possible to 
turn off the main power from a dry location, then residents should do 
so. If it is necessary to enter standing water to access the main power 
switch, residents should call an electrician to turn it off.  They should 
not turn the power on or off themselves.   Residents should consult 
with their local electrical utility if they require assistance.

Residents should never enter flooded areas or touch electrical 
equipment if the ground is wet. If water has been present anywhere 
near electrical circuits and electrical equipment, they should turn 
off the power at the main breaker or fuse on the service panel.  The 
electrical system may also be damaged. If frayed wiring or sparks 
are visible, or if there is an odor of something burning but no visible 
fire, residents should immediately shut off the electrical system at the 
circuit breaker. They should not operate any gas-powered equipment 
indoors, as this practice poses a risk of carbon monoxide poisoning.

Residents should consult their utility company about using electrical 
equipment, including power generators.  They should also be aware 

that it is against the law and a violation of electrical codes to connect 
generators to their home’s electrical circuits without the approved, 
automatic-interrupt devices. If a generator is on line when electrical 
service is restored, it can become a major fire hazard. In addition, the 
improper connection of a generator to a home’s electrical circuits may 
endanger line workers helping to restore power in the area.  

Community members can expect to find standing water present 
throughout a flood zone. They should avoid wading in standing water, 
which also may contain glass or metal fragments.  They should not 
use an electric tool or appliance while standing in water, and keep 
extension cords out of the water. 

Residents should avoid any damaged or downed power lines, 
particularly those in or near water.  They should establish a safe 
distance from the lines and report the incident to the responsible 
authority.  Dangers associated with power lines include:

 ● Electrocution by contact with downed energized lines, or objects 
in contact with fallen lines.

 ● Being struck or crushed by falling poles, towers, and tree limbs. 
 ● Burns from fires caused by energized line contact or equipment 

failure. 

debris and downed trees
Floods can cause downed trees that block public roads and damage 
power lines. Removing trees and clearing debris poses the risk of 
electrocution from contact with downed power lines or tree limbs in 
contact with power lines, as well as injuries from falling tree limbs. 
Machinery or equipment used to remove heavy debris, such as chain 
saws and chippers, are also potential hazardous, particularly when used 
by people who operate them infrequently. Only authorized personnel 
working with emergency assistance or local utilities should engage in 
any cleanup associated with power lines.

Proper protective equipment, including gloves, chaps, foot protection, 
eye protection, fall protection, hearing protection, and head protection, 
must be used when using chainsaws and chippers to clear downed 
trees.  Only appropriate power equipment that is built to be used 
outdoors and in wet conditions should be used. All saws, chippers, 
and other tools should be well-maintained and functioning correctly, 
and used properly according to the intended application. Proper 
guarding, working controls, and other safety features as installed by 
the manufacturer are essential.

Cleaning up
A large part of recovery is home clean-up and restoration.  
Associations can assist by providing step-by-step action plans to: 

 ● Prepare for the cleanup. 
 ● Remove water, mud, and debris. 
 ● Clean and dry the house.
 ● Clean possessions that can be salvaged and dispose of 

contaminated household items.

During clean up, residents should assemble equipment and 
supplies, including:

 ● Gloves, masks, and other protective gear.
 ● Squeegees and plastic garbage bags.

 ● Buckets, mops, and sponges.
 ● All-purpose cleaner or unscented detergent.
 ● Large containers for soaking bedding and clothing, and lines to 

hang them to dry.
 ● Flashlight.
 ● First aid kit.
 ● Tools (hammer, pliers).
 ● Chlorine bleach and non-ammonia dishwashing detergent. 
 ● Extension cords, submersible pumps, wet/dry shop vacuums, extra 

carbon-monoxide sensors, dehumidifiers, and fans or heaters may 
be rented, if needed.
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First steps in clean-up
Removing water
If flood or storm water remains in the home, residents should drain the 
water and dry the home out as soon as possible. If they have electricity 
and an electrician has determined that it is safe to turn it on, resident 
should use a “wet-dry” shop vacuum (or the vacuum function of a 
carpet steam cleaner), an electric-powered water transfer pump, or 
sump pump to remove standing water. If they are operating equipment 
in wet areas, they should wear rubber boots.

To reduce potential damage that can occur when the flood water drains, 
residents should remove flood water from the home slowly. If the soil 
is still saturated and water is removed too quickly, it may cause the 
walls or the floor to buckle; it should be drained  in stages —about one-
third of the volume daily.  Residents can use pumps or pails to remove 
standing water, and then a wet/dry shop vacuum to mop up the rest.

Residents should take care to prevent water outdoors from reentering 
their home. For example, rain water from gutters or the roof should 
drain away from the house; the ground around the house should slope 
away from the house to keep basements and crawl spaces dry.  They 
should ensure that crawl spaces in basements have proper drainage to 
limit water seepage, and ventilate to allow the area to dry out.

If residents do not have electricity, or it is not safe to turn it on, they 
can use a portable generator to power equipment to remove standing 
water, If they must use a gasoline-powered pump, generator, pressure 
washer, or any other gasoline-powered tools to clean the home, they 
should never operate the gasoline engine inside a home, basement, 
garage, carport, porch, or other enclosed or partially enclosed 
structures, even if the windows and doors are open. Indoor or improper 
use can create dangerously high levels of carbon monoxide and cause 
carbon monoxide poisoning.

Carbon monoxide poisoning 
Carbon monoxide is a colorless, odorless gas that can be lethal at 
high levels. It builds up quickly when pumps or heaters powered by 
gasoline, kerosene, or propane, are used in poorly ventilated rooms. 
Combustion devices such as gasoline and diesel powered generators, 
pumps, and pressure washers must be operated outside.  These items 
can also produce large amounts of lethal carbon monoxide when 
they’re not tuned-up or are improperly ventilated.  If individuals use 
pumps or heaters powered by gasoline, kerosene, or propane, they 
should buy and install a carbon-monoxide sensor Individuals should 
not use combustion equipment designed for outdoor use indoors. 

Addressing flood water hazards
Flood water can be heavily contaminated with sewage and other 
pollutants. Standing water and wet materials allow viruses, bacteria, 
and mold to grow. These organisms can cause disease, trigger allergic 
reactions, and continue to damage materials long after the flood. 
Failure to remove standing water or water damaged materials can 
present serious long-term health risks. Immediate action is critical to 
preventing further damage. Houses and furnishings are less likely to 
grow mold if they are dried within 48 hours.

Individuals should determine if the flood involves relatively clean 
water or sewage-contaminated water. They must take special 
precautions if their house is flooded with sewage. There is a very 
real and significant danger of infection from breathing the air in an 
area contaminated by sewage and from handling water and materials 

contaminated by sewage. Children, pregnant women, and people 
with respiratory problems should never handle water and materials 
contaminated by sewage. 

Household items that have been contaminated by sewage, or that 
have been wet for a long time, may have to be bagged, tagged, and 
discarded according to local regulations. Residents should contact their 
local public health department if they suspect sewage contamination. 
A more thorough disinfection procedure will be needed, as well as 
greater precaution to avoid exposure of family members and pets. 

The following lists summarize the main steps required inside and 
outside the home to address potential flood water hazards.  These steps 
are described in more detail below. 

Inside the home
Residents should:

 ● Keep children and pets out of the affected area until cleanup has 
been completed.

 ● Wear rubber boots, rubber gloves, and goggles during cleanup of 
affected area.

 ● Remove and discard items that cannot be washed and disinfected 
(such as mattresses, carpeting, carpet padding, rugs, upholstered 
furniture, cosmetics, stuffed animals, baby toys, pillows, foam-
rubber items, books, wall coverings, and most paper products).

 ● Remove and discard drywall and insulation that has been 
contaminated with sewage or flood waters. 

 ● Remove and discard contaminated household materials that cannot 
be disinfected, such as wallcoverings, cloth, rugs, and drywall.

 ● Thoroughly clean all hard surfaces (such as flooring, concrete, 
molding, wood and metal furniture, countertops, appliances, 
sinks, and other plumbing fixtures) with hot water and laundry 
or dish detergent.

 ● Be particularly careful to thoroughly disinfect surfaces that may 
come in contact with food, such as counter tops, pantry shelves, 
refrigerators, etc. Areas where small children play should also be 
carefully cleaned.

 ● Help the drying process by using fans, air conditioning units, and 
dehumidifiers.

 ● Salvage wet documents by placing them in a freezer to dry out.
 ● Record details of flood damage, by photograph or video, if possible.

 ● After completing the cleanup, wash hands with soap and warm 
water. Use water that has been boiled for one minute (individuals 
should allow the water to cool before washing their hands), or use 
water that has been disinfected for personal hygiene use (solution of 
one-eighth teaspoon of household bleach per one gallon of water). 
Let it stand for thirty minutes. If the water is cloudy, use a solution 
of one-fourth teaspoon of household bleach per one gallon of water.

 ● Wash all clothes worn during the cleanup in hot water and 
detergent. These clothes should be washed separately from 
uncontaminated clothes and linens.

 ● Wash clothes contaminated with flood or sewage water in hot 
water and detergent. Residents may want to use  a laundromat to 
wash large quantities of clothes and linens until their onsite waste-
water system has been professionally inspected and serviced.

 ● Seek immediate medical attention if they become injured or ill.
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outside the home
Residents should:

 ● Keep children and pets out of the affected area until cleanup has 
been completed.

 ● Wear rubber boots, rubber gloves, and goggles during cleanup of 
affected area.

 ● Have the waste-water system professionally inspected and serviced 
if they suspect damage. 

 ● Remove any dirt, debris, or refuse from the yard. It can provide a 
breeding ground for bacteria and mold.

 ● Remove any food or garbage that might attract animals or insects.
 ● Contact a waste removal company if required. 

 ● Wash all clothes worn during the cleanup in hot water and 
detergent. These clothes should be washed separately from 
uncontaminated clothes and linens.

 ● Wash their hands with soap and warm water after cleanup. They 
should use water that has been boiled for one minute, (and allow the 
water to cool before washing their hands), or use water that has been 
disinfected for personal hygiene use (solution of one-eighth teaspoon 
of household bleach per one gallon of water), and let it stand for 30 
minutes. If the water is cloudy, individuals should use solution of one-
fourth teaspoon of household bleach per one gallon of water.

 ● Seek immediate medical attention if they become injured or ill.

Air drying
It is important to restore the home to good order as soon as possible 
after a flood to prevent further damage to the house and belongings. 
Rapid drying is especially important to prevent mold growth.  

To facilitate drying, residents should consider the following:
 ● If outside weather permits (low humidity and moderate 

temperature), open doors and windows and speed up the drying 
process with fans.  

 ● If the outside weather is not suitable for air-drying, use fans and 
dehumidifiers to remove excess moisture. Fans should be placed at 

a window or door to blow the air outwards rather than inwards, so 
not to spread mold.

 ● Have the home heating, ventilating, and air-conditioning (HVAC) 
system checked and cleaned by a maintenance or service 
professional who is experienced in mold clean-up before turning the 
system on. If the HVAC system was flooded with water, it is likely 
to be contaminated with mold; turning the system on will spread 
mold throughout the house. Professional cleaning can kill the mold 
and prevent later mold growth. When the service determines that the 
system is clean and if it is safe to do so, the system can be turned on 
to help remove excess moisture from the home.

Mold
Excess moisture and standing water after flooding contribute to the 
growth of mold in homes and other buildings. When returning to a 
home that has been flooded, residents should be aware that mold may 
be present and may be a health risk for them and their family. People 
with asthma, allergies, or other breathing conditions may be more 
sensitive to mold.  Common symptoms include stuffy nose, irritated 
eyes, wheezing, skin irritation, difficulty breathing, and shortness of 
breath. People with chronic lung disease or weakened immune systems 
(cancer patients undergoing treatment, organ transplant recipients, 
etc.) are more susceptible to mold infections. Any individual showing 
sensitivity to mold should not participate in mold cleanup efforts.

Mold can often be recognized by sight or smell.  Walls and ceilings 
may appear discolored, have a wooly texture, or show signs of water 
damage.  There may be a bad odor, or a musty, damp smell.  Mold 
exposure can cause sneezing, runny nose, eye irritation, cough 
and congestion, aggravation of asthma, and dermatitis (skin rash). 
Individuals with allergies, asthma, sinusitis, or other lung diseases, and 
individuals with weakened immune systems, are at the greatest risk of 
health effects from exposure to mold.

Key points for cleaning mold
To properly clean mold, individuals should:

 ● Clean up and dry out the building quickly (within 24 to 48 hours). 
 ● Make sure that work areas are well ventilated.
 ● Mold is a health hazard; if mold is present, use hand, eye, and 

respiratory protection. Wear disposable gloves and a face mask. An 
N-95 respirator is recommended. Individuals should ensure that 
they follow instructions on the package for fitting the mask tightly 
to their face. 

 ● Discard mold damaged materials in plastic bags. 

Preventing mold growth
Residents should remove all porous items from the home that have 
been wet for more than 48 hours and that cannot be thoroughly cleaned 
and dried. These items can remain a source of mold growth. Porous, 
non-cleanable items include carpeting and carpet padding, upholstery, 
wallpaper, drywall, floor and ceiling tiles, insulation material, some 
clothing, leather, paper, wood, and food. Removal and cleaning are 

important because even dead mold may cause allergic reactions in 
some people.

Residents should:
 ● Clean wet items and surfaces with detergent and water. Clean wet 

items and surfaces with detergent and water.
 ● Disinfect cleaned surfaces with ¼ to 1½ cup household bleach in 

one gallon of water. CAUTION: Do not mix bleach with other 
cleaning products that contain ammonia.

 ● Homeowners may want to temporarily store items outside of the 
home until insurance claims can be filed. 

Removing mold
Residents should consider the following:

 ● If there is mold growth in the home, they will need to clean the 
mold and fix any existing sources of water, such as leaks in roofs, 
walls, or plumbing. Controlling moisture in the  home is the most 
critical factor for preventing mold growth.

 ● To minimize mold growth, move items to a cool, dry area within 
48 hours and set up fans. Alternatively, textiles, furs, paper, and 
books can be frozen. 

 ● Wet mold will smear if wiped; residents should let it dry and then 
brush it off outdoors. 

 ● Materials not affected by alcohol can be lightly misted with 
isopropanol (rubbing alcohol) to kill mold spores.

 ● To remove mold growth from hard surfaces, use commercial 
products, soap and water, or a bleach solution of no more than one 
cup of bleach in one gallon of water. Use a stiff brush on rough 
surface materials such as concrete.  

 ● When using bleach to remove mold:
 ○ Never mix bleach with ammonia or other household cleaners. 

Mixing bleach with ammonia or other cleaning products will 
produce dangerous, toxic fumes.

 ○ Open windows and doors to provide fresh air.
 ○ Wear non-porous gloves and protective eye wear.
 ○ Always follow the manufacturer’s instructions when using 

bleach or any other cleaning product.
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Cleaning surfaces and furnishings
To properly clean surfaces and furnishings, residents should: 

 ● Break out walls and remove drywall, wood paneling, and 
insulation at least twenty inches above the high-water line. 

 ● Flush and disinfect floor drains and sump pumps, using undiluted 
chlorine bleach. Scrub them to remove greasy dirt and grime. 
Clean or replace footing drains outside the foundation when they 
are clogged. Consult a professional for advice or service. Flush 
and disinfect floor drains with an all-purpose cleaner or unscented 
detergent and water.

 ● Clean all affected interior walls with all-purpose cleaner or 
unscented detergent and water.

 ● Remove residual mud and soil from furniture, appliances, clothing 
and bedding. Hose down any dirt sticking to walls and solid-wood 
furniture. Then rinse several times.  

 ● Replace flooring that has been heavily soaked. 

 ● Wash and wipe down all surfaces and structures with chlorine 
bleach, ensuring there is adequate cross-ventilation to remove 
fumes. Then rinse again. Wear a charcoal respirator (which can be 
obtained at major safety-supply or hardware stores) when using 
bleach in any closed space.

 ● Wipe down surfaces that have not been directly affected by the 
flood, using a solution of one part chlorine bleach to four parts 
cold or tepid water, mixed with a small amount of non-ammonia 
dishwashing detergent. Then rinse.

 ● Clean any dirt on walls and furnishings with an unscented soap 
solution, removing the remaining water with a wet/dry shop 
vacuum. Then clean all floors as quickly as possible.  

 ● Surfaces that are dry and/or have not been directly affected by the 
flood water should be vacuumed with a HEPA vacuum cleaner.  

Salvaging items
Individuals should identify the materials that may be kept and which 
should be given priority for cleanup. Many items can be air-dried, so 
they should act quickly to prevent further damage. Wet items will be 
heavy and fragile, so individuals should keep them well-supported 
when relocating them to a cool, dry location, drying with fans, or 
freezing. Keep items out of direct sunlight.

Some items saturated with dirt can be rinsed with clean water. Fragile 
items, such as paper, items with loose parts, or those with soluble 
paints and adhesives that are not strong enough to withstand rinsing 
will require a different strategy.  Mud on some damp items can be 
brushed off when the item is completely dry. 

Books, photographs, artwork, and documents
Freezing can temporarily stop damage to books, paper documents, 
and certain other items.  Books may also be salvaged by slow, careful 
drying. Individuals can gently fan them open without squeezing and 
air dry them face up using fans; they can also freeze them.  To salvage 
important documents, individuals should put them in the freezer 
immediately.  Later, they should allow them to thaw and lift off each 
page as it thaws. They should not let glossy paper air-dry, or pages 
will stick together. Freeze immediately. Individuals may consult their 
lawyer to determine whether flood-damaged documents or just the 
information in them must be retained.  

Most photographs can be air-dried, face up. Individuals should remove 
photographs, negatives, and slides from mounts or plastic sleeves 
and let them air-dry. If stuck together, they should not force them 
apart. They should not freeze canvas paintings or remove them from 
stretchers.  Individuals may consult a conservation expert for advice 
on salvaging important books, photographs or paintings damaged 
by flooding, and especially before attempting repair of heirlooms or 
antiques. If items are contaminated with sewage, they should take 
proper health precautions.

Furniture
Frames on high-quality furniture can often be salvaged. However, they 
must first be cleaned, disinfected, and rinsed, then dried by ventilation 
away from direct sunlight or heat. Drying these items too quickly can 
cause warping and cracking.

For upholstered furniture, individuals should remove cushions and dry 
separately. Do not remove upholstery. Raise furniture on blocks and 
place fans underneath. Furniture restoration professionals can often 
determine if any upholstered furniture can be salvaged.

For other furniture, residents should:
 ● Remove residual mud and soil and dry it off.
 ● Separate cushions from covers and dry separately.
 ● Remove drawers and open doors on wooden furniture. Do not dry 

quickly or splitting may occur.

 ● Particleboard furniture will need to be replaced if it has been 
saturated by floodwater.

Clothing and material
Individuals should scrape heavy dirt from washable clothes; then 
rinse and wash them several times in cold water treated with one cup 
of chlorine bleach per washer load, or several times with detergent, 
and dry immediately to prevent mold from forming. Residents should 
only use the washer and dryer only once they have been checked by a 
qualified electrician. 

Freezing can temporarily halt damage to furs and delicate textiles. 
Individuals can gently blot (do not wring) furs and textiles first with 
toweling to remove excess water; keep them well supported. They 
should then place items in individual plastic bags or separate with 
wax paper to keep them from sticking together when frozen.  Items 
should remain in the freezer until they can be properly treated. For 
heirlooms or valuable items, residents can consult a conservator before 
attempting repairs. If items are contaminated with sewage, they should 
take proper health precautions.

Dispose of contaminated household items that cannot be cleaned
Residents should: 

 ● Remove and discard of flooring that has been soaked by flood water. 
 ● Dry carpets within forty-eight hours. For large areas, they should 

hire a qualified professional to do the job. Carpets soaked with 
sewage must be discarded immediately.

 ● Remove finished walls completely if the water level was several 
feet high; it took many days or longer before the water was 
drained; or the area was very humid for an extended period. 

 ● Dispose of all insulation materials, drywall, carpets, particleboard 
furniture, mattresses, box springs, stuffed toys, pillows, cushions, 
and furniture coverings that have been exposed to flood water and 
cannot be cleaned.

Food and personal items
Individuals should dispose of all affected medicines, cosmetics, and 
other toiletries. This includes:

 ● The contents of the freezer or refrigerator, including all meats and 
all fresh fruit and vegetables.

 ● All boxed foods.
 ● All bottled drinks and products in jars, including home 

preserves, since the area under the seal of jars and bottles 
cannot be properly disinfected.

 ● Cans with large dents or that reveal seepage.

All undamaged canned goods must be thoroughly washed and 
disinfected using antibacterial soap to disinfect the outsides of cans.
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Potential chemical hazards 
Residents should be aware of potential chemical hazards during floods. 
Flood waters may have buried or moved hazardous chemical containers of 
solvents or other industrial chemicals from their normal storage places.

Liquefied petroleum gases (LPG) and underground storage tanks, 
along with other chemical containers, may break away and float 
downstream, causing hazards from their released contents. 

If any propane tanks (e.g., 20-lb. tank from a gas grill or household 
propane tank) are discovered, individuals should not attempt to move 
them. These represent a very real danger of fire or explosion, and if any 
are found, police or fire departments should be contacted immediately.

Car batteries, even those in flood water, may still contain an electrical 
charge and should be removed with extreme caution by using insulated 
gloves. Individuals should avoid coming in contact with any acid that 
may have spilled from a damaged car battery.

Potential biological hazards
Floodwaters may contain biohazards due to direct contamination 
by untreated raw sewage, dead animals, rotting food, etc. Avoiding 
contact, good personal hygiene practices, medical surveillance, 
and discarding all food that comes in contact with flood waters are 
important safety measures for preventing disease and infection.

Wounds
Open wounds and rashes exposed to flood waters can become infected. 
To protect themselves and their family, individuals should:

 ● Avoid exposure to flood waters if they have an open wound.
 ● Cover open wounds with a waterproof bandage.
 ● Keep open wounds as clean as possible by washing well with soap 

and clean water.
 ● Seek immediate medical attention if a wound develops redness, 

swelling, or drainage. A puncture wound or a wound contaminated 
with feces, soil, or saliva may require a tetanus booster.  Specific 
recommendations for vaccinations should be made on a case-by-
case basis, or as determined by local and state health departments.

Flood waters may contain sharp objects, such as glass or metal 
fragments, that can cause injury and lead to infection.

Diarrhea
Eating or drinking anything contaminated by flood water can cause 
diarrheal disease. Individuals should:

 ● Practice good handwashing hygiene after contact with flood waters.
 ● Not allow children to play in flood water areas.
 ● Wash children’s hands frequently (always before meals).
 ● Not allow children to play with toys that have been contaminated 

by flood water and have not been disinfected.

Rodents, snakes, and insects 
Flood waters can displace animals, insects, and reptiles, as some will 
seek high ground. Dead and live animals can spread diseases such as 
Rat Bite Fever and rabies. To protect against these, individuals should 
stay alert and avoid contact with any wild or stray animals if possible.  
If they cannot avoid contact, individuals should wear protective gloves 
and wash their hands regularly. Individuals should get rid of dead 
animals as soon as possible and seek medical attention if they are 
bitten or scratched.  

For protection against biting and stinging insects, individuals should 
wear long pants, socks, and long-sleeved shirts and use effective insect 
repellents. They can treat bites and stings with over-the-counter products 
that relieve pain and prevent infection. Individuals should avoid fire 
ants, as their bites are painful and cause blisters. Severe reactions to fire 
ant bites (chest pain, nausea, sweating, loss of breath, serious swelling, 
or slurred speech) require immediate medical treatment.

Individuals should watch where they place their  hands and feet while 
removing debris. If possible, they should avoid placing their fingers 
under the debris they are moving, and wear heavy gloves. If they 
see a snake, individuals should step back and allow it to proceed. 
Individuals should wear boots at least ten inches high, and watch 
for snakes sunning on fallen trees, limbs, or other debris. A snake’s 
striking distance is about half the total length of the snake.

If bitten, the victim should note the color and shape of the snake’s head 
to help with treatment. Bite victims should be kept still and calm to 
slow the spread of venom in case the snake is poisonous. Bite victims 

should seek medical attention as soon as possible. Others should not 
cut the wound or attempt to suck out the venom. To apply first aid: lay 
the person down so that the bite is below the level of the heart, and 
cover the bite with a clean, dry dressing.

Heat stroke and exhaustion
Heat stroke occurs when the body’s temperature regulating system fails 
and body temperature rises to critical levels (greater than 104°F). The 
signs of heat stroke are confusion, loss of consciousness, and seizures. 
Workers experiencing heat stroke have a very high body temperature 
and may stop sweating. Heat stroke is the most serious heat-related 
health problem; it is a medical emergency that that may result in death.

Heat exhaustion is the next most serious heat-related health problem. 
The signs and symptoms of heat exhaustion are headache, nausea, 
dizziness, weakness, irritability, confusion, thirst, heavy sweating, and 
a body temperature greater than 100.4°F.

To assist someone with signs of heat stroke or heat stress, 
individuals should:

 ● Call for help.
 ● Have someone stay with the person until help arrives.
 ● Move the person to a cooler/shaded area. 
 ● Remove outer clothing.
 ● Fan and mist the person with water; apply ice (ice bags or ice towels).
 ● Provide cool drinking water, if the person is able to drink. 

To protect against heat stress: 
 ● Provide plenty of cool water to people doing physical work or 

otherwise at risk; at least one pint of water per hour is needed.
 ● Schedule frequent rest periods with water breaks in shaded or air-

conditioned areas.
 ● Routinely check individuals who are at risk of heat stress due to 

protective clothing and high temperature.
 ● Wear protective clothing that provides cooling. 

Individuals should take the following steps to protect themselves and 
others from heat illness:

 ● Know the signs and symptoms of heat illnesses; monitor 
themselves; use a buddy system.

 ● Block out direct sun and other heat sources.
 ● Drink plenty of fluids. Drink often and BEFORE you are thirsty.
 ● Avoid beverages containing alcohol or caffeine.
 ● Wear lightweight, light colored, loose-fitting clothes.
 ● Be aware that poor physical condition, some health problems (such 

as high blood pressure or diabetes), pregnancy, colds and flu, and 
some medications can increase  personal risk. Individuals who are 
under treatment should consult their  healthcare provider. 

Fire
Floods can damage fire protection systems, delay response times of 
emergency responders, and disrupt water distribution systems. All 
of these factors lead to increased dangers from fire and decreased 
firefighter capabilities.

Drowning
Even good swimmers can be overcome by swift-moving water. Flood 
water poses drowning risks for everyone, regardless of their ability to 
swim. Even swiftly moving shallow water can be deadly, and shallow 
standing water can be dangerous for small children. 
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Cars or other vehicles do not provide adequate protection from flood 
waters. They can be swept away, stall, or otherwise break down in 
moving water.

Individuals should not be alone and should wear an approved personal 
flotation device (PFD) when working in or near water.

Long-term recovery after a flood
Residents should consider hiring a contractor or flood restoration 
specialist to address any concerns about damage.  They can ask about 
remediation or hire professional services with companies that specialize 
in post-flood cleaning and repairing. If individuals are making an 
insurance claim, an insurance adjuster may be able to refer a contractor.  
In addition, individuals can arrange for necessary inspections and 
building permits if they have plans to rebuild after a flood.  

PArT Iv: rESoUrCES
Many federal, state, and local agencies provide information to help 
homeowners prepare themselves and their property for floods, address 
flooding hazards during and after a flood, and ensure the home is well 
protected for the next flood. The websites below discuss precautions, 
mitigation strategies, and guidelines for flood recovery. For further 
information, see:

General resources:
 ● Centers for Disease Control:  Preparedness and Response, http://

www.bt.cdc.gov/disasters/floods/and After a Flood, http://www.
bt.cdc.gov/disasters/floods/after.asp

 ● Office of Public Health Preparedness and Response, National 
Centers for Environmental Health: Key Facts About Flood 
Readiness: Emergency Supplies You Will Need. http://www.cdc.
gov/nceh/default.htm

Florida emergency resources:
 ● Florida Emergency Information Line: 1-800-342-3557 
 ● Florida Emergency Management Community: www.

floridadisaster.org
 ● Florida Emergency Preparedness Guide (1): http://issuu.com/

floridahealth/docs/florida_emergency_preparedness_guid
 ● Florida Emergency Preparedness Guide (2):  http://www.

floridahealth.gov/programs-and-services/emergency-preparedness-
and-response/_documents/prepareguide-eng.pdf

Federal emergency resources:
 ● Occupational Safety and Health Administration; OSHA Resources 

Fact Sheets – Floods, https://www.osha.gov/dts/weather/flood/
osharesources.html

 ● National Weather Service: http://www.floodsafety.noaa.gov/before.
shtml, and NOAA Weather Radio, http://www.nws.noaa.gov/nwr/

 ● Basic Disaster Supplies Kit, Ready.Gov, Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA) http://www.ready.gov/kit

 ● Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA): www.fema.gov
 ● FEMA Registration—first step for disaster assistance: 1-800-621-

3362 or -800-621-FEMA FEMA—TTY for hearing impaired: 
1-800-462-7585

Property recovery:
 ● Federal Alliance for Safe Homes - (FLASH®): www.flash.org
 ● U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA): A Brief Guide 

to Mold, Moisture, and Your Home http://www.epa.gov/mold/
moldguide.html  and Mold Cleanup Guidelines http://www.epa.
gov/mold/cleanupguidelines.html

 ● National Center for Health Housing: Creating A Healthy Home 
-- A Field Guide For Clean-Up of Flooded Homes Creating A 
Healthy Home -- A Field Guide For Clean-Up of Flooded Homes 
National Center for Healthy Housing

Disability resources:
 ● National Organization on Disability: www.nod.org/disability_

resources/ emergency_preparedness_for_ persons_with_
disabilities or www, or inclusivepreparedness.org/

 ● Florida Centers for Independent Living (CIL) are committed to 
assisting those with disabilities plan for emergencies: 1-866-575-
6004 or 1-877-822-1993.

gUIdE To FLood PrEPArEdnESS And rECovEry
Final examination questions

Select the best answer for each question and mark your answers 
online at CAMS.EliteCME.com.

11. Base flood elevation, or BFE, is the expected high water line for 
floods in the next five-year period. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

12. Always include candles in an emergency kit.  
 ¨ True  ¨ False

13. Florida law requires that all utility companies offer a priority 
reconnection service for people with disabilities who use power-
dependent equipment. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

14. A Flood Watch means there is an imminent threat of flooding, 
flooding is occurring or will occur soon. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

15. A general population shelter will provide supplies such as bed linens, 
blankets, clothing, toiletries, hygiene items, and personal medications. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

16. All policies provide coverage for the additional living expense if a 
mandatory evacuation is ordered.

 ¨ True  ¨ False

17. If a generator is on line when electrical service is restored, it can 
become a major fire hazard. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

18. If the HVAC system was flooded with water, the best way to dry it 
out is to turn it on.

 ¨ True  ¨ False

19. Freezing can temporarily stop damage to books, paper documents, 
and certain other items.  

 ¨ True  ¨ False

20. Car batteries, even those in flood water, may still contain an 
electrical charge and should be removed with extreme caution by 
using insulated gloves.

 ¨ True  ¨ False CAMFL04FPE16
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Chapter 4: national Flood and Insurance guide 

4 CE Hours

By:Valerie Wohl

Learning objectives
 � List three myths about flood insurance that keep property owners 

from purchasing coverage. 
 � Explain the role and origin of the National Flood Insurance 

Program (NFIP).
 � Describe the obligations and rewards for communities 

participating in the Community Rating System. 
 � Explain why some provisions in the Biggert-Waters Flood 

Insurance Act were repealed in 2014.
 � Explain the significance of “grandfathering” and Pre-Flood 

Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) property in the Homeowner Flood 
Insurance Affordability Act (HFIAA).

 � Explain the difference between actual cash value (ACV) and 
replacement cost value (RCV) and when to use one or the other.

 � List the three types of Standard Flood Insurance Policy forms.
 � Describe eligibility requirements for the residential condominium 

building association property (RCBAP).
 � Explain the purpose of the annual surcharge associated with every 

new or renewed NFIP policy.
 � List the flood zone designations used in Florida and the degree of 

risk associated with each. 
 � Explain the importance of updating flood maps on a continuous basis.
 � Describe the function of an Elevation Certificate and when it might 

be needed. 

Introduction 
The State of Florida has about 19 million residents. About 80% live or 
work near a coast, and a significant portion of the remaining residents 
are in close proximity to the state’s rivers and inland floodplains. 
Since standard homeowners insurance does not cover damage due 
to flooding, community association members must make location-
appropriate decisions regarding the type and amount of flooding 
insurance they need to protect their own possessions and association 
property from the risk of flooding. Insurance coverage cannot stop 
damage, but makes recovery possible. 

Flooding is a concern for virtually all property in Florida. Although the 
entire state has been designated a flood zone by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency (FEMA), community associations and individual 
unit owners are often underinsured against flooding damage, or not 
insured at all. This is not only potentially disastrous for residents, it 
violates the bylaws of most community associations, which require 
the board (or other decision-making authority) to maintain all forms of 
property insurance needed to protect the property against all potential 
hazards, with adequate coverage to insure the value/replacement cost 
for all common property. 

Until 1968, flood insurance was very rare. Few private insurance 
companies offered coverage of any kind, making recovery from a 
flood nearly impossible for many people. What policies existed were 

very expensive, and typically available only for high-risk locations. 
Significant flooding and property damage in the 1960s prompted 
Congress to establish the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), 
allowing property owners to purchase flood insurance that had 
previously been prohibitively expensive or unavailable.

As a government program, the NFIP is authorized to offer flood 
insurance at a reduced (subsidized) rate to nearly every property 
owner living with the risk of flooding. A number of laws enacted since 
1968 amended the NFIP in order to implement new policy, ensure the 
program’s fiscal soundness, and authorize research (such as mapping). 
Two laws in particular, both effective in 2014, made significant changes 
to the NFIP that affect nearly every flood insurance policy in Florida. 

The first part of this course provides a brief history of federal flood 
insurance law and policy, and the second explains flood insurance 
options for community associations and their members. Data in the 
course are drawn from FEMA publications, current as of April 2015. 
To ensure the most up to date information, refer to the information 
sources listed in the last part of the course. This section also suggests 
individuals who may be helpful in answering questions or addressing 
concerns, including FEMA Flood Insurance Advocates, NFIP 
authorized flood insurance agents, and other qualified professionals.

PArT I — FACTS, MyTHS, And MISConCEPTIonS
Nearly all property owners in an NFIP participating community 
can buy flood insurance. The following list clarifies common 
misconceptions about the NFIP.

MYTH: You can’t buy flood insurance if you are located in a high-
flood-risk area.

FACT: With the exception of Costal Barrier Resources System 
(CBRS) areas, you can buy National Flood Insurance, if your 
community participates in the NFIP. The Flood Disaster Protection Act 
of 1973, as amended, requires federally regulated lending institutions 
to make sure that mortgage loans secured by buildings in high-flood-
risk areas are protected by flood insurance. Property located in a high-
flood-risk area is required to have National Flood Insurance.

MYTH: You can’t buy flood insurance immediately before or during 
a flood.

FACT: You can purchase National Flood Insurance at any time. There 
is usually a 30-day waiting period after premium payment before the 
policy is effective, with the following exceptions:
1. If the initial purchase of flood insurance is in connection with the 

making, increasing, extending, or renewing of a loan, there is no 
waiting period. Coverage becomes effective at the time of the loan, 
provided application and payment of premium is made at or prior 
to loan closing.

If the initial purchase of flood insurance is made during the 
13-month period following the effective date of a revised flood 
map for a community, there is a 1-day waiting period. This applies 
only where the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) is revised to 
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show the building to be in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) 
when it had not been in an SFHA. 

2. The policy does not cover a “loss in progress,” defined by the 
NFIP as a loss occurring as of 12:01 a.m. on the first day of 
the policy term. In addition, you cannot increase the amount of 
insurance coverage you have during a loss in progress.

MYTH: Homeowners insurance policies cover flooding.

FACT: Unfortunately, many home and business owners do not find 
out until it is too late that their homeowners and business multi-peril 
policies do not cover flooding. The NFIP offers a separate policy 
that protects their home or business. Homeowners can include 
contents coverage in their NFIP policy. Homeowners, residential, and 
commercial renters should also purchase contents coverage. Business 
owners should purchase flood insurance coverage for their buildings 
and contents/inventory. 

MYTH: Flood insurance is only available for homeowners.

FACT: Most people who live in NFIP-participating communities, 
including renters and community association unit owners, are 
eligible to purchase federally backed flood insurance. A maximum of 
$250,000 of building coverage is available for single-family residential 
buildings, and $250,000 per unit for residential condominiums. The 
limit for contents coverage on all residential buildings is $100,000, 
which is also available to renters. Commercial structures can be 
insured to a limit of $500,000 for the building and $500,000 for the 
contents. The maximum insurance limit may not exceed the insurable 
value of the property.

MYTH: National Flood Insurance can only be purchased through the 
NFIP directly.

FACT: NFIP flood insurance is sold through private insurance 
companies and agents, and is backed by the federal government.

MYTH: Only residents of high-flood-risk areas need to insure their 
property.

FACT: All areas are susceptible to flooding, although to varying 
degrees. If you live in a low-to-moderate flood risk area, it is advisable 
to have flood insurance. Between 20 and 25% of the NFIP’s claims 
come from outside high-flood-risk areas. Residential and commercial 
property owners located in low-to-moderate risk areas should ask their 
agents if they are eligible for the Preferred Risk Policy, which provides 
very inexpensive flood insurance protection.

MYTH: You can’t buy flood insurance if your property has been flooded.

FACT: You are still eligible to purchase flood insurance after your 
home, apartment, or business has been flooded, provided that your 
community is participating in the NFIP. 

MYTH: Federal disaster assistance will pay for flood damage.

FACT: Before a community is eligible for disaster assistance, it 
must be declared a federal disaster area. Federal disaster assistance 
declarations are issued in less than 50% of flooding events. Federal 
disaster assistance is usually a loan that must be paid back with 
interest. For a $50,000 loan at 4% interest, your monthly payment 
would be around $240 a month ($2,880 a year) for 30 years. By 
comparison, a $100,000 flood insurance premium averages about $400 
a year ($33 a month). Furthermore, if you are uninsured and receive 

federal disaster assistance after a flood, you must purchase flood 
insurance to remain eligible for future disaster relief.

MYTH: The NFIP does not cover flooding resulting from hurricanes 
or the overflow of rivers or tidal waters.

FACT: The NFIP defines covered flooding as a general and temporary 
condition during which the surface of normally dry land is partially or 
completely inundated. Two properties in the area or two or more acres 
must be affected. Flooding can be caused by:

 ● Overflow of inland or tidal waters.
 ● Unusual and rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from 

any source, such as heavy rainfall, or mudflow (i.e., a river of liquid 
and flowing mud on the surfaces of normally dry land areas).

 ● Collapse or subsidence of land along the shore of a lake or other 
body of water, resulting from erosion or the effect of waves, or 
water currents exceeding normal, cyclical levels.

MYTH: The NFIP discourages development in all coastal areas.

One of the NFIP’s primary objectives is to guide development away 
from high-flood risk areas. NFIP regulations minimize the impact 
of structures that are built in SFHAs by requiring them not to cause 
obstructions to the natural flow of floodwaters. Also, as a condition 
of community participation in the NFIP, those structures built within 
SFHAs must adhere to strict floodplain management regulations 
enforced by the community.

In addition, the Coastal Barrier Resources Act (CBRA) of 1982 
relies on the NFIP to discourage building in fragile coastal areas by 
prohibiting the sale of flood insurance in designated CBRA areas. 
While the NFIP does not prohibit property owners from building 
in these areas, any Federal financial assistance, including federally 
backed flood insurance, is prohibited. However, the CBRA does not 
prohibit privately financed development or insurance.

Flooding facts 
 ● FEMA has designated the entire state of Florida as a flood zone 

with varying levels of risk. 
 ● Homeowners’ insurance does not cover flood damage.
 ● If you live in a SFHA or high-risk area and have a federally backed 

mortgage, your mortgage lender requires you to have flood insurance. 
 ● Just a few inches of water from a flood can cause tens of thousands 

of dollars in damage.
 ● Flash floods often bring walls of water 10- to 15-feet high.
 ● New land development can increase flood risk, especially if the 

construction changes natural runoff paths.
 ● A Preferred Risk Policy provides both building and contents coverage 

for properties in moderate- to low-risk areas for one low-price.
 ● People outside of mapped high-risk flood areas file more than 

20- % of all NFIP flood insurance claims and receive one-third of 
Federal Disaster Assistance for flooding.

 ● From 2005 to 2014, total flood insurance claims averaged more 
than $3.5 billion per year.

 ● When your community participates in the Community Rating 
System (CRS), you can qualify for an insurance premium 
reduction discount of up to 45% if you live in a high-risk area and 
up to 10% in moderate- to low-risk areas.

 ● The NFIP paid nearly $50 billion for flood insurance claims and 
related costs between 1978 and early 2015.

PArT II — HISTory oF THE nFIP 
Unlike many other types of property insurance, flood insurance 
was largely unavailable to property owners before 1968. The high 
premiums and huge payouts required by flood conditions made 
it unprofitable for private insurance companies. The NFIP was 
established in 1968 to fill this gap. Originally administered by the 
Department of Housing and Urban Development, the NFIP has been 
under the authority of FEMA since 1979. 

The following laws and policies are related to the NFIP: 

The Flood Insurance Protection Act of 1973
The Flood Insurance Protection Act of 1973 (FIPA) mandated that 
lenders require flood insurance on loans secured by properties located 
within high-risk flood areas. The severity of damage from Hurricane 
Agnes in 1972 (costing $4 billion in damages) prompted a study 
showing surprisingly few properties were insured against flooding. 
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FIPA required buildings located in identified flood hazard areas to 
purchase flood insurance coverage as a condition of receiving federal 
aid or loans from federally-insured banks for federal disaster coverage.

Write-your-Own (WYO) Program (1983)
The Write-Your-Own (WYO) Program, established within the NFIP 
in 1983, allowed participating property and casualty insurers to issue 
standard flood insurance policies under their name or agency. This 
program provides options for those who do not qualify for NFIP 
coverage. WYO programs work through independent agents, and 
have varying fee structures. WYOs provide the same policies, but 
may offer customers other benefits, such as one point of contact for all 
of their property insurance needs. To find insurance agents who sell 
flood insurance for your area, see the FloodSmart website at www.
floodsmart.gov or call (800) 427-2419 

The National Flood Insurance Reform Acts of 1994 and 2004
The National Flood Insurance Reform Act of 1994 and Flood 
Insurance Reform Act of 2004 strengthened the NFIP by:

 ● Monitoring lender compliance. 
 ● Creating mitigation insurance. 
 ● Developing a mitigation assistance program to reduce some of the 

costs and effects of flood.
 ● Reducing losses to properties for which repetitive flood insurance 

claim payments have been made. 
 ● Creating policyholder awareness about individual flood 

insurance policies.
 ● Increasing policyholder information on guidance about the flood 

insurance claims process. 
 ● Establishing a minimum flood insurance training and education 

requirement for insurance professionals.

Community Incentives (1990s)(1)
The National Flood Insurance Program was designed not only to offer 
affordable insurance to property owners, but also mitigate flooding 
effects (reducing the socioeconomic impact of disasters overall) through 
floodplain management and regulation. The NFIP established the CRS 
to motivate communities to exceed Federal minimum requirements 
for flood protection with the incentive of reduced flood insurance rates 
(subsidies) for communities participating in the program. Only property 
owners in participating communities receive CRS subsidies. 

The CRS was implemented during the 1990s; it extended the reach of 
flood insurance to more properties nationally and established a grant 
program for mitigation plans and projects. Under CRS, premiums of a 
community’s residents and businesses are discounted if the community 
enacts and enforces a floodplain management ordinance and 
participates in other floodplain management activities. These reduced 
premiums reflect the reduced flood risk resulting from community 
efforts toward achieving the three CRS goals:
1. Reduce flood damage to insurable property.
2. Strengthen and support the insurance aspects of the NFIP.
3. Encourage a comprehensive approach to floodplain management.

CRS participation can reduce flood insurance premiums by a 
significant amount. Discounts are determined by the accumulation of 
CRS credits, which are based on community efforts. CRS also awards 
credit for coursework in the following categories: 
1. Public Information.
2. Mapping and Regulations.
3. Flood Damage Reduction.
4. Warning and Response.

Florida communities constitute the largest number of participants in the 
CRS. Citizens in Florida’s communities that qualify for the CRS receive 
discounts on the cost of federal flood insurance ranging from 5% to 25%. 
To find out if your community participates in the NFIP, see http://www.
fema.gov/cis/FL.html for a list of Florida’s participating communities.

The Passage and Modification of Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance 
Reform Act of 2012 
The Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Reform Act of 2012 (Biggert-
Waters) authorized and funded a national mapping program and rate 
increases intended to ensure the fiscal soundness of the NFIP. One of its 
primary objectives was moving the program from reliance on subsidized 
(artificially low) rates, to higher rates more reflective of actual risks to 
the insured property. Public concern over higher rates and revised risk 
assessments prompted Congress to pass the Consolidated Appropriations 
Act of 2014 in January, and The Homeowner Flood Insurance 
Affordability Act of 2014 (HFIAA) in March of that year. 

The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2014 
The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2014 (Omnibus Act), 
prohibited the implementation of certain sections of Biggert-Waters, 
effectively stopping select rate increases while a new law to address 
these concerns was still under development. The Omnibus Act 
prohibited the NFIP from implementing Section 207 of Biggert-
Waters, which required flood insurance rates to reflect a property’s full 
risk after a mapping change or update. 

Homeowner Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014
HFIAA repealed certain sections of Biggert-Waters. Most provisions 
of Biggert-Waters are currently in effect and were not altered by 
HFIAA. Changes include the restoration of “grandfathering,” and 
an annual surcharge to all policyholders to ensure the fund’s fiscal 
security. The new law slows some flood insurance rate increases and 
provides refunds to some policyholders who experienced steep flood 
insurance premium increases in 2013 and early 2014. 

While the new law does require some retroactive changes for certain 
policies written after July 6, 2012, other revisions require establishment 
of new programs, processes and procedures. FEMA encourages 
policyholders to keep their original flood insurance policies current 
through this transitional period, which may be lengthy. FEMA does 
NOT recommend cancelling a flood insurance policy, as this will leave 
policyholders without coverage. The old plan should be maintained until 
the policyholder is fully covered under the reformed plan.

Summary of recent changes to the nFIP
Premiums

 ● The new law requires gradual rate increases to properties now 
receiving artificially low (or subsidized) rates instead of immediate 
increases to full-risk rates required in certain cases; FEMA is 
required to increase premiums for most subsidized properties at 
least 5% annually until the class premium reaches its full-risk rate.

 ● Insurance premiums cannot increase more than 18% annually, with 
limited exceptions. 

 ● Policies for the following properties will continue to see up to 25% 
annual increases until prices reflect their full-risk rate:

 ○ Older business properties insured with subsidized rates. 
 ○ Older non-primary residences insured with subsidized rates.
 ○ Severe Repetitive Loss Properties insured with subsidized rates. 

 ○ Buildings that have been substantially damaged or improved.
 ○ Buildings built before the local adoption of a FIRM (known as 

Pre-FIRM properties). 
 ● To enable new purchasers of property to retain Pre-FIRM rates 

while FEMA is developing its guidelines, a new purchaser will 
be allowed to assume the prior owner’s flood insurance policy 
and retain the same rates until the guidance is finalized. Lapsed 
policies receiving Pre-FIRM subsidized rates may be reinstated 
with Pre-FIRM subsidized rates pending FEMA’s implementation 
of the rate increases required by HFIAA. 

Refunds
Recent legislation restored grandfathered rates and repealed certain 
rate increases so refunds may be issued to some policyholders. 
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Those affected by the Pre-FIRM saw significant premium increases 
with Biggert-Waters. The new law allows a return to subsidized rates 
for most properties and refunds of the difference paid between the 
subsidized rate and current full-risk rate. Refunds will only go to 
a very small percent of NFIP policyholders who had rate increases 
revoked by the new law, rather than all subsidized policyholders who 
received rate increases. 

Refunds apply to policyholders in high-risk areas who were required to 
pay their full-risk rate after purchasing a new flood insurance policy on 
or after July 6, 2012. 

Refunds may apply to policyholders who renewed their policy after the 
HFIAA was enacted on March 21, 2014 and whose premium increased 
more than 18%. 

Refunds do not apply to: 
 ● Policyholders paying the 25% annual rate increases for a Pre-FIRM 

subsidized non-primary residence, business, Severe Repetitive Loss 
property, or building that was substantially damaged or improved. 

 ● Policyholders whose full-risk premium is less than the Pre-FIRM 
subsidized premium, or who were not overcharged according to 
any retroactive revisions to the Pre-FIRM subsidized rates required 
by the new law. 

 ● Policyholders who saw usual, annual rate increases in 2013 or 
2014, or policyholders who paid the 5% fee, will only see a refund 
if their premium renewal was after March 21, 2014 and their total 
premium, including the reserve fund, exceeded 18%. 

Prior to restoring and refunding premiums, FEMA is required 
by HFIAA to consult with its partner insurers (WYO insurance 
companies) to develop guidance and rate tables. The law requires 
FEMA to develop and finalize its guidance and rate tables within 8 
months, and the WYO insurance companies between 6 and 8 months 
to implement the changes and update systems. 

Surcharge
The law applies an annual surcharge for all policyholders in the 
amount of $25 per year for renters and owners of primary residences, 
and $250 per year for owners of non-primary residences and non-
residential buildings. The fee will be included on all policies, including 
full-risk rated policies, until all Pre-FIRM subsidies are eliminated. 

Grandfathering 
When FIRM changes occur, the NFIP provides a lower-cost flood 
insurance rating option known as “grandfathering,” which is available 
for property owners who (1) have flood insurance policies in effect 
when the new flood maps become effective and then maintain 
continuous coverage; or (2) have built in compliance with the FIRM in 
effect at the time of construction. 

 ● The new law repeals a provision that required FEMA, upon the 
effective date of a new or updated FIRM, to phase in premium 
increases over 5 years by 20% a year, to reflect the current risk 
of flood to a property, effectively eliminating FEMA’s ability to 
grandfather properties into lower risk classes. 

 ● Also for newly mapped in properties, the new law sets first year 
premiums at the same rate offered to properties located outside the 
SFHA (preferred risk policy rates). 

 ● With limited exceptions, flood insurance premiums cannot increase 
more than 18% annually. 

Flood Insurance Advocate 
 ● The new law requires FEMA to designate a Flood Insurance 

Advocate to represent and guarantee fair treatment of NFIP policy 
holders. The Advocate will: 

 ○ Educate property owners and policyholders on individual flood 
risks; flood mitigation; measures to reduce flood insurance 
rates through effective mitigation; the FIRM review and 
amendment process; and any changes in the flood insurance 
program as a result of any newly enacted laws. 

 ○ Assist policy holders and property owners to understand the 
procedural requirements related to appealing preliminary FIRMs 
and implementing measures to mitigate evolving flood risks. 

 ○ Assist in the development of regional capacity to respond 
to individual constituent concerns about FIRM amendments 
and revisions. 

 ○ Coordinate outreach and education with local officials and 
community leaders in areas impacted by proposed FIRM 
amendments and revisions. 

 ○ Aid potential policy holders in obtaining and verifying 
accurate and reliable flood insurance rate information when 
purchasing or renewing a flood insurance policy. 

Other FEMA responsibilities
 ● Permit FEMA to account for property specific flood mitigation that 

is not part of the insured structure in determining a full-risk rate. 
 ● Require that residential basement flood proofing be considered 

when developing full-risk rates after a map changes increasing the 
Base Flood Elevation in an area where residential basement flood 
proofing is permitted. 

 ● Mandate that FEMA develop an installment plan for non-
escrowed flood insurance premiums, which will require changes to 
regulations and the Standard Flood Insurance Policy contract. 

 ● Increase maximum deductibles. 
 ● Encourage FEMA to minimize the number of policies where 

premiums exceed 1% of the coverage amount and require FEMA 
to report such premiums to Congress. 

Affordability study 
 ● The new law requires FEMA to conduct an affordability study 

to examine:
 ○ Best practices for communicating flood risk to customers. 
 ○ Targeted assistance based on financial ability to pay. 
 ○ Individual and community actions to mitigate flood risk or 

lower cost of flood insurance. 
 ○ The impact of increases in premium rates on NFIP participation. 
 ○ The effects of mapping updates on flood insurance affordability. 

 ● The affordability framework will include proposals and proposed 
regulations for ensuring flood insurance affordability among low-
income populations. 

Mapping 
HFIAA requires the Technical Mapping Advisory Council (TMAC) 
to review the new national flood mapping program authorized under 
the 2012 and 2014 flood insurance reform laws. The law requires the 
Administrator to certify in writing to Congress that FEMA is utilizing 
“technically credible” data and mapping approaches. The law also 
requires FEMA to submit the TMAC review report to Congress. 

FEMA will be looking to the TMAC for recommendations on how 
best to meet the legislatively mandated mapping requirements for the 
new mapping program including the identification of residual risk 
areas, coastal flooding information, land subsidence, erosion, expected 
changes in flood hazards with time, and others. 

As the new national flood mapping program is being established, FEMA 
expects there will be opportunities to make incremental improvements 
to current procedures as it provides flood hazard data and information 
under the NFIP. FEMA will make those improvements where necessary 
to ensure all ongoing changes to flood hazards continue to be effectively 
communicated, mitigated, and properly insured.

The law lifts the $250,000 limit on the amount that FEMA can spend 
to reimburse homeowners for successful map appeals based on a 
scientific or technical error. Federal rulemaking is required in order to 
implement this provision. 

FEMA is authorized to account for reconstruction or improvements 
of flood protection, not just new construction. It authorizes FEMA to 
consider the existing present value of a levee when assessing adequate 
progress for the reconstruction of an existing flood protection system. 
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The law extends certain provisions related to NFIP requirements in 
areas restoring disaccredited flood protection systems to coastal levees 
and clarifies that the levee needs to be considered without regard to the 
level of federal funding for the original construction or the restoration. 

The law exempts mapping fees for flood map changes due to habitat 
restoration projects, dam removal, culvert re-design or installation, or 
the installation of fish passages. 

The law requires FEMA to consider the effects of non-structural flood 
control features, such as dunes, and beach and wetland restoration 
when it maps the special flood hazard area. 

The law requires FEMA to enhance coordination with communities 
before and during mapping activities and requires FEMA to report 
certain information to members of Congress for each State and 
congressional district.

PArT III — FLood InSUrAnCE CovErAgE
Who needs flood insurance
In Florida, members of a community association are collectively 
responsible for insuring the building against flood damage, while 
individual unit owners are responsible for insuring all contents in 
their unit. 

Each unit owner has an undivided interest in the common elements 
of the building and can be assessed for unpaid damages to common 
areas even if their own unit remains undamaged. Even unit owners 
on elevated floors in high rise buildings need to purchase flood 
insurance for their unit’s contents; if a building is condemned due to 
flood damage, unit owners would not be permitted into the building to 
retrieve their belongings, and all personal property would qualify as a 
covered flood insurance loss.

Flood insurance is somewhat complicated by the fact that it is not 
sold like other types of property insurance, is administered by a 
federal agency, and is a shared responsibility between the Community 
Association, as an entity, and each of its unit owners/members, 
individually. CAM can inform unit owners about the importance 
of purchasing adequate coverage, as well as explain their financial 
obligations to the association if common property is damaged by 
flooding and existing funds are insufficient, or if, for any reason, the 
association discontinues coverage. 

Standard flood insurance policy forms
The NFIP offers three Standard Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP) forms. 
Policy types vary according to how a building is occupied. Content 
coverage can be purchased with each type. 
1. Dwelling policy form.
2. General property policy form.
3. Residential Condominium Building Association Policy 

(RCBAP) Form.

Dwelling form 
The policy form used to insure a building designed for use as a 
residence for no more than 4 families or a single-family unit in a 
residential building under a condominium form of ownership. This 
form is also used to insure residential contents in any building. The 
owner of a residential building with 5 or more units can use this form 
to insure contents only in his or her own residential unit.

The Dwelling Policy Form can be issued to homeowners, residential 
renters and condominium unit-owners of residential buildings containing 
two to four units. In communities participating in the NFIP, the Dwelling 
Policy provides building and/or contents coverage for any:

 ● Detached, single-family, non-condominium residence with 
incidental occupancy limited to less than 50% of the total floor area.

 ● Two- to four- family, non-condominium building with incidental 
occupancy limited to less than 25% of the total floor area.

 ● Dwelling unit in a residential condominium building.
 ● Residential townhouse/row house.
 ● Manufactured mobile home.

General property policy form 
The policy form used to insure a non-residential building or a 
5-or-more-unit residential building not eligible for the Residential 
Condominium Building Association Policy (RCBAP). This form 
is also used to insure non-residential contents in any building or a 

building owner’s residential contents located in multiple units within a 
building with 5 or more units.

In communities participating in the NFIP, the General Property 
Policy provides building and/or contents coverage for residences 
such the following: 

 ● Hotel or motel with normal guest occupancy of 6 months or more.
 ● Apartment building.
 ● Residential cooperative building.
 ● Dormitory.
 ● Assisted-living facility.

The General Property Policy also provides building and/or contents 
coverage for non-residential properties including the following:

 ● Condominium building with less than 75% of its total floor area in 
residential use.

 ● Non-residential condominium.
 ● Poolhouse, clubhouse, or other recreational building.
 ● House of worship.
 ● School.
 ● Hotel or motel with normal guest occupancy of less than 6 months.
 ● Licensed bed-and-breakfast inn.
 ● Retail.
 ● Nursing home.
 ● Warehouse.
 ● Stock, inventory, or other commercial contents.
 ● Mercantile building.
 ● Grain bin, silo, or other farm building.
 ● Agricultural or industrial processing facility.
 ● Factory.

Residential Condominium Building Association Policy Form 
(RCBAP)
The RCBAP is the policy form used to insure a building, owned and 
administered as a condominium, containing 1 or more units and in 
which at least 75% of the floor area is residential. The Residential 
Condominium Building Association Policy (RCBAP) insures both 
common and individually owned building elements in one policy that 
includes all units within the building and improvements made within 
the individual units. Insuring all units in a condominium building this 
way makes flood insurance protection more cost effective. Owners 
of individual units can purchase additional building and contents 
coverage through the Dwelling Form, if desired.

Eligibility requirements for the RCBAP
For a building to be eligible under the RCBAP form, the building must 
be owned by a condominium association, which the NFIP defines as: 

The entity made up of the unit owners responsible for the 
maintenance and operation of (1) common elements owned in 
undivided shares by unit owners; and (2) other real property in 
which the unit owners have use rights, where membership in the 
entity is a required condition of unit ownership.

The RCBAP is required for all buildings owned by a condominium 
association containing 1 or more residential units and in which at least 
75% of the total floor area within the building is residential without 
regard to the number of units or number of floors. It is available for 
high-rise and low-rise residential condominium buildings, including 
townhouse/row house and detached single-family condominium 
buildings in the Regular Program only. 



Page 71  CAMS.EliteCME.com

Residential condominium buildings that are being used as a hotel or 
motel, or are being rented (either short or long term), must be insured 
under the RCBAP. 

If the named insured is listed as other than a condominium 
association, the agent/ producer must provide legal documentation 
to confirm that the insured is a condominium association before the 
RCBAP can be written. This documentation may be a copy of the 
condominium association by-laws or a statement signed by an officer 
or representative of the condominium association confirming that the 
building is in a condominium form of ownership. 

In the event of a loss, RCBAPs written for buildings found not to be in 
a condominium form of ownership will be rewritten under the correct 
policy form for up to the maximum amount of building coverage 
allowed under the program for the type of building insured, not to 
exceed the coverage purchased under the RCBAP. 

A homeowners association (HOA) may differ from a condominium 
association and is ineligible for the RCBAP, unless the HOA meets 
the definition of a condominium association as defined in the policy. 
Cooperative ownership buildings are not eligible. Timeshare buildings in 
a condominium form of ownership in jurisdictions where title is vested in 
individual unit owners are eligible provided that all other criteria are met. 

Low rise vs high rise buildings
The NFIP has grouped condominium buildings into 2 different types, 
low-rise and high-rise, because of the difference in the exposures to the 
risk that typically exists. Low-rise buildings generally have a greater 
percentage of the value of the building at risk than high-rise buildings, 
thus requiring higher premiums for the first dollars of coverage. The 
availability of the optional deductibles for the low-rise buildings, 
however, allows the association to buy back some of the risk, thereby 
reducing the overall cost of the coverage. 

For rating purposes: 
 ● High-rise buildings contain 5 or more units and at least 3 floors 

excluding enclosure, even if it is the lowest floor for rating. 
 ● Low-rise buildings have fewer than 5 units regardless of the 

number of floors, or 5 or more units with fewer than 3 floors, 
including the basement. 

 ● Townhouse/row house buildings are always considered low-rise 
buildings for rating purposes, no matter how many units or floors 
they have. A townhouse/ row house is a multi-floor unit divided 
from similar units by solid, vertical, load-bearing walls, having 
no openings in the walls between units and with no horizontal 
divisions between any of the units. 

Condominium buildings under construction 
The NFIP rules allow the issuance of an SFIP to cover a building in 
the course of construction before the building is walled and roofed. 
These rules provide lenders the option to require flood insurance 
coverage at the time that the development loan is made to comply with 
the mandatory purchase requirement outlined in the Flood Disaster 
Protection Act of 1973, as amended. The policy is issued and rated 
based on the construction designs and intended use of the building. 

In order for a condominium building in the course of construction to 
be eligible under the RCBAP form, the building must be owned by a 
condominium association. Buildings in the course of construction that 
have yet to be walled and roofed are eligible for coverage except when 
construction has been halted for more than 90 days and/or if the lowest 
floor used for rating purposes is below the Base Flood Elevation 

(BFE). Materials or supplies intended for use in such construction, 
alteration, or repair are not insurable unless they are contained within 
an enclosed building on the premises or adjacent to the premises. 

Methods of insuring condominium associations
There are 4 methods of insuring condominium associations under the 
NFIP. Each has its own eligibility requirements: 
1. Building and contents 

A condominium association is the corporate entity responsible for the 
management and operation of a condominium. Membership is made 
up of the condominium unit owners. A condominium association 
may purchase insurance coverage on a residential building and its 
contents under the RCBAP. The RCBAP covers only a residential 
condominium building in a Regular Program community. 

2. Residential condominium: unit owner’s coverage on building 
and contents 
A residential condominium unit in a high-rise or low-rise building, 
including a townhouse or row house, is considered to be a single-
family residence. An individual dwelling unit in a condominium 
building may be insured in any 1 of the following 4 ways: 
1. An individual unit and its contents may be separately insured 

under the Dwelling Form, in the name of the unit owner, at the 
limits of insurance for a single-family dwelling. 

2. An individual unit may be separately insured under the 
Dwelling Form, if purchased by the association in the name of 
the unit owner and the association as their interests may appear, 
up to the limits of insurance for a single-family dwelling. 

3. An individual unit owned by the association may be 
separately insured under the Dwelling Form, if purchased 
by the condominium association. The single-family limits of 
insurance apply. 

4. An individual non-residential unit owner may not purchase 
building coverage. However, contents-only coverage can 
be purchased either under the General Property Form or the 
Dwelling Form, depending on the type of contents. 

A policy on a condominium unit will be issued naming the unit owner 
and the association, as their interests may appear. Coverage under a 
unit owner’s policy applies first to the individually owned building 
elements and improvements to the unit and then to the damage of the 
building’s common elements that are the unit owner’s responsibility. 
In the event of a loss, the claim payment to an individual unit owner 
may not exceed the maximum allowable in the Program. 

3. Non-residential (commercial) condominium: building and 
contents 
Non-residential (commercial) condominium buildings and 
their commonly owned contents may be insured in the name 
of the association under the General Property Form. The “non-
residential” limits apply. 

4. Non-residential (commercial) condominium: unit owner’s 
coverage (contents) 
The owner of a non-residential or residential condominium unit 
within a non-residential condominium building may purchase only 
contents coverage for that unit. Building coverage may not be 
purchased in the name of the unit owner. In the event of a loss, up 
to 10% of the stated amount of contents coverage can be applied 
to losses to condominium interior walls, floors, and ceilings. The 
10% is not an additional amount of insurance.

valuation basis and limits
The two most common reimbursement methods for flood claims are 
Replacement Cost Value (RCV) and Actual Cash Value (ACV). ACV 
is the cost to replace an insured item of property at the time of loss, 
less the value of its physical depreciation. The value of flood damage 
in the General Property Form is based on ACV for losses to the 

insured building and its insured personal property including stock and 
inventory. Personal property is always valued using ACV. 

RCBAP building coverage is on a Replacement Cost valuation basis. 
RCV means the cost to replace property with the same kind of material 
and construction without deduction for depreciation. A condominium 
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unit owner’s Dwelling Form policy provides Replacement Cost 
coverage on the building if eligibility requirements have been met. The 
RCBAP policy provides:

 ● The maximum amount of building coverage that can be purchased 
on a high-rise or low-rise condominium is the RCV of the building 
or the total number of units in the condominium building times 
$250,000, whichever is less. 

 ● The maximum allowable contents coverage is the ACV of the 
commonly owned contents up to a maximum of $100,000 per 
building. 

 ● If the property is insured to less than 80% of replacement cost, the 
coinsurance clause reduces the amount of payment. 

 ● All other claims are settled on an ACV.
 ● ACV is the basis for adjusting all contents losses.

For residential townhouse/row house and low-rise condominiums, the 
building basic limit amount of insurance is $60,000 multiplied by the 
number of units in the building. 

 ● For high-rise condominiums, the building basic amount of 
insurance is $175,000. 

 ● The contents basic limit amount of insurance is $25,000. 
 ● For condominium unit owners who have insured their personal 

property under the Dwelling Form or General Property Form, 
coverage extends to interior walls, floor, and ceiling (if not covered 
under the condominium association’s insurance) up to 10% of the 
personal property limit of liability. 

 ● Use of this coverage is at the option of the insured and reduces the 
personal property limit of liability. 

Single Family Homes are settled on a RCV basis if these two 
conditions are met: It is a primary residence and it is insured to at least 
80% of replacement cost, at the time of loss. In any other cases, Single 
Family Homes are settled on an ACV basis. The building basic limit 
amount of insurance for a detached building housing a single-family 
unit owned by the condominium association is $60,000. 

Building vs contents coverage
Flood insurance protects two types of insurable property: (1) building 
and (2) contents/possessions. Neither covers damage to the land the 
building occupies. The following section list items typically covered 
and not covered by each type of flood insurance. This information is 
for general purposes only. Refer to your policy for information about 
specific items covered/excluded.

A building flood insurance policy covers direct physical damage to the 
building or its contents caused by a flood. This means damages caused 
by a sewer backup are covered only if the backup is a direct result of 
flooding; if the backup is caused by some other issue, flood insurance 
will not pay the damages. 

Building property coverage insures:
 ● The insured building and its foundation, including walls, 

anchorage systems, and staircases attached to the building. 
 ● The plumbing system.
 ● Central air conditioning equipment, furnaces, water heaters, and 

ventilating equipment.
 ● Heat pumps and sump pumps.
 ● Refrigerators, cooking stoves, and built-in appliances, such as 

dishwashers.
 ● Walk-in freezers.
 ● Permanently installed carpeting over an unfinished floor. 
 ● Permanently installed paneling, wallboard, bookcases, and cabinets. 
 ● Awnings and canopies. 
 ● Outdoor antennas and aerials attached to buildings. 
 ● Fire extinguishing apparatus and fire sprinkler systems. 
 ● Cisterns and the water in them. 
 ● Drywall for walls and ceilings (in basements only). 
 ● Nonflammable insulation (in basements only). 
 ● Electrical outlets, switches, and circuit breaker boxes. 
 ● Fuel tanks and the fuel in them, solar energy equipment, well 

water tanks, and pumps. 
 ● Elevators, dumbwaiters, and related equipment. 

Personal Property/contents coverage insures possessions, including:
 ● Clothing, furniture, curtains, fixtures, and electronic equipment.
 ● Portable and window air conditioners.
 ● Portable microwave ovens and dishwashers.
 ● Clothing washers and dryers.
 ● Carpets or rugs not included in building coverage. 
 ● Food freezers (other than walk-in) and the food in any freezer. 
 ● Certain valuable items such as original artwork and furs (Limited 

to $2,500 in total). 
 ● Non-licensed self-propelled vehicles if stored inside the insured 

building and used to service the described location (e.g., tractor) or 
designed to assist a person with a disability. 

 ● Up to 10% of contents coverage to improvements made to a 
building the insured occupies as a tenant. 

 ● Some business possessions, depending on the policy, including 
merchandise or raw materials held in storage or for sale, or other 
personal property used in the property owner’s business. (See 
specific policy for exclusions.)

Exclusions: 
The following items are not insured by Building Property or Personal 
Property coverage:

 ● Property and belongings outside the enclosed building, or in another 
structure, such as trees, plants, wells, septic systems, walkways, 
decks, patios, fences, seawalls, hot tubs, and swimming pools. 

 ● Buildings, or personal property in perilous locations affected by 
high tides.

 ● Open buildings used to house boats.
 ● Types of vehicles, including most self-propelled vehicles, such as 

cars, and their parts.
 ● Any loss resulting from earth movement, even if caused by flood. 
 ● Damage caused by moisture, mildew, or mold that could have been 

avoided by the property owner. 
 ● Damage caused by sewer or drain backup unless there is a flood in 

the area that caused the backup. 
 ● Currency, precious metals, and valuable papers, such as stock 

certificates, script, and recorded data. 
 ● Financial losses caused by business interruption or loss of use of 

insured property.

Roadways and drainage systems within private communities are 
owned and maintained by the community’s maintenance association, 
not the city in which the community is located. Any flood mitigation 
and response within these private communities is the responsibility of 
the community’s management company. 

In the event of flooding so severe that a structure may be 
compromised, property owners should call the City’s Department 
of Public Works. Public Works will investigate the situation and 
determine if the cause of the flooding is the community’s drainage 
system or the city’s storm water management system, and take the 
appropriate action if any is needed. City personnel do not perform 
work on privately-owned drainage systems. 

Basement coverage
The NFIP defines a basement as any area of a building with a floor that 
is below ground level on all sides. While flood insurance does not cover 
basement improvements (such as finished walls, floors, or ceilings), 
or personal belongings kept in a basement (such as furniture and other 
contents), it does cover structural elements and essential equipment.
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The following items are covered under building coverage, as long 
as required power sources were connected and installed in their 
functioning location:

 ● Sump pumps.
 ● Well water tanks and pumps, cisterns, and the water in them.
 ● Oil tanks and the oil in them, natural gas tanks and the gas in them.
 ● Pumps and/or tanks used in conjunction with solar energy.
 ● Furnaces, water heaters, air conditioners, and heat pumps.
 ● Electrical junction and circuit breaker boxes and required utility 

connections.
 ● Foundation elements.
 ● Stairways, staircases, elevators, and dumbwaiters.
 ● Unpainted drywall walls and ceilings, including fiberglass insulation.
 ● Cleanup.

The following items are covered under contents coverage:
 ● Clothes washers and dryers.
 ● Food freezers and the food in them.

The NFIP recommends both building and contents coverage for the 
broadest protection.

Additional coverage
The NFIP recommends that RCV be updated every 3 years to ensure it is 
still accurate and appropriate. The RCBAP Form and General Property 
Form do not offer assessment coverage. It is only available under the 
Dwelling Form, subject to certain conditions and exclusions. Assessment 
coverage cannot be used to meet the 80% coinsurance provision of the 
RCBAP, and does not apply to ICC coverage or to coverage for closed 
basin lakes. In addition, assessment coverage cannot be used to pay a 
loss assessment resulting from a deductible under the RCBAP. 

The Dwelling form can respond, up to the building coverage limit, to 
assessments against unit owners for damages to common areas of any 
building owned by the condominium association, even if the building 
is not insured, provided that: (1) each of the unit owners comprising 
the membership of the association is assessed by reason of the same 
cause; and (2) the assessment arises out of a direct physical loss by or 
from flood to the condominium building at the time of the loss. 

The General Property Form provides the following additional coverage: 
 ● Expenses to remove non-owned debris from insured property and 

owned insured debris anywhere. 
 ● Expenses up to $1,000 for loss avoidance measures, such as 

sandbagging, and up to $1,000 to move insured property to a safer 
location when flooding is imminent. 

 ● Damage up to $10,000 caused by pollutants if the discharge, 
escape, or seepage is caused by or the result of a flood. These are 
not additional amounts of insurance. 

Coinsurance penalty fee
This fee applies only to RCBAP policy holders. NFIP charges a 
coinsurance penalty to building coverage only if the insured has not 
purchased insurance equal to the lesser of (1) 80% or more of the full 
replacement cost of the building at the time of loss or (2) the maximum 
amount of insurance under the NFIP or the insured will not be 
reimbursed fully for a loss. The amount of loss in this situation would 
be determined by using the following formula: Insurance Carried 
Insurance Required × Amount of Loss = Limit of Recovery. Building 

coverage purchased under individual Dwelling Forms cannot be added 
to RCBAP coverage in order to avoid the coinsurance penalty.

The following fees apply to all National Flood Insurance Policy forms: 
the ICC Premium, the HFIAA Reserve Fund Surcharge, the Federal 
Policy Fee, and a Probation Surcharge (if applicable) A probation 
surcharge is only required to cover property that the NFIP has placed 
on probation under the provisions of 44 CFR 59.24

Increased cost of compliance premium
Most NFIP policies include Increased Cost of Compliance (ICC) 
coverage, which applies to insured buildings with substantial 
flood damage. If the community declares a building “substantially 
damaged” or a “repetitive loss structure” by a flood(s), the structure 
must be brought up to current community floodplain management 
building standards, as long as it was insured with building coverage. 
If it qualifies, ICC can provide up to $30,000 of the cost to elevate, 
demolish, or relocate the insured building, or flood-proof structures 
with qualified basements. 

Payment of an ICC claim is in addition to the amount of the building 
claim. However, the total amount of the building claim and ICC claim 
cannot exceed the maximum limit available for Building Property 
coverage ($500,000). Having an ICC claim does not affect a personal 
property claim (up to $500,000), which is paid separately. 

Annual surcharge
As of April 1, 2015, every new or renewed NFIP policy includes an 
annual surcharge required by HFIAA. The surcharge amount depends on 
the use of the insured building and the type of policy form insuring the 
building, regardless of its flood zone designation or date of construction.

Policies for owner-occupied, single-family detached buildings and 
individual condominium units that are the primary residence of a 
policyholder insured under the Dwelling Policy Form will include a 
$25 HFIAA surcharge. 

Contents-only policies insured under the Dwelling Policy Form and 
held by a tenant in the tenant’s primary residence will include the $25 
HFIAA surcharge. 

Policies for all other buildings will include a $250 HFIAA surcharge.

To ensure that policyholders pay the correct surcharge at renewal, 
they must complete and return a Verification of Primary Residence 
Status form to their flood insurance provider, which will have mailed 
the form before the renewal notice. The policyholder is required to 
respond within 30 days of receipt. If the form and documentation are 
not received within the 30-day period, a client’s renewal premium 
defaults to the $250 HFIAA surcharge. 

Federal policy fee 
Policy holders pay the federal policy fee on their renewal policy. It 
is an administrative fee charged to minimize ongoing national flood 
program expenses. The fees are:

1 unit . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$45 per policy 
2–4 units . . . . . . . . . .$135 per policy 
5–10 units . . . . . . . . .$360 per policy
1–20 units . . . . . . . . .$720 per policy
21 or more units . . . $1,800 per policy 

PArT Iv — FLood InSUrAnCE rATE MAPS (FIrM)
Mapping and flood insurance 
Maps that show flood risks for U.S. communities are officially 
called Flood Insurance Rate Maps—or FIRMs. Created by FEMA 
for floodplain management and insurance rating purposes, FIRMs 
show a community’s flood zones, Base Flood Elevations (BFEs), and 
floodplain boundaries, all of which provide an indication of the risk 
of flooding. FIRMs designate high-risk areas—those with a 1% or 
higher annual risk of experiencing a flood—and moderate- to low-risk 
areas—where the risk of flooding is less than 1% per year. 

Communities use FIRMs to manage floodplains and develop sound 
building ordinances. Mortgage lenders use FIRMs to help determine a 
property’s flood risk and decide whether flood insurance will be required 
as a condition for a loan. Insurance professionals use FIRMs in the 
rating process that determines a property’s flood insurance premium. 
Areas of moderate to low risk are shown as zones labeled B, C, or X on 
a FIRM. High-risk areas are shown as zones beginning with the letters A 
or V. Areas of undetermined risk are shown with the letter D. 
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Flood zone designations 
The following flood zone designation determines whether or not flood 
insurance is mandated. 

Zone A

Flood insurance rate zone determined 
by approximate methods, as no Base 
Flood Elevations (BFEs) are available 
for these areas. Mandatory flood 
insurance purchase requirements apply. 

Zone AE

Flood insurance rate zone that 
corresponds with flood depths greater 
than 3 feet. Mandatory flood insurance 
purchase requirements apply. 

Zone AH

Flood insurance rate zone that 
corresponds to areas of shallow 
flooding with average depths between 
1 and 3 feet. Mandatory flood 
insurance purchase requirements apply. 

Zone VE

Flood insurance rate zone that 
corresponds to coastal areas that 
have additional hazards associated 
with storm waves. Mandatory flood 
insurance requirements apply. 

Zone X

Flood insurance rate zones that are 
outside the flood plain or the average 
flood depths of less than 1 foot. Flood 
insurance purchase is not mandatory. 

Flood risk
Flood insurance premiums are based on the degree of flood risk. 
There is no such thing as a no-risk flood zone; there is always some 
risk of flooding. 

Moderate-to-low risk areas
Most condominium owners or renters in moderate- to low-risk areas 
are eligible for coverage at a preferred rate. A Preferred Risk Policy 
(PRP) provides both building and contents coverage for properties in 
moderate- to low-risk areas for one low price. In a Regular Program 
community, located in low- to moderate-risk flood zone (identified as 
“B,” “C,” or “X” on Flood Insurance Rate Maps), the Dwelling Form 
Preferred Risk Policy (PRP) offers low-cost, fixed combinations of 
building and contents coverage for an individual condominium unit in 
a residential condominium building. 

Residential condominium associations eligible under the RCBAP are 
not eligible for the PRP. However, associations who own individual 
units in a multi-unit residential condominium building are eligible for 
PRP when insuring the individual unit. Property owners in higher risk 
areas can still qualify for a standard-rated policy, which offers separate 
building and contents coverage.

High-risk areas
High-risk areas have at least a 25% chance of flooding during a 30-
year mortgage. Unit owners in buildings located in a high-risk flood 

areas are required to purchase flood insurance if the lender is federally 
regulated or insured. 

Special flood hazard area
The National Flood Insurance Reform Act of 1994 (NFIRA) requires 
all homes receiving a federally backed mortgage loan to have flood 
insurance when the home is located in a SFHA in a participating 
community. Condominium owners should be aware that the mortgage 
portfolio protection program (MPPP) allows mortgage companies to 
“force” a flood policy on a condominium when the insured have not 
secured a flood policy on their own. 

Revising flood maps
Flood mapping is revised regularly using the latest data-gathering and 
mapping technology to reflect changing flood risks and issue FIRMs 
that accurately show current flood risks. Changing water flows and 
drainage patterns dramatically alter flood patterns over time. They 
result from human land use and development, as well as natural 
forces such as changing weather patterns, surface erosion, subsidence, 
wildfires, or sea-level rise. 

FEMA is currently updating and modernizing the nation’s flood maps 
to show recent changes to floodplains and flood risks. Some property 
owners will find their property in a new zone classification. If it is to 
the property owner’s benefit, he or she can keep the rate associated 
with the prior map’s flood zone (grandfathering), if: 

 ● The unit owner or the association’s flood insurance policy was 
bought before a new map became effective; or 

 ● The building was built to conform to standards of the earlier map. 

Reflecting risk in premiums 
 ● Flood insurance premiums are based on a combination of factors 

including:
 ● Year of building construction.
 ● Building occupancy.
 ● Number of floors.
 ● Number of units.
 ● Flood risk/flood zone.
 ● The location of the lowest floor in relation to the elevation 

requirement on the flood map (in newer buildings).
 ● The deductible amount.
 ● Amount of building and contents coverage.

If a building is in a high-risk area—also called a Special Flood Hazard 
Area, or SFHA—the property owner is likely to pay a higher flood 
insurance premium than someone in a moderate- to low-risk area. The 
exact amount you pay depends on a number of factors, including the 
elevation of the building itself. 

In a high-risk area, your insurance premium will also depend on when 
your building was constructed in relation to the date of the FIRM. 
Some buildings constructed before the community’s first FIRM, called 
pre-FIRM, are eligible for subsidized premium rates that are determined 
with limited underwriting information (See Pre-FIRM subsidies, below). 

Change in risk
This chart shows the effect of map changes on insurance rates. For 
exact rating information, contact your insurance agent.

Change in risk Rate impact
Moderate- to low-risk area (Zone B, C, or X) or Unknown (Zone D)
TO
High-risk area (Zone A or V)

Flood insurance is mandatory. Flood insurance will be required if you 
have a mortgage from a federally regulated or insured lender. 
Rating options can offer savings. Buildings newly mapped into a high-
risk area may initially be eligible for a lower-cost rate during the first 12 
months following a map change. Premiums will then increase up to 18% 
each year as part of the premium rate revisions put in place by HFIAA 
of 2014. Purchasing a policy before the new map goes into effect will 
maximize your savings. Your insurance agent can provide more details on 
how to save. A policy can be assigned to new owners, allowing them to 
keep the lower rate.
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High-risk area to higher-risk area (Zone A to V) 
OR
Increase in Base Flood Elevation

Grandfathering can offer savings. The NFIP grandfathering option 
allows policyholders who have built in compliance with the flood map 
in effect at the time of construction to keep their previous zone or Base 
Flood Elevation to calculate their insurance premium. This could result 
in significant savings. A grandfather-rated policy can be assigned to new 
owners. In most cases, your insurance agent will ask you to provide an 
Elevation Certificate.

High-risk area (Zone A or V)
TO
Moderate- to low-risk area(Zone B, C, or X)

Flood insurance is optional, but recommended. The risk is reduced, 
not removed. More than 20% of NFIP claims come from buildings 
outside of high-risk areas. Conversion offers savings. An existing policy 
can be converted to a lower-cost Preferred Risk Policy, with a refund of 
the premium difference. Although flood insurance is no longer federally 
required, your mortgage lender might still choose to require it.

No change No change in insurance rates. Still, this is a good time to talk with your 
insurance agent to learn your specific risk and make sure you have enough 
flood insurance coverage. 

Preferred risk policies and special flood hazard areas 
New FIRMs show changes in an area’s risk of flooding over time. For 
some property owners, a change in risk means new flood insurance 
requirements. In recent years, FEMA has sought to ease the financial 
impact of a map change by extending eligibility for a lower-cost 
Preferred Risk Policy (PRP) if a building outside of the high-risk area 
called a SFHA is newly mapped into the SFHA. 

Until now, the PRP Eligibility Extension has applied to any building 
newly mapped into an SFHA since October 1, 2008, although as 
of October 1, 2013, PRP Eligibility Extension premiums began 
increasing at a higher rate on renewal. But beginning April 1, 2015, 
FEMA is implementing a new procedure to meet requirements of the 

Homeowner Flood Insurance Affordability Act of 2014 (HFIAA). As 
of April 1, 2015, Preferred Risk Policy (PRP) rates are available for 
buildings newly mapped into high-risk flood areas for 12 months after 
the new FIRMs become effective. 

Following a map revision, the owner of a building newly mapped into 
an SFHA will be rated according to a new procedure for newly mapped 
properties. This rate will be equal to the PRP rate, but with a higher 
Reserve Fund Assessment and Federal Policy Fee, for the first 12 
months following the map revision. After the introductory year, the rate 
will begin its transition to a full-risk rate with annual rate increases of no 
more than 18% each year. The table below summarizes this information.

newly mapped into an SFHA 
Scenario Property owner eligibility 
Property newly mapped into an SFHA on or after April 1, 2015. Eligible for the Newly Mapped procedure if the policy becomes 

effective within 12 months of the map revision date. 

Property newly mapped into an SFHA on or after April 1, 2015, but not 
covered within 12 months of the map revision date. 

Property no longer eligible for Newly Mapped procedure. Post-FIRM 
buildings are eligible for grandfather rating. Pre-FIRM buildings 
must be rated using the new maps, and may be eligible for pre-FIRM 
subsidized rates.
 

Property newly mapped into an SFHA between October 1, 2008, and 
March 31, 2015, but not currently covered. 

Eligible for the Newly Mapped procedure if covered before April 1, 
2016. 

Property with policy validly issued under the PRP Eligibility Extension 
prior to April 1, 2015. 

Renewed using the Newly Mapped procedure on the first effective 
date on or after April 1, 2015; policies for these buildings will receive 
the same premium as those newly issued using the Newly Mapped 
procedure. 

Property owners who do not have flood insurance and find that their 
buildings are being newly mapped into an SFHA should be encouraged 
to purchase a PRP before the new FIRMs become effective. Not only 
is their risk higher than they thought (and any potential flooding will 
not wait until the new maps become effective), but they also will be 
able to renew their policies at lower-cost PRP rates during the first 12 

months after the new map becomes effective. In other words, they will 
gain almost an extra year at PRP rates. Note that the same eligibility 
requirements that apply for PRPs also apply for the Newly Mapped 
procedure. A property that falls outside this category might be eligible 
for the Standard X Zone rating. 

Pre-FIrM subsidies
Several provisions of both the 2012 and 2014 laws apply to older 
buildings constructed before the effective date of the community’s first 
FIRM. Such buildings are referred to as “pre-FIRM.” Many pre-FIRM 
buildings located in high-risk flood zones have flood insurance policies 
with subsidized rates. Biggert-Waters required an immediate move to 

property-specific, full-risk rates when pre-FIRM properties were sold 
or new policies issued. 

Some policyholders saw significant premium increases due to 
provisions in Biggert-Waters. The new law allows a return to 
subsidized rates for most properties—and refunds of the difference 
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paid between the subsidized rate and current full-risk rate. The 
2014 law protects policyholders from significant and unanticipated 
increases in flood insurance costs that could impact their property 
sales. Subsidized rates continue to apply, and as of May 1, 2014, both 
the policy and its subsidized rates can be transferred to the new owner. 
Grandfathered rates can also be transferred at the time of sale.

For most pre-FIRM primary residences in high-risk areas, subsidized 
rates remain in effect, but with newly required minimum increases—
and an 18 % increase limit for any individual policy—until premiums 
reach their full-risk rates. For most other policy types, rates will 
increase by no more than 18% for any individual policy. The rate of 
phase-out will depend on the type of policy. The following charts 
explain how premium rates are affected for different policy types. 
Most subsidies remain, although they will be phased out over time. 

Policy type Impact on rate 
Existing policies Policies can be renewed at subsidized 

rates.
Newly written policies Policies can be issued and renewed at 

subsidized rates.
Policies on newly 
purchased buildings 

Policies can be issued and renewed at 
subsidized rates.

Policies re-issued after a 
lapse

Policies for pre-FIRM buildings in 
high-risk areas that lapsed due to a late 
renewal payment (received after the 
30-day grace period but less than 90 
days after expiration) can be re-issued 
and renewed at subsidized rates. 

Policy type Impact on rate
Policies for newer (“post-
FIRM”)buildings in high-
risk areas

Not affected by subsidies; already 
paying full-risk rates. 

Policies for buildings in 
moderate- to low-risk areas 

Not affected by subsidies; properties 
in these areas (shown as B, C, or 
X zones on flood maps) do not pay 
subsidized rates.

Policies for buildings 
“grandfathered in” when 
map changes show higher 
flood risk 

Grandfathering remains in effect 
at this time. Buildings constructed 
in compliance with earlier maps 
or continuously covered by flood 
insurance stay in their original rate 
class when maps change or properties 
are sold. 

Policies for buildings 
covered by Preferred Risk 
Policy Eligibility Extension 
(PRP EE)

Properties continue to be eligible for 
lower, preferred-risk rates for the first 
year after a map change. Starting the 
following year, rates will increase by 
no more than 18% for any individual 
policy until premiums reach their 
full-risk rate. 

Reducing rates
If you find you will have to pay a higher premium for flood insurance, 
here are possible steps to help reduce the cost: 

 ● Mitigate: One way to reduce your rate is to reduce your risk, 
because premiums are based on risk. For example, you can fill in 
a basement or install flood vents in the crawl space beneath the 
lowest level of your building, which helps reduce the chance that 
the foundation of your building will be displaced during a flood, 
and lowers your premium. When remodeling or rebuilding, you 
can consider elevating your entire structure. Something as simple 
as raising heating and cooling systems, water heaters, the electrical 

panel, and other mechanical items so that they are less likely to be 
damaged or destroyed in a flood may offer some premium savings.

 ● Encourage community action: You can encourage your community 
to participate in the Community Rating Service (CRS), if not 
already a member. CRS is a voluntary incentive program that 
recognizes communities for implementing floodplain management 
practices that exceed the NFIP minimum requirements. In 
exchange for a community’s proactive efforts to reduce flood risk, 
policyholders can receive reduced flood insurance premiums. For 
more information, visit FloodSmart.gov/CRS.

 ● Apply for a Letter of Map Change (LOMC): Two types of LOMCs 
are Letters of Map Amendment (LOMAs) and Letters of Map 
Revision-Fill (LOMR-Fs). A LOMA is usually issued when a 
building has been mapped incorrectly. FIRMs are developed to a 
scale that is useful for community officials, lenders, and insurance 
professionals, but not every rise in terrain can be depicted at this 
scale, and errors occur.

 ● FEMA provides a process to allow property owners to request a 
more precise flood zone designation if they feel the mapping is 
in error (e.g., the map shows the property in a floodplain when it 
is actually on high ground). A LOMR-F is for a property that is 
now elevated above the BFE by the placement of fill. For more 
information on filing a LOMA or LOMR-F, visit fema.gov/letter-
map-amendment-letter-map-revision-based-fill-process.

 ● Consider a higher deductible: Just as with automobile or 
homeowners insurance, increasing your deductible—an amount 
you pay out of your pocket to cover a claim before coverage is 
applied—will lower your premium. NFIP minimum deductibles 
vary based on the policy rating and amount of coverage purchased. 
Most new buildings have a deductible of $500. Older buildings 
(usually pre-1974) will have a $1,000 deductible in high-risk 
areas. No deductibles apply to Coverage C and Coverage D. A 
new $10,000 deductible, available to homeowners as of April 1, 
2015, will result in up to a 40% discount from the base premium. 
However, using the maximum deductible might not be appropriate 
in every financial circumstance and might not be allowed by 
lenders to meet mandatory purchase requirements. Rates for other 
types of policies are $5,000 for Residential, $25,000 for RCBAP 
and $50,000 for Nonresidential). Deductibles apply separately to 
building coverage and to contents coverage. Customers can select 
different deductibles for the building and the contents.

Contact the local floodplain administrator to learn about mapping 
projects in the area, possible changes, and how to view the new maps. 
Preliminary will be posted along with current FIRMs to msc.fema.gov. 
FEMA’s mapping program is discussed further at fema.gov/national-
flood-insurance-program-flood-hazard-mapping.

Elevation certificates 
An Elevation Certificate (EC) is official documentation of a building’s 
elevation. It is used by floodplain managers to enforce local building 
regulations, and by insurance agents to determine a premium rate 
flood insurance policy based on risk. The EC indicates the location of 
the building, certain building characteristics, Lowest Floor Elevation, 
and flood zone. A zone indicated with the letters A or V on a FIRM 
indicates a high-risk area. 

Elevation Certificates guide flood planning and mitigation efforts and 
ensure that premiums are calculated correctly. Property owners in 
high-risk flood zones typically need an EC to obtain flood insurance. 
One exception is pre-FIRM structures eligible for a subsidized rate. 
This group is not required to show an EC for insurance purposes. 
Eventually, subsidized rates for pre-FIRM buildings will be phased out 
through annual premium increases. An EC is required to calculate the 
property-specific full-risk rate once it is in effect. 

A new EC is needed when there are substantial changes to a building 
in a high-risk area, to show changes in structural characteristics or 
Lowest Floor Elevation. Insurance agents and other officials can 



Page 77  CAMS.EliteCME.com

find existing copies of EC on file with the community association or 
belonging to a previous property owner to rate the property. In general, 
if a community adopted new FIRMs and the building has not changed 
zones, an insurance agent can rate the policy using the information 
from the existing EC. In these cases, however, additional information, 
such as recent photographs of the property, may be required. 

Base flood elevation
Flood insurance rates in a high-risk zone (a zone beginning with the 
letter A or V) are based on a building’s elevation above, at, or below 
the BFE. Base Flood Elevation (BFE) is the elevation above sea 
level designated as the minimum building standard allowed in the 
community. Insurance agents compare the BFE to current flood maps 
to determine a property’s flood risk and the cost of flood insurance. 
The higher your lowest floor is above the BFE, the lower the risk of 
flooding, and the lower the insurance premium for that property. The 
land area affected by base flooding is called the Special Flood Hazard 
Area, floodplain, or high-risk zone.

EC are not required in moderate- to low-risk zones (zones B, C, and 
X), where rates are not based on elevation. Other areas not requiring 
EC for establishing rates are undetermined risk areas (Zone D), and 
certain high-risk areas eligible for other subsidies (e.g., Zones AR and 
A99). To document elevation for a building is in one of these zones, 
the association will need to provide a copy of the current FIRM that 
marks the building’s location, or obtain a letter signed and dated by a 
community official listing the building’s address and flood zone. The 
property remains eligible for the NFIP grandfather procedure as long 
as continuous coverage is maintained. 

Obtaining an elevation certificate
There are a number of possible sources for EC. They may be stored 
or filed with:

 ● The property deed.
 ● The municipal government. 

 ● The local floodplain manager. If so, he or she is authorized to 
complete the EC. (Every NFIP–participating community has a 
floodplain manager, but that person might have a different title or 
serve in multiple capacities.)

 ● The property sellers. When buying a property, ask the sellers to 
give you the existing EC or provide one before settlement if one is 
not currently available. 

 ● The developer or builder. An EC may have been required at the 
time of construction. 

If no elevation information for the property is on file, a professional-
-usually a state-licensed land surveyor, professional engineer, or 
certified architect authorized by law to certify elevation information—
can be hired for a fee to complete an EC for the property. Depending 
on your location and the complexity of the job, the cost of a surveyor 
can vary from $500 to $2,000 or more. To find a professional surveyor: 

 ● Check with your State professional association for land surveyors. 
 ● Ask your State NFIP coordinator. 
 ● Talk to your local building permit office.

When you receive your Elevation Certificate, provide a copy for the 
insurance agent and a copy for your records.

Flood mitigation
Building code requirements and flood maps change over time to reflect 
shifting flood risks. Changes may occur gradually over years, due 
to urbanization that affects how the land absorbs flood water, or in a 
matter of moments, due to the impact of powerful storms. The NFIP 
encourages building higher than the BFE as a safety measure, and 
provides incentives for doing so. An association that is remodeling 
or rebuilding should consider elevating the construction, if possible, 
to lower the flood risk, lower the flood insurance rate, and reduce 
the financial impact of the next flood. A building can save more than 
$90,000 over 10 years if it is built 3 feet above BFE. 

PArT v — AddITIonAL InForMATIon And rESoUrCES 
For further information about the NFIP or related issues, consult:

 ● An insurance agent or NFIP insurer for information related to 
a current flood insurance policy, information on flood insurance, 
flood insurance premium quotes, questions about flood insurance 
claims, or guidance on how to obtain flood insurance. 

 ● A local planning, building inspections, or zoning offices 
for information on building permits and local regulations or 
ordinances governing development in special flood hazard areas, 
to obtain copies of flood maps, or copies of existing elevation 
certificates and elevation information. 

 ● An NFIP Help Center (1-800-427-4661) for general information 
about the NFIP, advice on how to obtain a property loss history 
report, or to seek information related to the various NFIP rating 
options, such as, grandfathering and elevation rating. 

 ● FEMA Regional Offices (https://www.fema.gov/about-agency) 
for information about the NFIP, specific questions about recent 
or future flood insurance or mapping related events, or more 
information on flood insurance related resources. 

 ● FloodSmart (1-888-225-5356 or www.floodsmart.gov) for 
information about flood insurance coverage, how to locate an 

insurance agent, or for more information and consumer-friendly 
materials about the NFIP and flood risk. 

 ● The FEMA Map Information Exchange (1-877-336-2627) and 
Map Service Center https://msc.fema.gov/portal) for information 
on how to view or read a flood map, understand zone definitions, learn 
about map changes and amendments, and remapping information. 
The FEMA Flood Map Service Center (MSC) is the official public 
source for flood hazard information produced in support of the 
National Flood Insurance Program. Use the MSC to find your official 
flood map, access a range of other flood hazard products, and take 
advantage of tools for better understanding flood risk.

 ● FEMA’s NFIP webpage (www.fema.gov/national-flood-
insurance-program) for a broad range of NFIP informational 
materials for CAM to distribute to property Owners.

 ● NFIP Hotline (1-800-621-3362) for questions about flood 
insurance policies or the claims process. Additional information 
about the hotline may be found at https://www.fema.gov/national-
flood-insurance-program-technical-support-hotline. 

Office of the flood insurance advocate 
If, after utilizing the existing resources listed above, a policyholder or 
property owner still feels they have not received the necessary support or 
are unable to resolve an NFIP issue regarding flood maps, flood insurance, 
or floodplain management, he or she can contact the Office of the Flood 
Insurance Advocate by email at insurance-advocate@fema.dhs.gov. 

The Office of the Flood Insurance Advocate supports the fair treatment 
of NFIP policy holders and property owners by providing education 
and guidance, identifying trends, and making recommendations for 

program improvements to FEMA. The Office of the Flood Insurance 
Advocate can also assist property owners in mapping flood hazards, 
identifying flood risks, and implementing mitigation strategies to 
reduce flood damage. 

The Office of the Flood Insurance Advocate is available to the public 
and staffed by NFIP program professionals who are experts in all 
aspects of the NFIP, including claims processes, the map review and 
amendment process, floodplain management, and flood mitigation 
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techniques and resources. The Advocate also works with Regional 
FEMA offices to refine the long-term regional mapping outreach 
and education support strategy, as well as monitor the fair treatment 
policyholders and property owners under the NFIP, identify trends, and 
make recommendations to the FEMA Administrator. 

In the future, the Office of the Flood Insurance Advocate will include a 
process to aid potential policy holders under the NFIP in obtaining and 
verifying accurate and reliable flood insurance premium information 
when purchasing or renewing a flood insurance policy. 

The Office of the Flood Insurance Advocate can assist property owners 
in the following areas:

 ● Understanding the NFIP Claims processes — The Advocate can 
also provide general guidance and information about how the 
claims processes work, such as disputing the amount of payment 
received for a claim, understanding the “proof of loss” and 
supporting documentation, and filing an appeal.

 ● Understanding key components that determine flood risk — This 
includes developing an understanding of how flood hazards impact 
risk, as well as, the structural characteristics of an insured property 
– both of which can change over time.

 ● Understanding the FIRM review and amendment process — The 
Advocate can also provide general guidance and information about 
the procedural requirements related to appealing Preliminary-FIRMs.

 ● Educating policyholders and property owners about ICC 
coverage, how a policy is rated, and the NFIP summary of flood 
insurance coverage.

 ● Coordinating referrals to existing resources for flood hazard 
mapping, hazard mitigation grants, and floodplain management.

 ● Working directly with NFIP subject matter experts to answer 
questions related to flood insurance and mitigation programs that, 
if implemented, may help reduce the cost of flood insurance.

 ● Supplying policyholders and property owners with NFIP 
materials publications, booklets, and guidance documents, and 
directing them to public awareness and outreach materials on the 
appropriate FEMA websites.

The Office of the Flood Insurance Advocate is not intended to override 
or replace existing processes, policies, procedures, and applicable laws 
(statute and regulations). The Advocate and support staff are available 
to provide education, guidance, and assistance to policyholders and 
property owners to develop a better understanding of the NFIP. 

For more information about the Office of the Flood Insurance 
Advocate, visit www.fema.gov/flood-insurance-reform-flood-
insurance-advocate.

Flood insurance glossary
Flood insurance policies often use technical language that may be 
difficult to understand or have a specialized definition in regard to 
flood insurance coverage. Property owners can use this glossary to 
interpret the information in their flood insurance policies, and ensure 
they have adequate coverage for their degree of risk. 

Definitions 
 ● Act: The National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 and any 

amendments to it.
 ● Actual cash value (acv): The cost to replace an insured item of 

property at the time of loss, less the value of physical depreciation.
 ● Adjuster control office: An NFIP claims office similar to a 

Flood Insurance Claims Office (FICO) with the exception that the 
Adjuster Control Office does not house insured files, maintain a 
claims examiner staff at the site or issue claim payments.

 ● Alternative rating: A rating method used when a building is Pre-
FIRM, the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) zone is unknown 
and the community in which the building is located has no V 
zones. May also be used for renewal of policies in communities 
that have converted from the Emergency Program to the Regular 
Program during a policy’s term.

 ● Anchored: Adequately secured to prevent flotation, collapse or 
lateral movement.

 ● Application: The statement made and signed by the prospective 
policyholder or the agent in applying for an NFIP flood insurance 
policy. The application gives information used to determine the 
eligibility of the risk, the kind of policy to be issued and the 
correct premium payment. The application is part of the flood 
insurance policy. For a policy to be issued, the correct premium 
payment must accompany the application.

 ● Appurtenant structure: A detached garage servicing a 1- to 
4-family dwelling.

 ● Assignment: The transfer by a policyholder of his/her legal right 
or interest in a policy contract to a third party. In the NFIP, written 
assignment of a policy is permissible upon transfer of title without 
the consent of the FEMA, except in the case where a residential 
(household) contents-only policy is involved or a policy was 
issued to cover a building in the course of construction.

 ● Base flood: A flood having a 1% chance of being equaled or 
exceeded in any given year.

 ● Base Flood Depth (BFD): The depth shown on the Flood Insurance 
Rate Map (FIRM) for Zone AO that indicates the depth of water 
above highest adjacent grade resulting from a flood that has a 1% 
chance of equaling or exceeding that level in any given year.

 ● Base Flood Elevation (BFE): The elevation of surface water 
resulting from a flood that has a 1% chance of equaling or exceeding 
that level in any given year. The BFE is shown on the Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for zones AE, AH, A1–A30, AR, 
AR/A, AR/AE, AR/A1–A30, AR/AH, AR/AO, V1–V30 and VE.

 ● Basement: Any area of the building, including any sunken room 
or sunken portion of a room, having its floor below ground level 
(subgrade) on all sides.

 ● Binder or certificate of insurance: A temporary agreement 
between company, agent/producer and insured that the policy 
is in effect. The NFIP does not recognize binders. However, for 
informational purposes only, the NFIP recognizes Certificates of 
Insurance and similar forms for renewal policies.

 ● Blanket insurance: A single amount of insurance applying to 
more than 1 building and/or contents. Blanket insurance is not 
permitted under the NFIP.

 ● Breakaway wall: A wall that is not part of the structural support 
of the building and is intended through its design and construction 
to collapse under specific lateral loading forces, without causing 
damage to the elevated portion of the building or supporting 
foundation system.

 ● Building: 
 ○ A structure with 2 or more outside rigid walls and a fully 

secured roof, that is affixed to a permanent site.
 ○ A manufactured home (a “manufactured home,” also known 

as a mobile home, is a structure built on a permanent chassis, 
transported to its site in 1 or more sections and affixed to a 
permanent foundation).

 ○ A travel trailer without wheels, built on a chassis and affixed to 
a permanent foundation, that is regulated under the community’s 
floodplain management and building ordinances or laws.

“Building” does not mean a gas or liquid storage tank or a 
recreational vehicle, park trailer or other similar vehicle, except as 
described above.

 ● Building in the course of construction: A walled and roofed 
building (see the General Rules section for the exception) that is 
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principally above ground and affixed to a permanent site. It does 
not include building materials or supplies intended for use in 
construction, alteration or repair unless such materials or supplies 
are within an enclosed building on the premises.

 ● Cancellation: The termination of the insurance coverage provided 
by a policy before the expiration date.

 ● Cistern: Covered cisterns and the water in them are defined as an 
integral part of an insurable building, meaning under the building or 
above ground and physically attached to a side of the building with 1 
of the walls of the building and cistern being common to each other.

 ● Claims Coordinating Office (CCO): A clearinghouse for the various 
insurers who are responding to a multi-peril catastrophe. Through 
voluntary participation, all losses are reported to the CCO and are 
processed to locate address matches among the reported claims. 
The interest of each carrier is protected as the Claims Coordinator 
maintains sole control over the policy and loss information. If a match 
is found, special care is taken to direct the assigned adjuster(s) to a 
mutually agreeable adjustment or to have 1 adjuster surrender his/her 
loss with the assurance that every effort will be made to replace it.

 ● Closed basin lake: A natural lake from which water leaves 
primarily through evaporation and whose surface area exceeds or 
has exceeded 1 square mile at any time in the recorded past. NFIP-
insured buildings that are subject to continuous lake flooding from 
a closed basin lake are covered under the provisions of Standard 
Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP).

 ● Coastal barrier: A naturally occurring island, sandbar or other 
strip of land, including coastal mainland, that protects the coast 
from severe wave wash.

 ● Coastal Barrier Improvement Act of 1990 (CBIA): Enacted 
on November 16, 1990, the Act greatly expanded the identified 
land in the Coastal Barrier Resources System (CBRS) established 
pursuant to the Coastal Barrier Resources Act (CBRA) of 1982.

 ● Coastal Barrier Resources Act of 1982 (CBRA): For the 
purposes of the NFIP, the CBRA of 1982 designated certain 
portions of the Gulf and East Coasts as undeveloped coastal 
barriers. These areas are shown on appropriate flood insurance 
map panels and have certain coverage restrictions.

 ● Coastal Barrier Resources System (CBRS): Communities, 
coastal barriers and Otherwise Protected Areas (OPAs) identified 
by legislation defined above.

 ● Coastal high hazard areas: Special Flood Hazard Areas (SFHAs) 
along the coasts that have additional hazards due to wind and wave 
action. These areas are identified on Flood Insurance Rate Maps 
(FIRMs) as zones V, V1–V30, and VE.

 ● Coinsurance: A penalty imposed on the loss payment unless 
the amount of insurance carried on the damaged building is at 
least 80% of its replacement cost or the maximum amount of 
insurance available for that building under the NFIP, whichever 
is less. Coinsurance applies only to building coverage under the 
Residential Condominium Building Association Policy (RCBAP).

 ● Community: A political entity that has the authority to adopt and 
enforce floodplain ordinances for the area under its jurisdiction.

 ● Community number: A 6-digit designation identifying each NFIP 
community. The first 2 numbers are the state code. The next 4 are 
the FEMA-assigned community number. An alphabetical suffix is 
added to a community number to identify revisions in the Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for that community.

 ● Community Rating System (CRS): A program developed by FEMA 
to provide incentives for communities in the Regular Program that 
have gone beyond the minimum floodplain management requirements 
to develop extra measures to provide protection from flooding.

 ● Condominium: That form of ownership of real property in which 
each unit owner has an undivided interest in common elements.

 ● Condominium association: The entity made up of the unit owners 
responsible for the maintenance and operation of: 

 ○ Common elements owned in undivided shares by unit owners.
 ○ Other real property in which the unit owners have use rights.

 ○ Where membership in the entity is a required condition of 
unit ownership.

 ● Contract agent: An employee of a Write Your Own (WYO) 
Company or an agent/producer under written contract with a 
WYO Company, empowered to act on the company’s behalf and 
with authority to advise an applicant for flood insurance that the 
company will accept the risk.

 ● Countywide map: A Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) that 
shows flooding information for the entire geographic area of a 
county, including the incorporated communities within the county.

 ● Crawlspace: An under-floor space that has its interior floor area 
(finished or not) no more than 5 feet below the top of the next-
higher floor. Crawlspaces generally have solid foundation walls. 
See Diagram 8 in the Elevation Certificate Instructions.

 ● Date of construction: The date that the building permit was issued, 
provided the actual start of construction, repair, reconstruction, or 
improvement was within 180 days of the permit date.

 ● Declarations page: A computer-generated summary of 
information provided by the prospective policyholder in the 
application for flood insurance. The declarations page also 
describes the term of the policy and the limits of coverage and 
displays the premium and the insurer’s name. The declarations 
page is a part of the flood insurance policy.

 ● Described location: The location where the insured building or 
personal property is found. The described location is shown on the 
Declarations Page.

 ● Diagram number: Any of the numbers used in the instructions to 
the NFIP Elevation Certificate to identify the diagrams of the main 
types of buildings.

 ● Direct physical loss by or from flood: Loss or damage to insured 
property, directly caused by a flood. There must be evidence of 
physical changes to the property.

 ● Doublewide manufactured (mobile) home: A manufactured 
(mobile) home that, when assembled as a nonmovable, permanent 
building, is at least 16 feet wide and has an area within its 
perimeter walls of at least 600 square feet.

 ● Dwelling: A building designed for use as a residence for no 
more than 4 families or a single-family unit in building under a 
condominium form of ownership.

 ● Dwelling form: See Standard Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP): 
Dwelling Form.

 ● Elevated building: A building that has no basement and that has 
its lowest elevated floor raised above ground level by foundation 
walls, shear walls, posts, piers, pilings, or columns. Solid 
(perimeter) foundations walls are not an acceptable means of 
elevating buildings in V and VE zones.

 ● Emergency program: The initial phase of a community’s 
participation in the National Flood Insurance Program. During this 
phase, only limited amounts of insurance are available under the Act.

 ● Enclosure: That portion of an elevated building below the lowest 
elevated floor that is either partially or fully shut in by rigid walls.

 ● Erosion: The collapse, undermining or subsidence of land along 
the shore of a lake or other body of water. Erosion is a covered 
peril if it is caused by waves or currents of water exceeding their 
cyclical levels which result in flooding.

 ● Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA): The federal 
agency under which the NFIP is administered. In March 2003, 
FEMA became part of the newly created U.S. Department of 
Homeland Security.

 ● Federal policy fee: A flat charge that the policyholder must pay 
on each new or renewal policy to defray certain administrative 
expenses incurred in carrying out the NFIP.

 ● Financial assistance/subsidy arrangement: The arrangement 
between an insurance company and FEMA to initiate the 
company’s participation in the Write Your Own (WYO) Program. 
It establishes the duties of the company and the government.
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 ● Finished (habitable) area: An enclosed area having more than 20 
linear feet of finished interior walls (paneling, etc.) or used for any 
purpose other than solely for parking of vehicles, building access 
or storage.

 ● Flood: A general and temporary condition of partial or complete 
inundation of 2 or more acres of normally dry land area or of 
2 or more properties (at least 1 of which is the policyholder’s 
property) from:

 ○ Overflow of inland or tidal waters.
 ○ Rapid accumulation or runoff of surface waters from any source.
 ○ Mudflow.
 ○ Collapse or subsidence of land along the shore of a lake or 

similar body of water as a result of erosion or undermining 
caused by waves or currents of water exceeding anticipated 
cyclical levels that result in a flood as defined above.

 ● Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM): Official map of a 
community issued by FEMA, where the boundaries of the flood, 
mudflow and related erosion areas having special hazards have 
been designated.

 ● Flood Insurance Claims Office (FICO): An NFIP claims 
processing office set up in a catastrophe area when a sufficient 
number of flood claims result from a single event.

 ● Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM): Official map of a 
community on which FEMA has delineated the Special Flood 
Hazard Areas (SFHAs), the Base Flood Elevations (BFEs) and the 
risk premium zones applicable to the community.

 ● Flood Response Office (FRO): The FRO provides a local 
presence in the affected area and supports the WYO companies, 
the NFIP Servicing Agent and various federal, state and local 
officials in providing answers to claims coverage questions, forms 
for claims handling and survey and statistical input. One of the 
key requirements of personnel at the FRO is to coordinate and 
conduct reinspections of WYO and NFIP Direct losses. The FRO 
also tracks adjuster performance and provides such information to 
interested WYO Companies and the NFIP Servicing Agent.

 ● Floodplain: Any land area susceptible to being inundated by 
floodwaters from any source.

 ● Floodplain management: The operation of an overall program 
of corrective and preventive measures for reducing flood damage, 
including but not limited to, emergency preparedness plans, flood-
control works and floodplain management regulations.

 ● Flood proofing: Any combination of structural and nonstructural 
additions, changes or adjustments to structures, which reduce or 
eliminate risk of flood damage to real estate or improved real property, 
water and sanitation facilities or structures with their contents.

 ● Foundation walls: Masonry walls, poured concrete walls or 
precast concrete walls, regardless of height, that extend above 
grade and support the weight of a building.

 ● Freeboard: An additional amount of height above the Base Flood 
Elevation used as a factor of safety (e.g., 2 feet above the Base 
Flood) in determining the level at which a structure’s lowest floor 
must be elevated or flood-proofed to be in accordance with state or 
community floodplain management regulations.

 ● Full-risk premium rate: A rate charged to a group of policies that 
results in aggregate premiums sufficient to pay anticipated losses 
and expenses for that group.

 ● General property form: See Standard Flood Insurance Policy: 
General Property Form.

 ● Grade elevation: The lowest or highest finished ground level that 
is immediately adjacent to the walls of the building. Use natural 
(pre-construction), ground level, if available, for Zone AO and 
Zone A (without BFE).

 ● Grandfathering: An exemption based on circumstances 
previously existing. Under NFIP statutory grandfathering, 
buildings located in Emergency Program communities and Pre-
FIRM buildings in the Regular Program are eligible for subsidized 
flood insurance rates. Post-FIRM buildings in the Regular Program 

built in compliance with the floodplain management regulations in 
effect at the start of construction will continue to have favorable 
rate treatment even though higher Base Flood Elevations (BFEs) 
or more restrictive, greater risk zone designations result from 
Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) revisions. Policyholders 
who have remained loyal customers of the NFIP by maintaining 
continuous coverage (since coverage was first obtained on the 
building) are also eligible for administrative grandfathering.

 ● Group flood insurance: Issued by the NFIP Direct Program 
in response to a Presidential disaster declaration. Disaster 
assistance applicants, in exchange for a modest premium, receive 
a minimum amount of building and/or contents coverage for a 
3-year policy period. An applicant may cancel the group policy 
at any time and secure a regular Standard Flood Insurance Policy 
(SFIP) through the NFIP.

 ● High-rise building: High-rise condominium buildings have 5 or 
more units and at least 3 floors excluding enclosure even if it is the 
lowest floor for rating purposes. An enclosure below an elevated 
building, even if it is the lowest floor for rating purposes, cannot 
be counted as a floor to avoid classifying the building as low rise. 
Under the NFIP, townhouses/row houses are not considered high-
rise buildings, regardless of the number of floors.

 ● Historic building: Any building that is: 
 ○ Listed individually in the National Register of Historic 

places (a listing maintained by the Department of the 
Interior) or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the 
Interior as meeting the requirements for individual listing 
on the National Register.

 ○ Certified or preliminarily determined by the Secretary of the 
Interior as contributing to the historical significance of a registered 
historic district or a district preliminarily determined by the 
Secretary of the Interior to qualify as a registered historic district.

 ○ Individually listed in a state inventory of historic places in 
states with preservation programs that have been approved by 
the Secretary of the Interior.

 ○ Individually listed on a local inventory of historic places in 
communities with historic preservation programs that have 
been certified either:

 ■ By an approved state program as determined by the 
Secretary of the Interior.

 ■ Directly by the Secretary of the Interior in states without 
approved programs.

 ● Improvements and betterments: Fixtures, alterations, 
installations or additions made or acquired solely at a tenant’s 
expense and comprising part of an insured building.

 ● Increased cost of compliance: Coverage for expenses a property 
owner must incur, above and beyond the cost to repair the physical 
damage the structure actually sustained from a flooding event, to 
comply with mitigation requirements of state or local floodplain 
management ordinances or laws. Acceptable mitigation measures 
are elevation, flood-proofing, relocation, demolition or any 
combination thereof.

 ● Letter of Determination Review (LODR): FEMA’s ruling on the 
determination made by a lender or third party that a borrower’s 
building is in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA). A LODR deals 
only with the location of a building relative to the SFHA boundary 
shown on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM).

 ● Letter of Map Amendment (LOMA): An amendment to the 
currently effective FEMA map which establishes that a property is 
not located in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA). A LOMA is 
issued only by FEMA.

 ● Letter of Map Revision (LOMR): An official amendment to the 
currently effective FEMA map. It is issued by FEMA and changes 
flood zones, delineations and elevations.

 ● Loss in progress: A loss that is already in progress as of 12:01 
a.m. on the first day of the policy term; or, as to any increase in 



Page 81  CAMS.EliteCME.com

the limits of coverage which is requested, a loss that is already in 
progress when the additional coverage is requested.

 ● Lowest adjacent grade: The lowest point of the ground level 
immediately next to a building.

 ● Lowest floor: The lowest floor of the lowest enclosed area 
(including a basement). An unfinished or flood-resistant enclosure, 
usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access or storage in 
an area other than a basement area, is not considered a building’s 
lowest floor provided that such enclosure is not built so as to 
render the structure in violation of requirements.

 ● Lowest Floor Elevation (LFE): The measured distance of a 
building’s lowest floor above the National Geodetic Vertical Datum 
(NGVD) or other datum specified on the FIRM for that location.

 ● Low-rise building: Low-rise condominium buildings having 
fewer than 5 units regardless of the number of floors or 5 or more 
units with fewer than 3 floors including basement. All townhouses/
row houses, regardless of the number of floors or units and all 
single-family detached condominium buildings are classified as 
low rise. An enclosure below an elevated building, even if it is the 
lowest floor for rating purposes, cannot be counted as a floor to 
avoid classifying the building as a low rise.

 ● Mandatory purchase: Under the provisions of the Flood Disaster 
Protection Act of 1973, individuals, businesses and others 
buying, building or improving property located in identified areas 
of special flood hazards within participating communities are 
required to purchase flood insurance as a prerequisite for receiving 
any type of direct or indirect federal financial assistance (e.g., 
any loan, grant, guaranty, insurance, payment, subsidy or disaster 
assistance) when the building or personal property is the subject of 
or security for such assistance.

 ● Manufactured (mobile) home: A structure built on a permanent 
chassis, transported to its site in 1 or more sections and affixed to 
a permanent foundation. “Manufactured (mobile) home” does not 
include recreational vehicles.

 ● Manufactured (mobile) home park or subdivision, existing: 
A manufactured (mobile) home park or subdivision for which 
the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured (mobile) homes are to be affixed (including, at a 
minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets 
and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is 
completed on or before December 31, 1974 or before the effective 
date of the community’s initial Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), 
whichever is later.

 ● Manufactured (mobile) home park or subdivision, 
expansion to existing site: The preparation of additional sites 
by the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which 
manufactured (mobile) homes are to be affixed (including the 
installation of utilities, the construction of streets and either final 
site grading or the pouring of concrete pads).

 ● Manufactured (mobile) home park or subdivision, new: 
A manufactured (mobile) home park or subdivision for which 
the construction of facilities for servicing the lots on which the 
manufactured (mobile) homes are to be affixed (including, at a 
minimum, the installation of utilities, the construction of streets 
and either final site grading or the pouring of concrete pads) is 
completed after December 31, 1974, or on or after the effective 
date of the community’s initial Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM), 
whichever is later.

 ● Map revision: A change in the Flood Hazard Boundary Map 
(FHBM) or Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for a community 
which reflects revised zone, base flood or other information.

 ● Masonry walls: Walls constructed of individual components laid 
in and bound together with mortar. These components can be 
brick, stone, concrete block, etc.

 ● Modular building: A building that is usually transported to its 
site on a steel frame or special trailer because it does not have a 

permanent chassis like a manufactured (mobile) home. A modular 
building is classified and rated under 1 of the other building types.

 ● Mortgage Portfolio Protection Program (MPPP): A program 
designed to help lending institutions to maintain compliance with 
the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, as amended. Policies 
written under the MPPP can be placed only through a Write Your 
Own (WYO) Company.

 ● Mudflow: A river of liquid and flowing mud on the surfaces of 
normally dry land areas, as when earth is carried by a current of water. 
Other earth movements, such as landslide, slope failure or a saturated 
soil mass moving by liquidity down a slope, are not mudflows.

 ● National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP): The program of 
flood insurance coverage and floodplain management administered 
under the Act and applicable federal regulations promulgated in 
Title 44 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Subchapter B.

 ● National Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) of 1929: National 
standard reference datum for elevations, formerly referred to as 
Mean Sea Level (MSL) of 1929. NGVD 1929 may be used as the 
reference datum on some Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs).

 ● Natural grade: The grade unaffected by construction techniques 
such as fill, landscaping or berming.

 ● New construction: Buildings for which the “start of construction” 
commenced on or after the effective date of an initial Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) or after December 31, 1974, 
whichever is later, including any subsequent improvements.

 ● NFIP Bureau and Statistical Agent: A corporation, partnership, 
association or any other organized entity that contracts with FEMA 
to be the focal point of support operations for the NFIP.

 ● NFIP Servicing Agent: A corporation, partnership, association 
or any other organized entity that contracts with FEMA to service 
insurance policies as direct business.

 ● NFIP Special Direct Facility (SDF): Formed in 2000, a branch 
of the NFIP Servicing Agent to which Write Your Own (WYO) 
Companies transfer renewals for identified Severe Repetitive 
Loss (SRL) properties so that mitigation assistance can be 
offered to the policyholders.

 ● Non-primary residence: For rating purposes only, FEMA defines 
a non-primary residence as a building that will not be lived in by 
an insured or an insured’s spouse for more than 50% of the 365 
days following the policy effective date.

 ● North American Vertical Datum (NAVD) of 1988: The vertical 
control datum established for vertical control surveying in the 
Unites States of America based upon the General Adjustment 
of the North American Datum of 1988. It replaces the National 
Geodetic Vertical Datum (NGVD) of 1929.

 ● Non-residential building (including hotel/motel): This is a 
commercial or non-habitational building or a mixed-use building 
that does not qualify as a residential building. This category 
includes but is not limited to: small businesses, churches, 
schools, farm buildings (including grain bins and silos), garages, 
poolhouses, clubhouses, recreational buildings, mercantile 
buildings, agricultural and industrial buildings, warehouses, 
nursing homes, licensed bed and breakfasts and hotels and motels 
with normal room rentals for less than 6 months.

 ● Nullification: The act of declaring an insurance contract invalid 
from its inception so that, from a legal standpoint, the insurance 
contract never existed.

 ● Other residential building: This is a residential building that 
contains more than 4 apartments/units. This category includes 
condominium and apartment buildings as well as hotels, motels, 
tourist homes and rooming houses where the normal occupancy 
of a guest is 6 months or more. These buildings are permitted 
incidental occupancies. The total area of incidental occupancy is 
limited to less than 25% of the total floor area within the building. 
Examples of Other Residential buildings include dormitories and 
assisted-living facilities.
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 ● Otherwise Protected Areas (OPAs): Areas established under 
federal, state or local law or held by a qualified organization, 
primarily for wildlife refuge, sanctuary, recreational or natural 
resource conservation purposes. The only federal spending 
prohibition within OPAs is federal flood insurance.

 ● Out-as-shown determination: An alternative outcome of the 
FEMA letter of Map Amendment (LOMA) review process stating 
that a specific property is located outside the Special Flood Hazard 
Area (SFHA) as indicated on the Flood Hazard Boundary Map 
(FHBM) or Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM).

 ● Participating community: A community for which FEMA has 
authorized the sale of flood insurance under the NFIP.

 ● Policy: The entire written contract between the insured and the 
insurer. It includes: 

 ○ The printed policy form.
 ○ The application and declarations page.
 ○ Any endorsement(s) that may be issued.
 ○ Any renewal certificate indicating that coverage has been 

instituted for a new policy and new policy term.
Only 1 dwelling, specifically described by the prospective 
policyholder in the application, may be insured under a policy.

 ● Pollutants: Substances that include, but are not limited to, any 
solid, liquid, gaseous or thermal irritant or contaminant, including 
smoke, vapor, soot, fumes, acids, alkalis, chemicals and waste. 
“Waste” includes, but is not limited to, materials to be recycled, 
reconditioned or reclaimed.

 ● Ponding hazard: A flood hazard that occurs in flat areas when 
there are depressions in the ground that collect “ponds” of water. 
The ponding hazard is represented by the zone designation AH on 
the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM).

 ● Post-FIRM building: a building for which construction or 
substantial improvement occurred after December 31, 1974 or on 
or after the effective date of an initial Flood Insurance Rate Map 
(FIRM), whichever is later.

 ● Pre-FIRM building: a building for which construction or substantial 
improvement occurred on or before December 31, 1974 or before the 
effective date of an initial Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM).

 ● Preferred Risk Policy (PRP): A lower-cost Standard Flood 
Insurance Policy (SFIP) written under the Dwelling Form or 
General Property Form. It offers fixed combinations of building/
contents coverage limits or contents-only coverage. The PRP is 
available for property located in B, C, and X Zones in Regular 
Program communities that meets eligibility requirements based on 
the property’s flood loss history. It is also available for buildings 
that are eligible under the PRP Eligibility Extension.

 ● Prepaid amount (total): The total amount that must be submitted 
with an application or renewal in order to be acceptable for 
coverage. It is determined by adding the Federal Policy Fee to the 
Total Prepaid Premium.

 ● Prepaid premium (total): The amount on the application 
(excluding the Preferred Risk Policy [PRP] Application) that 
includes the Annual Subtotal, the Increased Cost of Compliance 
(ICC) Premium, the Community Rating System (CRS) Premium 
Discount (if applicable) and the Probation Surcharge (if applicable).

 ● Presentment of payment (premium): The date of the check or 
credit card payment by the applicant or applicant’s representative 
if the premium payment is not part of a loan closing or the date of 
closing, if the premium payment is part of a loan closing.

 ● Primary residence: For rating purposes only, FEMA defines 
a primary residence as a building that will be lived in by an 
insured or an insured’s spouse for more than 50% of the 365 days 
following the policy effective date.

 ● Principal residence: A single-family dwelling in which, at the 
time of loss, the named insured or the named insured’s spouse has 
lived for either 80% of the 365 days immediately preceding the 
loss or 80% of the period of ownership, if less than 365 days.

 ● Principally above ground building: A building that has at least 
51% of its Actual Cash Value (ACV), including machinery and 
equipment, above ground.

 ● Probation: A FEMA-imposed change in a community’s status 
resulting from violations and deficiencies in the administration and 
enforcement of NFIP local floodplain management regulations.

 ● Probation surcharge (premium): A flat charge that the 
policyholder must pay on each new or renewal policy issued 
covering property in a community that the NFIP has placed on 
probation under the provisions of 44 CFR 59.24.

 ● Proper openings - enclosures (Applicable to Zones A, A1–
A30, AE, AO, AH, AR and AR Dual): All enclosures below the 
lowest elevated floor must be designed to automatically equalize 
hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls by allowing for the 
entry and exit of floodwaters. A minimum of 2 openings, with 
positioning on at least 2 walls, having a total net area of not less 
than 1 square inch for every square foot of enclosed area subject 
to flooding must be provided. The bottom of all openings must be 
no higher than 1 foot above the higher of the exterior or interior 
(adjacent) or floor immediately below the openings.

 ● Property removed to safety expense: Up to $1,000 of reasonable 
expenses incurred by the insured to temporarily remove insured 
property from the described location because of flood or the 
imminent danger of flood.

 ● Provisional rating: A method for placing flood coverage prior to 
the receipt of a FEMA Elevation Certificate.

 ● Regular program: The final phase of a community’s participation 
in the NFIP. In this phase, a Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) is 
in effect and full limits of coverage are available under the Act.

 ● Regular program community: A community wherein a Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) is in effect and full limits of coverage 
are available under the Act.

 ● Repetitive loss structure: An NFIP-insured structure that has had 
at least 2 paid flood losses of more than $1,000 each in any 10-
year period since 1978.

 ● Replacement Cost Value (RCV): The cost to replace property 
with the same kind of material and construction without deduction 
for depreciation.

 ● Residential condominium building: A building, owned and 
administered as a condominium, containing 1 or more family units 
and in which at least 75% of the floor area is residential.

 ● Residential Condominium Building Association Policy 
(RCBAP): See “Standard Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP)-
Residential Condominium Building Association Policy (RCBAP).”

 ● Scheduled building policy: A policy that requires a specific amount 
of insurance to be designated for each building and its contents.

 ● Section 1316: Section of the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, 
as amended, which states that no new flood insurance coverage shall 
be provided for any property that FEMA finds has been declared by 
a duly constituted state or local zoning authority or other authorized 
public body to be in violation of state or local laws, regulations or 
ordinances that are intended to discourage or otherwise restrict land 
development or occupancy in flood-prone areas.

 ● Severe Repetitive Loss (SRL) properties: NFIP-insured 
buildings that, on the basis of paid flood losses since 1978, meet 
either of the loss criteria described in the SRL section. SRL 
properties with policy effective dates of January 1, 2007 and later 
will be afforded coverage (new business or renewal) only through 
the NFIP Servicing Agent’s Special Direct Facility (SDF) so that 
they can be considered for possible mitigation activities.

 ● Shear walls: Walls used for structural support but not structurally 
joined or enclosed at the ends (except by breakaway walls). Shear 
walls are parallel or nearly parallel, to the flow of the water and 
can be used in any flood zone.

 ● Sheet flow hazard: A type of flood hazard with flooding depths 
of 1 to 3 feet that occurs in areas of sloping land. The sheet flow 
hazard is represented by the zone designation AO on the FIRM.
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 ● Single adjuster program: A procedure implemented among the 
NFIP, various wind pools and Write Your Own (WYO) Companies 
to allow 1 adjuster to represent both carriers in adjusting a 
combined wind-water loss where the NFIP has the flood coverage 
and another carrier has the wind coverage.

 ● Single building: A building that is separated from other buildings by 
intervening clear space or solid, vertical, load-bearing division walls.

 ● Single-family residence: This is a residential single-family 
building or a single-family dwelling unit in a condominium 
building; incidental occupancies are permitted if limited to less 
than 50% of the building’s total floor area. Incidental occupancies 
are offices, private schools, studios or small service operations 
within a residential building.

 ● Solid (perimeter) foundation walls: Walls that are used as a 
means of elevating a building in A Zones and that must contain 
sufficient openings to allow for the unimpeded flow of floodwaters 
more than 1 foot deep.

 ● Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA): An area having special flood, 
mudflow or flood-related erosion hazards and shown on a Flood 
Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM) or a Flood Insurance Rate Map 
(FIRM) Zone A, AO, A1-A30, AE, A99, AH, AR, AR/A, AR/AE, 
AR/AH, AR/AO, AR/A1-A30, V1-V30, VE or V. For the purpose of 
determining Community Rating System (CRS) premium discounts, 
all AR and A99 zones are treated as non-SFHAs.

 ● Split level: A foundation with a vertical offset in the floor framing 
on either side of a common wall.

 ● Standard Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP): Dwelling Form: 
The policy form used to insure a building designed for use as a 
residence for no more than 4 families or a single-family unit in a 
residential building under a condominium form of ownership. This 
form is also used to insure residential contents in any building. The 
owner of a residential building with 5 or more units can use this 
form to insure contents only in his or her own residential unit.

 ● Standard Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP): General Property 
Form: The policy form used to insure a non-residential building 
or a 5-or-more-unit residential building not eligible for the 
Residential Condominium Building Association Policy (RCBAP). 
This form is also used to insure non-residential contents in any 
building or a building owner’s residential contents located in 
multiple units within a building with 5 or more units.

 ● Standard Flood Insurance Policy (SFIP): Residential 
Condominium Building Association Policy (RCBAP): The 
policy form used to insure a building, owned and administered as 
a condominium, containing 1 or more units and in which at least 
75% of the floor area is residential. The building must be located 
in a Regular Program community.

 ● Start of construction: For other than new construction or 
substantial improvements, under the Coastal Barrier Resources 
Act (CBRA), this is the date the building permit was issued, 
provided that the actual start of construction, repair, rehabilitation, 
addition, placement or other improvement was within 180 days of 
the permit date. The actual start means either the first placement of 
permanent construction of a building on site, such as the pouring 
of a slab or footing, the installation of piles, the construction 
of columns or any work beyond the stage of excavation; or the 
placement of a manufactured (mobile) home on a foundation. For 
a substantial improvement, actual start of construction means the 
first alteration of any wall, ceiling, floor or other structural part 
of a building, whether or not that alteration affects the external 
dimensions of the building.

 ● Stock: Merchandise held in storage or for sale, raw materials 
and in-process or finished goods, including supplies used in their 
packing or shipping. “Stock” does not include any property not 
covered under “Section IV. Property not Covered” of the General 
Property Form, except the following: 

 ○ Parts and equipment for self-propelled vehicles.
 ○ Furnishings and equipment for watercraft.

 ○ Spas and hot-tubs, including their equipment.
 ○ Swimming pool equipment.

 ● Subgrade crawlspace: A crawlspace foundation where the 
subgrade under-floor area is no more than 5 feet below the top of 
the next-higher floor and no more than 2 feet below the lowest 
adjacent grade on all sides.

 ● Submit-for-Rate (SFR): An application for flood insurance on 
a building for which no risk rate is published in the NFIP Flood 
Insurance Manual. Insurance coverage can be obtained only after 
the insurer has approved the application and has established the 
risk premium rate.

 ● Subsidized premium rate: A rate charged to a group of policies 
that results in aggregate premiums insufficient to pay anticipated 
losses and expenses for that group.

 ● Substantial damage: Damage of any origin sustained by a 
building whereby the cost of restoring the building to its before-
damaged condition would equal or exceed 50% of the market 
value of the building before the damage occurred.

 ● Substantial improvement: Any reconstruction, rehabilitation, 
addition, or other improvement of a building, the cost of which 
equals or exceeds 50% of the market value of the building before the 
“start of construction” of the improvement. Substantial improvement 
includes buildings that have incurred “substantial damage,” 
regardless of the actual repair work performed. The term does not, 
however, include either any project for improvement of a building 
to correct existing state or local code violations or any alteration to a 
“historic building,” provided that the alteration will not preclude the 
building’s continued designation as a “historic building.”

 ● Suspension: FEMA’s removal of an NFIP participating community 
from the program because the community has not enacted and/or 
enforced the proper floodplain management regulations required 
for participation.

 ● Tentative rates: NFIP rates used to issue policies for applications 
that fail to provide the NFIP with valid actuarial rating 
information.

 ● Travel trailer: Under the NFIP, a travel trailer can be considered a 
building only if it is without wheels, built on a chassis and affixed 
to a permanent foundation and regulated under the community’s 
floodplain management and building ordinances or laws.

 ● 2- to 4-family residence: This is a residential building that 
contains 2 to 4 units. This category includes apartment buildings 
and condominium buildings. Incidental occupancies are permitted 
if the total area of such occupancies is limited to less than 25% of 
the total floor area within the building. This excludes hotels and 
motels with normal room rentals for less than 6 months.

 ● Underground building: A building for which 50% or more of the 
Actual Cash Value (ACV), including machinery and equipment 
that are part of the building, is below ground.

 ● Unfinished area: An enclosed area that is used only for the 
parking of vehicles, building access or storage purposes and that 
does not meet the definition of a finished (habitable) area. Drywall 
used for fire protection is permitted in unfinished areas.

 ● Unit: A unit owned by the policyholder in a condominium building.
 ● Valued policy: A policy in which the insured and the insurer agree 

on the value of the property insured, that value being payable in 
the event of a total loss. The Standard Flood Insurance Policy 
(SFIP) is not a valued policy.

 ● Variance: A grant of relief by a participating community from the 
terms of its floodplain management regulations.

 ● Waiting period: The time between the date of application and the 
policy effective date.

 ● Walled and roofed: A building that has 2 or more exterior rigid 
walls and a fully secured roof and that is affixed to a permanent site.

 ● Wave height adjustment: A measurement that is added to the 
Base Flood Elevation (BFE) for V Zones shown on the Flood 
Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) published prior to 1981. For coastal 
communities, the BFE shown on FIRMs published prior to 1981 
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are stillwater elevations, which include only the effects of tide and 
storm surge and not the height of wind-generated waves.

 ● Write Your Own (WYO) Program: A cooperative undertaking 
of the insurance industry and FEMA begun in October 1983. The 
Write Your Own (WYO) Program operates within the context of 

the NFIP and involves private insurance carriers who issue and 
service NFIP policies.

 ● Zone: A geographical area shown on a Flood Hazard Boundary Map 
(FHBM) or a Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) that reflects risk.
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Final examination questions

Select the best answer for each question and mark your answers 
 online at CAMS.EliteCME.com.

21. Standard homeowners insurance covers damage due to flooding. 
 ¨ True  ¨ False

22. If you live in a Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) or high-risk 
area and have a federally backed mortgage, your mortgage lender 
requires you to have flood insurance. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

23. The NFIP established the Community Rating System (CRS) to 
motivate communities to exceed Federal minimum requirements 
for flood protection with the incentive of reduced flood insurance 
rates (subsidies) for communities participating in the program. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

24. With limited exceptions, flood insurance premiums cannot increase 
more than 18% annually.

 ¨ True  ¨ False

25. In communities participating in the NFIP, the general property 
policy provides building and/or contents coverage for any 
manufactured mobile home. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

26. Personal property is always valued using Replacement Cost 
Value (RCV).

 ¨ True  ¨ False

27. Personal property/contents coverage does insure portable and 
window air conditioners.

 ¨ True  ¨ False

28. High-risk areas are shown as zones beginning with the letter X on 
flood insurance rate maps. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

29. Residential condominium associations eligible under the RCBAP 
are eligible for the Preferred Risk Policy (PRP). 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

30. Older buildings constructed before the effective date of the 
community’s first Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) are referred 
to as “pre-FIRM.” 

 ¨ True  ¨ False
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Chapter 5 : Protecting Florida’s Water
4 CE Hours

By: Valerie Wohl

Learning objectives
 � Outline the anatomy and physiology of the endocrine system. 
 � Describe the steps in the hydrologic cycle.
 � Describe Florida’s freshwater resources. 
 � Explain the significance of watersheds in water sustainability. 
 � Explain why water use is limited in Florida at certain times.
 � Describe how saline intrusion occurs and how to minimize it. 
 � Explain what causes nutrient enrichment and how it negatively 

affects waterways.
 � Explain how urban development affects waterways.
 � List strategies for water sustainability.

 � List the primary causes and sources of water pollution.
 � Distinguish between stormwater and runoff.
 � Describe the unique properties of Florida’s springs.
 � List the aquifers that supply Florida with most of its water.
 � List laws and policies that protect Florida’s water.
 � List organizations responsible for protecting Florida’s water.
 � Describe three methods community associations can use to 

promote water sustainability.
 � Describe three factors community associations should avoid to 

promote water sustainability

Introduction
There is fresh groundwater beneath virtually all of Florida. This 
resource supplies 90 percent of the state population’s drinking 
water, and 50 percent of the water needed for agricultural and 
industrial purposes, including mining and electric power generation. 
Groundwater is also the source for Florida’s many springs, lakes, and 
rivers.1

In Florida, like many other parts of the United States, population 
pressure and urban development have negatively affected the 
quality and supply of groundwater. Contamination, pollutants, 
ecological imbalance, habitat invasion, and seawater intrusion all 
threaten Florida’s freshwater supply. In combination with excessive 
groundwater pumping, these factors have depleted Florida’s fresh 
water resources significantly. Lake levels are low, and flow to some 
rivers, wetlands, and springs is sharply reduced. This raises grave 
concerns about the future of drinking-water supplies, riparian areas, 
and critical aquatic habitats. 

According to the 2014 Annual Report on Regional Water Supply 
Planning, Florida’s demand for fresh water in 2030 will be an 
estimated 7.7 billion gallons per day (bgd), which will exceed that 
amount available from traditional groundwater sources.2 Protecting 
the state’s natural resources, while meeting this growing demand, is 
necessary to maintain a healthy environment and economy. During 
droughts, effective and equitable water management is even more 
critical because the demand for water can increase (e.g., for irrigation, 
lawn watering, recreation), while supply is reduced. 

Citizens can play an important role in restoring water quality. Local 
and state authorities need the cooperation of community members 
to learn and implement best practices for minimizing water use and 
restoring the health and supply of natural resources. Since the 1800s, 

human activities have depleted water availability and reduced water 
quality. In recent decades, federal, state, and local authorities have 
established policies and regulations to protect and restore Florida’s 
waters. The actions of private citizens are necessary to their success. 

Community association managers can play an important role in 
Florida’s water sustainability efforts, personally, and in a managerial 
capacity. Community associations consume a great deal of water 
for personal use and operational purposes. Additionally, community 
associations occupy extensive amounts of land that is likely to be 
situated above an underground water supply and/or near a surface 
body of water, meaning association members and employees directly 
affect water quality and supply. 

This course outlines critical issues in freshwater sustainability in 
Florida, by introducing collaborative adaptive management to:

 ● Common concepts and terminology in water sustainability and 
management practices. 

 ● The sources, locations, and unique nature of Florida’s freshwater 
resources.

 ● The structure and interconnectedness of Florida’s waterways. 
 ● Major threats to Florida’s groundwater.
 ● Strategies for restoring and maintaining water quality.
 ● Informational resources and ways to participate in water 

restoration efforts. 

Most of the data and figures presented in this course are drawn from 
materials published by the Federal Department of Environmental 
Protection (EPA), the Florida Departments of Environmental 
Protection (FDEP), The Southwest Florida Water Management District 
(SWFWMD), and the United States Geological Society (USGS).

Freshwater and the hydrologic cycle3 

To fully appreciate the precious nature of Florida’s groundwater and 
threats to freshwater sustainability, it is necessary to understand how 
little of it is suitable for consumption, where the usable water comes 
from, and where it goes. More than 99 percent of all the earth’s water 
is not potable (unsuitable for drinking). The vast majority of the one 
percent of water that can be used for human consumption is stored in 
the ground (.99%). The remaining fraction of 1 percent of freshwater is 
found in lakes (.86%) and rivers (.02%). 

The earth is a closed system; no water is added or taken away. That 
means the water on earth today is essentially the same water that was 
here millions of years ago, just reused and recycled continuously 
though a process called the hydrologic cycle. The hydrologic cycle 
begins with the evaporation of water from the surface of the ocean, 
and from soil through plant transpiration. As this moist air rises and 
cools, it becomes water vapor that condenses to form clouds, causing 
precipitation. 
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Once rainwater reaches the ground, two processes occur (1) the water 
may evaporate into the atmosphere, or (2) the water may land on the 
ground. If it penetrates deep into the earth, it will eventually flow into 
an aquifer, a massive underground reservoir that contains groundwater. 
Much of the water will not seep in; it flows over surface structures and 
empties into bodies of water, where the cycle begins again. Runoff is 
a term typically used to refer to rainwater that becomes polluted as it 
flows over land. Large areas paved with concrete or similar materials 
increase runoff and reduce the amount that seeps deep into the earth.

Factors that influence how much water is returned to an aquifer include:
 ● The amount of precipitation that falls in the area as rain or snow. 
 ● The amount of water that infiltrates the soil. Some of this water 

will remain in the shallow soil layer, where it gradually moves 
downhill, eventually flowing into the larger body of water along 
its banks. Some of the water may seep into much deeper layers, 
recharging groundwater in aquifers. Water may travel long 
distances or remain in storage for long periods before returning to 
the surface. The amount of water that filters through depends on 
several characteristics of the location: 

 ○ Soil characteristics: Predominantly clay and rocky soils absorb 
less water, and at a slower rate than sandy soils. Soils that are 
less absorbent contribute to greater overland water runoff.

 ○ Soil saturation: Soil already saturated from previous rainfall 
will absorb less water, contributing to surface runoff.

 ○ Land cover greatly affects infiltration and rainfall runoff. 
Impervious surfaces, such as parking lots, roads, and 
developments, act as a “fast lane” for rainfall – funneling it 
into storm drains that pour it into designated areas. Impervious 
surfaces increase the likelihood of flooding.

 ○ Slope of the land: Water falling on steeply sloped land runs off 
more quickly than water falling on flat land.

 ● The amount of evaporation. Water from rainfall primarily returns 
to the atmosphere through evaporation. 

 ● The amount of transpiration. Plants absorb water from the 
surrounding soil in various amounts. Most of this water moves 
through the plant’s root system and escapes into the atmosphere 
through its leaves. Transpiration is mediated by the characteristics 
and density of vegetation, which can slow runoff, allowing more 
water to seep into the ground. Transpiration is also affected by 
temperature, solar radiation, wind, and atmospheric pressure, 
among other factors.

 ● The amount of storage. The storage and release of water in 
reservoirs can have a significant effect on the water flow.

 ● The amount used by people. A particular area may supply a few 
homeowners and businesses pumping small amounts for personal 
use, to massive withdrawals for irrigation, industries, and mining, 
or supplying large populations with drinking water.

THE FLorIdA WATEr PLAn4

After particularly severe droughts in 1970 and 1971, policymakers 
adopted a broad, statewide approach to protect and allocate Florida’s 
water. The Florida Water Resources Act, Chapter 373.036, Florida 
Statutes (FS) and the Water Resource Implementation Rule, Chapter 
62-40.510, Florida Administrative Code (FAC), authorize the 
Department of Environmental Protection Office of Water Policy to 
develop and annually update a Florida Water Plan. 

The Plan, embodied in Chapter 373, F.S., The Florida Water 
Resources Act, establishes that all water in Florida, on the surface 
or in the ground, is a public resource managed by the Department of 
Environmental Protection and five regional water management districts 
(Districts)[See Figure 1]. Water resources include rivers, streams, 
wetlands, lakes, springs, aquifers, and estuaries. The state has exclusive 
authority to regulate water withdrawals and use of water by largescale 
consumers, including public utilities, agriculture, and industry. 

Chapter 62-40 FAC, The Water Resources Implementation Rule, contains:
 ● Goals, objectives, and guidance for the development and review 

of programs, rules, and plans relating to water resources, based on 
statutory policies and directives.

 ● Programs and activities of the department related to water supply, 
water quality, natural waterways, flood protection, and floodplain 
management.

 ● Water quality standards.
 ● District water management strategic plans.

The DEP’s primary responsibilities are to restore, maintain, and 
protect the quality of water resources, and promote the development of 
new sources of water, such as seawater desalination. The Districts have 
direct authority over:

 ● Research (including regular monitoring) to help establish water 
quality standards. 

 ● Permitting discharges to protect water quality.
 ● Enforcement of regulations to address activities that negatively 

affect water resources.
 ● Education to promote protection, conservation, efficient use and 

re-use.
 ● Land acquisition and management to preserve the integrity of 

natural systems. 

Getting the water from the source to your faucet is the responsibility of 
regional water authorities and local utilities. Under DEP supervision, 
the Districts develop and implement plans to manage and reduce 
effects of droughts and floods and allocate water within their 
designated regions. Each of the five water management districts is 
characterized by different land and water use and varying patterns 
of population growth. To meet their diverse needs, each District is 
responsible for adopting its own individual rules consistent with 
Chapter 62-40, F.A.C. 

The Districts are authorized to manage and protect Florida’s water 
resources. Their management activities include resource recovery 
and the development of regulatory requirements and restrictions. 
Areas where water withdrawals are causing or may cause negative 
impacts to the water, related land resources or the public interest may 
be designated by the District as water use caution areas (WUCAs). 
As part of a WUCA, groundwater resources are comprehensively 
managed to make sure there are sufficient and sustainable water 
supplies for current and future users. 

Figure 1. Florida’s Five Water Management Districts5
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A WATErSHEd APProACH To FLorIdA’S WATEr MAnAgEMEnT 
Since the late 1980s, public and private entities have chosen to manage 
Florida’s water quality and supply using a watershed approach.6 A 
watershed is an area of land that acts like a drainage basin or catchment, 
collecting and channeling all the underground and surface water that 
flows through it toward a common outlet, such as a large stream, 
lake, or other reservoir. Virtually any land a person can stand on is 
a watershed. Waterways in a single watershed are connected, above 
and below ground, in a system that may include aquifers, springs, 
tributaries, streams, wetlands, lakes, ponds, rivers, and creeks. 7

Not only do humans, plants, and animals depend on healthy 
watersheds and the bodies of water they support to supply the 
quality and quantity of water needed, they also bring the state critical 
economic and social benefits. Florida’s multi-billion dollar tourism, 
agriculture, and manufacturing industries, years of drought, decades 
of detrimental urban planning policies, and pollution, among other 
factors, have damaged Florida’s watersheds, compromised the 
water supply, and strained state resources. Florida’s watersheds are 
threatened by high concentrations of nutrients and sediment, habitat 
alteration, invasive species, toxic pollutants and urban development, 
among other factors.8

The integrity of aquatic ecosystems is tied to their watersheds; they 
provide an ecological infrastructure that maintains water quality and 
supply, and is a foundation for water quality restoration. Waterways 
within a single watershed are linked with one another, meaning 
contamination or overuse of one body of water will eventually take a 
toll on other parts of the watershed. Because each watershed functions 
as a unified system and a natural water boundary, they are used to 
assess water quality and restoration efforts, and the degree to which 

water protection strategies have been successful in encouraging 
sustainability.

Florida has more than 50 large watersheds that have been aggregated 
into 29 watershed basins of significant magnitude (See Figure 2) used 
to examine Florida’s watershed activities and programs, for purposes 
of research, monitoring, data management, assessment, evaluation, 
nonpoint-source mitigation, and groundwater protection.9

Figure 2. Florida’s 29 Watershed Basins 

Watershed restoration act 
Florida’s Watershed Restoration Act (FWRA) was created to protect 
this entire system in a holistic, ecological approach and integrate 
Florida’s water protection programs into one comprehensive policy. It 
was established in 1999 to protect Florida’s waters through the Total 
Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) program, required by the federal 
Clean Water Act (FCWA). TMDL is a scientific determination of the 
maximum amount of a given pollutant that a surface water can absorb 
and still meet the water quality standards that protect human health 
and aquatic life.10

As rainwater moves across the land, it picks up bacteria and chemicals 
and carries them to streams, rivers, lakes, coasts, and underground 
aquifers. Common activities, such as walking the dog, fertilizing 
the lawn, and driving the car, leave pollutants behind. This type of 
pollution is called “nonpoint-source pollution,” due to the numerous 

indirect points of entry. Virtually everyone is guilty of it. The TMDL 
program protects state waters by coordinating the control of pollution 
from point sources (i.e., sources discharging through a system, such as 
a pipe, as well as urban stormwater) and nonpoint sources (i.e., sources 
contributing to pollution caused by rainfall moving over and through 
the ground). 

The Impaired Waters Rule authorizes the DEP to identify polluted 
water bodies through the TMDL program, and direct resources to 
clean the worst cases first. Water bodies that do not meet water quality 
standards are identified as impaired for the particular pollutants 
of concern – nutrients, bacteria, mercury, etc. – and identified for 
restoration efforts. TDMLs are based on Florida’s threshold limits for 
pollutants on surface water (surface water quality standards). 

Watershed management and planning11

The DEP works with the Districts and local governments to monitor 
water quality, develop and implement protection plans, and perform 
biological assessments. Together they identify top priorities and 
strategies for improving groundwater supply, identifying alternative 
supply sources, increasing water quality and quantity, and enhancing 
flood protection through restoration of natural systems. Many projects 
are funded and completed through the combined efforts of federal, 
state, regional, and local governments, as well as those of industry and 
private partners.

Watershed management examines sources and pathways associated 
with poor water quality or quantity to identify specific factors that 
negatively affect water quality. These include pollutants (e.g., excess 
nutrients from fertilizer, animal or human waste, discharges from 
animal slaughter, or sewage treatment facilities), as well as habitat 
destruction or dredging. The following watershed management 
projects are likely occurring in your immediate area: 

 ● Surface water- and groundwater-monitoring programs and data 
integration. 

 ● Assessment of wastewater facilities, industries, agriculture, septic 
tanks, urban development, etc., on surface water quality.

 ● Development of water quality restoration standards for impaired 
watersheds such as the TMDLs.

 ● Coordination of all activities among various partners and 
stakeholders through Basin Management Action Plans (BMAPs). 

 ● Administration of a grant program for implementing Best 
Management Practices (BMPs). 

 ● Stormwater retrofits for minimizing contamination from diffuse 
pollution. 

 ● Groundwater quality assessments. 

Once impaired waters are identified, Federal and State agencies can 
coordinate the work of legal authorities, and volunteer networks, with 
educational outreach and financial assistance to clean up, protect, and 
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restore the watershed. A variety of measures are used in watershed 
projects. Some are larger, more complex and often costly practices 
that require group action to plan, install, operate, and maintain. 
Structural measures might include levees, dikes, floodways, floodwater 
diversions, and flood control dams. Conservation practices like 
terraces may also be part of watershed project plans.

The watershed plan is a strategy for achieving water resource 
goals that includes all aspects of development and implementation 
(assessment, analyses, actions, participants, and resources) related to 
the protection and restoration of a specific area. These objectives are 
consistent with goals for protecting wildlife and restoring wetlands 
and other fragile habitats. In a healthy watershed, vegetation, land 
cover, water flow, and aquatic ecosystems work together to filter 
pollutants from the water, reduce erosion, and prevent flash flooding 
during storms. Watershed management works to maintain a balanced 

equilibrium among watershed elements, making the watershed less 
susceptible to environmental damage from natural disasters, such as 
hurricanes, floods, or drought, as well as human impact. 

Community members may be able to receive financial assistance 
for watershed remediation as it is used to address a variety of 
environmental concerns. Project objectives include flood prevention, 
agricultural water management, and fish and wildlife habitat 
development. The Emergency Watershed Protection program is 
responsible for responding to emergencies created by natural disasters, 
but also provides assistance and resources for recovery efforts intended 
to alleviate future hazards to life and property caused by floods, 
hurricanes, fires, windstorms and other natural occurrences. Public and 
private landowners are eligible for assistance, but must be represented 
by a project sponsor, such as a city, county, conservation district, or 
tribal government.

groUndWATEr SUSTAInABILITy12

Groundwater exists almost everywhere beneath the earth’s surface. 
It is held in aquifers, massive underground reservoirs made from 
layers of porous rock. Florida pipes more than ninety percent of its 
freshwater supply from groundwater aquifers. This freshwater is 
Florida’s lifeblood for personal, public, agricultural and industrial uses. 
The aquifers that provide water for Florida’s taps also help maintain 
the ecological health of Florida’s springs, lakes, rivers, wetlands, and 
estuaries. 

In the early 2000s, Florida’s aquifers were estimated to contain about 
one fifth the amount of water in all the Great Lakes, 100 times the 
amount in Lake Mead on the Colorado River and 30,000 times the 
daily amount flowing into the sea from Florida’s 13 major coastal 
rivers.  Yet Florida experiences water shortages on a regular basis. 
Many factors have contributed to reduced water quality and supply. 
Among the most significant are seawater intrusion, contamination, and 
overdraft.13

Groundwater sustainability can be understood as the development 
and use of groundwater in a manner that can be maintained for 
an indefinite time without causing unacceptable environmental, 
economic, or social consequences. Some important considerations for 
planning long term groundwater sustainability are:

 ● Groundwater cannot be considered a nonrenewable resource 
like mineral or petroleum deposits, nor a relatively short term 
renewable resource, such as solar energy. 

 ● Groundwater is returned to the earth by precipitation (recharge) 
very slowly, over years, so that water withdrawals commonly 
outpace the rate of replenishment. 

 ● Effects of groundwater pumping tend to reveal themselves slowly 
over time, evident only after many years of pumping, when 
damage may already be considerable. 

 ● Sustainability and loss of groundwater storage must be considered 
within an appropriate time frame and context. Groundwater 
withdrawals and replenishment by recharge will vary seasonally 
and year to year. 

Key priorities for groundwater sustainability are: 
 ● Effective use and sustainable long term yields from aquifers.
 ● Preservation of groundwater quality.
 ● Preservation of the aquatic environment.
 ● Integration of groundwater and surface water into a comprehensive 

management system.

groundwater zones
Water beneath the land surface occurs in two principal zones, the 
unsaturated zone and the saturated zone. In the unsaturated zone, the 
spaces between particle grains and the cracks in rocks contain both air 
and water. Although a considerable amount of water can be present in 
the unsaturated zone, this water cannot be pumped by wells because 
capillary forces exert too much pressure.

In the saturated zone, spaces between rocks and other materials are 
completely filled with water. The upper surface of the saturated zone 
is referred to as the water table. Water in the saturated zone below 
the water table is referred to as groundwater. Below the water table, 
the water pressure is high enough to allow water to enter a well as 
the water level in the well is lowered by pumping, thus permitting 
groundwater to be withdrawn for use. 
 
Between the unsaturated zone and the water table is a transition zone, 
the capillary fringe. In this zone, the voids are saturated or almost 
saturated with water that is held in place by capillary forces. (See 
Figure 3).

Figure 3. Groundwater Zones [1]
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Confined and unconfined aquifers 
An aquifer can be categorized as either confined or unconfined. An 
unconfined aquifer, also known as a water table aquifer, is an aquifer 
that is close to the land’s surface. The water table in an unconfined 
aquifer is under atmospheric pressure and is replenished or recharged 
directly from water seeping downward from the land surface or 
upward from deeper in the aquifer. The water level in a well drilled 
into an unconfined aquifer indicates the position of the water table in 
the aquifer.

A confined aquifer is an aquifer that is bound above and below by 
relatively impermeable layers of rock or sediment, also known as 
confining units. These confining units restrict the movement of 
groundwater. As a result, groundwater within a confined aquifer is 
typically under pressure. The water in a well that is drilled into a 
confined aquifer will rise above the top of the aquifer. In cases where 
the water level rises above the land surface, the well is called a flowing 
artesian well.

recharge and discharge
Water continually moves in and out of aquifers in a process known 
as recharge and discharge. These processes mediate the amount of 
groundwater found in any particular aquifer.

 ● Aquifer recharge occurs when water percolates down through the 
soil and into the aquifer to replenish its water supply. Rainfall 
that soaks into the ground serves as the source of most of the 
groundwater within an aquifer. However, the majority of the rain 
that falls does not find its way into aquifers. Most rainfall returns 
to the atmosphere through evaporation and transpiration, or runs 
off across the land into surface water bodies. A variety of factors, 
including the thickness of confining units, determines how much 
rainfall actually recharges aquifers.

 ● Aquifer discharge occurs when groundwater flows from the 
aquifer, either toward the land surface or into an overlying aquifer. 
Discharge typically occurs in low-lying coastal areas and in 
surface water bodies such as wetlands, lakes, rivers and springs. 
Aquifer discharge can also occur as pumping from wells. 

Depending on the location and hydrologic conditions, rivers and 
streams can serve as both recharge and discharge areas. When water 

levels in a lake or stream are higher than the surrounding groundwater, 
for example, the lake provides recharge to the aquifer. Conversely, 
when water levels in the aquifer are higher than the adjacent surface 
water bodies, then the surface water receives groundwater discharge. 
In some cases, surface water bodies provide a method of direct 
recharge to, and/or discharge from, a watershed’s aquifer. A spring-fed 
river is an example of a discharge area for an aquifer.

Aquifers play an important role in a variety of surface water body 
conditions. Their interaction with surface waterways can mediate 
saltwater intrusion and overall biological health, affect spring flow 
or streamflow, and water levels of lakes and wetlands. Not all 
precipitation that flows into an aquifer flows out. Within the 5-county 
District, the amount of rainwater entering the Floridan aquifer system 
ranges from 2 percent to 38 percent of the total rainfall. Generally, 
recharge is greatest in the northern areas of the District where the 
Upper Floridan aquifer is close to the land surface and the confining 
units are thin and disconnected. The major portion of groundwater 
exits the aquifer system along the coast. 

Saltwater intrusion
Saltwater intrusion is the movement of large amounts of seawater 
into an aquifer’s freshwater supply, creating brackish water. Some 
degree of freshwater and saltwater combination is natural in a part 
of the coastal aquifer known as the zone of dispersion. Here, the 
overwhelming flow of freshwater from the aquifer to the ocean is 
able to keep the prevent the saltwater from intruding further into the 
freshwater. 

Problematic saltwater intrusion results when freshwater is withdrawn 
at a faster rate than replenished, and varies according to the current 
water level, rate of replenishment, and rate of withdrawal. While 
recharge is a continual process, it is not able to replenish the quantities 
of water discharged from the aquifer to the coast or other water bodies. 
When the amount of groundwater withdrawn exceeds the amount of 
water necessary to naturally recharge the aquifer, it is referred to as 
overdraft. 

Overdraft is a particular problem in Florida, where it pulls seawater 
into aquifers, causing damaging saltwater intrusion in the especially 
susceptible coastal and southern areas within the Districts. It reduces 
aquifer discharge into surface water bodies, lowering lake levels, 
slowing river currents, and further reducing the size of the wetlands; 
all of which contributes to the loss of natural animal habitats and 

ecosystems. Florida is expected to experience significant population 
growth and urban development in the future, which will almost 
certainly increase the demand for freshwater and intensify overdraft. 

The Biscayne aquifer, which provides water to the Miami–Dade 
County area, is experiencing significant saltwater intrusion from the 
Atlantic Ocean. The damage began in the early 20th century, when 
large-scale swamp drainage created a vacuum, pulling water from the 
Atlantic Ocean into the coastal soils. According to the U.S. Geological 
Survey, even if heavy rains replenish the aquifer year-round, it may 
no longer be usable in the near future for drinking water without 
expensive treatment. The Biscayne aquifer is threatened by freshwater 
drainage and seepage of saltwater into canals, over-pumping of 
freshwater to wells, and drought conditions. 

Strategies since the 1930s have attempted to limit the intrusion of 
saltwater, primarily through the installation of control structures. 
According to the USGS, these measures have helped map and 
understand the extent of sea water intrusion, but have not resolved the 
problem. “As sea level continues to rise and the demand for freshwater 
increases, the measures required to prevent this intrusion may become 
more difficult [to implement],” the USGS noted in a press release.14

Water quality15

Good quality water in adequate amounts is indispensable for the 
water we drink, but it is also essential for recreational purposes and 
maintaining the natural habitat. We cannot safely swim or fish in 
polluted waters nor can Florida’s natural systems survive without 
adequate water of good quality. The recreational and ecological values 
of good quality water and other natural resources are frequently 
acknowledged but not always considered in community association 
management decisions.

A variety of factors contribute to groundwater contamination within 
Florida’s aquifers. Sources include excessive and improper use of 
fertilizer and pesticides, excessive pet and livestock waste in areas 
near water bodies, leaky underground storage tanks and septic tanks, 
landfills and industrial waste sites, chemical spills, injection and 
drainage wells, and improperly abandoned wells.

Contaminated groundwater may discharge into surface water bodies, 
causing environmental damage and endangering wildlife. In areas of 
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high aquifer recharge, contaminants may flow directly into the aquifer, 
while contaminants entering surface water bodies may find their 
way to groundwater through aquifer recharge. The Upper Floridan 
aquifer, in the northern portion, and the Surficial aquifer are especially 
vulnerable to contamination.

Scientists use a number of tests and measures to determine water 
quality. These include turbidity, nutrient levels, pH, dissolved oxygen, 
conductivity, and temperature.

 ● Turbidity is characterized by a cloudy or muddy appearance 
caused by suspended solids that decrease the ability of the sunlight 
to penetrate the water. The most common suspended solids are 
soil particles and algae. Water may sometimes be naturally turbid 
because of high amounts of organic debris, erosion, or waves or 
floods that suspend sediments. High turbidity reduces underwater 
plant growth by limiting sunlight penetration and photosynthesis. 
A decrease in plant growth results in a decrease in the number of 
organisms that depend on plants for food and shelter. Soil particles 
also affect the health of fish by clogging and irritating their gills. 
Turbid waters may suffocate some aquatic plants and animals and 
impair reproduction and development of eggs and larvae.

 ● Nutrients in the proper amount are necessary for healthy 
aquatic systems, but in excess, nutrients, primarily nitrogen 
and phosphorus, can be harmful. Nutrients come from runoff 
containing fertilizer, waste from leaking septic tanks, decaying 
lawn debris and animal wastes. When too many nutrients are 
present, certain plants grow explosively and crowd out other 
plants, creating a monoculture. Increases in nutrients may result 
in algal blooms in lakes and rivers. When algae multiplies rapidly, 
it uses up dissolved oxygen, leaving less available for other forms 
of aquatic life. Excess nutrients also frequently increase nonnative 
nuisance plants, such as water hyacinth and hydrilla. 

 ● pH (potential of hydrogen)is the measure of the amount of 
hydrogen ions (H+) and hydroxide ions (OH-) in a solution. The 
more acidic a solution, the greater the amount of hydrogen ions. 
The more basic or alkaline the solution, the greater the amount of 
hydroxide ions. The pH scale ranges from 0 to 14. The lower the 

pH, the more acidic the solution is; the higher the pH, the more 
basic the solution is. A solution with a pH of 7 is neutral, neither 
basic nor acidic. Pure water has a pH of 7, orange juice has a pH of 
4, and lye has a pH of 14. 

 ● Most aquatic organisms prefer water with a pH ranging from 6.5 
to 8.5. As acidity rises (pH falls), other compounds in contact with 
the water or the soil may release toxic elements (for example, 
aluminum and mercury). Stormwater runoff containing leakage 
from faulty sewer lines or septic tanks, runoff from agricultural 
areas and acid rain can all decrease pH in lakes, rivers, and 
estuaries, threatening aquatic organisms and releasing potentially 
harmful elements. 

 ● Dissolved oxygen (DO) in water is essential for the survival of 
nearly all aquatic plants and animals. Aquatic organisms, including 
most fish, generally thrive when dissolved oxygen levels are 5 
parts per million (ppm) or greater. Oxygen in the water comes 
from the air and as a byproduct of photosynthesis. 

 ● Conductivity refers to how well the water conducts or transmits 
an electrical current. Pure distilled water does not conduct a 
current. As the concentration of minerals and salts in the water 
increases, however, conductivity rises. Conductivity is therefore an 
indirect measure of the mineral content of water. Sediments from 
stormwater runoff and intrusion of seawater increase the mineral 
content of water. Increases in conductivity may indicate water 
quality problems from increased salinity or increased sediment. 
Both of these make water less useful to humans and to natural 
systems. 

 ● Temperature affects the growth and life cycles of many aquatic 
organisms. Nearly all organisms have a temperature range they 
prefer or even require. Sediments can absorb heat and increase 
water temperature. Stormwater runoff from heated impervious 
surfaces and power plant outfalls also increases water temperature. 
As water temperature increases, the life cycles of aquatic insects 
may accelerate. The growth of algae generally increases, whereas 
the growth of other plants such as aquatic grasses may decrease. 
Increased temperatures can render other aquatic organisms more 
sensitive and vulnerable to disease and disrupt reproductive cycles.

Causes and sources of environmental pollution
Although pollution is often defined as contamination by harmful 
chemicals or waste materials, environmental pollution can be anything 
that harms or causes an imbalance in plants and animals in their 
natural habitat – even though the substance may not be harmful to 
humans. For example, phosphorus and nitrogen are common elements 
of most fertilizers. They are not harmful to humans. However, 
nitrogen runoff can be a pollutant in saltwater bays and estuaries, and 
phosphorus runoff can be a pollutant in freshwater habitats such as the 
Everglades and freshwater lakes because it causes an imbalance in the 
natural system. Pollution is usually caused by human activities. 

Pollutants aren’t always detectable by smell, sight or taste. Water 
may look clean, smell clean, and even taste fine, but it may still 
be contaminated and unsafe for drinking. Despite successes in 
cleaning up some water pollution, many modern pollutants are very 
difficult to remove, and it is obviously better not to pollute in the 
first place. Heavy metals and synthetic chemicals pose particular 
hazards to humans and other forms of life. Heavy metals, such as 
lead and mercury, can interfere with production of hormones and 
with reproduction. Lead can further result in physical and mental 
developmental problems in children. Other metals, such as copper and 
zinc, are less dangerous to humans but are toxic to aquatic life.

More than 10 million chemicals are manufactured today. Most are used 
in agriculture and industry. Some break down quickly, whereas others, 
like heavy metals, remain in the environment for decades. Fewer than 
2 percent of these chemicals have been fully tested with regard to 

human health risks, and no health information is available for more 
than 70 percent of them.

Water may be polluted in two general ways: by point-source pollution 
and by non-point–source pollution. With point-source pollution, the 
cause of the problem can be traced to a single source, for example, a 
pipe discharging waste from a factory. Non-point–source pollution is 
more diffuse and originates from diverse sources over a wider area. 
In the past, pollution from industrial and domestic point sources was 
common. Stronger regulations, new technologies and more advanced 
treatment of wastes have reduced point-source pollution. 

Today most water quality problems result from non-point–source 
pollution, including stormwater runoff, septic tanks, runoff from 
croplands, dairies, feedlots and farms, and erosion from construction 
sites and unpaved roads. Non-point–source pollution carries pesticides 
and fertilizers from lawns and fields, oil and greases from roads and 
parking lots, sediments from construction sites and clear-cutting of 
trees, and wastes from improperly functioning septic tanks. 

In 1982, the state of Florida implemented a rule to reduce stormwater 
runoff. Since 1982, all new developments have been required to 
use best management practices (BMPs) to minimize runoff during 
construction and to treat stormwater after construction. These BMPs 
include requiring swales, retention ponds, detention ponds and 
detention ponds with filtration.
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Florida water quality trends16

Urban stormwater became an important source of water pollution, 
particularly surface water, as Florida cities grew and experienced a rapid 
rate of population growth. Surface water quality problems occur with 
the greatest frequency in heavily populated areas – the southeast, in the 
central region near Orlando, in the St. Johns River basin particularly 
around Jacksonville, in Pensacola Bay and its tributaries, in the Peace 
River basin, and along the west coast between Tampa and Naples.

Waterbodies with watersheds encompassing large urban areas and 
intensive industry and agriculture have the poorest water quality. 
Developed areas have a much higher proportion of impervious surface 
than rural areas. Impervious surfaces are covered with buildings 
or asphalt, concrete and other materials that prevent water from 
seeping into the ground. As a consequence, the volume of stormwater 
increases, carrying pollutants with it.

The Florida Department of Environmental Protection monitors 
water quality in more than 600 surface water bodies throughout the 
state. Most improvements since the mid 1980s were associated with 
better control of point-source pollution, particularly discharges from 
wastewater treatment plants. Declines in water quality generally 
resulted from increases in stormwater runoff. 

Florida’s groundwater is vulnerable to contamination because large 
portions of the state are covered with well-drained sandy soils 
overlying porous limestone. Large amounts of rainfall contribute to the 
potential for contamination because surface water is likely to percolate 
through – meaning anything found in surface water is likely to find 
its way into groundwater and vice versa. In the 1980s, hundreds of 
wells in Florida were found to be contaminated with the soil fumigant 
ethylene dibromide (EDB), while others were contaminated with dry-
cleaning solvent and gasoline from leaking underground storage tanks. 
This prompted the development of more rigorous standards for water 
well construction and water testing within areas of known groundwater 
contamination. 

Groundwater in Florida has also been found to be contaminated 
with nitrate from fertilizers or leachate from septic tanks. Nitrate 
contamination of groundwater may cause “blue baby syndrome,” a 
condition affecting human infants younger than 6 months of age. High 
levels of nitrates decrease the amount of oxygen carried in the baby’s 
blood. The skin around the eyes, mouth and feet appear blue. The 
syndrome may also cause difficulty breathing, loss of consciousness, 
convulsions, and even death.

THE FLorIdAn AQUIFEr SySTEM 
There are approximately 12,000 wells associated with groundwater 
systems used for public water supply in Florida. They draw from the 
Floridan aquifer system, a water reservoir running underneath the entire 
state of Florida and areas of Alabama, Georgia, and South Carolina. 
The Floridan aquifer system is one of the highest producing aquifers 
in the world and the source for Florida’s unusual number of springs. It 
extends under an area of about 100,000 square miles. (See Figure 4).

 
Figure 4. Floridan aquifer system 17

The Floridan aquifer system has two main portions, the Upper Floridan 
and the Lower Floridan. The Upper Floridan is a continuous wall 
of relatively impermeable rocks, hundreds of feet thick. The Upper 
Floridan aquifer serves as the principal water source for public supply, 
agriculture and industry in the District, supplying more than ten times 
the amount of water pumped from either the Surficial or Intermediate 

aquifers. In west-central Florida, the Upper Floridan aquifer generally 
contains good water quality and is the principal source of water for 
much of the District.

This Upper Floridan aquifer structure maintains a separation between 
its freshwater and the primarily saline water found in the Lower 
Floridan. Further north, the Upper Floridan is unconfined over a 
widespread area, and deepens in the far western panhandle and 
southern Florida. In those areas, the water quality is very poor, with 
very limited uses unless treated.

Aquifers at landsurface
There are five aquifer systems visible at landsurface that supply 
Florida with groundwater. They are referred to as the Sand and Gravel, 
Biscayne, Surficial, Floridan, and Intermediate Confining Unit systems 
(See Figure 5). 

Figure 5. Florida’s Aquifers at Landsurface [18]

Sand and gravel aquifer 
The Sand and Gravel aquifer is the primary source of water for Santa 
Rosa and Escambia Counties in the western panhandle of Florida. 
The aquifer consists of sand and gravel interwoven with layers of silt 
and clay. The aquifer contains two highly permeable zones separated 

by less permeable sands and clays. The lower zone, which is under 
confined conditions, is referred to as the “main producing zone” 
because most groundwater is drawn from this zone. This aquifer’s 
groundwater generally flows towards the coast. 
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Biscayne aquifer
The Biscayne aquifer is the primary source of water for all of Dade 
and Broward Counties, the southern portion of Palm Beach County, 
and the Florida Keys. It consists of highly permeable limestone and 
less permeable sand and sandstone. The northern part of the aquifer 
has more sand and grades northward and westward into the sandy 
deposits that are part of the Surficial aquifer system. In most places, 

the highly permeable rocks of the Biscayne aquifer are covered by a 
thin veneer of porous soil, causing aquifer water levels to rise rapidly 
in response to rainfall. Water in the Biscayne aquifer is unconfined and 
generally flows toward streams, the ocean, and the extensive system of 
canals in south Florida.

Surficial aquifer system
The Surficial aquifer supplies only limited amounts of water for use 
within the District. In eastern portions of Polk and Highlands counties, 
where the aquifer is thickest, the Surficial aquifer is often used for 
agricultural irrigation. In the southern coastal areas of the District 
– where the water quality of the intermediate and Upper Floridan 
aquifers is poor – there are zones within the Surficial aquifer that are 
used for agricultural irrigation and for some household uses. 

The Surficial aquifer system is generally unconfined conditions, and 
composed primarily of sand, clay, and/or shell deposits. The Surficial 
aquifer varies widely in thickness; it is completely absent in areas 
of the north, and deeper than 400 feet in Indian River and St. Lucie 
Counties. In the southern portion, the Surficial aquifer is separated 

from the underlying aquifer by a confining wall that becomes think and 
disconnected in the northern portion, resulting in a water table situated 
immediately above, and joining, the Upper Floridan aquifer. 

Any undefined aquifers present at landsurface in Florida are 
considered part of the Surficial aquifer system. Unlike the Sand 
and Gravel aquifer and the Biscayne aquifer that supply water to 
large municipalities, the Surficial aquifer is primarily used to supply 
domestic, commercial, or small municipal needs. Groundwater in the 
Surficial aquifer tends to flow from inland areas of higher elevation 
towards the coast or streams, with water discharging into surface water 
bodies, evaporating, or returning to the aquifer. 

The intermediate confining unit aquifer system
Aquifers that lie between the Surficial aquifer system and the Floridan 
aquifer system In Southwestern Florida are collectively referred to as 
the Intermediate aquifer System. The Intermediate aquifer is a confined 
system, situated below the Surficial aquifer, and made primarily of 
limestone, shell, sand and clay. In most places, water filters down from 
the Surficial aquifer system to the Intermediate aquifer system. 

The Intermediate aquifer system is the main source of water for 
Sarasota, Polk, Highlands, Hardee, DeSoto, Charlotte, and Lee 
counties, supplying public, agricultural, and household needs in areas 
where the water of the underlying Floridan aquifer is brackish. In the 
southern portion of the state, where it contains brackish water, it has 
been used for the injection of sewage and industrial waste. In these 
areas, the shallower Sand and Gravel aquifer (to the west) and the 
Biscayne aquifer (to the south) are used to supply water. 

Sole source aquifers in the southeast19 
The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) defines a sole source 
aquifer as an underground water source that supplies at least 50 
percent of the drinking water consumed in the area overlying the 
aquifer. These areas have no alternative drinking water source(s) 
that could physically, legally, and economically supply all those who 
depend upon the aquifer for drinking water. EPA has designated two 
sole source aquifers in Florida:

Figure 6. Biscayne aquifer

Biscayne aquifer  
The Biscayne aquifer lies within an area of south Florida bounded 
by the Atlantic Ocean and the Gulf of Mexico, between Whitewater 
Bay in Monroe County and Delray Beach in Palm Beach County. 
The enclosed area includes all of Dade County and parts of Broward, 
Monroe, and Palm Beach Counties.

Figure 7. Volusia aquifer

Volusia aquifer
The Volusia aquifer is part of the Surficial Aquifer system. The 
designated area includes all of Volusia County and portions of Flagler and 
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Putnam Counties, and extends approximately 1,450 square miles. Major 
cities in the area include Ormond Beach, Daytona Beach, New Smyrna 
Beach, and Deland. The area’s eastern boundary is the Atlantic Ocean.

Designation of an aquifer as a sole source aquifer provides EPA with the 
authority to review federal financially assisted projects planned for the 
area to determine their potential for contaminating the aquifer. Federally 

funded projects reviewed may include, but are not limited to, highway 
improvements and new road construction, public water supply wells, 
transmission lines, wastewater treatment facilities, construction projects 
involving disposal of stormwater, and agricultural projects involving 
management of animal waste. Proposed projects that are funded entirely 
by state, local, or private concerns are not subject to EPA review. 

Aquifer management
The Department of Environmental Protection promotes natural 
recharge of aquifers and works to ensure no controllable factors 
adversely affect the underground environment. In Florida, groundwater 
quality and sustainability are primarily addressed by the Aquifer 
Protection and Groundwater Management Programs, under regulatory 
authority of the DEP, according to Chapter 62-520, F.A.C. 

The Aquifer Protection Program regulates wells and well construction, 
and is responsible for implementing groundwater protection programs. 
The Groundwater Management program is responsible for evaluating 
and addressing groundwater resources that adversely affect water 
quality. These activities include conducting assessments of impaired 
waters, identifying causes of these impairments and helping identify 
actions to restore them to health.

FLorIdA’S SPrIngS20

Groundwater management programs focus much of their attention on 
springs. Because most of Florida’s springs have the Upper Floridan 
aquifer as their source, water quality in the springs is a good indication 
of water quality in the aquifer, and a convenient way to test it. A spring 
is a natural channel in the earth where pressurized groundwater is 
forced to the surface, moving into a river or other water body through 
an opening called a spring vent. In Florida, springs appear in multiples 
or singly, in areas where the level of water in the aquifer is higher than 
the ground level. Most of Florida’s 600 freshwater springs originate 
from the Floridan aquifer and are located in the northern half of the state. 

The source of a spring water is rainfall, and the area of land that 
contributes rainfall to a spring is called the springshed. This area 
extends much farther than just the land immediately surrounding a 
spring. Unlike watershed boundaries, springshed boundaries are not 
easily defined; they can shift according to changing rainfall patterns 
and geological pressure below the land’s surface. Springs are classified 
by magnitude, based on their volume of flow.

Florida has the largest concentration of springs in the world, with a 
total of 33 first magnitude springs. First magnitude springs have a flow 
rate of 100 cubic feet per second. The five first magnitude spring groups: 
Rainbow, Crystal River/Kings Bay, Homosassa, Chassahowitzka, and 
Weeki Wachee collectively discharge more than one billion gallons per 
day. Four of the five discharge into Gulf coastal waters. 

Flow rate is a defining feature of a spring. It is one of four attributes 
common to all healthy springs that is used to assess their condition:

 ● Flow refers to the amount of water that discharges from a spring 
vent (or collection of spring vents), and is the primary feature of 
a spring system. Without adequate flow, the ecology and potential 
use of a spring diminishes.

 ● Water clarity is a necessity for productive aquatic vegetation that 
supports spring ecosystems. Exceptionally clear water is a defining 
characteristic of many Florida springs. 

 ● Dense aquatic vegetation [also referred to as submerged aquatic 
vegetation(SAV)] provide habitat for many organisms, stabilize 
sediments and shorelines, and improve water clarity by filtering 
particles and removing excess nutrients. 

 ● Fish and wildlife are a key characteristic of Florida springs, 
which contain an abundant diversity of animals, including birds, 
turtles, alligators and otters. Close proximity to the Gulf of Mexico 
generate fish of both marine and freshwater species. Coastal 
springs are critical animal habitats, providing thermal refuge 
during the winter months to a variety of animals, including the 
endangered West Indian manatee.

Springs are important not only for their ecological value but also for 
their economic benefits to the surrounding communities. Springs 
attract people with their unique beauty and provide immeasurable 
natural, recreational, and economic benefits for residents and visitors. 
Four of the five first magnitude springs have state parks associated 
with them that draw more than 1 million non-resident visitors annually, 
and provide an estimated $46 million  in direct economic impact.

Threats
Over the past half century virtually all of Florida’s spring sheds have 
experienced significant ecological disturbances. Many of Florida’s 
springs are exhibiting signs of distress, with increased nutrient loads 
and turbidity, and reduced water flows. Some springs have shown 

steadily increasing amounts of waste and fertilizer contamination since 
the 1950s and 1960s, raising serious concerns about the sustainability 
of spring ecosystems and groundwater quality (www.swfwmd.state.
fl.us/springs/threats/2).

Declining flow 
Water movement plays a significant role in maintaining the ecological 
health of springs. Channel morphology (width, depth, and bottom 
type) and aquatic vegetation mediate flow velocity, but the ultimate 
driver of flow in spring-fed systems is the amount of water that 
discharges from a spring vent or collection of spring vents. Spring flow 
creates and maintains the riverine portion of many spring systems. 
Without adequate flow, the ecology and human use potential of a 
spring diminishes sharply.

 The majority of Florida’s springs, including all first-magnitude 
springs, discharge from the Floridan aquifer, a massive underground 
limestone reservoir that, it was thought, would provide virtually 
unlimited amounts of water. Yet, within the last 40 years, a number 
of springs have dried up or experienced severely limited water flow. 
These changes are usually associated with blockages in underground 
conduits, changes in the aquifer levels linked to well withdrawals, or 

a combination. White Springs in Hamilton County and Worthington 
Springs in Union County were both turn-of-the-century resort sites that 
no longer flow, and lack of water in Polk County’s Kissingen Springs 
was largely the result of widespread phosphorus mining in the area. 
Blue Spring in Volusia County, which provides critical winter habitat 
to manatees, is currently exhibiting a reduction in flow.

Within the northern District, spring discharge is strongly influenced 
by rainfall patterns. Since around 1970, there has been a long-term 
declining trend in rainfall [see Figure 8] and a corresponding decrease 
in spring discharge. While much of the variability in spring discharge 
is caused by rainfall patterns, groundwater withdrawals have been 
responsible for a 1 percent to 6 percent% decrease in average flow 
across the five first-magnitude spring groups. Decreasing spring flows 
encourage excessive algae growth and further reduce water quality. 
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Figure 8. Inches of Rainfall by Decade21

Variable spring flow is not always problematic. In a balanced 
ecosystem, it is a normal response to changes in precipitation. The 

danger occurs when groundwater levels permanently decline, and 
spring flows slow to a point from which they cannot recover. Before 
Florida experienced large scale urban development, countless offshore 
springs discharged into Florida’s bays and estuaries. Their demise 
is the result of drastic manmade changes to Florida’s landscapes, 
wetlands, and waterways, along with groundwater consumption that 
continually surpasses groundwater recharge. 

Strategies for protecting Florida’s springs include the Districts’ 
authority to issue or limit consumptive use permits and establish MFLs 
for specific spring sheds. MFLs are developed at the direction of the 
Florida Legislature to protect water resources, including the ecological 
integrity of aquatic systems, from overdraft related to human use. The 
Districts regulate MFL through the Water Use Permitting program, 
which works to prevent adverse effects for spring discharge and related 
environmental effects.

Increased sedimentation
A major issue related to declining flow is increased sedimentation. As 
water velocity decreases, particles in the water begin to accumulate 
into larger pieces, eventually preventing light from going through 
the bottom of the body of water. This lack of sunlight and increased 
sedimentation smothers healthy SAV cover and promotes the invasion 
of macro-algae, such as Lyngbya. Most springs with heavy recreational 

use have been damaged by the people who visit them. Swimmers, 
boat traffic, and the trampling of aquatic plants on sandy stream banks 
cause sediment to fill spring basins, smothering spring vents and the 
surrounding vegetation. Unmanaged sites also often become dumping 
grounds for trash and litter. 

Salinity increases
Declining groundwater levels can also be accompanied by subtle 
water quality changes in springs as they begin to exhibit more of the 
characteristics of the deeper, brackish zones of groundwater. This 
increased salinity of springs is primarily due to flow declines and 
sea-level rise, and, in some inland springs, the upward migration 
of mineralized groundwater from the Floridan aquifer. Freshwater 
vegetation unable to survive in this environment ceases to exist. Only 
species able to adapt to brackish conditions remain, and new more 
saline-tolerant vegetation move into the area. 

Sea level rise is a major contributor to increased salinity in coastal 
spring groups. Researchers at the University of Florida and the 
Nature Conservancy who monitor the Springs Coast estimate the sea 
level is rising at a rate of 1.8 mm/yr, about 7 inches every 100 years. 
Chassahowitzka, Crystal River/Kings Bay, Homosassa and Weeki 
Wachee are experiencing increasingly brackish conditions attributed to 
sea-level rise and a steady decline in rainfall and spring discharge. 

Habitat loss
Habitat loss encompasses changes to land use in the vicinity of springs 
and altered ecology within the springs themselves. Recreational 
activities such as boating, swimming and diving take a toll on aquatic 
habitat, particularly in shallow areas. Habitat loss in some springs is 
an unfortunate side effect of manatee population growth, which has 
increased to such a degree that their grazing is critically reducing 
aquatic vegetation.

Factors contributing to habitat loss include invasive aquatic plant and 
algae, such as Hydrilla and Lyngbya, and the construction of sea walls, 
canals, and other urban development. Manmade filling and draining 
of wetlands near springs has probably had the most damaging effects, 
as wetlands play a critical ecological role in supporting many forms of 
life, reducing floods, and filtering water. 

Saline intrusion due to increased tidal inundation is contributing to 
the decline of plant species from coastal forests along the Springs 
Coast. In three of the coastal spring groups (Crystal River/Kings Bay, 
Homosassa, Chassahowitzka), sea-level rise coupled with long-term 
decreases in spring discharge have shifted these freshwater systems 
toward increasingly estuarine conditions. Minimum salinity in Crystal 
River has tripled over the past ten years. Species like Eel Grass 
(Vallisneria americana) and Widgeon Grass (Ruppia maritima), able 
to thrive in the more saline environment, will have an advantage over 
freshwater SAV unless the ecosystem can be restored.

nutrient enrichment
Two of the most important nutrients (known as macronutrients) 
necessary for plant growth are nitrogen and phosphorus. When found 
in excessive amounts or the wrong form, they can severely damage 
native habitats. Problematic nutrient enrichment stimulates the 
growth of certain algae, reducing water clarity and causing extreme 
fluctuations in dissolved oxygen, which is stressful to aquatic life. 
Overabundant algae makes spring runs inhospitable to certain types 
of fish, snails, crayfish, and turtles, suffocates native growth, and 
endangers aquatic insects, amphibians, and fish.

Springs vents showing profuse overgrowth of algae and invasive 
aquatic plants, such as Hydrilla, are evidence of problematic nutrient 
enrichment. Excessive algal growth exists at many major springs. In 

extreme examples, algae growth can form a mat several feet thick. 
Three forms of algae exist in springs. Each has unique characteristics 
with specific repercussions for the habitat:

Phytoplankton
 ○ Live in the water column.
 ○ Turn water green.
 ○ Block sunlight from SAV.

Epiphytic algae
 ○ Grow on SAV leaf surfaces.
 ○ Are beneficial in limited quantities.
 ○ Large quantities smother SAV.
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Benthic algae
 ○ Filamentous structure (e.g., Lyngbya and Vaucheria).
 ○ Form mats that can float.
 ○ Large quantities smother SAV.

Nitrogen, in the form of nitrate, is considered the main chemical 
indicator of nutrient enrichment of springs. Analysis shows nitrates 
found in ground and spring water come from inorganic sources, such 
as synthetic fertilizer, or organic sources such as human wastewater 
or animal manure, or a combination of the two. These materials 
are byproducts of activities in the springshed, including urban 

development, animal husbandry, and agricultural operations, along 
with excessive fertilizer use, wastewater treatment plant discharge, and 
failing septic tanks. 

Nitrogen is a major non-point–source of groundwater contamination 
that makes its way to springs largely through stormwater and 
wastewater discharge. Springs adjacent to busy highways, land 
developments, and farms are particularly affected by nutrient runoff, 
as well as erosion and siltation. Nitrate levels have climbed in many 
springs sampled over the past few decades, while phosphorous levels, 
in general, have not. Phosphorus concentrations remains a concern in 
springs where it is likely to accumulate in sediment.

SPrIngSHEd MAnAgEMEnT
In 2000, the Department of Environmental Protection implemented 
an initiative to restore and preserve the state’s freshwater springs. The 
Florida Springs Initiative (FSI) is a comprehensive plan for spring 
regulation, monitoring and research, land acquisition and restoration, 
and education. The FSI developed the Springs Management Plan, 
which focusses on maintaining natural variability and mitigating the 
detrimental effects of human activity, using a combination of strategies 
to meet the needs of each site.

Springs on land acquired and managed by the state have shown 
marked ecological improvement, while others declined due to lack 
of interest or insufficient funding. State parks try to strike a balance 
between recreational use of the area, with the ecological health of 

rivers and spring runs. The FSI is responsible for funding many 
restoration projects at the larger springs within parks for purposes of 
sediment removal, stabilization, and access control.

The most recent Springs Management Plan presents an overview of 
the goals, issues, and proposed projects for the 5-year period from 
2013 to 2017. It outlines a restoration strategy and authorizes activities 
necessary for managing spring research and monitoring. Under the 
plan, the Districts provide oversight of agricultural best practices, 
and participate in evaluations of any new pesticides with potential 
negative repercussion for groundwater sustainability. The plan includes 
responsibilities for coordinating with other organizations and agencies 
in Florida, and reporting water quality information to the EPA. 

Community associations and watershed protection
Five decades of population growth and intense development have 
taken a toll on Florida’s waterways and ecosystems. Protecting 
and improving water quality, quantity, and resources will require 
prudent land use planning, and greater awareness and participation by 
community members. Recovery is still possible, but it is a long-term 
project. Just as it took many years to realize the degree of damage 
done to springs though nutritional enrichment, nutrient concentrations 
in spring discharge may take years to respond to changes in land use 
and treatment. 

The health of springsheds and watersheds depends largely on activities 
in close proximity to the resource, with those closest to a resource able 
to monitor and protect it in a way that is not possible from a distance. 
There are many things CAM can do individually to improve (or avoid 
damaging) water quality, and perhaps even more to promote beneficial 
behaviors and policies for the association. In either role, CAM have 
an opportunity to educate individuals sharing the watershed about 
activities that hurt and help water sustainability efforts. 

Most local efforts begin when individuals or groups notice decreased 
water flow or clarity, damage to local animal or plant life, and/
or excessive aquatic plant and algae growth affecting nearby water 
quality. Community members in close proximity to springs are in a 
position to recognize the direct relationship between the ecological 
damage and reduced water quality and quantity, and motivated to 
channel their concern into effective action guided by local, regional, 
and state agencies. A few simple actions can make a significant 
difference in water quality. 

Not all CAM members are initially interested in their watershed’s 
water quality or sustainability, but become engaged when they 
understand its significance for Florida’s economy, drinking water, and 
the survival of native plants and animals. CAM can promote awareness 

by distributing informational materials or posting them in a common 
area. The Florida Department of Environmental Protection and many 
other organizations provide free educational materials and even grant 
opportunities for these purposes. Programs like “Adopt a Watershed,” 
provide fact sheets explaining what human activities damage water 
systems and what can be done to protect them. 

CAM can encourage beneficial actions in a professional capacity by 
providing helpful information that facilitates water-friendly behavior; 
posting or distributing instructions and locations for the disposal of 
common hazardous materials, such as motor oil or fluorescent light 
bulbs, or how to check for plumbing leaks. Seemingly small actions 
can have significant effects when carried out collectively by many 
people. The best management practices below can provide ideas. 

CAM or association members who want to take a more active role 
in watershed sustainability efforts can contact water management 
authorities in their area. Local efforts rely on volunteers to assist with 
watershed restoration efforts. 

 ● Encourage and support the county and city leaders to make 
stormwater and land use decisions that will safeguard Florida’s 
groundwater.

 ● Support the water management district.
 ● Educate CAM members about groundwater issues and responsible 

landscaping. 
 ● Volunteer to assist in monitoring or other activities.

Much more information about community involvement in watershed 
restoration can be found in the EPA’s comprehensive Handbook for 
Developing Watershed Plans to Restore and Protect Our Waters. 
It provides a plan for communities, watershed organizations, and 
environmental agencies to protect impaired or threatened watersheds 
and strategies for meeting water quality standards.

Best management practices for community association members
Best management practices are actions that community associations 
can take to eliminate or reduce adverse effects on water sustainability. 
Community associations are required to follow local recommendations 
for stormwater and wastewater management, limiting any intensive or 

potentially damaging land use, including use of impervious surfaces, 
and protecting open spaces in any new development or design projects. 
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Community association management should be aware that the growing 
demand for groundwater and increasing amounts of contaminants, 
such as fertilizer and other pollutants in the water, are major threats 
to water availability. This is a critical situation, but one that can 

potentially be managed and minimized through public policies and 
individual efforts. As a group, community association management 
can do a great deal to promote water sustainability through conserving 
water and minimizing contamination in the watershed. 

Ways to conserve water and minimize contamination
Floridians use an average of 103 gallons of water a day. Approximately 
90 percent of the state’s drinking water is supplied by groundwater. 
It is important that citizens limit their water usage through local 
conservation practices to ensure adequate water for humans and 
ecosystem protection. Inspecting septic tanks for leaks, using native 

plants in landscaping, and turning off the faucet when you brush 
your teeth are small, but effective ways to conserve water. Reducing 
contamination of waterways can be achieved through reduced use of 
pesticides and fertilizers, disposing of hazardous materials like motor 
oil and antifreeze properly, and ensuring that pet waste is removed. 

In the yard
 ● Never dump anything down a storm drain. Storm drains are 

channels for rainwater that help reduce flooding and drain to 
nearby water bodies. 

 ● Insure that your septic tank and drainfield are properly maintained. 
Have septic systems inspected every 2 to 3 years, as leaks can 
pollute groundwater and nearby water bodies. Avoid driving or 
parking vehicles on your drain field. Plant only grass over and near 
your drain field to avoid damage from roots.

 ● Dispose of grass clippings and litter properly to avoid these items 
entering stormwater ponds, which help prevent flooding and filter 
out pollutants before they reach water bodies.

 ● Pick up after pets. Pet waste left on the ground can wash into 
nearby water bodies, spreading E. coli, roundworms, and 
Salmonella.

 ● Use fertilizer sparingly or not at all. Excess fertilizers applied to 
landscapes can leach into watersheds and springs, seep into the 
aquifer, or run off into nearby waterways. If you use fertilizers, 
use only slow release varieties for residential lawns and gardens. 
Be sure to have a soil test done to determine if fertilizers are 
necessary.

 ● Landscape property with native plants. Non-native plants 
typically require more frequent watering and fertilization to grow 

in Florida’s climate. Reduce the size of lawn and choose grass 
varieties that require a minimal amount of fertilizers and watering, 
as well as drought-tolerant trees, shrubs, ground cover, and flowers 
to minimize water use. Native plants will also attract desirable 
wildlife like butterflies and hummingbirds that help restore the 
ecosystem.

 ● Do not over-water the lawn. Overwatering can damage the 
landscape and places extra stress on the water supply. Use a rain 
gauge to determine when and if the property needs water.

 ● Use pesticides only if absolutely necessary and apply them only to 
the affected plants or area of lawn.

 ● Use mulch in plant beds and leave grass clippings on the lawn 
after mowing. Mulching helps prevent evaporation of moisture 
from the soil.

 ● Use rain barrels to capture and store rainwater to water plants.
 ● Plant a buffer zone between the lawn and any shoreline and avoid 

cutting the lawn too short. A longer lawn is better able to capture 
and filter water before it enters a stormwater pond or water body.

 ● Visit www.floridayards.org to learn more about Florida-friendly 
landscaping that conserve water resources.

In the home 
Conserve water

 ● Re-use water if possible. For example, water “caught” while 
showering can be used to water plants. 

 ● Take shorter showers. You can save several gallons for every 
minute saved in the shower. 

 ● Fill the bathtub with only as much water as you need.
 ● Turn off faucets while shaving or brushing your teeth.
 ● Run the dishwasher and clothes washer only when full.

Waste disposal
 ● Always dispose of hazardous household chemicals, such as 

industrial cleaners, solvents, automotive fluids (e.g., motor oil), 
and paints, at an approved location. Never discard household 
hazardous wastes in sinks or toilets, or the trash. 

 ● Never dispose of debris into or near a sinkhole; it is directly 
connected to an aquifer, and the hazardous contaminants will seep 
directly into the drinking water supply and springs. 

Plumbing
 ● Check to see if your plumbing has any leaks. Read your water 

meter before and after a 2-hour period when no water is being 
used. If the meter does not read exactly the same, you have a leak.

 ● Replace old dishwashers, toilets and clothes washers with new, 
high-efficiency models. Install low-volume toilets that use half the 
water of older models.

 ● Toilets may have silent leaks that significant amounts of water. To 
find out if your toilet is leaking, add a little food coloring to the 
tank. If the color appears in the bowl 30 minutes later, your toilet 
is leaking.

 ● Use toilets to flush sanitary waste only (not kitty litter, diapers or 
other trash).

 ● Make sure all faucets are completely turned off when not in use. 
Don’t let the water run while doing the dishes, brushing your teeth, 
shaving, or washing your face and hands.

 ● Replace showerheads with ultra-low–flow models.
 ● Install aerators on all household faucets to slow the flow of water.

recreation
Recreational activities like camping, swimming, tubing, and boating 
can have a direct effect on the quality of water resources and the 
animals and plants that live there. Ecological damage results from 
trampling of native vegetation, wildlife disturbance, increased soil 
erosion and water turbidity, and damage to plants and animals by 
boat propellers, groundings and anchors. Recreational activities on 

community association property that disturb submerged or emergent 
vegetation should be minimized or stopped.

At recreational facilities:
 ● Dispose of trash properly. Cans, bottles, cigarette butts, plastic 

bags, and other trash can harm water quality and wildlife as well as 
destroy the natural beauty of the springs.
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 ● Tubers, swimmers, snorkelers, and divers should avoid standing 
in vegetation or kicking up silt, barefoot or with fins. Doing so 
may destroy native vegetation, which can encourage the growth of 
invasive plants and algae and reduce habitat for fish and wildlife.

 ● Anchors, props and boat groundings destroy aquatic vegetation 
and increase the cloudiness of the water Use extreme caution when 
boating and anchoring in spring runs. Boaters should raise the 
motor in shallow water to avoid destroying native vegetation and 
wildlife. Row or paddle until reaching deeper water.

 ● Boaters should turn off the propeller while waiting for swimmers 
and tubers to pass safely instead of moving to the side in shallow 
water where vegetation may be scarred by the propeller.

 ● If an anchor must be used, boaters are asked to consider a 
“mushroom” anchor that grasps and releases the bottom, instead of 
‘hooks’ that destroy native vegetation. When visiting a spring, use 
established trails, boardwalks, and canoe launch ramps at all times. 
Foot traffic can damage native vegetation and hasten bank erosion.

Sinkholes
Sinkholes are found in Karst terrain, areas characterized by an 
abundance of springs, caverns, and areas of weak and dissolving 
rock. This landscape is formed when weak acid that naturally occurs 
in rainfall dissolves the underground limestone and dolomite rocks, 
creating openings. Water flowing through these areas of dissolved 
rock weakens the surface area, which collapses, creating a sinkhole. 
Because sinkholes are so directly linked with groundwater, extra 
attention must be paid to the area surrounding them:

 ● Never discard trash or refuse into a sinkhole. This can introduce 
dangerous contaminants directly into the underground aquifer.

 ● Organize a community clean-up to keep sinkholes in your area free 
of household waste and other dangerous debris.

 ● Ensure old appliances are recycled or donated instead of disposed 
near a sinkhole. Recycle or donate old appliances and other 
household items instead of disposing of them in a sinkhole.

 ● Educate your children and neighbors about the dangers of illegally 
dumping into a sinkhole and report any illegal dumping to local 
law enforcement.

glossary
Algae – nonflowering, stemless water plants. Analyses of types and 
abundance of algae provide indicators of aquatic ecosystem health.

Analyte – one of the components for which a sample is analyzed. For 
example, one water sample and its surroundings, both living and non-
living.

Anthropogenic – having a human origin.

Aquifer – a layer of permeable underground rock, sand, or gravel that 
stores water.

Benthic macroinvertebrates – small animals without backbones, 
including insect larvae.

Brackish – a mixture of fresh water and salt water.

Carcinogen – a substance or agent producing or inciting cancer.

Coliforms – microorganisms found in the intestinal tract of humans 
and animals that indicate fecal contamination of water.

Confined aquifer – an aquifer that is overlain by a confining unit.

Confined water – water that is separated from the atmosphere by an 
impermeable material.

Confining unit – a layer of impermeable material that slows or 
prevents groundwater flow.

Denitrification – the biological conversion of nitrate to nitrogen gas 
by natural or manmade means.

Discharge – water that moves out of an aquifer. 

Dissolved oxygen (DO) – the oxygen freely available in water, vital 
to fish and other aquatic life. DO levels are an important indicator of a 
water body’s ability to support desirable aquatic life.

Drainage divide – ridges and hills that separate two watersheds. 

Ecology – the study of the relationships of organisms to one another 
and to their physical environment.

Ecosystem – the interacting system of a biological community and its 
non-living environmental habitat.

Estuary – a water passage where the tide meets a river current; an arm 
of the sea at the lower end of a river.

First magnitude spring – a spring with a flow rate of 100 cubic feet 
per second.

Floodplains – the relatively low areas adjacent to rivers, lakes, and 
oceans that are periodically inundated. 

Groundwater level – the measurement, in feet, of the elevation of the 
top of an aquifer.

Groundwater mining – refers to a prolonged and progressive 
decrease in the amount of water stored in a groundwater system.

Groundwater withdrawal – the act of removing water from aquifers 
by pumping it from a well.

Habitat – the place where a population, whether human, animal, plant, 
or microorganism, lives.

Hydrogeology – the study of subsurface waters in their geologic 
context.

Hydrologic cycle – the continuous process of water moving from the 
earth’s surface into the atmosphere.

Hydroperiod – the pattern of water level rise and fall over time.

Impermeable – not permitting the passage of fluids. In the case of 
geologic formations, an Impermeable layer of earth is one through 
which groundwater cannot pass.

Indigenous – originated in and being produced, growing, living, or 
occurring naturally in a particular region or environment.

Intermediate aquifer system – aquifers that are between the Surficial 
and Upper Floridan aquifers.

Karst – a limestone region with underground drainage and many 
cavities and passages caused by the dissolution of the rock.

Karst terrain – a type of landscape that has been formed by the 
dissolution of the underlying rock

Lakewatch – a statewide network of more than 1800 trained 
volunteers who monitor more than six

Loading – the amount of pollutants entering a system (concentration 
times flow rate).

Macrophyte – a non-woody plant.

Mutagenic – any agent or substance capable of noticeably increasing 
the frequency of mutation of a fetus.

Nitrate – a compound containing nitrogen that can exist in the 
atmosphere or as a dissolved gas in water. Nitrates are essential 
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plant nutrients, but in excess they can be dangerous to animals and 
ecosystems.

Nonpoint source – diffuse source of contamination. Includes runoff 
from lawns, roads, parking lots, driveways, farms, etc.

Overdraft – a condition that occurs when groundwater withdrawals 
consistently exceed aquifer recharge.

pH – an expression of the intensity of the basic or acid condition of a 
liquid. 

Physiographic region – a region that is defined by its particular 
landforms or landscape.

Plume – an elongated and usually open and mobile column or band 
(as of liquid, exhaust gases, or smoke.

Point source (or “End of pipe”) – a discrete source of contamination 
that can be easily identified as such: factories, sewer plants, etc.

Potable – suitable for drinking.

Public water system – a system that provides piped water to the 
public for human consumption, if it has at least fifteen service 
connections or regularly serves at least twenty-five individuals daily at 
least 60 days out of the year.

Pumpage – the act of pumping groundwater to the surface (via a well), 
or the amount of water pumped.

Recharge – water that moves into an aquifer.

Safe yield – used with to quantify sustainable groundwater 
development in terms of pumping effects such as declining water 
levels, reduced streamflow, and degradation of water quality.

Saline – containing salt.

Saline intrusion – the movement of salt water into aquifers.

Single source – determined by the Environmental Regulation 
Commission to be the only reasonably available source of potable 
water to a significant segment of the population.

Sinkhole – a hole in the earth that is formed when an underlying 
limestone cavity collapses.

Spring run – a spring-fed stream.

Stormwater – rainwater that flows overland after falling; called runoff 
once it becomes polluted by materials it picks up from roofs, streets, 
parking lots, and other surfaces.

Surface water – water found above ground.

Surficial aquifer – an aquifer present near land surface.

Tidal waters – periodically rising and falling or flowing and ebbing.

Total Dissolved Solids – the amount of dissolved constituents present 
in water or wastewater, usually expressed in milligrams per liter and 
analyzed as filterable residue.

Transmissivity – the rate at which water travels through a specified 
area of an aquifer.

Transpiration – process in plants by which water is taken up by the 
roots and released as water vapor.

Unconfined aquifer – an aquifer that is not overlain by a confining 
unit.

Unconfined – water that is in direct contact vertically with the 
atmosphere through open spaces in permeable material.

Upper Floridan Aquifer – the largest, highly productive aquifer in 
Florida and the major source of water within the state.

Water table – the water level of an unconfined aquifer.

Watershed planning and management – water resource management 
that is organized on the basis of the natural boundaries formed by 
surface water basins or groundwater divides, which often overlap the 
borders of governmental jurisdictions.

Wellhead protection area – the surface and subsurface area 
surrounding a water well or wellfield supplying a public water system.
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PROTECTING FLORIDA’S WATER
Final examination questions

Select the best answer for each question and mark your answers 
online at CAMS.EliteCME.com.

31. The water on earth today is essentially the same water that was 
here millions of years ago, just reused and recycled continuously. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

32. Chapter 373, Florida Statutes, is known as the Water Resources 
Implementation Rule. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

33. A watershed is an area of land that acts like a drainage basin or 
catchment, collecting and channeling all the underground and 
surface water that flows through it toward a common outlet, such 
as a large stream, lake, or other reservoir. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

34. DO is a scientific determination of the maximum amount of a 
given pollutant that a surface water can absorb and still meet the 
water quality standards that protect human health and aquatic life.

 ¨ True  ¨ False

35. In the unsaturated zone, spaces between rocks and other materials 
are completely filled with water. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

36. When the amount of groundwater withdrawn exceeds the amount 
of water necessary to naturally recharge the aquifer, it is referred to 
as saltwater intrusion. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

37.  The Biscayne aquifer is threatened by freshwater drainage and 
seepage of saltwater into canals, over-pumping of freshwater to 
wells, and drought conditions. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

38. Turbidity refers to how well the water transmits an electrical current.
 ¨ True  ¨ False

39. Springs are classified by magnitude, based on their volume of flow. 
 ¨ True  ¨ False

40. Nitrogen is a major non-point–source of groundwater 
contamination that makes its way to springs largely through 
stormwater and wastewater discharge. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

CAMFL04PWE16
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Chapter 6: reserve Study Basics: 
CAM Financial Management

4 CE Hours

By: Valerie Wohl

Learning objectives
 � Explain the function of a reserve study.
 � Explain the role of funding reserves in the overall financial plan. 
 � Summarize the legal obligations of community association 

management in regard to reserve funding according to Chapter 718 
Florida Statutes.

 � Contrast pooled and straight-line (component) accounting methods.
 � List three issues that prompted the International Capital Budgeting 

Institute (ICBI) to adopt new reserve study principles and 
standards for community associations.

 � Describe the two main components of a reserve study.
 � Describe the process used to document a common area’s major 

components.

 � List three frequently overlooked common area components. 
 � List three objectives of a financial analysis.
 � List three red flags that signal potential problems in reserve funding.
 � Calculate cost of replacement and remaining useful life.
 � Explain how component data is used in the funding analysis.
 � Determine the funding goal for replacement reserves.
 � Estimate reserve fund income.
 � Document reserve funds in the financial statements.
 � List criteria for hiring a reserve study specialist.  
 � Describe the purpose and contents of a reserve study statement of 

disclosure.

Introduction
Community association managers have a fiduciary duty to manage 
association funds and property responsibly. Adequate reserve funding 
is central to this obligation and a critical part of community association 
financial management. It requires:

 ● Examination of the association’s repair and replacement obligations.
 ● Determination of costs and timing for replacement. 
 ● Determination of the availability of necessary (reserve) cash 

resources. 

Because community associations differ in their management and 
decision-making authority, the terms “association” or “association 
leadership” are used to refer to the association’s representative body 
which is responsible for administration of the association, according 
to the association’s governing documents [1]. In most cases, this is 
formally the duty of the association’s board of directors (board), but 
many other individuals influence association policy, including skilled 
professionals like accountants, attorneys, and community association 
managers working for the association, or unit owners who are not 
board members.  Associations may elect a member (or members) 
to act as the association’s official representative and liaison to the 
reserve study specialist.  This individual ensures that the reserve study 
professional has the information and resources to complete the study 
efficiently and expertly. 

This course introduces the basic concepts, methods, and terminology 
of reserve studies.  The topic is enormous, and the course is short, so 
it only touches briefly on key topics.  This information is applicable 
to many types of community associations, but not all; each has its 
own unique policies, practices, and leadership.  To ensure legal 
conformity, community association managers should consult attorneys, 
accountants, and other skilled professionals, as needed, for association-
specific assistance.

Reserve study basics 
Community association members share a collective responsibility for 
repairing, replacing, and maintaining common areas. Ideally, all major 
repair and replacement costs for common area property are covered 
by association reserves, which are funds specifically allocated for 
this purpose in the budget. The state of Florida requires community 
associations to designate an amount of reserve funds sufficient to cover 

any future projects that will cost more than $10,000. The reserve goal 
is an estimate of the funds needed to meet the association’s financial 
obligations to maintain, replace, and repair components in the future.

A reserve study (or reserve funding study) is a formal, documented 
plan that estimates costs for the future replacement and repair of all 
major common area components (e.g., new roof, parking lot paving, 
large painting projects, etc.), and delineates the association’s financial 
strategy for funding these expenses over the long term.  Conducting 
a reserve study is one of the most effective ways for an association to 
assess reserve funding needs.  Once complete, they are a documented 
and comprehensive evaluation of community association property that 
results in more precise predictions of future cost estimates and more 
accurate approximation of required reserves.

Many community associations conduct reserve studies, even if 
not legally required to, because the findings provide a more solid 
foundation for financial planning decisions, and increase the accuracy 
of long-term forecasting. Even a very basic reserve study provides 
valuable information by:

 ● Providing an accurate, complete picture of the association’s 
financial strength and market value to owners and potential buyers. 

 ● Ensuring that deferred maintenance or inability to keep up with 
aging components does not lead to declining property values. 

 ● Scheduling and documenting maintenance and replacement activities.

While community association management should never conduct 
reserve studies for the associations they manage, they play an 
important role in a reserve study’s development, review, and 
application in the real world.  To effectively assess the quality of 
a reserve study analysis or its findings, community association 
management should have a working knowledge of:

 ● Common reserve planning concepts and terms. 
 ● Proper methods used to calculate and document reserve funds in 

the financial statements. 
 ● Steps in a physical analysis and funding analysis.
 ● Criteria used to select a reserve study professional. 
 ● Common “red flags” that signal an inadequately performed study 

or insufficient reserves.  
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rESErvE STUdy rEQUIrEMEnTS And STAndArdS
Conducting a reserve study is one of the best ways to assess financial 
needs and establish a strong foundation for long-term planning. It 
increases the viability of an entity by assuring reserve funds will 
be there when needed in the future, making the association more 
financially secure.  This benefit has encouraged a variety of public 
and private entities to demand reserve funding requirements in recent 
years. More states than ever, now mandate some form of reserve 
funding for community associations, and/or require an association to 
conduct reserve studies at specific intervals, and insurance companies 
and lenders now place greater emphasis on reserve study findings.

A reserve study is only as accurate and reliable as the information 
used to prepare it. Lack of uniformity, an unskilled or biased 
practitioner, incomplete information provided by the association, and 
countless other factors can greatly reduce the value of the reserve 
study as a planning tool. Without consistent standards and objectives, 
these types of errors are far more common. Many reserve study 
guidelines have been criticized as outdated or lacking uniformity and 
rigorous standards. 

This absence of established criteria for community association 
reserve studies and their practitioners recently prompted the 
International Capital Budgeting Institute (ICBI) to develop new, 
more stringent guidelines specific to the community association 
and timeshare industries.  The ICBI, an international organization 
dedicated to providing clarity and transparency in capital budgeting 
reporting, adopted the “Generally Accepted Reserve Study Principles 
and Generally Accepted Reserve Study Standard” (ICBI Standard) 
April 16, 2015. Its changes (characterized as the most comprehensive 
in two decades [2]) have a strong potential to increase validity 
and reliability in reserve study findings.  The intended audience 
includes reserve study professionals, community association 
managers, certified public accountants (CPAs), architects, engineers, 
construction contractors, and lawyers, among others. 

The new ICBI Standard [2][3]: 
 ● Clarifies and expands the definition of common area components 

to reflect the association’s actual maintenance obligations. 
 ● Defines three service levels that delineate the relationship of the 

reserve study professional and association: independent study, 
reserve management plan, and consulting.

 ● Specifies uniform terminology, calculation methodologies, analytical 
software, and reporting formats across all reserve studies. 

 ● Requires consistent summary basis reporting with separate 
supplemental schedules that provide detail. 

Among the concerns the ICBI identifies as most problematic is lack 
of qualifications in the individual performing the reserve study.  In 
hiring a reserve study preparer, necessary skills, experience, and 
training are the most important criteria. The best candidates are 
those with advanced degrees in relevant fields and appropriate 
industry accreditations, such as Reserve Specialist (RS) from the 
Community Associations Institute (CAI), or Professional Reserve 
Analyst (PRA), awarded by the Association of Professional Reserve 
Analysts.  An engineering professional should conduct the onsite 
inspection in a comprehensive reserve study. 

Another serious concern is the practice of community association 
management is conducting reserve studies for the community 
associations they manage. The ICBI considers this practice unethical, 
and strongly condemns it. The individual preparing the association’s 
reserve study must be an independent, objective agent with no 
other relationship to the organization, and no financial stake in the 
association or benefits beyond payment for the specified services. It is 
generally best that management personnel and reserve study specialists 
maintain distinct duties and realms of influence, focusing on their 
separate areas of expertise.

A community association manager conducting his association’s reserve 
study is violating an ethical responsibility to avoid any practice that is 
in actual or apparent conflict with the interests of the association [4].  In 
general, a community association’s management company should not 
provide any other vendor services beyond those in the management 
services agreement, due to the potentially unfair competitive advantage 
the CAM might have over other, more qualified vendors of a service.  
Additionally, using management company personnel to save money or 
time defeats the purpose of a reserve study by undermining its integrity 
as a planning tool. 

Due to these ethical concerns and the need for specialized expertise, 
professional reserve study firms are primarily responsible for these 
final products: 

 ● Professional engineering survey and comprehensive 
examination of property.

 ● Determination of maintenance and replacement needs for the 
next 30 years.

 ● Expected costs and the timeframe for completion of each project. 
 ● A schedule of annual reserve contributions for each of the next 30 

years that does not increase more than the estimated rate of inflation.

Reserve studies should be updated every few years. The first study 
should be a “full” reserve study.  This is the most comprehensive 
form.  It typically includes a formal engineering survey; full site 
inspection; photo inventory; and a listing of common components, 
including number, measurements, and condition of each item.  The 
following reserve study may include a site inspection to confirm the 
findings of the most recent study and identify any changes to common 
elements. [NOTE: A new firm will usually want to confirm the 
findings of the preceding reserve study if it did not perform the work 
itself. This means switching to a new reserve study contractor will 
usually necessitate a more extensive study than if the same company 
completes both the preceding and current studies.

Reserve study data should be reviewed and reevaluated every few 
years to identify and correct errors in prior reserve funding estimates 
and projections.  Site inspections are conducted if there has been 
some significant change to common elements (new construction, 
storm damage, etc.). Once a solid reserve funding plan is in place 
and a history of reserve studies is established, a reserve study 
primarily focuses on updating the information to ensure it is an 
accurate statement of the association’s financial status, condition of 
common elements, and estimated replacement costs and inflation 
rates, among other factors. 

Community associations are primarily governed by state law.  A 
number of states have enacted legislation that requires community 
associations to conduct reserve studies or fund reserves. More are 
likely to follow, with the current trend showing movement toward 
more stringent requirements.  Private organizations are also increasing 
regulatory guidelines for association reserve studies because of 
their value for assessing its financial stability.  The Department of 
Housing and Urban Development and the Federal National Mortgage 
Association, for example, recently modified their underwriting 
guidelines, making it difficult for a condominium to obtain mortgage 
financing without preparing a reserve study.  Associations will likely 
face more stringent regulation in the future, with less latitude in the 
timing and frequency of their reserve studies.  
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Florida’s reserve fund laws [5]

Florida law does not explicitly require a formal reserve study, but 
community associations are obligated to provide a good faith estimate 
of the amount required annually to fully fund reserves, and show 
amount of reserve funds in their financial statements; objectives 
greatly facilitated by a reserve study, and hindered without one.   

The following excerpts are pertinent sections of laws found in 
Chapters 718 and 720 Florida Statutes (FS):

718-111(13) Association Rules Regarding Reserves
The rules must include, but not be limited to, standards for presenting 
a summary of association reserves, including a good faith estimate 
disclosing the annual amount of reserve funds that would be necessary 
for the association to fully fund reserves for each reserve item 
based on the straight-line accounting method. This disclosure is not 
applicable to reserves funded via the pooling method. 

Section 718.112(f) (2) Reserve Account Requirements for 
Capital Expenditures and Deferred Maintenance
In addition to annual operating expenses, the budget must 
include reserve accounts for capital expenditures and deferred 
maintenance. These accounts must include, but are not limited to, 
roof replacement, building painting, and pavement resurfacing, 
regardless of the amount of deferred maintenance expense or 
replacement cost, and for any other item that has a deferred 
maintenance expense or replacement cost that exceeds $10,000. 

Calculating Required Reserve Amount
The amount to be reserved must be computed using a formula based 
upon estimated remaining useful life (a term that will be discussed 
in more detail later on in the course) and estimated replacement cost 
or deferred maintenance expense of each reserve item. 

718.112(f) (3) Authorizing Reserve Fund Expenditures
Reserve funds and any interest accruing thereon shall remain 
in the reserve account or accounts, and may be used only for 
authorized reserve expenditures unless their use for other purposes 
is approved in advance by a majority vote at a duly called meeting 
of the association. 

Waiving, Reducing, or Reallocating Reserve Funds
The only voting interests eligible to vote on questions that involve 
waiving or reducing the funding of reserves, or using existing 
reserve funds for purposes other than purposes for which the 
reserves were intended, are the voting interests of the units subject 
to assessment to fund the reserves in question. 

All community associations must fully fund reserves unless there 
is a majority vote to reduce or waive that requirement. If obtained, 
the association proceeds with waived or reduced reserves for one 
annual budget. If not, the association is required to approve the 
budget with fully funded reserves. A new majority vote is required 
each year the association does not want to fully fund reserves.  An 
association voting to waive or reduce reserves is required to print, 
on the face of the proxy ballot, a statement of potential unit owner 

liability for special assessments, according to the wording and 
style specified in 718.112(f)(3) FS.

Since 2008, all condominium associations that contain buildings 
over three stories tall must be inspected by a licensed architect 
or engineer at least once every five years, according to Chapter 
718.113(6) FS. The architect or engineer must provide a written 
report, under seal, attesting to the required maintenance, useful life, 
and replacement costs of the common elements. Many associations 
choose to perform the engineering study along with a reserve study 
for efficiency and cost-effectiveness.  An association may wave the 
inspection requirement by majority vote, but any such waiver must 
occur before the end of the five-year period, and is only good for the 
five-year period in question. Every five years, the association would 
need another vote to waive the requirement again. 
Prior to turnover of control of an association by a developer to unit 
owners other than the developer pursuant to s. 718.301, the developer-
controlled association shall not vote to use reserves for purposes other 
than that for which they were intended without the approval of a 
majority of all non-developer voting interests, voting in person or by 
limited proxy at a duly called meeting of the association.

Proxy questions relating to waiving or reducing the funding of 
reserves or using existing reserve funds for purposes other than 
purposes for which the reserves were intended shall contain the 
following statement in capitalized, bold letters in a font size larger 
than any other used on the face of the proxy ballot: WAIVING 
OF RESERVES, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, OR ALLOWING 
ALTERNATIVE USES OF EXISTING RESERVES MAY 
RESULT IN UNIT OWNER LIABILITY FOR PAYMENT OF 
UNANTICIPATED SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS REGARDING 
THOSE ITEMS.

Chapter 720 FS addresses reserve funding requirements for 
homeowners associations.  Homeowners associations are only 
obligated to maintain reserve funds to the extent the HOA governing 
documents require, and can waive reserves with proper notification:

Section 720.303(6) Homeowners Association Reserve Funding
 ○ Homeowner associations may adopt a budget that includes 

reserve accounts for capital expenditures and deferred 
maintenance for which the association is responsible.

 ○ If reserve accounts are not established, funding of such 
reserves is limited to the extent that the governing documents 
limit increases in assessments, including reserves.

 ○ Homeowner associations may waive reserves with proper 
notification in their financial statement. 

An association that fully funds reserves is more financially sound 
than one that does not. If that is not a feasible strategy, the association 
should fund the reserve account to the extent possible, and establish 
a separate reserve account to fund a professional reserve study. The 
study will help the association establish a long-term plan to increase 
reserve funds and financial stability. 

Straight-line (component) vs. pooled accounting
There are two reserve fund accounting methods: straight-line 
(component) and pooled. Most associations use the straight-line method.  
Community associations are required to use the straight-line method for 
calculating the good faith estimate included in the financial statements, 
as specified in Ch.718-111(13) FS. Associations that currently use 
the straight-line accounting method must hold a majority vote of the 
membership for approval to switch to the pooled accounting method.

There are pros and cons to both accounting methods that depend 
largely on the characteristics of the association and its financial 
reporting needs: Does the association earn a material amount 
of interest annually? Will major components require repair or 

replacement in the short term?  Would easy reallocation of funds 
benefit or hinder the association in meeting its short- and long-term 
funding needs?  The main points of each are outlined here:

The straight-line method of calculating reserves:
 ● Requires that each common component is separately funded. 

Reserve funding for each project (roof, paving, etc.) is 
calculated independently and funded with its own dedicated 
reserve account funds. 

 ● Does not allow reallocation of reserve funds from one account to 
another (e.g., reserve funds designated for a new roof must be used 
for a new roof).
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 ● Determines annual contributions to each reserve account by 
subtracting the current value in the reserve account from the 
current year’s project cost, then dividing that number by the 
remaining useful life of the item.

 ● Uses current year project cost, instead of expected cost at the time 
of completion, which does not make allowances for inflation. 

 ● Tends to underestimate costs; effects may be minimal for projects 
completed in the short term, but more significant for those 10 or 15 
years down the road.   

 ● Does not factor in potential income from reserve fund accounts 
bearing interest.  The effects of interest income can be substantial, 
depending on the amount of interest generating funds held in 
association reserve accounts.  

Using straight-line method reserve funding: consider a building with 
a roof that has a useful life of 25 years, is 15 years old, and will cost 
$20,000 to replace. If the association has $10,000 in the roofing 
reserve fund, the amount collected over the next 10 years must total at 
least $10,000 for the roof reserve to be fully funded. This would mean 
the association would need to collect $1,000 per year for 10 years.  
The same calculation is made for all community components that 
qualify for reserve funding.  

The pooled method of calculating reserves:
 ● Maintains one reserve funding account with a pool of funds that 

can be used for costs associated with any reserve project (rather 
than each reserve item having its own reserve fund).

 ● Allows unit owners to allocate reserve funds from one reserve 
project to another without needing a majority vote, except for 
reserve funds reallocated to operating expenses.

 ● Determines annual contributions to the pooled reserve account 
using the cash flow method. This technique calculates an amount 
for reserve fund allocations and expenditures over a 30-year period, 
using an estimate that meets or exceeds the minimum funding goal 
requirements, while staying within membership budgets.

 ● Includes any interest (including anticipated future interest) earned 
from the pooled fund account. An association with a pooled 
reserve fund account of $100,000, gathering interest at an annual 
rate of 2% would have an additional $200 in the account at the end 
of the year. These additional funds can mean lower assessments 
which would contribute to the reserve funding goal but reduce the 
portion of reserves required from unit owners.

 ● Includes inflation: If a project is scheduled to begin in two years, and 
the current estimated cost of the project is $50,000, and the annual 
inflation rate for each of the next two years is estimated at 1.5%, the 
reserve pool would need $51,511.25 to complete the project. 

[($50,000 x .015 = $750) = first year interest].
[(50,000 + $750 = $50,750) = year one reserve fund plus interest].
[($50,750 x .015 = $761.25) = second year interest].
[($50,750 + $761.25 = $51,511.25) = year two reserve fund 
plus interest].

Amount of reserve funds required in two years = $51,511.25.

reserve study preparation
A reserve study should be conducted as early in an association’s life 
as possible, and revisited at regular intervals to revise any outdated 
or incorrect information. Although an association will hire a reserve 
study professional, association personnel can expedite the process by 
identifying, compiling, and organizing sources of data for the study. 
Those resources and the association’s responsibilities for reserve study 
preparation are discussed here.

Initiating a reserve study requires only that the association pass a 
resolution to complete the project.  Associations operating without a 
current reserve study, or other funding, plan should initiate this process as 
soon as possible. New associations should have a reserve study performed 
within one year of completing any significant construction, as initial 
budgets may not include a physical analysis of the new construction. 

Developing a work plan 
A work plan specifies the nature of each task required for the reserve 
study. It establishes:

 ● Types of components to include or exclude.  
 ● Timeframe for funding common area components. 
 ● Reserve study budget. 
 ● Sources for association data.
 ● Responsibility for components. 

Choosing what to include
Components can be excluded from the reserve study only if individual 
homeowners, not the association, are responsible for their replacement. 
In any association, there may be “exclusive-use common areas” 
that individual homeowners maintain. These are common area 
items used exclusively by individual units (e.g., decks and patios). 
Usually, these items and those responsible for their maintenance are 
identified in the association’s Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions 
(CC&Rs). If there is no specific list of exclusive-use common area 
components or designation of maintenance responsibilities for these 
areas, management should establish, guided by the association’s 
existing CC&Rs, who is the responsible party for maintaining each 
item. Any item maintenance determined to be a responsibility of the 
association must be included in the list of major components, and have 
a designated line item in the reserve budget. 

Establishing a timeframe
Generally, as a minimum, all components with a useful remaining life 
of less than 30 years are included in the study. Any components with 
a remaining useful life of more than 30 years that are not included 
should be noted, along with the reason for exclusion, in the reserve 
study report and any assessment disclosure statement.  A good rule of 
thumb is to forecast a time period that will include the replacement 
year of the component with the longest estimated useful life.

Professionals generally recommend that the study include all 
components that will fail before the building itself. “Life-of-building” 
components (such as the building foundation and structure) are 
generally omitted from the reserve study budget. However, in cases 
where the item is likely to deteriorate before the building, and the units 
are of an age that suggests the item may stop functioning within the 
time span of the reserve study, then that item (e.g., the electrical or 
plumbing system in a condominium) should be included as a reserve 
study component. 

A reserve study that does not cover the life of the longest-lived 
component is incomplete and may produce misleading findings.  
Because, however, estimates of costs in the near future are likely to 
be more accurate than forecasts for 20 to 30 years down the road, 
it is important that estimates be reviewed annually as a part of the 
association’s regular budget cycle, and updated as necessary. 

Establishing a budget
Preparing the reserve study requires sufficient funding.  The 
association must determine and establish an appropriate budget for the 
reserve study, as well as study updates at appropriate intervals.  

Collecting data sources
Primary data sources include the association’s CC&Rs, the most 
accurate existing drawings of the development, and the maintenance 
history of major common area components. “As-built” drawings, if 
available, are the best source of information for major components. 
The maintenance history should include actual dollar costs for 
each item’s maintenance. If the association does not already have 
a permanent maintenance history on file that lists each major 
component, it should establish one. 
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Project development reserve budget worksheets used to estimate 
monthly reserve contributions for an association’s first-year budget 
should not be used to assess subsequent reserve requirements. 
These estimates may be prepared years before construction begins 
and units are sold. If not adjusted to address actual concerns and 
rising costs, these estimates:

 ● Will not provide sufficient funds for replacement or repair.  
 ● May not accurately reflect the association’s liability for the project, 

as actually constructed. 
 ● May only contain information about certain major components 

(e.g., roofing, painting, paving, etc.), meaning some may not be 
listed even though the association is obligated to repair and/or 
replace them. 

 ● May not reflect the estimated life shown for components under 
local conditions, and the costs shown may not be based on 
actual local prices. 

Associations should always compare the reserve worksheet to their 
actual reserve responsibilities, and modify the worksheet figures 
accordingly.  Community association managers should review any 
completed studies annually, consider adjustments based on their 
assessments, and implement changes accordingly.

Designating responsibility for components 
Before any study begins, CAM should review the association’s 
governing documentation to ensure it makes clear distinctions between 
the private property of individual owners in community associations 
and the common areas for which the association is responsible. In 
theory, an association’s governing documents clearly distinguish 
each common area property that maintained by the association from 
each private property unit or area. In reality, information for existing 
components may be missing or in error.  Documents should be 
amended to include all possible areas/components of the association, 
and their designation as common or private. 

While community associations vary considerably in physical makeup, 
government, and policies, the division of labor for maintenance 

and replacement responsibilities typically assigns the association 
responsibility for: 

 ● Day-to-day maintenance of common areas. 
 ● Non-annual maintenance and replacement in common areas. 
 ● Improvements. 

Individual homeowners are responsible for maintenance of their own 
units, including the interiors of the homes themselves (carpeting, 
interior paint, kitchen counters, etc.). In addition, owners have 
obligations to maintain any exclusive-use exterior features or 
common areas (such as private yards, decks, front doors, etc.) of 
the unit. Individual and association maintenance and replacement 
responsibilities are, by necessity, linked. For example, unit owners 
are responsible for periodic replacement of bathtub caulking; if the 
caulking is not replaced when necessary, the resulting moisture will 
damage nearby walls and subflooring, eventually causing damage to 
other units or common area components in the building. 

An association maintains common area(s), which typically includes 
landscaping, recreation facilities, parking areas, drainage gutters, outdoor 
lighting, and other public or “common” areas. Day-to-day maintenance for 
these items is the responsibility of the association, and provision for this 
maintenance is frequently the largest category of expense in the operating 
budget. Individual owners, while not directly responsible for day-to-day 
maintenance, do have responsibility for obeying rules and regulations 
pertaining to the use and protection of common area property. The 
association should make clear that any damage to common area property 
can mean increased costs for all owners. 

The long-term maintenance and replacement schedule for common 
area components is generally planned well in advance using industry 
data to estimate each component’s longevity (expected useful life), 
along with periodic inspection of each component to assess current 
physical wear and tear.  Common area additions (improvements) 
not part of the original development plans are a special category of 
expense. In cases where an association chooses to fund a common area 
addition (typically a one-time project), it must also make provisions to 
fund that area’s day-to-day maintenance and replacements/repairs.

rESErvE STUdy FrAMEWork
There are two main parts to a reserve study: the physical analysis and 
the financial (funding) analysis.

 ● The physical analysis provides information about the physical status 
and repair/replacement cost of the area components the association 
is obligated to maintain. The physical analysis requires a component 
inventory, condition evaluation, age adjustment [based on useful 
life (total) and remaining life of the components] and the costs to 
replace. Ideally, the component inventory will remain relatively 
stable year to year, while the condition evaluation, age adjustment 
and cost to replace, and valuation will show more variation. 

 ● The financial analysis, also called a funding analysis, examines the 
association’s reserve income and expenses.  This analysis requires 
knowledge of the client’s current reserve fund strength (measured 
in cash or as a percent funded), and a recommendation for an 
appropriate reserve contribution rate (funding plan). 

New associations should ensure the initial physical analysis includes 
a component inventory consistent with what was actually built, and 
conduct a reserve study at least once every three years.  Additionally, 
examinations for the purposes of adjustments must occur any year in 
which the community association experiences ongoing construction. 

Part I: Physical analysis
This section provides guidelines for managing personnel conducting 
this portion of the reserve study for an association, as well as criteria 
for hiring a professional outside the association to serve as reserve 
study preparer. A number of firms perform these studies for community 
associations. Associations often choose not to perform their own 
physical analyses because they then do not have the same protection of 
personal indemnity that comes with professional assistance. Because 
of this, associations should seek legal advice before proceeding. 

The goals of a physical analysis are: 
 ● Estimating the useful and remaining life of major components. 
 ● Estimating the current replacement cost of major components. 

The physical analysis lists and estimates replacement costs and timing 
for replacement of the major components, with repair or replacement 
funded through association reserves. The study determines when such 

repairs or replacements will be needed and what they will cost. The 
physical analysis process is outlined below.  Familiarity with these 
steps is critical to contracting for the physical analysis, gathering data, 
and interpreting study results.

Steps in the physical analysis process include:
 ● Identifying components.
 ● Specifying quantities and features of components.
 ● Defining scope and methodology for on-site inspection of components. 
 ● Determining useful life and documenting expected maintenance needs. 
 ● Assessing remaining life and documenting expected replacement year.
 ● Determining cost of replacement.

For each association, the exact list of major common area components 
is unique. Although lists from other associations or industry 
publications may serve as a general guide, they require careful 
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modification, as using an inaccurate or incomplete list of components 
can materially distort the association’s long-term funding plan. 

Developing a component list 
Unfortunately, there is often no single document with a comprehensive 
list of components for a specific association. The exact number and items 
that should be included depends upon the physical characteristics of the 
community and legal division of responsibility among the homeowners, 
the association, and the local government. While is not an easy to include 
and identify all components, it is essential that the association have an 
accurate list of all items that require a budget for repair or replacement. 

Data may be pulled from a number of sources, including the 
association’s CC&Rs, construction plans, developers reserve budget, 
and/or documentation from utility companies or local government, 
or site analysis, among other possibilities. The association’s CC&Rs 
and condominium plans generally describe the common areas of 
the development, and can be used as a starting point for providing 
a list of components to include in the reserve study. Most CC&Rs 
classify internal or external components of each unit  and specify how 
individual and association responsibilities divide. 

In a formally defined condominium, the unit owned by the individual 
homeowner consists only of the air space within the common walls, 
although owners are generally responsible for the paint and non-
structural fixtures inside, as well as the external doors, door hardware, 
windows, patios, balconies, and similar items. In some developments, 
however, owners are additionally responsible for some portion of the 
maintenance on the exterior and structure of their individual units. 

The developer budget should list components that the builder identified 
while planning the project. Such items as streets, roofs, exterior paint, 
and recreation areas are usually included in the developer’s original 
reserve budget. Many associations find that sometimes an existing 
item, such as a sidewalk or set of balconies, has not been mentioned 
in either the CC&Rs or the developer budget. A site analysis by 
knowledgeable persons should result in a comprehensive list of reserve 
items for which the association is, or might be, responsible. 

Local governments and utility companies can often help define 
common area components by stating where their responsibility ends 
and that of the association begins. For example, the developer budget 
and the CC&Rs may be unclear about whether the sidewalks along 
the edge of a development belong to the association or the city. If the 
former, these sidewalks are components which, at some point in time, 
should be included in the reserve budget; if the latter, the association 
need not budget for their repair or replacement. 

Criteria for components 
Management should establish criteria for determining common area 
major components. Many professionals suggest that items be placed on 
the list of components for the reserve budget if:

 ● The item is the responsibility of the association to maintain or 
replace, rather than the responsibility of the individual homeowners.

 ● The item costs over a certain amount (to be determined by 
management) to replace. One possible guideline is to include items 
that cost 1% or more of the total annual association budget.

 ● The estimated useful life of the item is greater than one year, and 
the estimated useful life of the item is less than 30 years at the 
time of the study. 

Another possible guideline is to include items that cost over a certain 
dollar amount (over $500 or over $1,000, for example) to replace, 
including groups of related items (e.g., all gates in the development) 
that cost over a specified dollar amount to replace, with the dollar 
amount or percentage determined by management. Items costing less 
than the specified amount may be included in the annual operating 
budget, rather than funded through the reserve budget. 

Using the following checklist will help to ensure these common 
association components are included: 

__ Awnings and other overhead coverings. 
__ Balconies (see also decks). 
__ Benches. 
__ Boilers. 
__ Decks, pool and spa. 
__ Decks, residential. 
__ Elevator, cab. 
__ Elevator, hydraulic, traction, etc. 
__ Equipment, cleaning and maintenance. 
__ Equipment, communication and telephone. 
__ Equipment, entertainment, music/video systems. 
__ Equipment, exercise, recreational, etc. 
__ Equipment, office. 
__ Equipment, pool, pumps, motors and filters. 
__ Fences, chain link, wood, etc. 
__ Floor covering, carpet, tile, vinyl, etc. 
__ Floor covering, wood replacement and refinishing. 
__ Furnishings, lobby, clubhouse, etc. 
__ Gates, iron, wood, etc. 
__ HVAC, air conditioning. 
__ HVAC, heating systems. 
__ Light fixtures, exterior. 
__ Light fixtures, interior. 
__ Paint and stain, exterior. 
__ Paint and stain, interior common area. 
__ Paving. 
__ Retaining wall. 
__ Roof. 
__ Siding and trim. 
__ Solar heating system, pool and spa. 
__ Solar heating system, residential. 
__ Spas. 
__ Streets and drives. 
__ Swimming pools. 
__ Tennis courts, resurfacing. 
__ Vehicles. 
__ Water heaters. 

CAM should use the following checklist to ensure these frequently 
overlooked common area components are included:

__ Alarm systems, fire and intrusion. 
__ Antennas, satellite dish and other. 
__ Asbestos encapsulation or removal. 
__ Display cases. 
__ Docks. 
__ Drainage systems. 
__ Electrical transformers. 
__ Electrical wiring and related fixtures in common area. 
__ Fans, exhaust, garage, and other. 
__ Fire sprinklers and related equipment. 
__ Fountains. 
__ Garage doors and hardware. 
__ Garbage enclosures. 
__ Gutters and downspouts. 
__ Irrigation system, controllers. 
__ Irrigation system, piping, valves, and sprinkler heads. 
__ Kiosks and message/communication centers. 
__ Lakes, ponds, and waterways. 
__ Landscaping, replacement of major trees and plants. 
__ Mailboxes and centers. 
__ Monitoring system, carbon monoxide. 
__ Planter boxes. 
__ Plumbing fixtures, exterior. 
__ Plumbing, water piping system. 
__ Posts, decks, lamps, etc. 
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__ Pumps, lakes, ponds, and waterways. 
__ Racquetball courts. 
__ Security gates, gate operator and motor. 
__ Septic tanks. 
__ Sewage ejector equipment.
__ Skylights. 
__ Slopes. 
__ Stables and tack rooms. 
__ Stairs. 
__ Stucco, sandblasting and resurfacing. 
__ Sump pump equipment. 
__ Trellises. 
__ Ventilation systems, garage. 
__ Walkways, wood, brick, tile, etc. 

Specifying the quantity of each component 
Although existing maps and construction drawings of the development 
may serve as a guide to component quantities, a detailed site and 
building analysis is the best way to obtain an accurate count of these 
items. Some components (e.g., streets, roofs, fences) require quantity 
measured and provided in square or linear footage, while other items 
(e.g., utility room doors) may be adequately described by the total 
number and type.  This information can be pulled from “as-built” 
drawings, if they exist. If not, accurate measurements should be 
documented. Any drawings filed when the development was started 
represent builder plans rather than the development as actually built. 
As such, they are useful but should be verified by physical inspection. 

For components that are actually made up of a number of items, the 
nature and quantity of the constituent parts should be stated (e.g., 
the metal flashing for a shake roof as well as the square footage of 
shingles). It is common to neglect the “extra” pieces that are, in fact, 
necessary to the construction of such essential items as roofs, siding, 
and irrigation systems. 

Once the number and constituent parts of each component are detailed, 
CAM must consider the quality and specifications of those parts. (Is the 
asphalt two inches thick or four inches? Is it a two-ply roof? What grade 
paint was used?) An accurate description of the materials is essential to 
proper reserves. While the association may wish to change the quality of 
the component at the time of replacement, this is a separate decision.  If 
significant in dollar amount, quantities of the same type of component 
existing in very different conditions should be noted separately (e.g., the 
square footage of siding with western or southern exposure, as compared 
to the square footage with eastern or northern exposure). 

Determining average useful life for each component 
Useful life is typically defined as the number of years a component 
is expected to serve its intended purpose if given regular and proper 
maintenance. If the association fails to provide proper maintenance, 
such as dealing effectively with the presence of wood-destroying pests 
or organisms, for example, then it may become difficult to anticipate 
the useful life of components. 

One estimate of useful life is the material manufacturer’s warranty. 
This estimate presumes (usually in the fine print of the warranty) 
that the product was actually installed with the purported quality of 
materials and according to the manufacturer’s specifications. (Some 
associations have found that their alleged “20-year roofs” were in fact 

installed with other materials or with inferior workmanship, making 
the effective useful life shorter.) When no knowledgeable inspection 
is made of the materials and installation, the manufacturer’s warranty 
may not be an accurate description of the useful life of the component. 

Estimates for useful life of major components can be found in 
commercially available manuals and statistical guides, as well as 
operating cost manuals, produced by real estate firms and government 
agencies, among other organizations.  This published data may be 
misleading, however, as the location, exposure, or type of a particular 
component may not match. Useful life estimates vary considerably from 
manual to manual, so consulting more than one manual may minimize 
the risk of under- or over-estimating the life of a major component. In 
any case, the source(s) of component estimates should be identified and 
referenced so the sources can be found easily, if needed. 

Paint weathers more rapidly in sunny climates and on surfaces with 
western or southern exposure, which can significantly reduce the years 
of useful life for exterior painting in Florida. The estimated life of a 
street or endurance of exterior surfaces in the state of Florida can vary 
enormously depending where the property is located (coastal, inland, 
island, etc.); and its specific exposure to wind, rain, sun, or storms.  
In using published estimates, managers must take any potential 
differences between the association’s component and the average case 
presented in the manual, and adjust accordingly.

Determining remaining life of each component 
The remaining life is generally defined as the expected number of 
years a component will continue to serve its intended purpose prior to 
repair or replacement. If the development is new and the developer-
prepared estimates are correct, the remaining life might be estimated 
simply by subtracting the age of the development from the useful life 
of each component. The older the components are, the less accurate 
this method will be. 

Some of the factors that affect the estimate of remaining life of a 
component are the current age, apparent physical condition, and 
past maintenance record (or absence of maintenance). The current 
age of the component may be determined from association records. 
The apparent current condition must be determined through physical 
inspection by someone familiar with the component. Records of past 
maintenance must be compared with recommended maintenance in 
order to determine whether the item has been properly maintained or 
may wear out sooner than expected due to inadequate care. 

CAM must assume a certain level of continued preventive 
maintenance when they are determining the remaining life of a 
component. They should state these maintenance assumptions 
explicitly so that proper maintenance can be continued throughout the 
component’s remaining life. 

The remaining life of a component implicitly specifies the year in which 
it must be repaired or replaced. A budget timeline can be used to show 
the year of replacement for each component. This timeline can serve as 
a schedule for expected component replacements and can be updated 
or changed when the physical analysis is updated or as components 
last for shorter or longer periods than expected. Table 1: Determining 
the Replacement Schedule, shows the year of replacement for three 
components in a condominium complex that is five years old, as well as 
the information needed to determine the replacement year. 

Table 1: Determining the Replacement Schedule

Component Age in Years 
As of 12/31/2014

Estimated  
Useful Life

Estimated 
Remaining Life

Year to Replace

Painting 3 5 2 2016

Paving 4 7 3 2017

Roofing 11 15 4 2018
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Determining the cost of replacement 
The majority of professionals who perform reserve studies for 
homeowner associations use cost estimates drawn from their own 
personal experience as well as a  company database.  Replacement 
costs for some items can be obtained from manufacturers or their 
representatives, and others from local licensed contractors. In cases 
where an existing component would need removal, the cost of 
component replacement should also include any cost of removing or 
disposing of the original. 

If using a manual, professionals must know the base year in which the 
manual’s cost estimates were made. The current cost of replacement 
for association components is not the cost shown in the manual, but 
should be adjusted for inflation since the time the cost data were 
obtained. Cost estimates are generally comparable among manuals 
intended for the same geographic area, so there is less need to consult 
multiple manuals for cost estimates than for estimates of useful 
life, but caution is still the rule.  It is essential to know the specific 
geographic area for which the manual offers a cost average. If the 
manual has national averages, it may underestimate or overestimate 
the cost of labor in many parts of Florida. If the manual has statewide 
or national averages, it may underestimate the cost of labor in urban 
areas by a significant factor. 

Cost estimates derived from different data sources may vary 
significantly from estimates based on manuals alone. Associations 
that perform their own studies or collect supporting data for their 
manual cost estimates should refer to as many other sources, such as 
contractors, suppliers, etc., as possible.  This collection of data, taken 
together with reliable inspection results, generally provides a sound 
final determination of replacement cost.  

Documenting maintenance assumptions 
An important adjunct to determining the useful life and remaining life 
of a component is to document the type and schedule of maintenance 
that is assumed for the component to survive that life. For example, 
if the 20-year life expectancy of a roof is based upon an annual 
cleaning of the roof and gutters, the association will be able to take 
action to help ensure that all the roofs will indeed last. Documentation 
of maintenance assumptions can lead to improved maintenance 
throughout the project, and thus, to lower costs of replacement. 
Ignoring maintenance assumptions, or improper maintenance, will put 
the replacement schedule and cost estimates in jeopardy. 

The physical analysis is completed once the charts of replacement 
schedule and future replacement costs are done.  Before moving on to 
the funding analysis, CAM should review the information and confirm 
completion using the following checklist.

Physical analysis checklist 
This list summarizes essential tasks and objectives completed in the 
physical analysis:
Deciding which components to include: 

__ Relevant components mentioned in the developer budget have 
been reviewed. 
__ Components mentioned in the CC&Rs have been reviewed. 
__ An on-site inspection for possible additional components has 
been made. 
__ Relevant personnel have discussed and determined a policy 
stating a position on life-of-the-building, exclusive-use, and quasi-
structural components. 
__ The list was communicated to the preparer of the physical 
analysis, and in the pro forma operating budget, to the homeowners.  

Specifying quantities of each component: 
__ As-built drawings have been consulted, if possible. 
__ An on-site inspection of each component and an on-site count 
of each type of component have been made. 
__ The quality of each component has been determined and 
expressed in terms that identify a specific grade of material. 

Determining the useful life of each component: 
__ Manufacturer warranties have been consulted whenever possible. 
__ Environmental factors that might affect useful life have been 
taken into account. 
__ Installation and materials have been determined to be consistent 
with each manufacturer’s description; if not, an adjustment has 
been made to the remaining useful life estimated by the warranty 
or by the manuals. 
__ A standard manual has been consulted. 
__ Maintenance assumptions have been documented. 

Assessing the remaining life of each component: 
__ An on-site inspection of each component has been made. 
__ Past maintenance has been taken into account. 
__ Individuals with knowledge of the components have 
participated in the assessment of remaining life. 
__ The association has determined what level of maintenance is 
expected to achieve the remaining life estimated. 

Determining the cost of replacement: 
__ A standard costing manual and/or multiple vendors have been 
consulted about each component. 
__ If a manual is used, the “current” price of each component has 
been adjusted for the age of the data in the manual. 
__ If a manual is used, regional variations in price are taken 
into account.  
__ Cost of replacement includes cost of removing old 
component(s), if necessary. 
__ Adjustments have been made for grade or quality of materials 
or levels of maintenance of materials. 

PArT II:  FUndIng AnALySIS 
The primary objectives of the funding analysis, also referred to as the 
financial analysis, are: 

 ● Establishing funding goals.
 ● Identifying annual funding requirements. 
 ● Disclosing limitations and assumptions. 

The following steps are designed to meet these objectives.  One of the 
first steps requires at least partial completion of the physical analysis 
portion of the reserve study, because component information will be 
used in the calculation of funding plan estimates.  

 ● Develop a funding plan using findings from the physical analysis. 
 ● Determine the funding goal of replacement reserves. 
 ● Calculate replacement fund liability. 
 ● Identify reserve account assets (cash balance). 

 ● Estimate annual association reserve fund income from regular 
assessments.

 ● Estimate expenditures and reserve fund needs from regular and 
special assessments. 

 ● Prepare statement of limitations and assumptions. 
 ● Prepare the reserve study portion of the pro forma operating budget. 

Funding plan
The first step in a funding analysis is to develop a specific cash flow 
forecast or projection, known as a funding plan, to estimate future reserve 
cash receipts and disbursements.  This requires that the association have 
reliable values for estimated useful life, estimated remaining life, and 
estimated current replacement costs for each association component, 
according to estimates from the physical analysis.  The primary goal of 
funding plan preparation is to determine if funds collected through current 
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assessments are sufficient to meet or exceed projected financial needs.  
If not, special assessments are necessary.  This information is typically 
presented in a spreadsheet format, using the most accurate financial 
estimates available; all supporting assumptions and methodology should 
be carefully documented. 

Once the association determines these variables, it can begin to 
develop a funding plan that specifies future reserve cash needs and 
develop a plan for funding the reserve account.  While there is no legal 
requirement for the association to maintain or show funding reserves 
for all projected replacement costs, it is in the best financial interest to 
do so; an association’s fiscal viability relies heavily on the ability of 
the association to replace components as they deteriorate, as well as 
promptly address maintenance concerns.

The funding goal 
The pro forma operating budget should clearly indicate estimated 
revenues and expenses, describe the funding goal, and indicate current 
status in meeting the goal. Revenues and expenses are typically estimated 
on an accrual basis. The funding plan should show (1) the funds required 
to replace each component as it comes to the end of its useful life, and (2) 
indicate how the association will fund the replacements. 

Many associations are underfunded in reserves, due to financial 
hardship, lack of attention to the budget, or underestimation of 
replacement costs.  Ideally, associations should eliminate any 
underfunded reserves by increasing the reserve fund to a point where 
the amount of cash in the replacement reserve account is at least equal 
to the estimated value of accumulated wear of all major components. 
For many associations, this amount is not within reach in the short run, 
except through special assessments. 

In developing the funding plan and the reserve study portion of the pro 
forma operating budget, the association leadership will be responsible 
for weighty policy decisions that affect all community members.  
Association members need to be alerted of these pending decisions 
and their consequences in fees, services, and investment value.  Any 
new funding decision and its implications should be presented and 
discussed with owners.  Their understanding and approval is key, 
because higher regular assessments or a need for special assessments 
have immediate and significant effects, increasing owners’ costs and 
property values. Explanations should show, with examples, how each 
decision would contribute to a long-term funding plan.  Professionals 
provide helpful advice in particularly complicated situations.  

The association must decide: 
 ● How much money should be raised through regular assessments 

for the reserve account each year.
 ● How much money should be raised by special assessment, if any.
 ● How much cash should remain in the reserve account at the end of the 

planning period relative to the projected balance needed at that date. 

Funding models
Associations fund reserves at different levels depending on many financial 
factors. Calculations are typically based on one of the following:

 ● Fully Funded Model—Sets a reserve funding goal requiring 
reserves at or near 100%. 

 ● Threshold Funded Model—Sets a reserve funding goal requiring 
the reserve balance to be above a specified threshold. 

 ● Baseline, or Minimum Funded Model—Sets a reserve funding 
goal in the overall reserve funding projection that requires the 
reserve cash balance at the end of each year to be at or above $0.

Community associations use a variety of funding models: The default 
for many associations today is the Unfunded and Special Assessment 
Model. This option does not require the existence of reserve balances 
to cover expected replacement costs.  Instead, when funds are needed, 
these associations rely on special assessments to cover the costs of 
maintenance, repair, or replacement. This model carries significant risk 
for the financial viability of the association if assessments cannot be 
raised when needed. These unexpected costs put significant financial 

stress on community association owners, many of whom likely chose 
association living to minimize expenses. 

Another common option is the Mixed Model, which uses a 
combination of regular assessments and planned special assessments 
to meet cash needs for replacement. This model is preferable for 
many reasons, not the least of which is the indication of greater fiscal 
stability signaled by an association meeting its cash needs through 
regular (instead of special) assessments. 

The amount assessed from each individual owner varies according 
to the funding goal or strategy and degree to which the association 
funds its reserves.  An association should use the model that provides 
the most stability by reducing or eliminating its reserve deficit.  
Association management has a responsibility to document any 
consideration and choice of a funding strategy, and make details of the 
plan available to owners.  This information is presented in the reserve 
study portion of the pro forma operating budget. A clear presentation 
of the pertinent financial information enables owners and buyers 
to more accurately anticipate potential costs and fees in the future. 
Similarly, insufficient reserve funds should be reflected in the form of 
lower unit prices; if an association shows a $5,000 unfunded reserve 
deficit per unit, the sales price should be adjusted accordingly.

The ideal funding mechanism for building the replacement reserve 
account is the regular (usually monthly) assessments paid by association 
members. A specific dollar amount of regular association payments 
should be earmarked for reserves and deposited into the reserve 
account as soon as collected. Financing of replacement reserves from 
regular assessments is the most desirable option, as it distributes the 
responsibility for replacing major components over a longer period and 
greater number of owners, rather than allocating the bulk of the costs to 
owners who are unlucky enough to reside at the association during the 
year an expensive item needs replacement. Owners can benefit not only 
from the equitable distribution of aging components costs but also from 
access to more accurate information regarding property costs. 

Income from regular assessments should be calculated for each year, 
based on the number of units and the level of assessment per unit. In 
associations with several rates for different types or sizes of units, 
the expected income should be calculated for each class of unit and 
then added. Assessment increases, if any, should be estimated by year. 
Some association boards have the authority to increase the regular 
annual assessment a certain percentage without membership approval.  
While this allows an association to “catch up” with reserve deficits 
over some period of years, it is strongly discouraged, as any decision 
to increase assessments should be carefully deliberated, with any 
thoughts or considerations of increasing assessments disclosed in the 
pro forma operating budget. 

Reserve studies require annual disclosure of estimated revenue and 
expenses, calculated on an accrual basis. In the case of revenues, 
this estimate includes regular and special assessments, as well as 
the after-tax interest income earned on accumulated cash reserves. 
Expenses can be accrued by dividing the eventual replacement cost 
of each component over its total useful life, or obtaining an estimate 
of annual component wear. A component currently valued at $10,000, 
with a useful life of 10 years, for example, would have an annual wear 
estimate, or annual provision for the replacement fund, of $1,000. By 
year five, assuming no inflation, this component would have accrued 
a liability of $5,000. A “fully funded” association would expect this 
$5,000 to be back in the reserve account by the end of the fifth year. 

Calculating the reserve deficit
Either of the two following formulas (see Tables 2A and 2B) can be 
used to calculate the required estimated reserves for components, 
and/or any deficit or shortage in the reserve fund, depending on the 
association’s needs. Table 2A, Calculating a Reserve Deficit, presents 
the current unfunded portion of the estimated value of accumulated 
wear of all major components using the same values seen earlier in 
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Table 1.  In this case, the 35-unit association will have an estimated 
$22,000 in its reserve account at the beginning of the upcoming fiscal 
year. Given its liability of $36,000 for the three components for which 
it is responsible, this association has a reserve deficit of $14,000, or 

a total of $400 per unit.  This formula [Reserve Deficit = Desired 
Balance - Cash Reserves] is appealing in its simplicity, but can easily 
provide misleading results, as it does not incorporate the effects of 
interest and inflation, which can be substantial.  

Table 2A: Calculating a Reserve Deficit

Component Replacement Current Cost Useful Life Effective Age Desired Balance

Painting $10,000 5 3 $6,000

Paving $14,000 7 4 $8,000

Roofing $30,000 15 11 $22,000

Total Desired Balance (current) $36,000

Estimated Cash Reserves (current) $22,000

Reserve Deficit (current) $14,000

Reserve Deficit per unit ($14,000 ÷ 35 units) $400

Percentage of Funding 61%

Table 2B presents a formula likely to be more accurate in predicting the 
reserve deficit amount, particularly if the estimated interest and inflation 
rates used in the calculation are reliable. Use of one over the other 
calculation may not be material unless an association is paying for a 

number of major common components. Any errors or omissions, such as 
failure to include accurate interest and inflation rates in formulas, however, 
can produce misleading results, underestimating deficits or overestimating 
the capabilities of reserve funds to address association needs. 

Using the formula for each component yields the following results:

Table 2B: Calculating a Reserve Deficit [6]

Component Replacement Current Cost Useful Life Effective Age Desired Balanc

Painting $10,000 5 3 $5,787

Paving $14,000 7 4 $7,590

Roofing $30,000 15 11 $20,553

Total Desired Balance (current) $33,930

Estimated Cash Reserves (current) $22,000

Reserve Deficit (current) $11,930

Reserve Deficit per unit ($14,000 ÷ 35 units) $340

Percentage of Funding 65%

Projecting funding needs 
The physical analysis provides the estimates for anticipated expenditures 
by year for each component. Adding these component requirements 
together by year provides an estimate of needed funds over time. Any 
estimates may be based on inaccurate assumptions. Association members 
should be made aware of the limitations of expenditure forecasting and 
the knowledge that a funding plan is only as good as its initial estimates of 
replacement costs and the timing of replacement needs. 

Another important policy decision is whether calculations will use 
current costs or estimated future costs. Use of an inflation rate will 
generally result in higher estimates of future costs. The annual cost for 
each component is calculated by dividing the unfunded replacement 
cost by the remaining useful life. If current costs are used, the plan 
must be revised annually using updated current replacement costs plus 

currently required or anticipated expenditures. (Note: This approach 
is valid only if repeated each year.) To incorporate an inflation rate, 
an average annual long-term cost inflation rate is applied to all 
components, from the time of the study until the year of replacement 
(based on recent average component cost data). To keep this plan 
current, it is important to annually review and update projected 
expenditures, inflation factors, and any other assumptions. (Note: This 
approach too, is valid only if repeated each year.) 

There are a number of ways to find an inflation rate for estimating 
component costs in future years. Some reliable sources for inflation 
factors in Florida are the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer 
Price Index, the State Allocation Board, certain construction companies 
specializing in cost estimates, and reports by private research 
organizations. Determining an interest rate that will project accurate 
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future costs is a policy decision that warrants careful review, and one 
that must be disclosed in the funding analysis. To increase the accuracy 
of future cost predictions, current cost and inflation rate values should be 
reviewed annually, with projections adjusted as necessary. 

Table 3: Determining the Future Cost of Replacement, shows the 
calculation of future replacement costs for the same items that were 

listed in Table 2, projected forward from 2014. For each item, the 
years of inflation shown in Table 3 have been determined from the 
year of replacement shown in Table 1. In a real situation, it may be 
necessary to add additional years of inflation in order to account for 
old pricing information. In the example shown here, it is assumed that 
the pricing information on all components is up-to-date. 

Table 3: Determining the Future Cost of Replacement

Component Quantity & Units Unit
Cost

Current Cost to
Replace (2014)

Year to
Replace

Future Cost to 
Replace

Painting, exterior stucco 15,875 sq. ft. 0.63 $10,000 2016 $10,941

Paving, slurry coat 35,000 sq. ft. 0.40 $14,000 2017 $16,022

Roofing, wood shingle 10,715 sq. ft. 2.80 $30,000 2018 $35,913

Interest earnings 
Income from the reserve and operating accounts is taxable to an 
association, even if the association is established as a non-profit 
organization. Reserve funds deposited in certificates of deposit (CD) 
or money market accounts will generate interest income to increase 
the reserves, so it is necessary to establish an interest rate estimate for 
forecasting purposes. Estimates, which must take applicable federal and 
state taxes into account, can be pegged to current bank or CD rates or 
derived by other means. Obviously, a lower rate is more conservative 
than a higher rate. While difficult to predict future component cost 
increases or interest earned on reserve cash balances, estimates will be 
more accurate using funding analysis data that is updated each year. This 
is particularly true for associations that rely on special assessments.  

Components requiring replacement in the future will draw against 
reserve funds. Ideally, the initial reserve account, augmented by regular 
contributions from routine homeowner assessment payments, provides 
enough of a financial cushion to pay for replacements as they are 
needed. In some cases, the reserve accounts will not be enough, and the 
cash flow analysis will identify instances where expenditure projections 
for a given year exceed projected reserve cash balances. In these cases, 
additional funds from special assessments (or other sources, if any) 
would be needed to increase the reserve accounts to desired levels. 

Some replacement expenses will be almost impossible to predict or 
estimate in cases of unexpected breakage or destruction, failure in a 
life-of-project (LOP) system, or reduced useful life of a component 
for various reasons. Establishing a line item in the cost estimates as a 
contingency provides some security. A new association might limit this 
amount to 3-5% of the first-year budget, while a conversion or older 
association with minimal physical and financial documentation might 
require higher contingency levels if there is uncertainty the current 
condition of components. 

Reviewing prior year spending for contingency-type replacements or 
continuing repairs is one of the best ways to establish estimates for 
contingency funding in ongoing associations. Funds for any routine work 
completed annually on underground utilities, for example, should be 
budgeted into the estimate, as should any other expected annual expenses. 

Table 4 summarizes these income and cost concepts in a spreadsheet that 
shows the results of the funding analysis, using the same components 
listed in Tables 1, 2, and 3. The rows in the spreadsheet show individual 
component costs and association income sources. The columns show the 
years included in the funding analysis. This case assumes (1) a funding 
plan period of 30 years, and (2) a mixed model using regular and special 
assessments to maintain a positive cash balance. Because the model is 
not fully funded, inflation factors are employed based on the method 
described under the section, Funding Goal.

The funding analysis should include a Statement of Limitations and 
Assumptions assessing the risk of reduced accuracy or reliability in the 
financial information due to possible errors or omissions, or the model 
upon which the estimates are based.  The funding analysis is revised 
annually, concurrently with preparation of the operating budget, 
providing the opportunity to make any necessary adjustments within 
the original planning period. Assumptions in the reserve study for 
remaining life and cost of components should be reviewed and revised 
as necessary. If the original data and estimates are sound, updating will 
be less laborious and frequent.  

Accurate, reliable data is a function of many factors, including 
the quality of original findings and estimates, the skill and 
recommendations of the preparer(s), the association’s ability to 
maintain its components adequately, and the requirements of any state 
law or civil code. When both the physical and funding analyses are 
complete, the reserve study is done.  This information is presented 
in the annual association pro forma operating budget, along with the 
funding plan and a statement of methods used to construct estimates.

Statements of disclosure, assumptions, and limitations [7]

The reserve study report includes:
A Statement of Limitations and Assumptions, containing:

 ○ Description of the assumptions on which the estimated interest 
and inflation rates, taxes, and other external factors, are based.

 ○ Explanation that the validity and reliability of current data is 
dependent on the accuracy of prior reserve study findings, to 
the extent that it informed the current study.

 ○ Any other assumptions or limitations that potentially affect 
the findings.

A Statement of Disclosure, containing:
 ● Information regarding any individual or group associated 

with the reserve study that could result in actual or perceived 
conflicts of interest. 

 ● Discussion of material issues which, if not disclosed, would present 
an inaccurate portrayal of the association’s current financial status. 

 ● Detailed description of the on-site inspection and methodology 
used in the physical analysis.

 ● Detailed description of the reserve study professional’s qualifications.
 ● Assurance that the financial, physical, and historical information 

provided by the association’s official representative is reliable.
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Table 4: Funding study: Estimated cash requirements by year [30-year plan with values for each of the three components at 1-5, 15, 
and 30 years]

Cash Flow Forecasts End of 
Year 0

End of 
Year 1

End of 
Year 2

End of 
Year 3

End of 
Year 4

End of 
Year 5

End of 
Year 15

End of 
Year 30

Assessments, regular $1,500 $1,800 $2,160 $2,592 $3,110 $10,906 $30,515
Assessments, special $0 $0 $0 $30,000 $0 $0 $0
After-tax interest reserve account income, @ 5.775% $1,271 $1,430 $1,013 $312 $229 $1,519 $6,482
Total cash receipts $2,771 $3,230 $3,173 $32,904 $3,339 $12,426 $36,997
Major component costs (from total above) $0 $10,460 $15,318 $34,333 $0 $0 $0
Cash receipts – cash disbursements $2,771 ($7,230) ($12,145) ($1,430) $3,339 $12,426 $36,997
Cash balance, beginning of year $22,000 $24,771 $17,541 $5,396 $3,967 $26,311 $112,241
Cash balance, end of year $22,000 $24,771 $17,541 $5,396 $3,967 $7,306 $38,737 $149,238

Major 
Component

Estimated 
Useful Life

Estimated 
Remaining 
Life

Estimated 
Current Cost 
to Replace

End of 
Year 0

End of 
Year 1

End of 
Year 2

End of 
Year 3

End of 
Year 4

End of 
Year 5

End of 
Year 15

End of 
Year 30

Painting 5 2 $10,000 $10,000
Paving 7 3 $14,000 $14,000
Roofing 15 4 $30,000 $30,000
Total Costs $54,000 $10,000 $14,000 $30,000 $0 $0 $0
Component cost increase factor @ 4.6% per 
annum

1.00 1.046 1.094 1.144 1.197 1.877 3.685

Estimated  replacement  cost,  in  scheduled  year 
(apply cost factor to total replacement costs)

$0 $10,460 $15,318 $34,333 $0 $0 $0

Summary End of 
Year 0

End of 
Year 1

End of 
Year 2

End of 
Year 3

End of 
Year 4

End of 
Year 5

End of 
Year 15

End of 
Year 30

Estimated liability (total from next page) $36,000 $43,932 $52,518 $50,461 $43,095 $15,026 $74,602 $154,173
Less cash balance $22,000 $24,771 $17,541 $5,396 $3,967 $7,306 $38,737 $149,238
Estimated unfunded liability $14,000 $19,162 $34,977 $45,065 $39,128 $7,720 $35,865 $4,935
Estimated unfunded liability per unit (35 units) $400 $547 $999 $1,288 $1,118 $221 $1,025 $141

Table 4: Funding study: Computation of major component liability by year 
(30-year plan – 3 components; values shown here for years 1-5, 15, 
and 30 only)
Major Component Replacement Liability End of 

Year 0
End of 
Year 1

End of 
Year 2

End of 
Year 3

End of 
Year 4

End of 
Year 5

End of 
Year 15

End of 
Year 30

Painting     Useful life 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
                   Remaining life 2 1 0 4 3 2 2 2
                   Replacement cost $10,000 $10,460 $10,941 $11,971 $11,971 $12,522 $19,632 $38,543
                   Liability $6,000 $8,368 $10,941 $2,394 $4,788 $7,513 $11,779 $23,126
Paving        Useful life 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
                   Remaining life 3 2 1 0 6 5 2 1
                   Replacement cost $14,000 $14,644 $15,318 $16,022 $16,759 $17,530 $27,485 $53,961
                   Liability $8,000 $10,460 $13,130 $16,022 $2,394 $5,009 $19,632 $46,252
Roofing      Useful life 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15
                   Remaining life 4 3 2 1 0 14 4 4
                   Replacement cost $30,000 $31,380 $32,823 $34,333 $35,913 $37,564 $58,897 $115,630
                   Liability $22,000 $25,104 $28,447 $32,044 $35,913 $2,504 $43,191 $84,795
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Funding analysis checklist 
This checklist summarizes the major steps in developing the funding 
analysis: 

Funding goal: 
__ The association’s funding goal for reserve replacement is 
clearly specified. 

Pro forma operating budget should include the following: 
__ Estimated revenue and expenses calculated on an accrual basis. 
__ Total cash reserves currently set aside. 
__ Funds set aside for reserves in a separate account(s).  
__ Estimated remaining life of all major components.
__ Estimated current replacement cost of all major components.
__ Methods used to fund for future repair, replacement, or additions. 
__ A statement on methods used to develop estimates and a 
funding plan.
__ The pro forma operating budget is distributed 45-60 days prior 
to the start of the association’s next fiscal year.  

Association income and expense estimates: 
__ An appropriate component inflation factor has been used to 
estimate replacement costs in the future.
__ The interest rate applied to association cash reserves is reasonable.
__ The interest rate applied to association cash reserves is an after-
tax estimate. 
__ Necessary special assessments are clearly identified. 
__ Assumptions about increases in the portion of regular 
assessments allocated to reserves are clearly specified. 
__ Income and expenditures are shown annually for the plan period. 

Association cash balances: 
__ With reserve assessments, the cash balance (assets - planned 
reserve expenditures) is greater than zero in every year.
__ The reserve deficit is estimated for the current year. 
__ The model shows a stable or decreasing reserve deficit (in 
constant dollars) over the plan period.

PArT III—HIrIng A rESErvE STUdy ProFESSIonAL
Association personnel may be capable of performing many of the tasks 
required for a reserve study, but should always hire an independent 
consultant or firm to direct it. Association leadership can (and should) 
designate knowledgeable association members and employees to assist 
the consultant by organizing needed materials and information. 

Before there is any move to hire a consultant, the association should:
 ● Identify and distinguish among common area components, 

exclusive-use components, quasi-structural components, and life-
of-project components. 

 ● Establish the interest rate for estimating income earned on 
reserve balances.

 ● Establish a proposed funding goal for the reserve study, including 
the degree to which reserves are to be funded by annual 
assessments, and the need for special assessments. 

The association should also provide, to the best of its ability, the 
following information on the components and the association’s 
financial situation.  

A list and detailed definition of the major components. 
 ● A statement of board policy about major components for which it 

is not requesting an estimate of replacement costs.
 ● Any information on condition of the major components, including 

maintenance records.
 ● Directions about any desired changes or additions (new items) in 

the major components.
 ● Copy of as-built construction drawings, if they exist. 
 ● Maintenance records, component warranties, or other documentation.
 ● Estimated replacement cash balance at beginning of next (nearest) 

fiscal year.
 ● A copy of current (and/or proposed) association budget(s).
 ● A copy of the final physical analysis report, if already prepared. 
 ● Projected reserve expenses prior to year-end. 

These policy decisions may require input from many parties—
members of the board, management personnel, unit owners, and 
others.  Those in the highest levels of authority are accountable for 
the quality of the study and utility of the findings. To ensure its value, 
association leadership must specify tasks and goals with as much detail 
as possible, develop an appropriate budget for professional assistance, 
and identify the skills and expertise necessary to find the right 
candidate and narrow the field when reviewing applications. 

Some of the most common physical analysis tasks performed by 
consultants are:

 ● Quantification of components. 
 ● Documentation of maintenance assumptions and 

recommendations. 
 ● Identification of useful life and remaining life of components, and 

replacement year. 
 ● Estimation of replacement cost in current and future dollars. 

Some of the most common funding analysis tasks performed by 
consultants are:

 ● Spreadsheet modeling of reserve funding.
 ● Development of solution(s) that meet funding goals of the association. 
 ● Calculation of cash balance of reserve account by year. 
 ● Estimation and explanation of reserve deficit. 
 ● Recommendation of needed increases in reserve portion of 

assessment. 
 ● Recommendation of needed special assessments and timing of 

assessments. 
 ● Preparation of statement of limitations and assumptions of 

reserve analysis. 
 ● Preparation of reserve study information for the pro forma 

operating budget. 

Association leadership must ensure that those performing the work 
have the appropriate estimating and accounting skills to make the 
reserve study a worthwhile venture. The type of assistance needed 
depends upon the nature of the product(s) desired, the budget, and the 
expertise available to the association leadership.  In deciding whether 
to hire outside help or perform the tasks internally, the board should 
be aware that its members are ultimately responsible for the validity of 
reserve study disclosures, and consider their potential legal liability if 
the study does not meet the statutory information requirements. 

Once the tasks are determined, association leadership must select 
the combination of consultants or contractors, if any, capable of 
performing all or part of the work.  The association may, for example, 
hire an independent engineering, appraisal, or construction cost-
estimating firm to perform the physical analysis, and an independent 
accountant experienced with community associations, for the funding 
analysis and pro forma operating budget; or outsource the entire 
project to a company that specializes in community association reserve 
studies, and use the personnel they recommend or employ.

Interview guide
One possible way to find professionals to contact for performing reserve 
studies is through other community associations.  Other sources of 
names are organizations of CAM and related professionals.  

CAM may also want to talk with people who have worked with any firm 
or consultant under consideration and to examine samples of related work. 
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The association and the contractor should mutually understand what 
is required of each.  The interview guides below provide a partial list 
of questions the association representative should ask a reserve study 
preparer as part of the interview process and the information the board 
should provide.  These questions might be used in interviews with 
potential consultants, or used in a written Request for Proposal (RFP), 
along with clear specifications for the performance of work-related 
tasks.  Answers to these questions, as well as price, should help in the 
selection of any needed professionals.  

These guides separate the physical analysis and funding analysis 
questions, so interviews of professionals offering to perform both 
studies will require the interviewer to eliminate duplications. 

Interview guide for physical analysis preparers: 
1. Do you have any personal or professional link to this association? 

(NOTE:  A link does not necessarily indicate a conflict of interest, 
but should be disclosed and considered.) 

2. Do you have any personal or professional links to the developer? 
(NOTE:  A link does not necessarily indicate a conflict of interest, 
but should be disclosed and considered.) 

3. If hiring an individual or sole practitioner: 
a. Do you do all the work yourself, or will you use 

subcontractors?  (The association should approve all 
subcontractors.) 

b. Are you a Professional Reserve Analyst (an Association 
of Reserve Analysts designation), a Reserve Specialist (a 
Community Associations Institute designation), or do you hold 
another professional designation?

c. What is your training (formal education and experience)? 
4. If hiring a firm:  

a. Will all work be done by employees of your firm?  
b. How do you train your employees? 

5. With what professional associations are you actively involved? 
6. What experience have you had with performing component studies? 
7. Where in the vicinity have you worked? 
8. May we see an example of a similar project done for another 

association? 
9. What information do you require from the association in order 

to start? 
10. When will you begin the study? 
11. Will you be measuring the components or using drawings? 
12. Will you make a physical inspection of each component? 
13. What percentage of components will you inspect?  
14. How will you determine the cost of replacement? 
15. What written sources will be used? 
16. How long will it be before we have the final product? 
17. Will the report provide the estimated useful life of each component? 
18. Will the report provide the estimated remaining life of each 

component? 
19. Will the report provide the current costs of repair or replacement 

for each component? 

20. Will the report provide the future costs of repair or replacement 
for each component and/or the inflation rate to be applied to 
each component? 

21. Will the report provide information on proper maintenance to help 
assure realization of the estimated remaining life of each component?  

22. Will the report include images, diagrams, or video? 
23. Do you have liability insurance? 
24. Do you have workers’ compensation insurance? 
25. Please provide three references (name, phone, nature of work). 
26. What is the cost for revisions and/or updates? 

Interview guide for funding analysis preparers:
1. Do you have any personal or professional links to this association? 

(NOTE:  A link does not necessarily indicate a conflict of interest, 
but should be disclosed and considered.) 

2. Do you have any personal or professional link to the developer? 
(NOTE:  A link does not necessarily indicate a conflict of interest, 
but should be disclosed and considered.) 

3. If hiring an individual or sole practitioner: 
a. Do you do all the work yourself, or will you use subcontractors?  

(The association should approve all subcontractors.) 
b. Are you a Professional Reserve Analyst (an Association 

of Reserve Analysts designation), a Reserve Specialist (a 
Community Associations Institute designation), or do you hold 
another professional designations?

c. What is your training (formal education and experience)? 
4. If hiring a firm:  

a. Will all work be done by employees of your firm?  
b. How do you train your employees? 

5. With what professional associations are you actively involved? 
6. What experience have you had with community association 

budgeting? 
7. May we see an example of a completed funding analysis? 
8. What information do you require from the association in order 

to start? 
9. When will you begin the study? 
10. When will we have the final product? 
11. Will the report provide current and future estimated liability 

computations? 
12. Will the report provide current and future estimated cash balances 

by year? 
13. Will the report provide current and future repair and 

replacement costs? 
14. Will the report present alternative funding plans? 
15. Will the report provide a description of assumptions and 

methodology, a narrative funding plan, and a graphic depiction for 
easier board and member understanding? 

16. Will the report tell how much of a monthly contribution is needed 
for the reserves? 

17. Do you have professional liability insurance? 
18. Please provide three references (name, phone, nature of work). 

reporting reserves in the operating budget 
Documentation of replacement reserves is an important part of an 
association’s annual pro forma operating budget. The reserve study portion 
should include all pertinent findings from the physical and financial 
analyses and any supporting text and exhibits, at a level of detail sufficient 
for long-term association financial planning.  The pro forma operating 
budget must also disclose to homeowners and potential homeowners any 
pertinent information about reserve funding and obligations.

This information is prepared and distributed to community association 
members. Best practices dictate distributing the pro forma operating 
budget 30-90 days prior to the start of the association’s next fiscal year 
and should, at minimum, include:

 ● Estimated revenue and expenses on the accrual basis of accounting. 
 ● Identification of total cash reserves currently set aside. 

 ● Estimated remaining life of major components. 
 ● Estimated current replacement cost of major components.  
 ● Amount of any award or settlement and the disposition of such 

funds, if applicable. 
 ● Total cash reserves expressed as a percentage of the current 

replacement cost, and the current deficiency in reserve funding on 
a per-unit basis. 

 ● Identification of funding methods for future repair, replacement, 
or additions to major components (including notification of any 
deferred repairs or replacements, anticipated special assessments, 
or certain outstanding loans to the association). 

 ● Statement of methods used to develop estimates and funding plan. 
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Red flags 
The pro forma budget is an important tool used to assess a community 
association’s financial resilience and address any potential vulnerability 
in the budget. Any incomplete data is a “red flag,” indicating potential 
problems, such as the following:

 ● No established list of major components. 
 ● No policy to distinguish reserve expenditures from operating 

expenses. 
 ● No clear funding goal stated. 
 ● No physical analysis conducted. 
 ● No funding analysis conducted. 
 ● Remaining life and current replacement cost is not available for all 

major components. 

 ● No assumptions regarding estimates of component longevity are 
mentioned or included in the reserve budgeting. 

 ● No reserve study information in the pro forma budget. 
 ● No documented maintenance schedule mentioned included in 

reserve budgeting.  
 ● Listing of major components in the reserve study is differs from 

the common area components listed in the CC&Rs.
 ● No separate bank account(s) for reserve funds. 

Immediate changes are necessary if:
 ● The reserve deficit is staying constant or increasing over time. 
 ● Special assessments are required to fund major repairs.
 ● Current income from assessments does not equal or exceed dollar 

value of annual component wear. 
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rESErvE STUdy BASICS: CAM FInAnCIAL MAnAgEMEnT
Final examination questions

Select the best answer for each question and mark your answers on the Final Examination Answer Sheet found on page 116  
or complete your test online at CAMS.EliteCME.com.

41. The state of Florida requires community associations to designate 
an amount of reserve funds sufficient to cover any future projects 
that will cost more than $8,000.  

 ¨ True  ¨ False

42. More states than ever now mandate some form of reserve funding 
for community associations, and/or require an association to 
conduct reserve studies at specific intervals.

 ¨ True  ¨ False

43. A community association manager conducting his association’s 
reserve study is violating an ethical responsibility to avoid any 
practice that is in actual or apparent conflict with the interests of 
the association. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

44. According to Florida law, community associations are not 
obligated to provide a good faith estimate of the amount required 
annually to fully fund reserves. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

45. Community associations are required to use the pooled method 
for calculating the good faith estimate included in the financial 
statements. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

46. New associations should have a reserve study performed within 
one year of completing any significant construction. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

47. “As-built” drawings, if available, are the best source of 
information for major components. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

48. The association’s CC&Rs and condominium plans can be used as 
a starting point for providing a list of components to include in the 
reserve study.  

 ¨ True  ¨ False

49. The first step in a funding analysis is to develop a specific cash 
flow forecast or projection, known as a funding plan. 

 ¨ True  ¨ False

50. Income from the reserve and operating accounts is not taxable to 
an association if it is established as a non-profit organization.  

 ¨ True  ¨ False

CAMFL04RSE16
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What if I Still Have 
Questions?

No problem, we have several 
options for you to choose from! 
Online at CAMS.EliteCME.com 
you will see our robust FAQ 
section that answers many of 
your questions, simply click FAQ 
in the upper right hand corner or 
Email us at office@elitecme.com 
or call us toll free at 1-888-857-
6920, Monday - Friday 9:00 am 
- 6:00 pm, EST.

All 20 Hrs ONLY

$99

Elite
Continuing Education

Three Easy Steps to Completing your License renewal

Step 1: Complete your Elite continuing education courses:

 9 Read the course materials and answer the test questions.
 9 Submit your final exam and course evaluation along with 
your payment to Elite online, by fax, or by mail.

Step 2: Receive your certificate of completion:

 9 on-Line Submission: Go to CAMS.EliteCME.com and 
follow the prompts.You will be able to print your certificate 
immediately upon completion of the course.

 9 Fax or E-mail Submission: Fax to (386) 673-3563, 
be sure to include your credit card information. All 
completions will be processed within 2 business days of 
receipt and certificates e-mailed to the e-mail address 
provided*.

 9 Mail Submission: Use the envelope provided or mail 
to Elite, PO Box 37, Ormond Beach, FL 32175. All 
completions will be processed and certificates issued 
within 10 business days from the date it is mailed*.

 *Please note - providing a valid e-mail address is the 
 quickest and most efficient way to receive your certificates  
 when submiting via fax, e-mail or mail.

 Submissions without a valid e-mail address will be mailed  
 to the address provided at registration.

Step 3: Once you have received your certificate of completion you 
can renew your license online at www.myfloridalicense.
com, or mail in your renewal. You should receive your 
renewal notice within 90 days of the expiration date. In order 
to avoid late fees, your CE and license renewal must be 
completed by September 30, 2016.

 Board Contact Information:
 Division of Professions
 Regulatory Council of Community Association Managers
 1940 North Monroe Street
 Tallahassee, FL 32399-0783

 Phone: (850) 487-1395
 Website: http://www.myfloridalicense.com/dbpr/pro/cam/index. 
                 html

2016 CE Course for Florida Community Association Managers

Customer Information
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Course Evaluation

We value your opinion!
Please take a minute to complete the course evaluation so that we can better serve you in the future. Any comments 
would be greatly appreciated.

Instructions: Fill in circles below the numbers with 0 being the worst, and 10 being the best

How likely is it that you would recommend Elite ..........................................0 1 2   3   4   5   6   7   8    9  10
           

I would rate this course................................................................................0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
           

The content of this course met my expectations .........................................0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
           

The course material was presented in a clear, concise
and well-organized format ...........................................................................0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
           

The material presented met the course’s stated objectives  .......................Yes No

I found this course affordable  .....................................................................Yes No

Please list any recommendations that you may have for this course __________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________________

Please list any course subjects you would like to see in the future ____________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________________

Comments _______________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________________

________________________________________________________________________________________________

 I agree to allow Elite Continuing Education to use my above comments.

did you remember:
 1) To clearly print your name and address on the answer sheet?
 2) To fill out your license number on the answer sheet?
 3) To include your payment or credit card information?
 4) A $25.00 fee will be added for all checks that are returned for insufficient funds.

Thank you for choosing Elite for your continuing education!

Elite
Continuing Education

Elite ● P.O. Box 37 ● Ormond Beach, FL 32175-0037
Phone: (888) 857-6920 ● Fax: (386) 673-3563
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